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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
130 Lowson Crescent, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3P 2HS8
NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT a special meeting of the sharecholders (the “Meeting™) of Fort Garry
Brewing Company Ltd. (“Fort Garry”) will be held at the Inn at the Forks, 75 Forks Market Road, Winnipeg,
Manitoba R3C 0A2, on October 18, 2007, at the hour of 7:00 p.m. (Winnipeg time), for the following purposes:

1. to consider and, if thought advisable, approve, with or without variation, a special resolution (the
“Amalgamation Resolution™) approving the amalgamation of Fort Garry and a wholly owned subsidiary
of Russell Breweries Inc. (“Russell”) under Section 175 of The Corporations Act (Manitoba) (the “MCA"™)
and the delisting of the Fort Garry Shares from the TSX-V pursuant to the merger agreement dated as of
July 25, 2007 between Russell, Fort Garry, and 5506752 Manitoba Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of
Russell, the text of which special resolution is attached as Schedule “E” to the accompanying management
proxy circular (the “Management Proxy Circular™), all as more particularly set out in the Management

" Proxy Circular; and

2. to transact such further or other business as may properly come before the Meeting and any adjournments
thereof.

AND TAKE NOTICE that registered shareholders who dissent in respect of the Amalgamation Resolution in
accordance with Section 134 of the MCA will be entitled to be paid the fair value of their shares in
accordance with Section 184 of the MCA. Strict compliance with the provisions of Section 184 of the MCA
will be required in order to exercise such rights of dissent. See “Dissent Rights to the Amalgamation
Resolution” under the heading “Rights of Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders” in the accompanying
Management Proxy Circular for a summary of the procedure to exercise such rights of dissent and
Schedule “D” for the full text of Section 184 of the MCA.

The accompanying Management Proxy Circular provides additional information relating to the matters to be dealt
with at the Meeting and is deemed to form part of this notice. Also accompanying this notice is a form of proxy and
a form of Consideration Election and Transmittal Form. Any adjournment of the Meeting will be held at a time and
place to be specified at the Meeting. Only shareholders of record at the close of business on September 24, 2007
“will be entitled to receive notice of and vote at the Meeting. If you are unable to attend the Meeting in person,
please complete, sign and date the enclosed form of proxy and return the same in the enclosed return envelope
provided for that purpose within the time and to the location set out in the form of proxy accompanying this notice.

DATED this 10" day of September, 2007.
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

“Gary N. Coopland”
Gary N, Coopland, Chairman

Registered sharcholders unable to aitend the Meeting are requested to date, sign and return their form of
proxy in the enclosed envelope. If you are a non-registered shareholder of Fort Garry and receive these
materials through your broker or through another intermediary, please complete and return the materials in
accordance with the instructions provided to you by your broker or by the other intermediary. Failure to do
so may result in your shares not being eligible to be voted by proxy at the Meeting.
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. NOTICE TO SHAREHOLDERS OUTSIDE CANADA

The Russell Shares and the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares to be issued to Fort Garry Shareholders
pursuant to the Amatgamation will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act (as defined herein) or the
securities laws of any state of the United States and will be issued in reliance upon the exemption from registration
provided by Rule 802 promulgated under the U.S. Securities Act, and exemptions provided under the securities laws
of each state of the United States in which Fort Garry Shareholders reside. See “The Amalgamation - Securities
Law Considerations — U.S. Securities Laws”.

| If any of the Fort Garry Shares are “restricted securitics™ as defined in Rule 144 under the 1933 Act, the

: Russell Shares and the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares to be issued pursuant to the Amalgamation will also be

' “restricted securities”, and the certificates representing those Russell Shares will bear a restrictive legend to that
effect. In addition, Persons who are “affiliates” of Fort Garry immediately prior to the Amalgamation, or affiliates
of Russell following the Amalgamation, will be subject to certain restrictions on transfer of their Russell Shares.
Persons who may be deemed to be affiliates of an issuer include individuals that control, are controlled by, or are
under common control with, the issuer, and generally include executive officers and directors of the issuer as well as
principal shareholders of the issuer. The foregoing discussion is only a general overview of certain requirement of
U.S. securities laws applicable to the Russell Shares. All holders of such securities are urged to consult with counsel
to ensure that the resale of their Russell Shares complies with applicable securities legislation.

The Amalgamation will result in the issuance of securities of a Canadian issver in exchange for the securities
of another Canadian issuer., The Amalgamation is subject to the disclosure requirements of Canada, which are
different from those of the United States. Financial statements of Russell included or incorporated by reference in
the Circular have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and are
subject to Canadian auditing and auditor independence standards, and thus may not be comparable to financial
statements of United States companies.

It may be difficult for you to enforce your rights and any claim you may have arising under foreign securities
. laws, since the issuer is located in Canada, and some or all of its officers and directors may be residents of Canada.
You may not be able to sue a Canadian company or its officers or directors in a foreign court for violations of
United States securities laws. It may be difficult to compel a Canadian company and its affiliates to subject
themselves to a United States court’s judgment.

Fort Garry Sharcholders should be aware that Russell or its affiliates may purchase Fort Garry Shares other
than pursuant to the Amalgamation, as permitted by Canadian laws or regulations.

; No Russell Shares will be distributed in the United States or to or for the benefit of a person in the United
States, or to any person who is resident of any jurisdiction other than Canada, unless Russeil is satisfied that the
Russell Shares may be distributed in such jurisdictions without further action by Russell under applicable federal or
state securities laws, ’

I

|

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY
THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY UNITED STATES
STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION NOR HAS THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION OR ANY UNITED STATES STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION PASSED UPON THE
ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS CIRCULAR. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY
IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

This document does not address any income or capital gains tax consequences of the Amalgamation to

Fort Garry Shareholders in jurisdictions outside Canada. Fort Garry Shareholders outside Canada should

be aware that a disposition of Fort Garry Shares may have tax consequences both within and outside Canada

which may not be described, or fully described, herein. If U.S, Fort Garry Shareholders fail to provide

Russell with information solicited on a Substitute Form W-9, or fail to certify that they are not subject to U.S.

backup withholding, Russell may be required to withhold U.S. income tax from the payment of Russell

Shares and cash (upon redemption of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares) made to Fort Garry

| Shareholders (and may be required to sell a portion of such Russell Shares to fulfill the tax withholding

| obligation). Accordingly, Fort Garry Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to their
particular circumstances and tax considerations applicable to them.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Management Proxy Circular includes “forward-looking statements”. All statements, other than
statements of historical facts, included in this Management Proxy Circular that address activities, events or
developments that management of each of Fort Garry and Russell expects or anticipates will or may occur in the
future, including such things as future capital expenditures (including the amount and nature thereof), business
strategies and measures to implement strategies, competitive strengths, goals, expansion and growth of the business
and operations, plans and references to the future success of the amalgamated entity, and such other matters, are
forward-looking statements. These statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by management
of each of Fort Garry and Russell in light of their experience and their perceptions of historical trends, current
conditions and expected future developments as well as other factors they belicve are appropriate in the
circumstances. However, whether actual results and developments will conform with the expectations and
predictions of management of each of Fort Garry and Russell is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties,
including the special considerations discussed in this Management Proxy Circular, general economic, market or
business condition and the opportunities (or lack thereof) that may be presented and pursued. Consequently, alt of
the forward-looking statements made in this Management Proxy Circular are qualified by these cautionary
statements, and there can be no assurance that the actaal results or developments anticipated will be realized or, even
if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences or effect. See the risk factors set forth under
“The Amalgamation — Risk Factors”, “Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. — Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Fort Garry for the year ended December 31, 2006 — Risks and Uncertainties”, “Russell Breweries Inc. — Risk
Factors™ and “Russell — Post-Amalgamation — Risk Factors”.
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SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the principal features of the Amalgamation and certain other matters and should
be read together with the more detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in the
Management Proxy Circular, including the schedules hereto. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this
Summary are defined in the Glossary of Terms or elsewhere in the Management Proxy Circular. This Summary
is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information appearing or referred to elsewhere herein.

The Meeting

Date, Time and Place of Meeting

The Meeting will be held on October 18, 2007 at 7:00 p.m. (Winnipeg time} at the Inn At The Forks, 75 Forks
Market Road, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 0AZ2.

The Record Date

The Record Date for determining the registered shareholders for the Meeting is September 24, 2007.

Purposes of the Mecting

This Management Proxy Circular is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by management of
Fort Garry for use at the Meeting.

At the Meeting, holders (“Fort Garry Shareholders”) of common shares of Fort Garry (“Fort Garry
Shares”) will be asked to consider and, if thought advisable, approve, with or without variation, the Amalgamation
Resolution approving the amalgamation (the “Amalgamation™ of Fort Garry and a wholly owned subsidiary
(“Russell Subco™) of Russell under Section 175 of The Corporations Act (Manitoba} (the “MCA”) and the delisting
of the Fort Garry Shares from the TSX-V pursuant to the merger agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) dated as of
July 25, 2007 between Russell, Fort Garry and Russell Subco, the text of which special resolution is attached as
Schedule “E” to this Management Proxy Circular, See “The Amalgamation”.

The Amalgamation
umm

The principal features of the Amalgamation may be summarized as follows (and are gualified in their entirety
by reference to the full text of the Merger Agreement):

Upon the Amalgamation on the Effective Date (see “The Amalgamation — Effective Date and Conditions of
Amalgamation™):

1. Fort Garry and Russell Subco (a wholly owned subsidiary of Russel! incorporated for the purpose of the
Amalgamation) will amalgamate under Section 175 of the MCA and continue as one corporation
(“Amalco™) under the name “Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd.”;

2. each issued and outstanding Fort Garry Share held by a Fort Garry Shareholder (other than ENSIS,
Russefl Subco and any Dissenting Fort Garry Sharcholders) who validly makes the Cash Only
Consideration Election shall be converted into 40 Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, each of which is
redeemable for cash at a price of $0.01 (the “Cash Only Consideration™);

3. each issued and outstanding Fort Garry Share held by a Fort Garry Shareholder (other than Russell Subco
and any Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders) who validly makes the Share and Cash Consideration
Election shall be converted into .50 of a Russell Share and 20 Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares,
each of which is redeemable for a cash price of $0.01 (the “Share and Cash Consideration”); .




4.  each issued and outstanding Fort Garry Share held by a Fort Garry Shargholder (other than Russell Subco
and any Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholdersy who validly makes the Share Only Consideration Election
or who does not validly make the Cash Only Consideration Election or Share and Cash Consideration
Election shall be exchanged for one Russell Share (the “Share Only Consideration™);

5. all 700,000 Fort Garry Preferred Shares shall be converted into that number of Amalco Redeemable
Preferred Shares, redeemable for cash at a price of $0.01 each, equal to 93,587,120 plus 15,662 for each
day from and including July 1, 2607 to and inchnding the Effective Date;

6. each issued and outstanding Fort Garry Share held by Russell Subco shall be cancelled without any
repayment of capital in respect thereof;

7. each issued and outstanding Russetl Subco Common Share shall be converted into one Amaico Common
Share;

8.  each Dissenting Fort Garry Sharcholder shall cease to have any rights as a Fort Garry Shareholder other
than the right to be paid the Fair Value in respect of the Fort Garry Shares held by such Dissenting
Fort Garry Shareholder in accordance with the MCA;

9. as consideration for the issuance of the Russell Shares to effect the Amalgamation, Amalco will issue to
Russell one Amalco Common Share for each Russell Share so issued;

10. all of the property and assets of each of Russell Subco and Fort Garry will be the property and assets of
Amalco and Amalco will be liable for all of the liabilities and obligations of each of Russell Subco and
Fort Garry; and

11. upon redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares issued to Fort Garry Shareholders pursuant
to clauses 2, 3 and 5, Amalco will be a wholly owned subsidiary of Russell.

The effect of the Amalgamation is that all of the property and assets of each of Russell Subco and Fort Garry
will be the property and assets of Amalco and Amalco will be liable for ail of the liabilities and obligations of each
of Russell Subco and Fort Garry. Upon redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares issued to
Fort Garry Shareholders pursuvant to clauses 2, 3 and 5 above, Amalco will be a wholly owned subsidiary of Russell.

Full particulars of the Amalgamation are contained in the Merger Agreement and in the Amalgamation
Agreement attached hereto as Schedule “F”, both of which are incorporated by reference in this Management Proxy
Circular. See “The Amalgamation”. A full copy of the Merger Agreement is available for viewing at any time prior
to the Fort Garry Meeting during normal business hours at Fort Garry's principal office at 130 Lowson Crescent,
Winnipeg, Manitoba R3P 2HS.

The Companies

Fort Garry and Russell Brewing Company Lid. (“Russell Opco™), a wholly owned subsidiary of Russell, each
own brewery assets. See “Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. — Properties” and “Russell Breweries Inc. —
Properties”.

Russell was incorporated under the British Columbia Company Act (the predecessor statute of the BCBCA) on
March 23, 2000 under the name “New Market Ventures Inc.”. On April 7, 2005, Russell changed its name to
“Russell Breweries Inc.”. Russell is a publicly traded company trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (the
“TSX-V”) under the symbel “RB”. Russell is a reporting issuer in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and
Ontario. Russell’s head office is located at Suite 200 — 13018 — 80™ Avenue, Surrey, British Columbia V3W 3B2.
See “Russell Breweries Inc.” and “Russell — Post-Amalgamation”.

Russell Opco was incorporated under the British Columbia Company Act (the predecessor statute of the
BCBCA) on August 29, 1994, Russell Opco is a wholly owned subsidiary of Russell. Russell Opco's head office is

-




located at Suite 200 — 13018 - 80" Avenue, Surrey, British Columbia V3W 3B2. See “Russell Brewing Company
Ltd.” and “Russell — Post-Amalgamation”,

Fort Garry was formed by the amalgamation of Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. (corporation
number 2895081) (“Old Fort Garry™) and Two Rivers Brewing Company Ltd. (corporation number 3832504)
(“Two Rivers”) under the MCA effective May 15, 2003. Upon the effective date of the amalgamation:

1. each shareholder of Two Rivers exchanged its common shares of Two Rivers for Fort Gairy common
shares on the basis of 1.81359 Fort Garry common shares for every share of Two Rivers following which
all Two Rivers common shares were cancelled;

2. each shareholder of Old Fort Garry exchanged its common shares of Old Fort Garry for common shares
of Fort Garry on the basis of 0.23302 commeon share of Fort Garry for every one common share of Old
Fort Garry, following which all Old Fort Garry common shares were cancelled; and

3. certain debt and warrants of Old Fort Garry held by ENSIS were restructured and cancelled, resulting in
the issuance to ENSIS by Fort Garry of 1,375,000 common shares and 700,000 Class A preferred shares
of Fort Garry.

Fort Garry's registered and principal office is located at 130 Lowson Crescent, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3P 2H8.
Fort Garry is a publicly traded company trading on the TSX-V under the symbol “FGB”. See “Fort Garry Brewing
Company Ltd.”.

Russell Selected Financial Information

The following tables set out certain selected consolidated financial information of Russell as at and for the
years ended June 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004 and as at the eight most recently completed quarters ending at March 31,
2007. The selected consolidated financial information has been derived from Russell’s annual consolidated
financial statements, which are audited and from Russell’s interim consolidated financial statements for the periods
indicated, which arc unaudited. The following information should be read in conjunction with Russell’s financial
statements attached hereto as Schedule “B”. The financial results are not necessarily indicative of the results that
may be expected for any other interim period or a full year.

Russell’s annual consolidated financial statements and the interim consolidated financial statements are
presented in Canadian dollars and are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.

Selected Annnal Consolidated Financial Information

Years Ended June 30
2006 2003 20047
(audited) (audited) (audited)
{restated}
$ 3 $
Net revenue 902,988 517,835 113,970
Net Loss (382,508) (624,820) (132,871)
Net Loss per share'”
Basic and diluted {0.04) 0.10) (0.02)

Total assets 1,018,436 944,822 334,064
Total Liabilities 654,172 593,604 329,069
Shareholders’ equity 364,264 351,218 4,995
Shares outstanding at period ended 10,022,135 8,658,469 6,153,336"
Notes:

M Net Loss per Russell Share is the same for Basic and Diluted as the loss on a diluted basis would not be dilutive.
@ Audited Financial Statements for New Market Ventures Inc.
@ After 4:1 forward split effective April 7, 2005.

CO01%




Selected Unaudited Quarterly Consolidated Financial Information: Russell Breweries Inc.

Q3 4. Q1 Q2
March June September December
(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)
$ $ $ $
2007
Net Revenue $338,969
Gross Margin 240,115
Expenses 362,104
Other liems (net) 48,079 -
Net Loss {170,068)
Total Assets 2,570,003
Net Shareholders’ Equity 1,555,451
2006 (restated)
Net Revenue 182,487 277,255 265,363 259,753
Gross margin 132,748 225,808 204,312 185,500
Expenses 235,712 302,220 318,399 516,240
Other items (net) 39,906 49,566 44771 36,158
Net Loss (142,870) (125,978) (158,858) {366,898)
Total Assets 1,15.8,171 1,018,436 862,048 2,040,147
Net Shareholders’ Equity 507,667 364,264 205,406 1,283,984
2005
Net Revenue 209,277 209,640 233,606
Gross Margin 161,820 173,249 182,164
_Expenses 558,826 181,1944 208,900
Other Items (net) 34,798 38560 40,419
Net Loss (431,804) (46,505) (67,155)
Total Assets 944,822 994,917 1,277,784
Net Sharcholders” Equity 351,218 415,963 648,808

Fort Garry Selected Financial Information

The following tables set out certain selected financial information of Fort Garry as at and for the years ended

December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 and as at the eight most recently completed quarters ending at March 31, 2007.
The selected financial information has been derived from Fort Garry's annual financial statements, which are
audited and from Fort Garry's interim financial statements for the periods indicated, which are unaudited. The
following information should be read in conjunction with Fort Garry’s financial statements attached hereto as
Schedule “A”. The financial results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any other
interim period or a full year.

Fort Garry's annual financial statements and the interim financial.statements are presented in Canadian dollars
and are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.
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Selected Annual Financial Information

Years Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004
(audited) (audsited) (aud;ted)
Net revenue 2,861,244 2,375,534 2,575,491
Net Loss (92,607) (421,758) (685,111)
Net Loss per share!

Basic and diluted (0.014) (0.080) (0.14)
Total assets 3,720,751 3,976,815 4,262,302
Total liabilities 2,408,974 2,572,431 2,436,160
Sharcholders’ equity 1,311,777 1,404,384 1,826,142
Comtnon Shares outstanding at period ended 4,976,698 4,976,698 4,976,698
Note:

@ Net Loss per Fort Garry Share is the same for Basic and Diluted as the loss on a diluted basis would oot be dilutive.
Selected Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information: Fort Garry Brewing Company Lid.
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
March Jume September December
(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unandited)
3 $ $ $
2007
Net Revenue 681,362 852,944
Gross Margin 319,009 432,942
Expenses 228,639 | 226,354
Other Items 118,925 120,588
Net (Loss} Income (28,555) 86,000
Total Assets 3,698,815 3,837,603
Shareholders’ Equity 1,283,219 1,369,222
2006
Net Revenue ] 534,895 710,048 839,216 777,085
Gross Margin 211,997 301,991 397,624 457,279
Expenses 247,010 240,255 234,091 253,650
Other Items 123,947 115,160 118,767 128,618
Net (Loss) Income (158,960 (53,424) 44,766 75,011
Total Assets 3,808,110 3,904,472 3,877,395 3,720,751
Shareholders' Equity 1,245,423 1,192,000 1,236,767 1,311,777
8




Q1 Q2 Q3 . Q4

March June September December
(unandited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)
$ $ 3

2005 (restated as to September and December only}

Net Revenue 672,815 646,299 506,984
Gross Margin 331,060 332,015 194,168
Expenses 276,312 262,537 244 200
Other Items 148,506 130,226 132,544
Net Loss (93,758) (60,748) (182,585)
Total Assets 4,268,757 4,163,714 3,976,815

Sharcholders’ Equity 1,647,038 1,586,291 1,404,384

Russell Unaudited Pro Forma Summary Financial Information

The following table sets out selected unaudited pro forma financial information for Russell, assuming
completion of the Amalgamation as of March 31, 2007, and should be considered in conjunction with the more
complete information contained in the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements of Russell attached as
Schedule “C” to this Management Proxy Circular. Unless otherwise indicated, all currency amounts are stated in
thousands of CDN dollars.

As at March 31, 2007
Working Capital 2,664,923
Capital Assets 3,499,815
Total Assets 10,237,033
Sharcholders’ Equity 7,690,790

Reasons for the Amalgamation

The business combination between Russell and Fort Garry pursuant to the Merger Agreement was negotiated
by Russell and Fort Garry on the basis that the shareholders of Fort Garry and Russell would benefit from
combining the interests of Fort Garry and Russell for the purposes of operating their combined brewery businesses,
and to create a larger company with greater efficiencies and potential as set forth under “Recommendations of the
Directors”. Fort Garry and Russell believe that the Amalgamation is in the best interests of their respective
shareholders for numerous reasons, but in particular Fort Garry and Russell believe that developing their brands
through a combined entity will create the best prospects for long-term value for shareholders. Specifically,
Fort Garry and Russell believe that the amalgamation will result in a larger publicly traded company with a greater
depth of experienced management, a greater production capacity, a stronger balance sheet, a regional business
development plan and expansion strategy and a greater ability to attract financing.

The Fort Garry Board retained Evans & Evans, Inc. to provide a Faimess Opinion in respect of the
Amalgamation to the Fort Garry Board. The Fairness Advisor based its advice upon a consideration of relevant
factors including the market value, financial and other assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities and risks as applicable
to each of Fort Garry and Russell. The Fairness Opinion has been prepared for, and reviewed by, the Fort Garry
Board. '

See “The Amalgamation — Recommendations of the Directors”, “The Amalgamation — Fairness Opinion” and
the financial statements attached to this Management Proxy Circular.

Effect of the Amalgamation

Upon completion of the Amalgamation and assuming (i) all Fort Garry Shareholders elect the Share Only
Consideration with each Fort Garry Share being exchanged for one Russell Share, (ii) there are 4,976,698 Fort Garry
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Shares issued and outstanding at the time of the Amalgamation, and (iii) no further shares are issued by Fort Garry,
Russell will issue approximately 4,976,698 Russell Shares to acquire the Fort Garry Shares, and there will be
approximately 26,672,980 Russell Shares issued and outstanding.

Business Objectives

Pursuant to the Amalgamation, Fort Garry will be acquired by Russell through the amalgamation of Fort Garry
and Russell Subco. Amalco will hold the assets of Fort Garry and Russell Subco and will be a wholly owned
subsidiary of Russell upon completion of the Amalgamation and the redemption of all Amalco Redeemable
Preferred Shares issued to Fort Garry Shareholders. See the pro forma consolidated financial statements of Russell
for a description of its status as at March 31, 2007 afier giving effect to the Amalgamation and the Russell Private
Placement.

Faimess Opinion

Evans & Evans, Inc. (the “Fairness Advisor” or “Evans”) of Vancouver, British Columbia has provided
advice and an opinion (the “Fairness Opinion™) to the Fort Garry Board in respect of the faimess of the terms of the
Amalgamation, from a financial point of view, to the holders of the Fort Garry Shares. Based upon the
information and procedures and subject to the limitations described in its opinion, the Fairness Advisor has
concluded that (i) the terms of the Amalgamation are fair, from a financial point of view, to the holders of the
Fort Garry Shares, and (ji) the terms of the Amalgamation are fair, from a financial standpoint if the
Fort Garry Shareholders choose either Cash Only Consideration, Share and Cash Consideration or Share
Only Consideration in exchange for their Fort Garry Shares. See “The Amalgamation ~ Fairness Opinion” in
the Management Proxy Circular.

Recommendations of the Fort Garry Board

The Fort Garry Board has determined unanimously that the Amalgamation is fair to and in the best interests of
the Fort Garry Sharehclders and is in the best interests of Fort Garry. All of Fort Garry’s directors have advised
Fort Garry that they intend to vote the Fort Garry Shares held by them in favour of the Amalgamation.

The Fort Garry Board recommends that the Fort Garry Shareholders vote in favour of the Amalgamation
Resolution. See “The Amalgamation — Recommendations of the Directors”.
Conditions to the Amalgamation

The obligations of the parties to complete the Amalgamation and the other transactions contemplated by the
Merger Agreement are subject to the satisfaction, on or before the Effective Date, of a number of specified
conditions, including:

1.  the approval of the Amalgamation Resolution by the requisite majority of Fort Garry Shareholders; and

2.  the approval of the TSX-V.

ENSIS Support Agreement

Russell has obtained agreement (the “ENSIS Support Agreement”) with ENSIS Growth Fund Inc. which
holds approximately 21.53% of the outstanding Fort Garry Shares whereby ENSIS Growth Fund Inc. has agreed to
vote its Fort Garry Shares in favour of the Amalgamation Resolution. In addition, ENSIS Growth Fund Inc. has
agreed to make the Share Only Consideration Election or the Share and Cash Consideration Election with respect to
its Fort Garry Shares. '

Stock Exchange Approvals

It is a condition of closing that the Russell Shares to be issued to the Fort Garry Shareholders shall have been
conditionally approved for listing on the TSX-V subject to the filing of required documentation, See “The
Amalgamation — Conduct of the Meeting and Other Approvals - Regulatory Approvals”™.
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Congideration Election and Transmittal Form

Accompanying this Management Proxy Circular is a consideration election and transmittal form (the
“Consideration Election and Transmittal Form”) containing instructions pursuant to which Fort Garry
Shareholders may elect to receive in exchange for Fort Garry Shares the Cash Only Consideration, the Share and
Cash Consideration or the Share Only Consideration in exchange for Fort Garry Shares under the Amalgamation
and with respect to the deposit of certificates for Fort Garry Shares with CIBC Melion Trust Company (the
“Depositary”) at 199 Bay Street, Commerce Court West, Securities Level, Toronto, Ontario, M5L 1G9. Upon
return of a properly completed Consideration Election and Transmittal Form by no later than 7:00 p.m. (Winnipeg
time) on October 16, 2007, together with certificates representing Fort Garry Shares, and upon occurrence of the
Effective Date and the redemption that day of all issued Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, cash payments in the
appropriate amounts and certificates for the appropriate number of Russell Shares will be distributed without charge.

Fractional Shares

No fractional Russell Shares or Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares will be issued or delivered in connection
with the Amalgamation. If at the completion of the Amalgamation, the aggregate number of Russell Shares or
Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares to be issued or delivered to a Fort Garry Sharcholder would result in a
fraction of a share issuable to deliverable, the number of Russell Shares or Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, as
the case may be, to be issued or delivered will be rounded up to the nearest whole number.

Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares

No share certificates will be issued in respect of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares issued pursuant to
the Amalgamation. From and after the Effective Date until their redemption, the Amalco Redeemable Preferred
Shares will be evidenced by the share certificates representing the Fort Garry Shares and the Fort Garry Preferred
Shares for which the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares have been issued.

Delivery of Russell Share Certificates and Funds

Withii: three Business Days after the Effective Date, Russell will deliver or cause to be delivered to the
Depositary:

1. certificates representing the appropriate number of Russell Shares to the former Fort Garry Shareholders
who have made the Share and Cash Consideration Election or the Share Only Consideration Election; and

2. sufficient funds to redeem all Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares issued to the former Fort Garry
Shareholders who have elected the Cash Only Consideration Election or the Share and Cash
Consideration Election together with a direction to make payment in the appropriate amounts to such
former Fort Garry Shareholders, Under no circumstances will interest accrue or be paid by Amalco,
Russell or the Depositary on the redemption price of such Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares
redeemed by Amalco, regardless of any delay in making such payment.

Cancellation of Rights after Six Years

If a Fort Garry Shareholder fails to deliver and surrender to the Depositary the certificates representing
Fort Garry Shares together with a duly executed and completed Consideration Election and Transmittal Form and
other required documents, by 7:00 p.m. (Winnipeg time) on October 16, 2007, such Fort Garry Shareholder shall be
deemed to have made the Share Only Consideration Election and the certificates representing the Russell Shares to
which the Fort Garry Shareholder would otherwise have been entitled will be held by the Depositary for a maximum
of six years from the Effective Date.

Upen the expiry of six years from the Effective Date, each such certificate representing Fort Garry Shares shall

cease 1o represent a right or claim of any kind or nature and the right of such Fort Garry Shareholder to receive
certificates representing Russell Shares, and the Russell Shares issued to such Fort Garry Shareholders, shall be
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deemed to be surrendered to Russell together with all dividends or distributions thereon declared or held for such
holder.

Rights of Dissent

Fort Garry Shareholders and holders of Fort Garry Preferred Shares have the right to dissent to the proposed
Amalgamation and to be paid the fair value of their shares upon strict compliance with the provisions of applicable
law. Sec “Rights of Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders™. -

Income Tax Considerations

Holders of Fort Garry securities should consult their own tax advisors about the applicable Canadian or
United States federal, provincial, state and local tax consequences of the Amalgamation.

Under the ITA, a holder of Fort Garry Shares who exchanges such Fort Garry Shares for Russell Shares,
Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares or a combination of both under the Amalgamation will realize neither a
capital gain nor a capital loss as a result of the Amalgamation. The Fort Garry Shareholder will be considered to
have disposed of its shares for proceeds of disposition equal to the adjusted cost base of the Fort Garry Shares
immediately before the Amalgamation and to have acquired the Russell Shares, the Amalco Redeemable Preferred
or the combination thereof, as the case may be, at an aggregate cost equal to such proceeds of disposition. Where
Russell Shares and Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares are received by the Shareholder on the exchange, that
aggregate cost must be allocated between the Russell Shares and the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares in
proportion to their respective fair market values immediately after the Amalgamation. There will, however, be
income tax consequences to the Sharehoider on the redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares. A
summary of principal Canadian federal income tax considerations in respect of the proposed Amalgamation is
included under “The Amalgamation — Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations™ and the foregoing is qualified
in full by the information in such section.

Completion of the Amalgamation will have tax consequences under the laws of the United States. United
States shareholders of Fort Garry are urged to consult their tax advisors to determine the particular tax consequences
to them of the transactions contemnplated by the Amalgamation.

Securities Laws Information for Canadian Shareholders

The issuance of the Russell Shares and the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares pursuant to the
Amalgamation will constitute a distribution of securitics, which is exempt from the registration and prospectus
requirements of Canadian securities legislation. The Russell Shares may be resold in each of the provinces and
territories of Canada without significant restriction, provided the holder is not a “control person” as defined in the
applicable legislation, no unusual effort is made to prepare the market or create a demand for those securities and no
extraordinary commission or consideration is paid in respect of that sale.

The resale of any Russell Shares acquired in connection with the Amalgamation may be required to be made
through properly registered securities dealers. Each holder is urged to consult professional advisers to determine the
conditions and restrictions applicable to trades in such shares. See “The Amalgamation — Securities Laws
Considerations — Canadian Securities Laws”.

Securities Laws Information for United States Shareholders

The Russell Shares and the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares to be issued to Fort Garry Shareholders
pursuant to the Amalgamation will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act (as defined herein) or the
securities laws of any state of the United States and will be issued in reliance upon the exemption from registration
provided by Rule 802 promulgated under the U.S. Securities Act, and exemptions provided under the securities laws
of each state of the United States in which Fort Garry Shareholders reside.

If any of the Fort Garry Shares are “restricted securities” as defined in Rule 144 under the 1933 Act, the

Russell Shares and the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares to be issued pursuant to the Amalgamation will also be
“restricted securities”, and the certificates representing the Russell Shares will bear restrictive legends. In addition,
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Persons who are “affiliates” of Fort Garry immediately prior to the Amalgamation, or affiliates of Russell following
| the Amalgamation, will be subject to certain restrictions on transfer of their Russell Shares. Persons who may be
deemed to be affiliates of an issuer include individuals that control, are controlled by, or are under common control
with, the issuer, and generally include executive officers and directors of the issuer as well as principal shareholders
of the issuer. See “The Amalgamation — Securities Law Considerations - U.S. Securities Laws™.

Risk Factors .

An investment in a venture issuer involves a significant degree of risk. The Russell Shares to be issued to
the Fort Garry Shareholders pursvant to the Amalgamation are subject to a number of risk factors. Holders of
Fort Garry Shares should review carefully the risk factors set forth under “The Amalgamation - Risk Factors”,
“Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Fort Garry for the year ended
December 31, 2006 — Risks and Uncertainties”, “Russell Breweries Inc. — Risk Factors” and “Russell —
Post-Amalgamation — Risk Factors”.
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GLOSSARY OF DEFINED TERMS

In this Management Proxy Circular, the following capitalized words and terms shall have the following
meanings:

“Amalco” means the amalgamated corporation resulting from the Amalgamation.
“Amalco Common Shares” means the common shares in the capital of Amalco,

“Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares” means the Class A Redeemable Preferred shares in the share capital
of Amalco having the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions set forth in the Articles of Amalgamation.

“Amalgamation” means the amalgamation of Fort Garry and Russell Subco pursuant to Section 175 of the
MCA.

“Amalgamation Agreemeht” means the Amalgamation Agreement to be entered into between Russell,
Russell Subco and Fort Garry in the form attached as Schedule “F” to this Management Proxy Circular.

“Amalgamation Resolution” means the Special Resolution approving the Amalgamation Agreement and the
delisting of the Fort Garry Shares from the TSX-V to be voted on, with or without variation, by Fort Garry
Shareholders at the Meeting and to be consented to in writing by ENSIS, as holder of all the issued Fort Garry
Preferred Shares, substantially in the form attached as Schedule “E” to this Management Proxy Circular.

“Articles of Amalgamation” means the articles confirming the Amalgamation required under the MCA to be
sent to the Director.

"BCBCA™ means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), as amended.

“Business Day” means any day excepting a Saturday or Sunday or a day recognized as a holiday in
Vancouver, British Columbia or Winnipeg, Manitoba, or a on which banks in Vancouver, British Columbia or
Winnipeg, Manitoba are not open for business.

“Cash Only Consideration” means for each issued and outstanding Fort Garry Share held by a Fort Garry
Shareholder (other than ENSIS and any Dissenting Fort Garry Sharcholders) who validly makes the Cash Only
Consideration Election, 40 Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares each of which is redeemable for cash at a price of
$0.01.

*“Cash Only Consideration Election” means the election by a Fort Garry Shareholder, pursuant to the
Consideration Election and Transmittal Form, to receive Cash Only Consideration.

“CEO” means Chief Executive Officer.
“Certificate of Amalgamation” means the certificate in respect of the Amalgamation.
*“CFO"” means Chief Financial Officer.

“Coempany” means Fort Garry or Russell, as the context requires, and both Fort Garry and Russell, when used
in the plural.

“Competing Proposal” means a proposal or offer by a third party (other than by Russell), whether or not
subject to a due diligence condition and whether or not in writing, to acquire in any manner, directly or indirectly,
beneficial ownership of all or substantially all of the assets of Fort Garry or to acquire in any manner, directly or
indirectly, beneficial ownership or control or direction over 20% or more of Fort Garry Shares (including any
Fort Garry Shares then held by such third party) whether by an arrangement, amalgamation, a merger, consolidation
or other business combination, by means of a sale of Fort Garry Shares, sale of assets, tender offer or exchange offer
or similar transaction involving Fort Garry including, without limitation, any single or multi step transaction or
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series of related transactions which is structured to permit such third party to acquire beneficial ownership of all or
substantially all of the assets of Fort Garry or to acquire in any manner, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the
outstanding Fort Garry Shares (other than the Amalgamation).

“Completion Deadline” means October 22, 2007 or such later date as may be agreed between Russell, Russell
Subco and Fort Garry in writing.

“Consideration Election and Transmittal Form” means the consideration, election and transmittal form
accompanying this Management Proxy Circular pursuant to which a Fort Garry Shareholder can make the Cash
Ounly Consideration Election, the Share and Cash Consideration Election or the Share Only Consideration Election.

“Deposit” means the deposit in the amount of $75,000 paid by Russell and held by Monk Goodwin LLP, the
solicitors for Fort Garry.

“Depositary” means CIBC Mellon Trust Company, which will act as the depositary for the exchange of the
Fort Garry Shares for the Russell Shares and the redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares pursuant
to the Amalgamation.

“Director” means the director appointed under Section 253 of the MCA.

“Disclosed Information” means all information (i) disclosed in writing to Russell (or its representatives) by
Fort Garry in connection with Russell’s due diligence review process; or (i} otherwise made available to Russell (or
its representatives) including by way of public disclosure by Fort Garry.

“Dissent Rights” means the rights of a Fort Garry Shareholder and holders of Fort Garry Preferred Shares to
dissent to the Amalgamation Resolution and to receive fair value for all Fort Garry Shares and Fort Garry Preferred
Shares held, as more particularly described under the heading “Rights of Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders” in this
Management Proxy Circular and in Section 184 of the MCA.

“Dissenting Fort Garry Sharcholder” means a Fort Garry Shareholder or a holder of Fort Garry Preferred
Shares who exercises Dissent Rights in accordance with Section 184 of the MCA.

“EBITDA” means net income (loss) under GAAP before amortization, interest expense,' depreciation and
income taxes. EBITDA is used to monitor operating performance.

“Effective Date” means the date shown on the Certificate of Amalgamation giving effect to the
Amalgamation.

“ENSIS" means ENSIS Investment Limited Partnership and ENSIS Growth Fund Inc., and any one of them.

“ENSIS Support Agreement” means the agreement obtained by Russell from ENSIS Growth Fund Inc. which
holds approximately 21.53% of the outstanding Fort Garry Shares whereby ENSIS Growth Fund Inc. has agreed to
(i) vote its Fort Garry Shares in favour of the Amalgamation, (i} accept Share Only Consideration or Share and

Cash Consideration with respect to its Fort Garry Shares, and (iii) accept the Cash Consideration for the Fort Garry
Preferred Shares held by it as contemplated by the Merger Agreement.

“Exchange Act” means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Fairness Advisor” or “Evans” means Evans & Evans, Inc. of Vancouver, British Columbia, the faimess
advisor to Font Garry in respect of the Amalgamation.

“Fairness Opinion” means the valuation report and related faimess opinion dated July 23, 2007 prepared by
the Faimess Advisor and delivered to the Fort Garry Board in respect of the faimess of the terms of the
Amalgamation, from a financial point of view, to the holders of the Fort Garry Shares.

“Fort Garry” means Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd., a corporation subsisting under the MCA.

(o1




“Fort Garry Board” means the board of directors of Fort Garry.

“Fort Garry Material Adverse Change” means any change in the financial condition, operations, assets,
liabilities, or business of Fort Garry which is materially adverse to the business of Fort Garry other than a change:

{a) which arises out of or in connection with (x) a matter that has been publicly disclosed or otherwise
disclosed in writing to Russell or its representatives by Fort Garry or its representatives prior to the date
of this Agreement or (y) the Disclosed Information;

{b) resulting from conditions affecting the beer industry as a whole; or

(c) resulting from general economic, financial, currency exchange, securities or commodity market
conditions in Canada, the United States or elsewhere.

“Fort Garry Material Adverse Effect” means any event, change or effect that is or would reasonably be
expected to be materially adverse to the financial condition, operations, assets, liabilities, or business of Fort Garry
provided, however, that a Material Adverse Effect shall not include an adverse effect resulting from a change:

{a) which arises out of or in connection with {x) 2 matter that has been publicly disclosed or otherwise
disclosed in writing to Russell or its representatives by Fort Garry or its representatives prior to the date
of this Agreement or (y) the Disclosed Information;

{b) resulting from conditions affecting the beer industry as a whole; or

(c) resulting from general economic, financial, currency exchange, securities or commodity market
conditions in Canada, the United States or elsewhere.

. “Fort Garry Meeting” means the special meeting of Fort Garry Shareholders to be held at 7:00 p.m.
(Winnipeg time) on October 18, 2007 for the purpose of voting on the Amalgamation Resolution and all other
matters to be presented by management at the Meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

“Fort Garry Meeting Date” means the date on which the Fort Garry Meeting occurs.

“Fort Garry Preferred Shares” means the 700,000 issued and outstanding class A preferred shares in the
capital of Fort Garry of which 628,305 are held by ENSIS Growth Fund Inc. and 71,695 are held by ENSIS
Investrnent Limited Partnership.

*“Fort Garry Shareholders” means, at the relevant time, the holders of Fort Garry Shares.

“Fort Garry Shares” means common shares in the capital of Fort Garry, presently existing and existing up to
the completion of the Amalgamation.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in effect in Canada, including the accounting
recommendations published in the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.

“Government Authority” means any foreign, national, provincial, local or state government, any political
subdivision or any governmental, judicial, public or statutory instrumentality, court, tribunal, agency (including
those pertaining to health, safety or the environment), authority, body or entity, or other regulatory bureau, authority,
body or entity having legal jurisdiction over the activity or Person in question.

“Management Proxy Circular” means this management proxy circular to be sent to the Fort Garry
Shareholders in connection with the Meeting.

“MCA’” means The Corporations Act (Maniloba), as amended.
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. “Merger Agreement” means the merger agreement made as of July 25, 2007 between Russell, Russell Subco
and Fort Garry providing for, among other things, the terms and conditions of the Amalgamation.

“Person” means any individual, firm, partmership, joint venture, venture capital fund, association, trust, trustee,
executor, administrator, legal personal representative, estate, group, body corporate, corporation, unincorporated
association or organization, Government Authority, syndicate or other entity, whether or not having legal status.

“Record Date” means September 24, 2007, being the date for determining Fort Garry Shareholders entitled to
receive notice of and vote at the Fort Garry Meeting.

“Redemption Date” means the day on which Amalco redeems the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares.
“Registered Holder™ means a shareholder of record of Fort Garry Shares,

“Regulatory Approval” means any approval, consent, waiver, permit or exemption from any Government
Authority having jurisdiction or authority over any party or the subsidiary of any party which is required or
advisable to be obtained in order to permit the Amalgamation to be cffected including, for greater certainty, the
approval by the TSX-V of Fort Garry’s change of control and of the issuance of Russell Shares and the acquisition
of Fort Garry by Russell as contemplated in the Merger Agreement, and “Regulatory Approvals” means all such
approvals, consents, waivers, permits, orders or exemptions.

“Russell” means Russell Breweries Inc., a corporation subsisting under the BCBCA.
“Russell Board” means the board of directors of Russell.

“Russell Material Adverse Change” means any change in the financial condition, operations, assets,
liabilities, or business of Russell and its subsidiaries, considered as a whole, which is materially adverse to the
. business of Russell and its Subsidiaries, considered as whole; other than a change:

(a) which arises out of or in connection with (x}a matter that has been publicly disclosed or otherwise
disclosed in writing to Fort Garry or its representatives by Russell or its representatives prior to the date
of this Agreement or (y) information which has been disclosed in writing or otherwise made available by
Russell to Fort Garry;

{b) resulting from conditions affecting the beer industry as a whole; or

(c} resulting from general economic, financial, currency exchange, securities or commodity market
conditions in Canada, the United States or elsewhere.

“Russell Material Adverse Effect” means any event, change or effect that is or would reasonably be expected
to be materially adverse to the financial condition, operations, assets, liabilities, or business of Russell and its
subsidiaries, considered as a whole; provided, however, that a Russell Material Adverse Effect shall not include an
adverse effect resulting from a change:

(a) which arises out of or in connection with (x) a matter that has been publicly disclosed or otherwise
disclosed in writing to Fort Garry or its representatives by Russell or its representatives prior to the date
of this Agreement or (y) information which has been disclosed in writing or otherwise made available by
Russell to Fort Garry; :

(b) resulting from conditions affecting the beer indusiry as whole; or

(¢) resulting from general economic, financial, currency exchange, securitics or commodity market
conditions in Canada, the United States or elsewhere.

“Russell Opco” means Russell Brewing Company Lid., a corporation subsisting under the BCBCA and a
. wholly owned subsidiary of Russell.
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“Russell Private Placement” means the private placement of 5,294,166 units of Russell at a price of $0.60 per
unit completed July 27, 2007 with each unit consisting of one Russell Share and one share purchase warrant entitling
the holder to purchase one additional Russell Share at a price of $0.75 for a period of one year from completion
subject to an early expiry provision that once resale restrictions on the shares have expired and upon Russell Shares
trading at or above a weighted average trading price of $1.00 for 15 consecutive days Russell may give notice that
the warrants will expire 30 days from the date of providing such notice. The units were sold by Russcll’s lcad agent,

‘Bolder Investment Partners Ltd., and syndicated with Canaccord Capital Corporation and MGI Securities Inc. The

agents received cash commission of $245,782 and 13,896 units equal to 8% of the gross proceeds of the offering and
in addition were granted 529,417 agents warrants exercisable for a period of one year from the date of closing of the
offering. Each agents warrant is exercisable into one common share of Russell at $0.60 and is subject to early
expiry conditions. In addition, Bolder Investment Partners Ltd. was paid an administration fee of $5,000 and a
corporate finance fee of 50,000 units. Other costs of this private placement are estimated at $75,000.

“Russell Shareholders” means at the relevant time, the holders of Russell Shares.
“Russel Shares” means voting common shares in the capital of Russell.

“Russell Subco” means 5506752 Manitoba Ltd., 2 corporation subsisting under the MCA and a wholly owned
subsidiary of Russell. :

“Russell Subco Shares” means the common shares in the capital of Russell Subco.

“Securities Acts” means the securities acts or the equivalent securities legislation of each of the provinces and
territories of Canada, as amended.

“Securities Legislation” means the Securities Acts, the Exchange Act and U.S. Securities Act each as now
enacted or as amended and the applicable rules, regulations, rulings, orders, instruments and forms made or
promulgated under such statutes, as well as the rules, regulations, bylaws and policies of the TSX-V.

“Share and Cash Consideration” means for each issued and outstanding Fort Garry Share held by a
Fort Garry Shareholder (other than any Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders) who validly makes the Share and Cash
Consideration Election, 0.50 of a Russell Share and 20 Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares each of which is
redeemable for a cash price of $0.01.

“Share and Cash Only Consideration Election” means the clection by a Fort Garry Shareholder, pursuant to
the Consideration Election and Transmittal Form, to receive Share and Cash Consideration.

“Share Only Consideration” means for each issued and outstanding Fort Garry Share held by a Fort Garry
Shareholder (other than any Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders) who validly makes the Share Only Consideration
Election or does not validly make the Cash Only Consideration Election or Share and Cash Consideration Election,
one Russell Share.

“Share Only Consideration Election” means the election by a Fort Garry Shareholder, pursuant to the
Consideration Election and Transmittal Form, to receive Share Only Consideration.

“Special Resolution” means a resolution required to be approved by not less than a two-thirds majority of the
votes cast by those sharcholders who (being entitted to do so) vote in person or by proxy at the Meeting.

“Suhsidiaries” has the meaning given by the MCA.

“Superior Proposal” means a bona fide, written Competing Proposal that is not solicited after May 25, 2007
where the Person making such Competing Proposal or the making of the Competing Proposal is not in breach of any
agreement between such Person and Fort Garry and (x)in respect of which any required financing has been
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Fort Garry Beard, acting in good faith, to be reasonably likely to be obtained
and (y) in respect of which the Fort Garry Board, supported by an opinion from Fort Garry’s financial advisors,
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. determines in good faith is, or would be, if consummated in accordance with its terms, reasonably expected to result
in a transaction more favourable to its shareholders than the Amalgamation.

“TSX” means the Toronto Stock Exchange.
“TSX-V” means the TSX Venture Exchange.

“U.8. Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
130 Lowson Crescent, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3P 2H8

Telephone: (204) 487-3678
Facsimile: (204) 487-0839

MANAGEMENT PROXY CIRCULAR

as at September 10, 2007 (unless otherwise indicated)

This Management Proxy Circular is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the
management of FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD. (“Fort Garry”) for use at the specinl meeting
(the “Meeting”) of its shareholders to be held on October 18, 2007 at the time and place and for the purposes
set forth in the accompanying Notice of Meeting.

Solicitation of Proxies

The solicitation of proxies will be primarily by mail, but proxies may be solicited personally or by telephone
by directors, officers and regular employees of Fort Garry. All costs of this solicitation will be borne by Fort Garry.
These officers and employees will receive no compensation other than their regular salaries but will be reimbursed
for their reasonable expenses, which it is expected will not exceed $1,000 in the aggregate.

Appointment and Revocation of Proxies

The individuals named in the accompanying form of proxy are Douglas Saville, the President and Chief
Executive Officer of Fort Garry and Richard Hoeschen, Secretary of Fort Garry. A shareholder eligible to vote at
the Meeting has the right to appoint a person, who need not be a shareholder, to attend and act for the
shareholder and on the shareholder’s behalf at the Meeting other than either of the persons designated in the
accompanying form of proxy, and may do so either by inserting the name of that other person in the blank
space provided in the accompanying form of proxy or by completing another suitable form of proxy.

Shareholders are requested to date, sign and return the accompanying form of proxy for use at the Meeting if
they are not able to attend the Meeting personally. To be effective, forms of proxy must be received by Fort Garry’s
registrar and transfer agent, CIBC Mellon Trust Company, no later than 48 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and
holidays} before the time of the Meeting (namely, by 7:00 p.m., Winnipeg time, on October 16, 2007) or any
adjournment thereof at which the proxy is to be used. Proxies delivered by regular mail should be addressed to
CIBC Mellon Trust Company, P.O. Box 721, Agincourt, Ontario, M1S 0Al. Proxies delivered by facsimile should
be sent to CIBC Mellon Trust Company at (416) 368-2502 (1-866-781-3111 North America only).

A shareholder who has given a proxy may revoke it by an instrument in writing duly executed and delivered
either to CIBC Mellon Trust Company or to the registered office of Fort Garry. To be effective, the revocation must
be received no later than 48 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) before the time of the Meeting
{namely by 7:00 p.m., Winnipeg time, on October 16, 2007) or any adjournment thereof at which the proxy is to be
wsed. A revocation of a proxy will not affect a matter on which a vote is taken before the revocation.

Non-Registered Holders

Only registered shareholders or duly appointed proxyholders are permitted to vote at the Meeting. However,
shareholders of Fort Garry are “non-registered” sharcholders because the common shares of Fort Garry (the
“Fort Garry Shares”) they own are not registered in their names but are instead registered in the name of the
brokerage firm, bank or trust company through which they purchased the Fort Garry Shares. More particularly, a
persom is not a registered sharehotder in respect of Fort Garry Shares which are held on behalf of that person (the
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“Non-Registered Holder™) but which are registered either: (a) in the name of an intermediary (an “Intermediary”)
that the Non-Registered Holder deals with in respect of the Fort Garry Shares (Intermediaries include, among others,
banks, trust companies, securities dealers or brokers and directors or administrators of self-administered RRSPs,
RRIFs, RESPs and similar plans); or (b) in the name of a clearing agency (such as The Canadian Depository for
Securities Limited (“CDS™)) of which the Intermediary is a participant. In accordance with the requirements of
National Instrument 54-101 of the Canadian Securities Administrators, Fort Garry has distributed copies of the
Notice of Meeting, Management Proxy Circular and form of proxy (collectively, the “Meeting Materials™) to the
clearing agencies and Intermediaries for onward distribution to Non-Registered Holders.

Intermediaries are required to forward the Meeting Materials to Non-Registered Holders unless a
Non-Registered Holder has waived the right to receive them. Very often, Intermediaries will use service companies
to forward the Meeting Materials to Non-Registered Holders. Generally, Non-Registered Holders who have not
waived the right to receive Meeting Materials will either:

(a) be given a form of proxy which has already been signed by the Intermediary (typically by a facsimile,
stamped signature), which is restricted as to the number of Fort Garry Shares beneficially owned by the
Non-Registered Holder but which is otherwise not completed. Because the Intermediary has alrcady
signed the form of proxy, this form of proxy is not required to be signed by the Non-Registered Holder
when submitting the proxy. In this case, the Non-Registered Holder who wishes to submit a proxy should
otherwise properly complete the form of proxy and deposit it with CIBC Mellon Trust Company as
provided above; or

(b) more typically, be given a voting instruction form which is not signed by the Intermediary, and which,
when properly completed and signed by the Non-Registered Holder and returned to the Intermediary or
its service company, will constitute voting instructions (often called a “proxy authorization form™) which
the Intermediary must follow. Typically, the proxy authorization form will consist of a one page
pre-printed form. Sometimes, instead of the one page pre-printed form, the proxy authorization form will
consist of a regular printed proxy form accompanied by a page of instructions which contains a
removable label containing a bar-code and other information. In order for the form of proxy to validly
constitute a proxy authorization form, the Non-Registered Holder must remove the label from the
instructions and affix it to the form of proxy, properly complete and sign the form of proxy and return it
to the Intermediary or its service company in accordance with the instructions of the Intermediary or its
service company.

In either case, the purpose of this procedure is to permit Non-Registered Holders to direct the voting of the
Fort Garry Shares which they beneficially own. Should a Non-Registered Holder who receives one of the above
forms wish to vote at the Meeting in person, the Non-Registered Holder should strike out the names of the
- management proXy nominees named in the form and insert the Non-Registered Holder's name in the blank space
provided. In either case, Non-Registered Holders should carefully follow the instructions of their
Intermediary, including those regarding when and where the proxy or prexy authorization form is to be
delivered.

Exercise of Discretion

On a poll the nominees named in the accompanying form of proxy will vote or withhold from voting the
Fort Garry Shares represented thereby in accordance with the instructions of the shareholder on any baliot that may
be called for. The proxy will confer discretionary authority on the nominees named therein with respect to:

(a) each matter or group of matters identifted therein for which a choice is not specified; and

(b) any other matter, including amendments to any of the foregoing, as may properly come before the
Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

In respect of a matter for which a choice is not specified in the proxy, or unless otherwise provided for in

the proxy, the nominees named in the accompanying form of proxy will vote Fort Garry Shares represented
by the proxy for the approval of such matter.

21

0027




As of the date of this Management Proxy Circular, management of Fort Garry knows of no amendment,
variation or other matter that may come before the Meeting, but if any amendment, variation or other matter
properly comes before the Meeting each nominee intends to vote thereon in accordance with the nominee’s best
judgment.

Voting Securities and Principal Holders of Voting Securities

The authorized capital of Fort Garry consists of an unlimited number of non-voting Class A preferred shares
and voting shares and voting common shares. As of the date hereof there are 700,000 Class A preferred shares and
4,976,698 common shares outstanding.

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on September 24, 2007, who either attend the Meeting
personally or complete and deliver a form of proxy in the manner and subject to the provisions described above, will
be entitled to vote or to have their Fort Garry Shares voted at the Meeting.

To the knowledge of the directors, the only shareholders who, as of the date of this Management Proxy
Circular, owned beneficizlly, or exercised control or discretion over more than 10% of either the total outstanding
non-voting Class A preferred shares of Fort Garry or the total outstanding voling common shares of Fort Garry, are
ENSIS Growth Fund Inc., which beneficially owns 628,305 Class A preferred shares or 89.75% of the total
outstanding Class A preferred shares of Fort Garry, and 1,071,675 common shares carrying 21.53% of the votes
attached to the total outstanding common shares of Fort Garry, and co-investor ENSIS Investment Limited
Partnership, which owns 71,695 Class A preferred shares or 10.25% of the total outstanding Class A preferred
shares of Fort Garry, and 303,325 common shares carrying 6.09% of the votes attached to the total outstanding
common shares of Fort Garry.

SPECIAL MEETING MATTERS

Statement of Executive Compensation

The purpose of this Statement of Executive Compensation is to provide disclosure of all compensation earned
by certain executive officers and directors in connection with office or employment by Fort Garry.

Compensation Summary

Applicable securities legislation requires that the table below set out all compensation paid during the previous
three financial years to Fort Garry's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as well as each of
Fort Garry’s three most highly compensated executive officers other than the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer who were serving as executive officers at the end of the most recently completed financial year
and whose total salary and bonus exceeds $150,000 (collectively the “Fort Garry NEQs”). The President and
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are the only Fort Garry NEOs.

Summary Compensation Table — Named Executive Officers

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Awards Payouts
Shares or
Securities Units
Under Subject to
Name and Other Annual  Options/SARs Resale LTIP All Other
. Exindpal Pesition Xear Sﬂ!smx En;m: L‘_Qmusnﬂnnn ﬁr.%tai Bﬁ%ﬁm& [ay_smu Qnmnssxmsi_qn
Douglas Saville 2006 85,0001 nil nil nil nil nil nil
President and Chief 2005 70,000 nil nil nil nil nit nil
Executive Officer 2004 70,000 10,000 nil ni} nil nil nil
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Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation

Awards Payouts
Shares or
Securities Units

Under Subject to
Name and Other Annnal  Options/SARs Resale LTIP All Other
Principal Position Xear Enlsarx mz;ms Qommsnsannn Qm;nﬂ Bml(:%ﬂm P.usmm Qnmm;mnnn
Denis Chabbert 2006 30,000 nil nil nil nil nil nil
(2006 — present)
Chief Financial Officer
Bob Mondor 2005 32,100 nil nil nil nil nil nil
(2004-2005) 2004 36,769 nil nil nil nil nil nil
Chief Financial Officer

Note:

M This amount represeats the annual salary paid to Douglas Saville in his capacity as President and Chief Exccutive Officer of Fort Garry,
management fees paid to Denis Chabbert in his capacity as Chief Financial Officer of Fort Garry.

Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards

A long-term incentive plan (“LTIP”) is “a plan providing compensation intended to motivate performance
over a period greater than one financial year” and does not include option or stock appreciation rights (“SARs")
plans or plans for compensation through shares or units that are subject to restrictions on resale. Fort Garry does not
have an LTIP for its directors and officers.

Options and SARs

Fort Garry does not have any incentive stock option or SARs plans.

Pension Plans

Fort Garry does not have any pension plans or long-term incentive plans.

Termination of Employment, Change in Responsibility and Employment and Management Contracts

There is an employment contract between Fort Garry and Douglas Saville pursuant to which Mr. Saville is
employed by Fort Garry as President, CEO and Brewmaster. The contract has a three-year term expiring May 15,
2009. Compensation is $85,000 per annum base salary plus benefits and a bonus of 25% of annual EBITDA over
$625,000 with a maximum bonus amount of $40,000 per annum. Employment may be terminated by Fort Garry
upon payment of one month’s salary for every year worked beginning in 1998 subject to a 12-month salary cap on
such termination payment.

Except as set forth above, there is no compensatory plan, contract or arrangement between Fort Garry and the
Fort Garry NEOs under which a Fort Garry NEQ is entitled to receive any payment whatsoever from Fort Garry in
the event of:

(a) the resignation, retirement or any other termination of a2 Fort Garry NEO employment with Fort Garry;

(b) achange of control of Fort Garry; or

(c) achange in a Fort Garry NEQ's responsibilities following a change in control.

Compensation of Directors

The aggregate direct remuneration paid or payable by Font Garry to senior officers or directors for services
rendered during Fort Garry's financial year ended December 31, 2006, including salaries and bonuses, was
$112,306.
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Indebtedness of Directors and Oificers

None of the current or former directors, employees or executive officers of Fort Garry, and none of the
associates of such persons is or has been indebted to Fort Garry at any time since the beginning of Fort Garry's last
completed financial year. Furthermore, none of such persons were indebted to a third party during such period
where their indebiedness was the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar
arrangement or understanding provided by Fort Garry.

Management Contracts

Management services for Fort Garry are not, to any substantial degree, performed by persons other than the
executive officers of Fort Garry, One executive officer of Fort Garry provides these services pursuant to a service
agreement which may be terminated upon written notice by either party (also see “Special Meeting Matters -
Termination of Employment, Change in Responsibilities and Employment and Management Contracts™ and “Special
Meeting Matters —~ Compensation Summary”).

Interest of Informed Persons in Material Transactfons

None of the directors or executive officers of Fort Garry nor any person who beneficially owns, directly or
indirectly, shares of Fort Garry or who exercises control or direction over shares carrying more than 10% of the
voting rights attached to all outstanding shares of Fort Garry, nor any associate or affiliate of the foregoing persons
has or has had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction since the commencement of Fort Garry's
last completed financial year or in any proposed transaction not otherwise disclosed herein which, in either case, has
affected or will materially affect Fort Garry, except as disclosed herein.

Particulars of Matters to be Acted Upon

At the Meeting, Fort Garry Shareholders will be asked to consider, and if thought fit, to approve, with or
without variation, the Amalgamation Resolution approving the Amalgamation of Fort Garry and Russell Subco
under Section 175 of the MCA involving the issuance of Russell Shares and Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares
to shareholders of Fort Garry in exchange for their Fort Garry Shares and Fort Garry Preferred Shares.

See “The Amalgamation™ for further information respecting the Amalgamation.

THE AMALGAMATION

Approval of Amalgamation Resolution

At the Meeting, Fort Garry Shareholders will be asked to approve, if thought fit, with or without variation, the
Amalgamation Resolution, substantially in the form set out in Schedule “E” to this Management Proxy Circular,
For the details of the Amalgamation, see below.

Principal Steps of the Amalgamation

In the event the Amalgamation Resolution is approved at the Meeting, upon the Amalgamation on the
Effective Date (see “The Amalgamation — Effective Date and Conditions of Amalgamation”):

1. Fort Garry and Russell Subco (a wholly owned subsidiary of Russell incorporated for the purpose of the
Amalgamation) will amalgamate under Section 175 of the MCA and continue as one corporation
(“Amalco”) under the name “Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd.”;

2. each issued and outstanding Fort Garry Share held by a Fort Garry Shareholder (other than ENSIS and
any Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders) who validly makes the Cash Only Consideration Election shall
be converted into 40 Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, each of which is redeemable for cash at a
price of $0.01 (the “Cash Only Consideration™);
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3. each issued and outstanding Fort Garry Share held by a Fort Garry Sharcholder (other than any
Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders) who validly makes the Share and Cash Consideration Election shail
be converted into .50 of a Russell Share and 20 Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, each of which is
redeemable for a cash price of $0.01 (the “Share and Cash Consideration™),

4. each issued and outstanding Fort Garry Share held by a Fort Garry Shareholder (other than any
Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders) who validly makes the Share Only Consideration Election or who
does not validly make the Cash Only Consideration Election or Share and Cash Consideration Election
shall be exchanged for one Russell Share (the “Share Only Consideration™);

5. all 700,000 Fort Garry Preferred Shares shall be converted into that pumber of Amalco Redeemable
Preferred Shares, redeemable for cash at a price of $0.01 each, equal to 93,587,120 plus 15,662 for each
day from and including July 1, 2007 to and including the Effective Date;

6. each issued and outstanding Fort Garry Share held by Russell Subco shall be cancelled without any
repayment of capital in respect thereof;

7. each issued and outstanding Russell Subco Comrnon Share shall be converted into one Amalco Common
Share;

8. each Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder shall cease to have any rights as a Fort Garry Shareholder other
than the right to be paid the Fair Value in respect of the Fort Garry Shares held by such Dissenting
Fort Garry Sharcholder in accordance with the MCA;

9. as consideration for the issuance of the Russell Shares to effect the Amalgamation, Amalco will issue to
Russell one Amalco Common Share for each Russell Share so issued;

10. all of the property and assets of each of Russell Subco and Fort Garry will be the property and assets of
Amalco and Amaleo will be liable for all of the liabilities and obligations of each of Russell Subco and
Fort Garry; and

11. upon redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares issued to Fort Garry Shareholders pursuant
to clauses 2, 3 and 5, Amalco will be a wholly owned subsidiary of Russell.

Full particulars of the Amalgamation are contained in the Merger Agreement and in the Amalgamation
Agreement attached hereto as Schedule “F, both of which are incorperated by reference in this Management Proxy
Circular. See “The Amalgamation”. A full copy of the Merger Agreement is available for viewing at any time prior
to the Fort Garry Meeting during normal business hours at Fort Garry’s principal office at 130 Lowson Crescent,
Winnipeg, Manitoba R3P 2H8.

As a consequence of the Amalgamation, Fort Garry will be delisted from the TSX-V.

Effect of the Amalgamation

The effect of the Amalgamation is that all of the property and assets of each of Russell Subco and Fort Garry
will be the property and assets of Amalco and Amalco will be liable for ali of the liabilities and obligations of each
of Russell Subco and Fort Garry.

Fort Garry Shareholders (other than ENSIS and any Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders) who make the Cash
Only Consideration Election will receive Cash Only Consideration, Fort Garry Shareholders (other than any
‘Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders) who validly make the Share and Cash Consideration Election will receive
Share and Cash Consideration. Fort Garry Shareholders (other than any Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders) who
validly make the Share Only Consideration Election or who do not validly make the Cash Only Consideration
Election or Share and Cash Consideration Election will receive Share Only Consideration. All 700,000 Fort Garry
Preferred Shares held by ENSIS will be converted into that number of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares,
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redeemable for cash at a price of $0.01 each, equal 10 $93,587,120 plus $15,062 for each day from and including
July 1, 2007 to and including the Effective Date. Amalco, the entity resulting from the Amalgamation, wilt be a
wholly owned subsidiary of Russell following completion of the Amalgamation. All Amalco Redeemable Preferred
Shares issued to Fort Garry Shareholders upon the Amalgamation will be redeemed for cash on the Effective Date,

Upon completion of the Amalgamation and assuming (i) all Fort Garry Shareholders elect the Share Only
Consideration with each Fort Garry Share being exchanged for one Russell Share, (ii) there are 4,976,698 Fort Garry
Shares issued and outstanding at the time of the Amalgamation, and (iii) no further shares are issued by Fort Garry,
Rassell will issue approximately 4,976,698 Russell Shares to acquire the Fort Garry Shares and there will be
approximately 26,672,980 Russell Shares issued and outstanding.

Fort Garry Shareholders will hold Russell Shares which will continue to be listed on the TSX-V and will retain
the name “Russell Breweries Inc.”. Russell, Russell Opco and Amalco will continue the combined brewery
businesses of Russell and Fort Garry. See “Russell - Post-Amalgamation™ for disclosure about its operations,
post-Amalgamation.

Reasons for the Amalgamation

The business combination between Russell and Fort Garry pursuant to the Merger Agreement was negotiated
by Russell and Fort Garry on the basis that the shareholders of Fort Garry and Russell would benefit from
combining the interests of Fort Garry and Russell for the purposes of operating their combined brewery businesses,
and to create a larger company with greater efficiencies and potential as set forth under “Recommendations of the
Directors”.  Fort Garry and Russell believe that the Amalgamation is in the best interests of their respective
shareholders for numerous reasons, but in particular Fort Garry and Russell believe that developing their brands
through a combined entity will create the best prospects for long-term value for sharcholders. Specifically,
Fort Garry and Russell believe that the amalgamation will result in a larger publicly traded company with a greater
depth of experienced management, a greater production capacity, a stronger balance sheet, a regional business
development plan and expansion strategy and a greater ability to attract financing.

The Fort Garry Board retained Evans to provide a Fairness Opinion in respect of the Amalgamation to the
Fort Garry Board. The Fairness Advisor based its advice upon a consideration of relevant factors including the
market value, financial and other assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities and risks as applicable to each of Fort Garry
and Russell. The Fairness Opinion has been prepared for, and reviewed by, the Fort Garry Board.

See “The Amalgamation — Recommendations of the Directors”, “The Amalgamation — Fairness Opinion” and
the financial statements attached to this Management Proxy Circular.

Recommendations of the Directors

The Fort Garry Board has reviewed the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder and has received the Fairness Opinion provided by the Fairness
Advisor, and has concluded that such transactions are fair and reasonable to the Fort Garry Shareholders,
and in the best interests of Fort Garry. The Fort Garry Board therefore recommends that the Fort Garry
Shareholders vote in favour of the Amalgamation Resolution and any other related resolutions proposed by
the Fort Garry Board as set out in the Notice of Meeting.

In arriving at its conclusion, the Fort Garry Board considered, among other matters:

* information with respect to the financial condition, business and operations, on both a historical and
prospective basis, of both Fort Garry and Russell;

*  information provided by Russell with respect to its properties and brewing and sales operations;
*  the procedures by which the Amalgamation is to be approved;

*  the tax treatment of Fort Garry Shareholders under the Amalgamation;
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* the availability of Dissent Rights to Fort Garry Shareholders with resbect to the Amalgamation;
e the management group of Russell;

¢  the Fairness Opinion from the Fairness Advisor;

*  Russell’s greater combined capitalization and liquidity;

*  through greater size and diversity, Fort Garry Shareholders will have more exposure to potential
investment opportunities;

*  Russell's improved working capital position and abilily to raise capital;

*  Russell’s share trading liquidity;

*  Russell’s branding and marketing expertise;

*  Russell’s Advisory Board and the related regional and national account connections; anél
*  Russell’s rapid sales growth and strategic plan.

The Fort Garry Board also identified disadvantages associated with the Merger Agreement and the transactions
contemnplated thereunder, including the fact that the Fort Garry Shareholders after the Amalgamation will be subject
to:

(a) dilution of their interest in Fort Garry; and

(b) the risk factors applicable to Russell. See “The Amalgamation — Amalgamation Risk Factors”, “Russell
Breweries Inc. — Risk Factors” and “Russell - Post-Amalgamation — Risk Factors”.

ENSIS Support Agreement

Russell has obtained a Support Agreement with ENSIS Growth Fund Inc. holding in the aggregate
approximately 21.53% of the outstanding Fort Garry Shares whereby they have agreed to vote their Fort Garry
Shares in favour of the Amalgamation Resolution. In addition, ENSIS Growth Fund Inc. has agreed to make the
Share Only Consideration Election or the Share and Cash Consideration Election with respect to its Fort Garry
Shares,

Amalgamation Risk Factors

The Russell securities to be issued pursuant to the Amalgamation are subject to a number of risk factors.
Shareholders of Fort Garry should review carefolly the risk factors set forth under “Fort Garry Brewing Company
Lid. — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Fort Garry for the year ended December 31, 2006 — Risks and
Uncertainties”, “Russell Breweries Inc. — Risk Factors™ and “Russell — Post-Amalgamation — Risk Factors™.

Effects of the Amalgamation on Sharehelders’ Rights

As a result of the Amalgamation, al! Fort Garry Shareholders and holders of Fort Garry Preferred Shares (other
than Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders and Fort Garry Shareholders who elect to receive Cash Only
Consideration) will become Russell Shareholders. As a result, Fort Garry Shareholders and holders of Fort Garry
Preferred Shares will be shareholders of a British Columbia company governed by the BCBCA and by Russell's
constating documents, unless they exercise Dissent Rights in connection with the Amalgamation or, in the case of
Fort Garry Shareholders, elect to receive Cash Only Consideration.
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Conduct of the Meeting and Other Approvals

Shareholder Approval of the Amalgamation

In order for the Amalgamation to be effected, the MCA requires the Amalgamation Agreement to be approved
by the Amalgamation Resolution passed separately by the Fort Garry Shareholders and by the holders of Fort Garry
Preferred Shares. The complete text of the Amalgamation Resolution to be presented to the Meeting is set forth in
Schedule “E”. The Amalgamation Resolution must be approved by a majority of at least two-thirds of the votes of
those Fort Garry Shareholders and two-thirds of the votes of those holders of Fort Garry Preferred Shares who are
present and vote either in person or by proxy at the Meeting.

Regulatory Approvals

The Fort Garry Shares currently trade on the TSX-V. As such, Fort Garry is required to obtain the approval of
the TSX-V in order for the Amalgamation to be effected. Fort Garry is a reporting issuer in Manitoba, British
Columbia, Alberta and Saskatchewan. By way of letter dated July 23, 2007, the TSX-V conditionally approved the
Amalgamation subject to receipt of confirmation that the transactions have completed in accordance with all
relevant securities and corporate laws, evidence of shareholder approval for the delisting and related transactions,
confirmation of closing of the transactions and confirmation of the delisting date. The Russell Shares trade on the
TSX-V. As such, Russell will be required to obtain final approval of the TSX-V in order for the Amalgamation to
be effected. Russell is a reporting issuer in British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario. By way of letter dated June 21,
2007, the TSX-V conditionally approved the proposed transaction in respect of Russell. Final approval is
conditional upon Russell satisfying the filing requirements as outlined in Policy 5.3, Section 5, and receipt of the
required regulatory approvals for the Amalgamation. Fort Garry is also required to obtain certain third party
consents prior to the Effective Date. See “Conditions to the Amalgamation Becoming Effective”,

Shareholders of Fort Garry should be aware that the foregoing final TSX-V approval has not yet been given by
the regulatory autherities referred to above. Fort Garry cannot provide any assurances that such approvals and
consents will be obtained.

Fairness Opinion
General

The Independent Committee of the Fort Garry Board (the “Committee”) engaged Evans as its Faimess
Adpvisor to provide the Committee with an appropriate independent basis to evaluate the fairness of the terms of the
Amalgamation. The Faimness Advisor is not an insider, associate or affiliate of Fort Garry or Russell. The Fairness
Advisor has not acted as advisor to Russell or its respective affiliates in connection with the Amalgamation and has
not prepared previous evaluations of Fort Garry or Russell.

A summary of the Fairness Opinion prepared by the Fairness Advisor dated July 23, 2007 is provided below.
The summary is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the Fairness Opinion. Certain of the figures included in
the summary below are based on historical information available to the Fairness Advisor at the time of preparation
of the Faimess Opinion and have been updated elsewhere in this Management Proxy Circular. Accordingly, such
figures may vary elsewhere in the Management Proxy Circular. The analysis conducted by the Fairness Advisor, as
described in the Faimess Opinion, must be considered as a whole. To focus on specific portions of the analysis and
of the factors considered, without considering all analyses and factors, could create an incomplete and misleading
view of the processes underlying the Faimess Opinion. Fort Garry Shareholders are urged to read the Fairness
Opinion, a copy of which is attached {without schedules) as Schedule “T” to this Management Proxy Circular. A full
copy (including schedules) of the Fairness Opinion is available for viewing at any time up to the Meeting during
normal business hours at the business office at 130 Lowson Crescent, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3P 2HS8.

In determining the fairness of the proposed offer, Evans considered the fair market value of Fort Garry and
Russel! as at June 30, 20(7 (the “Valuation Date”). Fair market value means the highest price available in an open
and unrestricted market between informed and prudent parties, acting at arm’s length and under no compulsion to
act, expressed in terms of cash, The shares of Fort Garry and Russell were valued en bloc.
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Review of Financial Resuits — Fort Garry

In determining the underlying book value of the Fort Garry Shares pre-Amalgamation, Evans reviewed the
adjusted tangible asset backing (“TAB”) of Fort Garry as at the Valuation Date.

The value of a firm's tangible assets affects a purchaser’s analysis of the risk inherent in investing in that firm.
Tangible asset backing is defined as the aggregate fair market value of all tangible and identifiable intangible assets
of a business, where the latter have values that can be separately determined under a going-concern assumption,
minus all liabilities. Valuation theory holds that tangible asset backing is relevant, given the higher TAB, generally
the higher the value of a firm. This TAB calculation work is outlined in Schedule 3.0 of the Faimess Opinion.

Evans reviewed the March 31, 2007 balance sheet of Fort Garry and made certain adjustments in order to
determine the TAB of Fort Garry as at the Valuation Date. In doing so, it was determined by Evans that the net
adjusted TAB of Fort Garry (after noted adjustments) was approximately $3,100,000. In calculating the TAB of
Fort Garry, a significant leverage adjustment was made, as outlined in the following two paragraphs.

Redundancies, or redundant assets, are defined as those assets which are not required in the day-to-day
operation of a business and, accordingly can be liquidated or put to some alternative use without risk to the business.
The fair market value of a corporation’s redundant assets increases the fair market value of its shares otherwise
determined under an income approach. Alternatively, a company's capital structure may be over-leveraged when
compared to industry norms. The degree of over-leverage is considered a negative redundancy and must be adjusted
for in determining the company's fair market value.

In determining the fair market of Fort Garry and Russell, Evans first adjusted the balance sheet at the Valuation
Date in order that the Company’s financial ratios are in line with industry norms. In reviewing Forl Garry’s
financial position as at the Valuation Date, Evans was of the view that Fort Garry was over-leveraged, i.c., had too
. much debt. Accordingly, a leverage adjustment of $1.7 million was determined to be required when utilizing an
income approach to the valuation of Fort Garry.

Review of Financiat chulg — Russell

Evans reviewed the March 31, 2007 balance sheet of Russell and made certain adjustments to Russell’s
balance sheet in order to determine the net adjusted TAB for Russell as at the Valvation Date. In doing so, it was
determined by Evans that the TAB of Russell (after noted adjustments) was approximately $1,800,000. In
calculating the TAB of Russell, a leverage adjustment was made. In reviewing Russell’s financial position as at the
Valuation Date, Evans was of the view that Russell was over-leveraged, i.e., had too much debt. Accordingly, a
leverage adjustment of $370,000 was determined to be required when utilizing an income approach to the valuation
of Russell.

Valuation of Fort Garry
Fort Yalvation Approach

Evans believed it was appropriate to value Fort Garry on a going-concern basis. Given the nature and status of
Fort Garry as at the Valuation Date, Evans was of the view that the most appropriate method in determining the
range of the fair market value of Fort Garry at the Valuation Date was an income approach and a market approach
based on a going-concern assumption. Specifically, Evans used a capitalization of earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) method and a trading price method.

Income Approach —— Capitalized EBITDA Method

By weighting the actual operating EBITDA for Fort Garry for fiscal years 2005 and 2006 and budgeted 2007
by 2, 4 and 4 respectively for the low end and 0, 6 and 4 respectively for the high end, Evans arrived at a
maintainable EBITDA for Fort Garry in the range of $380,000 10 $450,000, ~

In selecting an appropriate capitalization rate to apply to Fort Garry’s estimated future EBITDA, Evans
considered the influence of both internal and external factors on business risk as well as discussions with industry
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participants with respect to “rules of thumb” in the industry. Evans’ assessment of the risk associated with
Fort Garry resulted in the application of a multiple of 8.0 times to 9.0 times (or capitalization rates of 11.11% to
12.5%) to the range of indicated EBITDA. This resulted in an enterprise value in the range of $3,400,000 to
$3,600,000.

After deducting the fair market value of the interest bearing debt of $1,050,000, Evans arrived at a fair market
value of the Fort Garry equity of $2.4 million to $2.6 million. Upon arriving at the fair market value of 100% of the
issued and outstanding shares (i.e., the equity) the fair market value of the common shares was determined by
deducting the redemption value of the preferred shares plus the accrued dividends owing. Under the capitalized
EBITDA method, the fair market value of the Fort Garry Shares was determined by Evans to be $1,500,000 to
$1,700,000. :

Market Approach — Trading Price Method

In arriving at the fair market value of the Fort Garry Shares under the trading price method, Evans considered a
weighting of the implied value based on the average trading price of FGB over the 30 days preceding the Valuation
Date and the 90 days preceding the Valuation Date. A weighted approach was considered appropriate as both the
trading volume and trading price substantially increased following the announcement of the proposed transaction
with Russell.

Given the Fort Garry Shares have not historically traded in significant volumes, the authors of the Fairness
Opinion deemed it necessary to examine the trading history of Fort Garry to determine the actual ability of
shareholders to realize the implied value of their shares (i.e., sell). In examining the trading volumes of Fort Garry
over the previous six months it was apparent that daily trading volumes were relatively low (on average less than
10,000 shares per day). This provided supporting evidence that trading price was not indicative of fair market value
of Fort Garry. The thinness of trading over the previous six months of operations also suggested that any indication
of fair market value from a market capitalization perspective is unlikely. Further, large blocks of shares were
generally traded at a “blockage discount” to the market value. In the context of a public market, “blockage
discount” is defined as the decrease in stock market trading price created by the forces of supply and demand when a
block of shares larger than normal trading lots is exposed for sale at one time. However, Evans did deem it
important to consider the trading price of Fort Garry given the increase in trading volumes since the announcement
of the proposed transaction with Russell.

Under the trading price method, Evans found that the value of the Fort Garry Shares was in the range of
$1.9 million.

Valuation Conclusion

The fair market value of the Fort Garry Shares was determined by Evans to be in the range of
$1.6 million to $1.9 million. The low end of the range was the mid-point of the fair market value as determined
using the capitalized EBITDA method. The high end of the range was arrived at using the trading price method.

Valuation of Russell

Russell Valuation Approach

Evans believed it was appropriate to value Russell on a going-concern basis. Given the nature and status of
Russell at the Valuation Date as well as the different approaches of valuation, Evans was of the view that the most
appropriate method in determining the range of the fair market value of Russell at the Valuation Date was a
weighted approach giving consideration to two separate market approaches. Specifically, Evans weighted the
historical transaction method and the trading price method in arriving at the fair market value of Russell.

Market Approach — Trading Price Method

In arriving at the fair market value of Russell under the trading price method, Evans considered the average
trading price of Russell Shares over the 10 days and 90 days preceding the Valuation Date. Under the trading price
method, Evans found that the value of Russell was in the range of $9.6 million to $9.9 million.
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Market Approach — Historical Transaction Method

Evans also reviewed the implied value of the Russell Shares based upon recent financings completed by
Russell.

On October 17, 2006, Russell announced the completion of a brokered private placement of 5,000,000 units at
a purchase price of $0.30 per unit for gross proceeds to Russell of $1,500,000. Each unit consisted of one common
share of Russell and one common share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitled the holder to purchase an
additional common share of Russell at any time over a period of two years from the date of closing of the private
placement at an exercise price of $0.50. In total the shares issued in the financing represented 31% of the issued and
outstanding shares of Russell at that time and implied a value for Russell of $4.8 million.

Valuation Conclusions

Based on the above approaches (with care to the qualitative analysis conducted) used to determine the fair
market value of Russell, Evans deemed it appropriate to apply a weighting to the two valuation approaches. This
was done in order to consider both the current trading price of Russell, which can reflect transient bootns and busts
in the market, along with the value implied by a significant investment in Russell.

The low end of the range of fair market value of Russell was determined by Evans to be $6.8 million, In
arriving at the low end of the range, Evans deemed it appropriate to rely more heavily on the historical transactions
method as this represents what a group of investors were willing to pay for a substantial interest in Russell. The
trading price method was given less weighting given Russell is not yet at a stage where significant volumes of shares
are trading, :

Method : Midpoint Welghting
Trading Price $9,800,000 40.0% $3,920,000
Historical Transactions $4,800,000 60.0% $2.880.000

$6,800,000

The high end of the range of fair market value of Russell was determined by Evans to be $7.3 million. In
arriving at the high end of the range, Evans deemed it appropriate to rely more heavily on the trading price
approach. More weighting was given to the trading price method as it would appear investors (by virtue of the value
implied by the trading price method) are valuing the potential of Russell and its roll-up plan more than the
short-term results. Further, less weighting was given to the historical transaction method to reflect the achievement
of certain milestones between the date of the financing and the Valuation Date.

Method Midpoint Weighting
Trading Price $9,800,000 50.0% . $4,900,000
Historical Transactions $4,800,000 50.0% 2,400,000

$7,300,000
Fairness Considerations

Fair Market Value per Fort Garry Share

The fair market value of each Fort Garry Share as at the Valuation Date ‘was calculated to be in the range of
$0.32 10 $0.38.

Faimess of the Cash Consideration

Under the terms of the proposed transaction Fort Garry Shareholders have the option of choosing cash for their
Fort Garry Shares. In exchange for each Fort Garry Share, the Fort Garry Shareholders are entitled to receive $0.40
in cash at closing. The cash consideration exceeds the calculated fair market value of the Fort Garry Shares.
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Fair Market Value of the Russell Share Consideration

Under the terms of the proposed transaction, the Fort Garry Shareholders have the option to receive 1.0 Russell
Share in exchange for each 1.0 Fort Garry Share they currently hold, Accordingly, Evans calculated the fair market
value of Russell post-Amalgamation in order to compare the fair market value per Russell Share post- Amalgamation
with the fair market value of Fort Garry Share as at the Valvation Date.

Overall, Evans estimated the fair market value of Russell post-Amalgamation to be in the range of
$16.5 million to $17.1 million or $0.48 to $0.50 per Russell Share. The calculated fair market value per Russell
Share post-Amalgamation exceeds the calculated fair market value per Fort Garry Share pre-Amalgamation.

Fair Market Value of the Half Cash / Half Russell Share Consideration

Under the terms of the proposed transaction, the Fort Garry Shareholders have the option to receive 0.5 Russell
Share and $0.20 in cash in exchange for each 1.0 Fort Garry Share they currently hold. Accordingly, Evans
calculated the fair market value of Russell post-Amalgamation in order to compare the cash and share consideration
received with the fair market value per Fort Garry Share as at the Valuation Date.

Overall, Evans estimated the fair market value of Russell post-Amalgamation, under this scenario, to be in the
range of $15.5 million to $16.1 million or $0.49 to $0.51 per Russeli Share. The cash and share consideration
received by the Fort Garry Shareholders exceeds the calculated fair market valee per Fort Garry Share
pre-Amalgamation.

Conclusion as to Fairness

Based upon Evans’ valuation work and subject to the limitations and assumptions in the Faimess Opinion,
Evans is of the opinion, as at the Valuation Date, that the terms of the Amalgamation are fair, from a financial point
of view, to the Fort Garry Shareholders. In the opinion of Evans the proposed transaction is fair, from a financial
standpoint, if the Fort Garry Shareholders choose either cash consideration, Russell Shares in exchange for their
Fort Garry Shares, or cash and Russell Shares.

There are a number of qualitative factors associated with the completion of the proposed transaction that Evans
indicates the Fort Garry Shareholders might consider in determining the overall fairness of the proposed transaction.
In assessing the fairness of the proposed transaction to the Fort Garry Shareholders, Evans has considered, inter alia,
the following:

(a) Comparison of the fair market value, as at June 30, 2007, of the per common share value of Fort Garmry
prior to completion of the Proposed Transaction, to the fair market value, on a pro forma basis, of the per
share value of Russell post-amalgamation.

(b) Review of Russell’s ability to meet the cash requirements related to the acquisition of the Fort Gamy
Shares. As at the Valuation Date, Russell had options and warrants “in-the-money” which would result
in approximately $3.0 million in gross proceeds to Russell. Further, Evans found that in the months
preceding the proposed transaction Russell did have a history of converting warrants to shares. Lastly,
Russell had arranged for a private placement for gross proceeds of $3.6 million which Evans assumed
was fully-subscribed as at the date of the Fairness Opinion.

(c) Other potential benefits that may be realized subsequent to the completion of the proposed transaction
include possible synergies between Fort Garry and Russell. Evans has not attempted to quantify these
additional qualitative potential benefits. Centain additional potential benefits are as follows:

(i) Shared operations and administrative personnel thereby reducing certain staff and systems costs.
(ii) Fort Garry is currently operating well below capacity. As Russell expands operations, Fort Garry’s

excess capacity can be utilized to brew Russell products, thereby reducing the unit costs for both
brands.
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(iii) Access to funding. Russell has been very successful over the past nine months at raising funding for
acquisitions. Conversely, Fort Garry has not attempted to secure additional equity financing and has
historically relied on debt financing.

(iv) Shared executive level management.

(v) Removal of duplication of public company costs.

Credentials of Evans & Evans, Inc.

Evans is a Canadian corporate finance advisory and valuation firm with offices across Canada and also in the
U.S. Evans offers a range of independent and advocate services including valuation and fairness opinions, business
planning and research, mergers and acquisitions advice, business due diligence, market and competitive research and
capital formation assistance.

Procedure for Exchange of Fort Garry Shares

Accompanying this Management Proxy Circular is a consideration election and transmittal form (the
“Consideration Election and Transmittal Form”) containing instructions pursuant to which Fort Garry
Shareholders may elect to receive in exchange for Fort Garry Shares the Cash Only Consideration, the Share and
Cash Consideration or the Share Only Consideration under the Amalgamation, and instructions with respect to the
deposit of certificates for Fort Garry Shares with the Depositary at its principal office in Toronto, Ontario. Upon
return to the Depositary of a properly completed Consideration Election and Transmittal Form by no later than
October 16, 2007, together with certificates representing Fort Garry Shares, and upon occurrence of the Effective
Date and the redemption that day of all issued Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, cash payments in the
appropriate amounts and certificates for the appropriate number of Russell Shares will be distributed without charge.

Fractional Shares

No fractional Russell Shares or Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares will be issued or delivered in connection
with the Amalgamation. If at the completion of the Amalgamation, the aggregate number of Russell Shares or
Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares to be issued or delivered to a Fort Garry Shareholder would result in a
fraction of a share issuable to deliverable, the number of Russell Shares or Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, as
the case may be, to be issued or delivered will be rounded up to the nearest whole number.

Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares

No share certificates will be issued in respect of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares issued pursuant to
the Amalgamation. From and after the Effective Date until their redemption, the Amalco Redeemable Preferred
Shares will be evidenced by the share certificates representing the Fort Garry Shares and the Fort Garry Preferred
Shares for which the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares have been issued.

Payment for Deposited Shares

Russell will pay for Fort Garry Shares validly deposited pursuant to the Amalgamation by providing the
Depositary with sufficient certificates representing Russell Shares and sufficient funds (by bank transfer or other
means satisfactory to the Depositary) for transmittal to the holders of such Fort Garry Shares.

Under no circumstances will interest accrue or be paid by Amalco, Russell or the Depositary to persons
depositing Fort Garry Shares who elect the Cash Only Consideration or the Share and Cash Consideration for
Fort Garry Shares, regardless of any delay in making such payment.

The Depositary will act as the agent of persons who have deposited Fort Garry Shares pursuant to the
Amalgamation for the purpose of receiving payment from Russell and transmitting payment from Russell to such
persons, and receipt of payment by the Depositary will be deemed to constitute receipt of payment by persons
depositing Fort Garry Shares.
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Settlement with persons who deposit Fort Garry Shares will be effected by the Depositary forwarding cheques
payable in Canadian funds and/or if appropriate, a certificate representing any Russell Shares to be issued in
consideration by first class insured mail, postage prepaid.

Unless otherwise directed in the Consideration Election and Transmittal Form, the cheque and/cr, certificate
representing any Russell Shares to be issued in consideration will be issued in the name of the registered holder of
Fort Garry Shares so deposited. Unless the person who deposits Fort Garry Shares instructs the Depositary to hold
the cheque and/or Russell Share certificate for pick-up by checking the appropriate box in the Consideration
Election and Transmittal Form, cheques and/or any certificates will be forwarded by first class insured mail to the
addresses supplied in the Consideration Election and Transmittal Form. If no address is provided, cheques and/or
any certificates will be forwarded to the address of the person as shown on the applicable register of Fort Garry.

Delivery of Russell Share Certificates and Funds

Within three Business Days afier the Effective Date, Russell will deliver or cause to be delivered to the
Depositary:

1. certificates representing the appropriate number of Russell Shares to the former Fort Garry Sharchoiders
who have made the Share and Cash Consideration Election or the Share Only Consideration Election; and

2. sufficient funds to redeem all Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares issued to the former Fort Garry
Shareholders who have elected the Cash Only Consideration Election or the Share and Cash
Consideration Election together with a direction to make payment in the appropriate amounts to such
former Fort Garry Sharcholders.

Cancellation of Rights after Six Years

If a Fort Garry Shareholder fails to deliver and surrender to the Depositary the certificates representing
Fort Garry Shares together with a duly executed and completed Consideration Election and Transmittal Form and
other required documents, by 5:00 p.m. (Pacific Standard Time) on October 16, 2007, such Fort Garry Shareholder
shall be deemed to have made the Share Only Consideration Election and the certificates representing the Russell
Shares to which the Fort Garry Shareholder would otherwise have been entitled will be held by the Depositary for a
maximum of six years from the Effective Date.

Upon the expiry of six years from the Effective Date, each such certificate representing Fort Garry Shares shall
cease to represent a right or claim of any kind or nature and the right of such Fort Garry Sharcholder to receive
certificates representing Russell Shares, and the Russell Shares issued to such Fort Garry Shareholders, shall be
deemed to be surrendered to Russell together with all dividends or distributions thereon declared or held for such
holder.

Fees and Expenses

All expenses incurred in connection with the Amalgamation and the transactions contemplated thereby shall be
paid by the party incurring such expenses, subject to the provisions related to the Termination Fee and the Deposit
as described under “Merger Agreement”.

Effective Date and Conditions of Amalgamation

Effective Date

If the Amalgamation Resolution is passed, every requirement of the MCA relating to the Amalgamation has
been complied with and all other conditions disclosed under “Conditions to the Amalgamation Becoming Effective”
are met, it is anticipated that the Amalgamation will become effective within two Business Days following the date
of the Fort Garry Meeting when the articles of amalgamation in respect of the Amalgamation have been filed with
the Director and the Certificate of Amalgamation has been issued. Russell and Fort Garry presently intend that the
Effective Date will be on or about October 22, 2007. Russell may terminate the Merger Agreement if the
Amalgamation does not become effective on or before October 31, 2007.




Conditions to the Amalgamation Becoming Effective

In order for the Amalgamation and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement to be
completed, certain conditions must have been satisfied or waived on or before the Effective Date which conditions
are summarized below:

Mutual Conditions

The following conditions for the mutual benefit of Russell and Fort Garry are to be satisfied or waived on or
before the Effective Date:

_(a) the Amalgamation Resolution shall have been approved,

(b) there shall not be in force any order or decree restraining or emjoining the consummation of the
Amalgamation or the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement;

(c} the Merger Agreement shatl not have been terminated;

(d) the Russell Shares issuable pursuant to the Amalgamation shall have been conditionally approved for
listing on the TSX-V, subject to the filing of required documentation; and

(e} all Regulatory Approvals shall have been obtained.

Additional Conditions in Favour of Russell

The following conditions for the exclusive benefit of Russell are to be satisfied, or waived by Russell, on or
before the Effective Date:

(a) no Fort Garry Material Adverse Change shall have occurred between the date of the Merger Agreement
and the Effective Date;

(b) Fort Garry shall not have breached, or failed to comply with, in any material respect, any of its covenants
or other obligations under the Merger Agreement, and all representations and warranties of Fort Garry
contained in the Merger Agreement shall have been true and correct in all material respects as of the date
of the Merger Agreement and shall not have ceased to be true and coirect in any material respect
thereafter (provided, however, that if the breaching party has been given written notice by the other party
specifying in reasonable detail any such misrepresentation, breach or non- performance, the breaching
party shall have had three days to cure such misrepresentation, breach or non-performancey;

(c) the Fort Garry Board shall have adopted all necessary resolutions and all other necessary corporate
actions shall have been taken by Fort Garry to permit the consummation of the Amalgamation;

(d) from the date of the Merger Agreement until the date upon which the Fort Garry Shareholders approve
the Amalgamation, the Fort Garry Board shall not have withdrawn, modified or changed in a manner
adverse to Russell its recommendation to Fort Garry Shareholders to vote in favour of the Amalgamation
Resolution;

(e) Fort Garry Shareholders holding not more than 5% of the outstanding Fort Garry Shares shall have
exercised Dissent Rights;

(f) Russell shall have received consents, in form and content satisfactory to Russell, from the following
parties consenting to the change of control of Fort Garry and the acquisition of the Fort Garry Shares as

contemplated by the Merger Agreement:

(i) Business Development Bank of Canada (“BDC™), as lender to Fort Garry,
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. (ii) The Bank of Nova Scotia (“"BNS”), as lender to Fort Garry;

(iii} HREIT Holdings 2 Corporation (“HREIT") (formerly 3839282 Manitoba Ltd.) as Fort Garry's
landlord;

{(iv) Manitoba Liquor Control Commission (“MLCC”) in respect of licences issued to Fort Garry
pursuant (o the Liguor Control Act (Manitoba); and

(v) New Maniloba Brewing Ltd. (“NMBL") under the Product Handling Agreement dated October 15,
‘ 2004; and

(g) Russell and Douglas Saville shall have entered into an employment agreement on terms and conditions
satisfactory to Russell pursuant to which Douglas Saville will be employed as Vice-President of Brewery
Operations and Chief Brewmaster of Amalco.

Fort Garry has requested the consent of BDC, BNS and NMBL, which consents remain outstanding. Russell
has waived the requirement for consent of HREIT as landlord having determined that such consent is not necessary
under the terms of the Fort Garry lease of its premises at 130 Lowson Crescent, Winnipeg, Manitoba. Russell has
made application to MLCC for a mew retail liquor licence to be issued to Amalco, which application will be
considered by MLCC at a meeting to be held September 17, 2007. MLCC has confirmed that MLCC approval is
not required in connection with Fort Garry's liquor manufacturing licence. Russell Subco and Douglas Saville have
entered into an employment agreement on terms and conditions satisfactory to Russell pursuant to which Mr. Saville
will be employed as Vice-President of Brewery Operations and Chief Brewmaster of Amalco effective upon
completion of the Amalgamation, thereby satisfying the condition precedent referred to in (g) above.

Additional Conditions in Favour of Fort Garry

The following conditions for the exclusive benefit of Fort Garry are to be satisfied, or waived by Fort Garry, on
or before the Effective Date: )

(a) no Russell Material Adverse Change shall have occurred between the date of the Merger Agreement and
Lh_c Effective Date;

{b) Russell shall not have breached, or failed to comply with, in any material respect, any of its covenants or
other obligations under the Merger Agreement, and all representations and warranties of Russell
contained in the Merger Agreement shall have been true and correct in all material respects as of the date
of the Merger Agreement and shall not have ceased to be true and correct in any material respect
thereafter (provided, however, that if the breaching party has been given written notice by the other party
specifying in reasonable detail any such misrepresentation, breach or non-performance, the breaching
party shall have had three days to cure such misrepresentation, breach or non-performance);

(c) the Russell Board and board of directors of Russell Subco shall have adopted all necessary resolutions
and all other necessary corporate actions shall have been taken by Russell to permit the consummation of
the Amalgamation; and

(d) at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Sharcholders of Russell to be held on or about August 10,
2007, the Shareholders of Russell shall have passed a resolution ratifying, confirming and approving ail
proceedings and actions taken by the Directors and Officers of Russell for the period from December 30,
2003 to and including August 8, 2007 (this condition was satisfied effective August 10, 2007).

The conditions set out for Fort Garry’s benefit in section (d} above were satisfied at the Extraordinary General
Meeting of the Sharecholder of Russell held on August 10, 2007. The Shareholders of Russell passed a resolution
ratifying, confirming and approving all proceedings and actions taken by the Directors and Officers of Russell for
the period from December 30, 2003 to and including August 8, 2007.
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Full particulars of the Amalgamation are contained in the Merger Agreement and in the Amalgamation
Agreement attached hereto as Schedule “F”, both of which are incorporated by reference in this Management
Proxy Circular. See “The Amalgamation”. A full copy of the Merger Agreement is available for viewing at
any time prior to the Fort Garry Meeting during normal business hours at Fort Garry’s principal office at
130 Lowson Crescent, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3P 2HS.

Merger Agreement

The Amalgamation, which will be carried out pursvant to the MCA, will be effected in accordance with the
Merger Agreement. The steps of the Amalgamation, as set out in the Amalgamation Agreement, are summarized
under “The Amalgamation — Principal Steps”™.

The general description of the Merger Agreement which follows is qualified in its entirety by reference to the
full text of the Merger Agreement, a copy of which is available for review by Shareholders, at the head office of
Fort Garry as shown on the Notice of Meeting, during normal business hours prior to the Meeting.

General

The Companies have entered into the Merger Agreement, which is dated as of July 25, 2007. For the purposes
of this summary, the references below to the Merger Agreement include the Amalgamation Agreement, which
Amalgamation Agreement is reproduced in full as Schedule “F” to this Management Proxy Circular.

In the Merger Agreement, the Companies provide representations and warranties to one another regarding
certain customary commercial matters, including corporate, legal and other matters, relating to their respective
affairs.

Under the Merger Agreement, Fort Garry has agreed to seek the approval of its shareholders for the
Amalgamation. Fort Garry has also agreed to use all commercially reasonable efforts 10 (i) consummate the
Amalgamation, subject only to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement; and (ii) obtain all appropriate
Regulatory Approvals.

Unless Russell otherwise agrees in writing, until the carlier of the Effective Time or the time that the Merger
Agreement is terminated by its terms,

(a) Fort Garry has agreed that:

(i) it will conduct its business in, and not take any action except in, the usual and ordinary course of
business and consistent with past practice and use all commercially reasonable efforts to maintain
and preserve its business organizatton, assets, employees and advantageous business relationships;
and

(ii) except as contemplated in the Merger Agreement, it will not declare, set aside or pay any dividend
or other distribution or payment or otherwise to or for the benefit of its shareholders or reduce its
stated capital; and

(b) it will not, ather than in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice, or except as
contemplated by the Merger Agreement, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber any assets, acquire any
corporation or other business organization or make any investment, acquire any material assets, authorize,
recommend or propose any release of any material contractual right, enter into any agreements with
directors or officers of Forl Garry or their respective affiliates without prior consultation with and the
consent of Russell.

Russell and Russell Subco have also agreed that:

(a) Russell shail, and shall cause its subsidiaries to conduct business in, and not take any action except in, the
usual and ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice, and Russell shall and shall cause
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its subsidiaries to use all commercially reasonable efforts to maintain and preserve its business
organization, assets, employees and advantageous business relationships; and

{b) Russcli shall not directly or indirectly, amend its constating documents, declare, set aside or pay any
dividend or other distribution or payment or otherwise to or for the benefit of its shareholders or reduce
its stated capital.

Termination

The Merger Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Effective Date, in the circumstances
specified in the Merger Agreement, including: (a) by mutual agreement in writing by Russell and Fort Garry; (b) by
Russell if the Effective Date has not occurred by October 22, 2007; {c) in the event the conditions precedent of the
Merger Agreement are not satisfied, or waived by the party to whom they are of benefit prior to closing; or (d) by
Fort Garry or Russell, if the Fort Garry Board has received and, in geod faith, recommended acceptance of a
Superior Proposal.

Tenmnination Fee

. Provided that Russell is not in breach of its material obligations, covenants and agreements under the Merger
Agreement, Fort Garry has agreed that if Fort Garry or Russell terminates the Merger Agreement in circumstances
where the Fort Garry Board has received, and, in good faith, recommended acceptance of a Superior Proposal, then
Fort Garry will pay to Russel $125,000.

Liquidated Damages

Provided that Fort Garry is not in breach of its material obligations, covenants and agreements under the
Merger Agreement, Russell has agreed that if Fort Garry terminates the Merger Agreement due to the breach by
Russell of any of its material obligations or covenants under the Merger Agreement, then unless such breach is
attributable to the failure of the TSX-V or any other third party to provide any requisite approval of the transactions
contemplated by the Merger Agreement, Fort Garry will be entitled to retain the Deposit and Russell will pay to
Fort Garry an additional amount equal to $50,000 as liguidated damages in full and final satisfaction of any and all
claims that Fort Garry may have against Russell under the Merger Agreement.

Deposit

Russell has paid to Fort Garry's solicitors, Monk Goodwin LLP, a good faith deposit of $75,000 (the
“Deposit”). The Merger Agreement provides that the Deposit will be dealt with in the following manner:

{2) upon completion of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement or upon a termination of the
Merger Agreement by Fort Garry or Russell in circumstances where the Fort Garry Board has received
and recommended acceptance of a Superior Proposal, or upon termination of the Merger Agreement as a
result of Fort Garry’s breach, the Deposit together with interest earned thereon is to be refunded to
Russell;

(b) the Deposit may be retained by Fort Garry as contemplated above under “Liquidated Damages”;

{c) upon termination of the Merger Agreement due to the non-fulfillment of any of the conditions precedent
other than those relating to Fort Garry Board approval and compliance by Fort Garry with its obligations
under the Merger Agreement, provided that Fort Garry is not in breach of any of its material obligations,
then absent bad faith Fort Garry is entitled to have its out-of-pocket expenses reimbursed up to the
amount of $50,000 from the Deposit and the balance of the Deposit together with earned interest is to be
returned to Russell; and

(d) in all other circumstances, the Deposit together with eamed interest is to be promptly returned to Russell
upon termination of the Merger Agreement.
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‘ . Amendment

At any time on or before the Effective Date, the Merger Agreement may be amended by written agreement of
the parties. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any such amendment may:

(a) change the time for performance of any of the obligations or acts of the parties;

(b) modify any inaccuracy or representation or warranty contained therein or any document to be delivered
pursuant to the Merger Agreement;

(c) modify any of the covenants therein contained or waive or modify performance of any of the obligations
of the parties; or

(d) modify conditions precedent therein contained,

Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations

Because the tax consequences of the Amalgamation may vary depending upon the particular
circumstances of each shareholder and other factors, holders of Fort Garry Shares and Fort Garry Preferred
Shares are urged to consult with their own tax advisers to determine the particular tax consequences to them
of the Amalgamation.

The following summary fairly describes the principal Canadian federal income tax consequences applicable to
the Fort Garry Shareholders who become holders of Russell Shares and Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares under
the proposed Amalgamation as described herein and payments made to the Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders.
Except where expressly noted, this summary is only applicable to those holders of Fort Garry Shares who deal at
arm’s length with Russell and Fort Garry, are not affiliated with Russell or Fort Garry, and to whom the Fort Garry
Shares constitute, and the Russell Shares and the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares will constitute, capital

. property for the purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “ITA™). This summary does not apply to a holder of
‘ Fort Garry Shares that is a “financial institution” for purposes of section 142.2 of the ITA or a “specified financial
| institution” for purposes of the ITA.
|

This summary is based upon the current provisions of the ITA, the regulations thereunder in force on the date
hereof (the “Regulations™), counsel’s understanding of the current administrative and assessing policies of the
Canada Revenue Agency (the “CRA™) and all specific proposals to amend the ITA and regulations {the “Tax
Proposals”) announced by the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof. This description is not
exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax consequences and, except for the Tax Proposals, does not
take into account or anticipate any changes in law, whether by legislative, governmental or judicial action, nor does
it take into account provincial or foreign tax considerations which may differ significantly from those discussed
herein. Also, it is assumed that the Tax Proposals will be enacted as proposed. If any Tax Proposals are not enacted
as presently proposed or other relevant amendments to the ITA or Regulations come into force, the tax
consequences may not be as described below in aill cases. This summary does not take into consideration tax
legislation of any province or territory of Canada or any non-Canadian jurisdiction. Provisions of provincial income
tax legislation vary from province to province in Canada and in some cases differ from federal income tax
legislation.

This summary is of a general nature only and is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be,
legal or tax advice to any Fort Garry Shareholder. Accordingly, all Fort Garry Shareholders should consult
their own tax advisers for advice with respect to income tax consequences to them of the Amalgamation and
any exercise by them of Dissent Rights. An advanced income tax ruling from the CRA will not be sought in
connection with the Amalgamation.

Residents of Canada

The following portion of the summary is generally applicable to a Fort Garry Shareholder who, at all relevant
times, is, or is deemed to be, resident in Canada for the purposes of the ITA and any applicable income tax treaty (a

. “Canadian Resident Holder”).
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Disposition of Shares on Amalgamation

Under the ITA, a Canadian Resident Holder who exchanges its Fort Garry Shares for Russell Shares, Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares or a combination of Russell Shares and Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, as the
case may be, under the Amalgamation will realize neither a capital gain nor a capital loss on the exchange. The
Canadian Resident Holder will be considered to have disposed of its shares for proceeds of disposition equal to the
adjusted cost base of the Fort Garry Shares immediately before the Amalgamation and to have acquired the Russell
Shares, the Amalco Redeemable Preferred or the combination thereof, as the case may be, at an aggregate cost equal
to such proceeds of disposition. Where Russell Shares and Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares are received by
the Canadian Resident Holder on the exchange, that aggregate cost must be allocated between the Russell Shares
and the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares in proportion to their respective fair market values immediately after
the Amalgamation. There will, however, be income tax consequences to the Canadian Resident Holder on the
redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, as discussed below.

Redemption of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares

On the redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares received by a Canadian Resident Holder on
the Amalgamation, the Canadian Resident Holder will be considered to have disposed of such shares for proceeds of
disposition equal to $0.01 per share and will realize a capital gain (or capital loss) to the extent that those proceeds
of disposition exceed (or are less than) the Canadian Resident Holder's cost of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred
Shares. The income tax treatment of such gain or loss is discussed below. No deemed dividend will arise on the
redemption of the Shareholder’s Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares so long as the paid-up capital of the Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares will be at least as great as the aggregate redemption amount of the Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares.

Taxation of Capital Gains or Losses

A Canadian Resident Holder who realizes a capital gain or a capital loss on the disposition of Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares or, in the case of a Canadian Resident Holder who is a Dissenting Fort Gamry
Shareholder, on the disposition of Fort Garry Shares, will generally be required to include in income one-half of any
such capital gain (“taxable capital gain™) and may apply one-half of any such capital loss (“altowable capital
loss™) against taxable capital gains in accordance with the detailed rules in the ITA. Allowable capital losses in
excess of taxable capital gains may be carried back and deducted in any of the three preceding years or carried
forward and deducted in any following year against taxable capital gains realized in such year in accordance with
the detailed rules of the ITA.

Where the Canadian Resident Holder is a corporation, a capital loss realized on the disposition of any such
shares may, in certain circumstances, be reduced by the amount of certain dividends previously received or deemed
to have been received on such shares or, in the case of a disposition of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares |
received on the Amalgamation, on the Fort Garry Shares exchanged therefor, to the extent and under the
circomstances described in the ITA. Similar rules may apply where a corporation is a member of a partnership or a
beneficiary of a trust that owns shares, or where a trust or partnership of which a corporation is a beneficiary or a
member is itself a member of a partnership or a beneficiary of a trust that owns shares. Canadian Resident Holders
to whom these rules may be relevant should consult their own tax advisors in this regard.

A “Canadian-controlled private corporation” (as defined in the ITA) may be liable to pay an additional 6%%
refundable tax on certain investment income, including taxable capital gains.

The realization of a capital gain (or capital loss) by an individual or a trust (other than certain specified trusts)
may affect the individual's or the trust’s liability for alternative minimum tax under the ITA. Canadian Resident
Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the alternative minimum tax provisions.

Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders that are Canadian Resident Holders

Under the current administrative practice of the CRA, Canadian Resident Holders who exercise their Dissent
Rights (the “Dissenting Canadian Resident Holders”) in respect of the Amalgamation will be considered to have
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disposed of their Fort Garry Shares for proceeds of disposition equal to the amount paid by Fort Garry to them for
such Fort Garry Shares less the amount of any interest awarded by the court (if applicable) and will realize a capital
gain {or capital loss) to the extent that those proceeds of disposition exceed (or are less than) the aggregate adjusted
cost base of such Fort Garry Shares to the Dissenting Canadian Resident Holder. The tax treatment of capital gains
and capital losses under the ITA are discussed above. Any interest awarded to a Dissenting Canadian Resident
Holder will be included in the Dissenting Canadian Resident Holder’s income. Because of the uncertainties under
the relevant legislation, Dissenting Canadian Resident Holders should consuit their own tax adviser in this regard.

Non-Residents of Canada

The following summary is generally applicable to a Fort Garry Shareholder who, at all relevant times, for the
purpose of the ITA and any applicable income tax treaty is neither resident nor deemed to be resident in Canada and
who does not use or hold, and is not deemed by the ITA to use or hold, the Fort Garry Shares or the Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares in connection with carrying on a business in Canada (a “Non-Resident Holder™). If
U.S. Fort Garry Shareholders fail to provide Russell with information solicited on a Substitute Form W-9, or fail to
certify that they are not subject to U.S. backup withholding, Russell may be required to withhold U.S. income tax
from the payment of Russell Shares and cash (upon redemption of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares) made to
Fort Garry Shareholders (and may be required to sell a portion of such Russell Shares to fulfill the tax withholding
obligation). Non-Resident Holders should consult their own tax advisers for advice with respect to any foreign tax
consequences.

Realization of Capital Gains (or Capital Losses)

A Non-Resident Holder will not realize a capital gain (or capital loss) on the disposition of the Non-Resident
Holder’s Fort Garry Shares on the Amalgamation. The tax consequences to a Non-Resident Holder on the
redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, which are received by the Non-Resident Holder on the
Amalgamation, will be computed in the same way as described above for a Canadian Resident Holder in respect of
the same transaction.

In addition, the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares received on the Amalgamation will be taxable Canadian
property (as defined in the ITA) of the Non-Resident Holder and will be subject to Canadian reporting requirements
and withholding tax at the rate of 25% of the gross proceeds of disposition, or such lower rate as may be provided
under the terms of any applicable tax treaty. It is recommended that Non-Resident Holders do not elect to
receive Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares on the Amalgamation in order to avoid the Canadian
withholding tax requirements.

Non-Resident Holders should consult their own tax advisers with respect to the Canadian tax consequences,
including the effects thereon of the provisions of any income tax treaty between Canada and the Non-Resident
Holder’s jurisdiction of residence, of disposing of “taxable Canadian property”.

Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders that are Non-Resident Holders

Under the current administrative practice of the CRA, the receipt by a Non-Resident Holder who is a
Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder (the “Dissenting Non-Resident Holder™) with respect to the Amalgamation of a
cash payment equal to the fair market value of its Fort Garry Shares will be treated as proceeds of disposition of
such Fort Garry Shares (except for any amount received as interest). The Fort Garry Shares may be considered
taxable Canadian property (as defined in the {TA). If the Fort Garry Shares are taxable Canadian property, the
disposition of such shares will be subject to Canadian reporting requirements and the Dissenting Non-Resident
Holder will be subject to withholding tax at the rate of 25% of the gross amount of any proceeds of disposition, or
such lower rate as may be provided under the terms of any applicable tax treaty. Any amount received as interest
will be subject to non-resident withholding tax at a rate of 25% or such lower rate as may be provided under the
terms of any applicable tax treaty.

Dissenting Non-Resident Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the Canadian tax
consequences, including the effects thereon, of the provisions of any income tax treatment between Canada and the
Dissenting Non-Resident Holder's jurisdiction of residence.
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Securities Laws Considerations

The following is a brief summary of the securities law considerations applying to the transactions contemplated
herein.

Canadian Securities Laws

Each Fort Garry Shareholder is urged to consult such shareholder’s professional advisers to determine the
Canadian conditions and restrictions applicable to trades in the Russell Shares. Resales of any securities acquired in
connection with the Amalgamation may be required to be made through properly registered securities dealers.

Status under Canadian Securities Laws

Fort Garry has been a “reporting issuer” in the Provinces of Manitoba, British Columbia, Alberta and
Saskatchewan for more than four months. The Fort Garry Shares currently trade on the TSX-V. Russell has been a
reporting issuer in British Columbia and Ontario for more than four months.

Russell Shares are listed on the TSX-V and it is a condition of the Amalgamation that the Russell Shares issued
in connection with the Amalgamation are listed on the TSX-V.

Issuance and Resale of Russell Shares Under Canadian Securities Laws

The issuance of the Russell Shares pursuant (o0 the Amalgamation Agreement will constitute a distribution of
securities, which is exempt from the registration and prospectus requirements of Canadian securities legislation.
The Russell Shares may be resold in each of the provinces and territories of Canada provided the holder is not a
‘control person’ as defined in the applicable securities legislation, no unusual effort is made to prepare the market or
create 2 demand for those securities and no extraordinary commission or consideration is paid in respect of that sale.

1.S. Securities Laws

The following discussion is a general overview of certain requirements of U.S. federal securities laws
applicable to shareholders of Fort Garry in the United States (“U.S. Shareholders”). AR U.S. Shareholders
are urged to consult with their own legal counsel to ensure that the resale of Russell Shares issued to them
mnder the Amalgamation complies with applicable securities laws. Further information applicable to
U.S. Shareholders is disclosed under the heading “Netice to Shareholders Outside Canada”.

The issuance of the Russell Shares, and the subsequent resale of the Russell Shares held by U.S. Shareholders,
will be subject to U.S. federal and applicable state securities laws, including the U.S. Securities Act. Russell will
issue shares pursuant to the Amalgamation only to those Fort Garry Shareholders resident in the United States to
whom the Russell Shares may be issued in reliance on the exemption from the registration requirement under the
U.S. Securities Act provided by Rule 802 promulgated thereunder and applicable exemptions under the securities
laws of each state of the United States in which U.S. Shareholders reside. -

The following discussion does not address the Canadian securities laws that will apply to the issue of the
Russell Shares or the resale of the Russell Shares by U.S. Shareholders within Canada. U.S. Shareholders reselling
their Russell Shares in Canada must comply with Canadian securities laws, as outlined elsewhere in this
Management Proxy Circular.

Exemption from the Registration Requirements of the U.S. Securities Act

The issuance by Russell of Russell Shares pursuant to the Amalgamation will not be registered under the
U.S. Securities Act or the securities laws of any state of the United States and will be effected in reliance upon the
exemption from registration provided by Rule 802 under the U.S. Securities Act and exemptions provided under the
securities laws of each state of the United States in which U.S. Shareholders reside.
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Rule 802 under the U.S. Securities Act provides that any “offer and sale” of securities in exchange for the
securities of a “foreign private issuer,” such as Fort Garry, in any business combination, such as the Amalgamation,
will be exempt from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act if:

*  U.S. holders of the foreign target company (Fort Garry) hold no more than 10% of the securities that are
the subject of the business combination; and

o The issuer (Russell) permits U.S. holders to participate in the business combination on terms at least as
favorable as those offered any other holder of the foreign target’s securities.

Based on Fort Garry’s stock transfer records, Fort Garry and Russell believe that U.S. Shareholders hold
significantly less than 10% of Fort Garry's outstanding securitics. U.S. Shareholders are participating in the
Amalgamation on substantially the same terms as those offered to shareholders of Fort Garry resident outside the
United States.

Resales of Securities After the Completion of the Amalgamation

The Russell Shares to be issued pursuant to the Amalgamation will be unregistered restricted securities within
the meaning of Rule 144 under the U.S. Securities Act to the same extent and proportion that the securities tendered
or exchanged by the holder in that transaction were restricted securities. Consequently, Fort Garry Shareholders
exchanging unrestricted Fort Garry Shares for Russell Shares in connection with the Amalgamation will receive
Russell Shares that are freely transferable under United States federal securities laws, except for such shares held by
persons who are deemed to be “affiliates” (as such term is defined under Rule 144(a)(1) of the U.S. Securities Act)
of Russell after the Amalgamation. Russell Shares held by such affiliates may be resold by them only in
transactions permitted by the resale provisions of Rule 145(d)(1), (2) or (3) promulgated under the U.S. Securities
Act or as otherwise permitted under the U.S. Securities Act, including pursvant to exemptions from registration
available under Regulation S promulgated under the U.S. Securities Act. Rule 144(a)(1) defines affiliates as “a
person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by or is under
common control of such issuer”, and the term generally includes the directors, officers or 10% shareholders of an
issuer.

Residents of the United States should contact their lawyer or other professional advisor to ensure that they
comply with resale restrictions under the ULS. Securities Act. Neither the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission nor any state securities authority have approved or disapproved the securities to be issued pursuant to
the Amalgamation or have determined if this Circular is truthful or complete.

RIGHTS OF DISSENTING FORT GARRY SHAREHOLDERS

Fort Garry Shareholders and holders of Fort Garry Preferred Shares who wish to dissent should take
note that the procedures for dissenting to the Amalgamation require strict compliance with the applicable
dissent procedures.

Dissent Rights to the Amalgamation Resolution :

As indicated in the Notice of the Meeting, any holder of Fort Garry Shares and/or Fort Garry Preferred Shares
is entitled to be paid the fair value of his Fort Garry Shares in accordance with Section 184 of the MCA if such
holder exercises Pissent Rights and the Amalgamation becomes effective.

A Fort Garry Shareholder and holder of Fort Garry Preferred Shares is not entitled to exercise Dissent Rights
with respect to such holder's Fort Garry Shares and/or Fort Garry Preferred Shares if such holder votes any of those
shares in favour of the Amalgamation Resolution. A brief summary of the provisions of Section 184 of the MCA is
set out below.
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Section 184 of the MCA

The MCA provides that Fort Garry Shareholders and holders of Fort Garry Preferred Shares who dissent to
certain actions being taken by Fort Garry may exercise a right of dissent and require Fort Garry to purchase the
Fort Garry Shares and Fort Garry Preferred Shares held by such sharcholders at the fair value of such shares. This
dissent right is applicable where Fort Garry proposes to (a) amend its articles to add, change or remove any
provision restricting or constraining the issue or transfer of shares of that class; (b} amend its articles to add, change
or remove any restrictions on business or businesses that Fort Garry may carry on; (c) enter into certain statutory
amalgamations; (d) continue out of the jurisdiction; or (e} sell, lease or exchange all or substantially all of its

property.

A holder of Fort Garry Shares or Fort Garry Preferred Shares is not entitled to exercise Dissent Rights in
respect of the Amalgamation Resolution if such holder votes any of the Fort Garry Shares or Fort Garry Preferred
Shares beneficially held by such holder in favour of the Amalgamation Resolution. The execution or exercise of a
proxy does not constitute a written cbhjection for purposes of the right to dissent under the MCA.

The following summary does not purport to provide comprehensive statements of the procedures to be
followed by a dissenting shareholder under the MCA and reference should be made to the specific provisions of
Section 184 of the MCA. The MCA requires strict adherence to the procedures regarding the exercise of rights
established therein. The failure to adhere to such procedures may result in the loss of all rights of dissent.
Accordingly, each Fort Garry Shareholder and each holder of Fort Garry Preferred Shares who wishes to
exercise Dissent Rights should carefully consider and comply with the provisions of Section 184 of the MCA
and consult a legal advisor. A copy of Section 184 of the MCA is set out in Schedule “D” to this Management
Proxy Circular.

A Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder is required to send a written objection to the Amalgamation Resolution to
Fort Garry at or prior to the Meeting. A vote against the Amalgamation Resolution or a withholding of votes does
not constitute a written objection. Within 10 days after the Amalgamation Resolution is approved by the Fort Garry
Shareholders, Fort Garry must send to each Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder a notice that the Amalgamation
Resolution has been adopted.

The Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder is then required, within 20 days after receipt of such notice (or if such
shareholder does not receive such notice, within 20 days after learning of the adoption of the Amalgamation
Resolution), to send to Fort Garry a written notice containing the Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder’s name and
address, the number of Fort Garry Shares and Fort Garry Preferred Shares in respect of which the Dissenting
Fort Garry Shareholder dissents and a demand for payment of the fair value of such shares and, within 30 days after
sending such written notice, to send to Fort Garry or its transfer agent the appropriate share certificate or certificates
representing the Fort Garry Shares and Fort Garry Preferred Shares in respect of which the Dissenting Fort Garry
Sharcholder has exercised Dissent Rights. A Dissenting Fort Garry Sharcholder who fails to send to Fort Garry
within the required periods of time the required notices or the certificates representing the Fort Garry Shares and
Fort Garry Preferred Shares in respect of which the Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder has dissented forfeits the
Dissent Rights under Section 184 of the MCA.

If the matters provided for in the Amalgamation Resolution become effective, then Fort Garry will be required
to send, not later than the seventh day after the later of (i) the effective date; and (ii) the day the demand for payment
is received, to each Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder whose demand for payment has been received, a written offer
to pay for the Fort Garry Shares and Fort Garry Preferred Shares of such Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder in such
amount as the directers of Fort Garry consider the fair valve thereof accompanied by a statement showing how the
fair value was determined unless there are reasonable grounds for believing that Fort Garry is, or after the payment
would be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or the realizable value of Fort Garry’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities. Fort Garry must pay for the Fort Garry Shares and Fort Garry
Preferred Shares of a Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder within 10 days after an offer made as described above has
been accepted by a Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder, but any such offer lapses if Fort Garry does not receive an
acceptance thereof within 30 days after such offer has been made.
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If such offer is not made or accepted within 50 days after the effective date, Fort Garry may apply to a court of
competent jurisdiction to fix the fair value of such shares. There is no obligation of Fort Garry to apply to the court.
If Fort Garry fails to make such an application, a Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder has the right to so apply within
a further 20 days or within such further period as the court may allow.

Addresses for Notice

All notices to Fort Garry of dissent to the Amalgamation Resolution pursuant to Section 184 of the MCA
should be addressed to the attention of the Secretary and be sent to:

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd.
Attention: The Secretary

130 Lowson Crescent

Winnipeg, Manitoba R3P 2HS8

Strict Compliance with Dissent Provisions uired

The foregoing summary does not purport to provide a comprehensive statement of the procedures to be
followed by a Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholder. Section 184 of the MCA requires strict adherence to the
procedures established therein and failure to do so may result in the loss of all Dissent Rights. Accordingly, each
Fort Garry Shareholder who might desire to exercise Dissent Rights should carefully consider and comply with the

~ provisions of the section, the full text of which is set out in Schedule “D” to this Management Proxy Circular, and

consult such holder’s legal advisor.

FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

The foltowing information is presented on a pre-Amalgamation basis and is reflective of the current business,
financial and share capital position of Fort Garry. See “Russell — Post-Amalgamation™ for pro forma business,
financial and share capital information relating to Fort Garry after giving effect to the Amalgamation.

Name and Incorporation

Fort Garry was created through the amalgamation of Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. (corporation
number 2895081) (“Old Fort Garry”) and Two Rivers Brewing Company Ltd. (corporation number 3832504)
(“Two Rivers”) under the MCA effective May 15, 2003. Fort Garry’s registered and principal office is located at
130 Lowson Crescent, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3P 2ZHS.

General Development of the Business

Upon the effective date of the amalgamation between Old Fort Garry and Two Rivers;

1. each sharcholder of Two Rivers exchanged their common shares of Two Rivers for Fort Garry common
shares on the basis of 1,81359 Fort Garry common shares for every share of Two Rivers following which
all Two Rivers common shares were cancelled;

2. each shareholder of Old Fort Garry exchanged their common shares of Old Fort Garry for common shares
of Fort Garry on the basis of 0.23302 common share of Fort Garry for every one common share of Old
Fort Garry, following which ali Old Fort Garry common shares were cancelled; and

3. certain debt and warrants of Old Fort Garry held by ENSIS were restructured and cancelled resulting in
the issnance to ENSIS by Fort Garry of 1,375,000 common shares of Fort Garry and 700,000 Class A
preferred shares of Fort Garry.

Fort Garry is a publicly traded company trading on the TSX-V under the symbol “FGA”. See Fort Garry
Brewing Company Ltd.”.
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Forward-Looking Information

Certain information contained herein may constitute forward-looking statements based on plans, intentions and
expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
forward-looking statements. Such information, although considered reasonable by Fort Garry at the time of
preparation, may later prove to be incorrect and actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in the
statements made. For this purpose, any statements that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements often contain terms such as “may”, “will”, “should”,
“anticipate”, “expects” and similar expressions. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, risks
associated with operations, such as loss of markets, regulatory matters, environmental risks, industry competition
and the ability to access sufficient capital from internal and external sources. The forward-looking statements
contained in this document are expressly qualified by this cautionary note.

Selected Financial Information of Fort Garry

The following tables set out certain selected financial information of Fort Garry as at and for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 and as at the cight most recently completed quarters ending at June 30, 2007.
The selected financial information has been derived from Fort Garry's annual financial statements, which are
audited and from Fort Garry’s interim financial statements for the periods indicated, which are unaudited. The
following information should be read in conjunction with Fort Garry's financial statements attached hercto as
Schedule “A”. The financial results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any other
interim period or a full year.

Fort Garry's annual financial statements and the interim financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars
and are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.

Selected Annual Financial Information

Years Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004
{audited) (audited) (audited)
$ $ . $

Net revenue 2,861,244 2,375,534 2,575,491

Net Loss (92,607) (421,758) (685,111}

Net Loss per share' (0.014) (0.080) (0.14)

Basic and diluted

Total assets 3,720,751 3,976,815 4,262,302

Total liabilities 2,408,974 2,572,431 2,436,160

Shareholders’ equity 1,311,777 1,404,384 1,826,142
" Common Shares outstanding at period ended 4,976,698 4,976,698 4,976,698

Note:
®  Net loss per Fort Garry Share is the same for Basic and Diluted as the loss on a diluted basis would ot be dilutive.
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Selected Unaudited Quarterly Consolidated Financial Information: Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd.

Q1 Q2 Q3 0]
March June September December
(unaudited) .(unaudited) (unandited) (unaudited)
$ $ $ $

2007
Net Revenue 681,362 852,944
Gross Margin 319,009 432,942
Expenses : 228,639 226,354
Other Items 118,925 120,588
Net (Loss) Income (28,555) 86,000
Total Assets 3,698,815 3,837,603
Shareholders’ Equity 1,283,219 1,369,222
2006
Net Revenue 534,895 710,043 839,216 777,085
Gross Margin 211,997 301,991 397,624 457,279
Expenses 247,010 240,255 234,091 253,650
Other Items 123,497 115,160 118,767 128,618
Net (Loss) Income (158,960) (53,424) 44,766 75,011
Total Assets 3,898,110 3,904,472 3,877,395 3,720,751
Shareholder’ Equity 1,245,423 1,192,000 1,236,767 1,311,777
2005
Net Revenue 646,300 507,661
Gross Margin 339,149 182,720
Expenses 269,670 237,083
Other ltems 130,227 132,544
Net (Loss) (60,748) (181,506).
Total Assets 4,163,714 3,976,815
Shareholder” Equity 1,586,291 1,404,384

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Fort Garry for the year ended December 31, 2006

The following discussion and analysis provide a review of the activities, results of operations, and financial
condition of Fort Garry for the 12 months ended December 31, 2006 in comparison with the 12 months ended
December 31, 2005. This analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements and

notes.

Description of Business

Fort Garry is a Winnipeg-based regional brewery that brews premium quality beers for markets in Manitoba,
Alberta and Saskatchewan. The Company's brands are packaged in glass, cans and plastic bottles as well as in kegs.

Operations include brewing, distribution and marketing of the Fort Garry and Two Rivers products,
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Results of Operations
Sales

Gross sales revenue grew by 13.4% in 2006, due primarily to a 21% increase in volume. Volume increase was
provided in large part by the introduction of a discount beer carly in 2006 to compete with the discount and major
brewers. Fort Garry's premium brands also saw an increase in volume in 2006. The reduction of excise taxes
applicable to small brewers and a reduction in provincial markups further contributed to the increase of 20% in net
sales revenues.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales as a percentage of sales for 2006 was 47.1% as compared to 45.1% in 2005. The variable
production costs portion increased by 3% while the fixed costs such as labour and distribution decreased marginally
as a percentage of sales. On a per unit basis, cost of sales actually decreased 2% over 2005 levels.

Gross Profit

Gross Profit increased by $252,097 to 43.2% in 2006 from 40.0% in 2005. This increase is attributed to the
increase in net sales revenue as described above, offset in part by slightly higher production costs.

Selling, General and Administration Expenses

Selling, general and administration expenses are comprised of promotional materials, marketing campaign
costs, advertising, sponsorships, automobile and sales representative expenses, sales salaries and commissions,
administration salaries, office and building costs, public company costs, professional fees, insurance and taxes.

A decrease in selling, general and administration expenses in 2006 resulted from better targeting of marketing
expenditures as well as reductions in insurance and control of other discretionary costs.

Interest on Long-Term Debt

Interest expense on long-term debt in 2006 totaled $110,206 compared to $113,782 in 2005. This decrease is a
result of the continued reduction of long-term debt.

Net Loss

The resulting net loss in 2006 was $92,607 or $0.014 per share as compared to a net loss of $421,758 or $0.080
per share in 2005. The operating loss of 2006 represents a decrease of $329,151 over the comparable 2005 result.

Financial Position

Accounts receivable increased in 2006 by $58,846 as compared to 2005 due to increased sales.

Capital assets decreased by a net amount of $336,452 due to annual amortization of $340,736 and the addition
of computer equipment valued at $4,284.

The returnable bottles inventory has now been completely amortized.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

As at December 31, 2006 Fort Garry had $115,180 cash on hand, as well as access to a $75,000 operating line
within its bank credit facility.

During the year, Fort Garry continued to pay down the long-term debt, bringing down the debt to 1,106,250
(current $225,000 and LTD $881,250).
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Risks and Uncertainties
Beer Industry

The Canadian beer industry remains extremely competitive at all levels — national, regional, and micro.
Fort Garry is one of two breweries currently operating in Manitoba. The large national breweries closed their
Manitoba plants several years ago.

Numerous competitive factors may influence a brewing company’s market share and subsequent profitability.
Product quality, taste, packaging, advertising and promotional support, brand recognition, price and distribution
logistics are all key to the company’s success. While other microbreweries or national breweries may produce
alternative premium beers and value priced lagers that may be considered comparable to those produced by
Fort Garry, management is confident that the Fort Garry brands possess the quality, value and consumer acceptance
that will allow the company to maintain and increase its regional market share.

The Canadian beer industry is also a highly regulated industry that requires licenses and permits from all levels
of government. Taxation at all levels is considerable and subject to changes as deemed appropriate by the various
regulatory bodies. The company is currently in good slandmg with all regulatory bodies and in comphance with all
necessary licenses, permits and approvals.

Evaluatio; isclosure Controls

Fort Garry operates in a tightly managed environment where all transactions, capital expenditures,
commitments and arrangements above established limits require formal in advance approval by the Board of
Directors. The Audit Committee performs a detailed review of quarterly financial reports, including analysis of
significant variances. The Audit Committee also discusses with management any significant events that have
affected or could potentially affect the financial position of the Company, including transactions or events
subsequent to the balance sheet date. In addition, the Board of Directors develops the Company’s strategic plan and
monitors its implementation with management every quarter. Based on these procedures, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls are sufficient and
effective to ensure that any material, or potentially material, information is made known and appropriately included
in this report.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Fort Garry for the Fiscal Quarter Ended June 30, 2007

For the three months ended June 30, 2007, the combined effect of the federal excise tax reduction for small

brewers, the reduction in provincial markdowns and a small increase in prices saw Fort Garry experience an increase

" in the net selling price as a percentage of gross selling price from 84% in 2006 to 90% in 2007. Although Q2 2007

volume was slightly lower than in 2006, a noticeable shift from discount to premium products resulted in improved

margins. Combined with a 2.9% decrease in the cost of goods sold and tighter management selling, general and

administration costs, Fort Garry was able to achieve a profit of $86,000 during its second quarter of 2007 compared
to a loss of $53,424 in 2006, an improvement of over $139,000.

The excellent Q2 2007 results, combined with Fort Garry’s best Q1 results since inception, produced net
income of $57,445 for the six months ended June 30, 2007, compared to a loss of $212,384 for the same period in
2006, a turnaround of almost $270,000. Introduction of new products, improved gross margins and selective,
targeted marketing initiatives have provided the underpinning that has allowed Fort Garry to take full advantage of
reductions in government levies during the period. Because Fort Garry has accumulated losses in past years that can
be used to offset current income that would otherwise be taxable, no provision for income taxes has been recorded in
2007,

Operations in the second quarter of 2007 generated cash from operations of $104,495 compared to $20,715 in
the comparable 2006 period. After debt service and additions of $20,249 Fort Garry's cash position increased by
$42,250 compared to a cash decrease of $25,567 in the same quarter of 2006. Fort Garry’s working capital position
also improved in this quarter, moving from $116,735 at March 31, 2007 to $222,137 at June 30, 2007. Fort Garry
remains current on its obligations and commitments to its lenders and continues to pay down its long-term debt as
scheduled.
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Qutlook

Fort Garry’s entrance into the value priced beer market and provincial and federal government assistance in
reducing markups for small brewers has allowed Fort Garry 10 post significant gains in 2006 and allows it to look
forward to 2007 and beyond with enthusiasm. The following table, outlines key, selected financial data for the past
four periods.

Total 2006 Total 2005 Total 2004 Total 2003

$ $ $ $
Gross Revenue 3,169,285 2,793,677 3,035,817 2,626,455
Net Revenue 2,861,244 2,375,534 2,575491 2,232,202
Gross Profit 1,368,891 1,116,794 1,260,567 1,025,664
Adjusted EBITDA* 415,658 123,350 398,950 223,007

+  EBITDA excluding write-downs of goodwill (2004 - $531,656), losses on the sale of equipment (2003 - $31,708), and dividends and
retraction premium sccrued on preferred shares (2006 - $57,323, 2005 - $57,323, 2004 - $57,323, 2003 - $36,022).

Reconciliation between net loss and adjusted EBITDA disclosed herein:

Year Ended 2006 2005 2004 2003
$ 5 $ $

Net Loss (92,607) (421,758) (685,111) (498,162)
Amortization 340,736 374,003 391,869 374,235
Interest expense 110,206 113,782 103,213 279,204
Write-down of goodwill 531,656
Loss on disposal of assets 31,708
Dividends and retraction premiums 57323 57323 57,323 36,022
accried on preferred shares

Adjusted EBITDA™” ' 415,658 123,350 398,950 223,007

Note:

@ Adjusted EBITDA is a measure used by management (0 monitor cperating performance.

Fort Garry will seck to achieve continued growth in the sales of alt bottle and draft brands and will continue 1o
focus on profitability and gaining market share through increased marketing efforts and innovative packaging.

Font Garry will continue to focus on the most efficient utilization of its resources in 2007 by monitoring costs
to ensure they are necessary and adding value to the organization’s efforts and ability to produce and sell becr.

By continuing to focus on sales growth in its profitable product lines, identifying additional production
efficiencies, and cost control, Fort Garry anticipates more positive results in 2007.

Fort Garry continues to focus on its volume and profitability targets for 2007 through increased marketing
efforts and innovative packaging. The change from 600 ml to 710 ml PET bottles in July 2007 is expected to
increase volume and make Fort Garry more efficient. The addition of Dark Stone Cold products in 473 ml cans
allows Fort Garry an opportunity to increase its can market. Fort Garry anticipates these measures will yield
positive operating results for the balance of 2007 and beyond.

Principal Holders of Voting Securities

To the knowledge of the directors and executive officers of Fort Garry, as of August 20, 2007, no person or
entity beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or exercised control or direction over, Fort Garry Shares carrying
10% or more of the voting rights except as follows:

ENSIS Growth Fund Inc. which beneficially owns 628,305 Class A preferred shares or 89.75% of the total
outstanding Class A preferred shares of Fort Garry, and 1,071,675 Fort Garry Shares carrying 21.53% of the votes
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attached to the total outstanding common shares of Fort Garry. Co-investor ENSIS Investment Limited Partnership
holds 71,695 Class A preferred shares or 10.25% of the total outstanding, and 303,325 Fort Garry Shares carrying
6.09% of the votes attached to the total outstanding common shares of Fort Garry.

Description of Share Capital of Fort Garry

The authorized share capital of Fort Garry consists of an unlimited number of common shares (the
“Fort Garry Shares™) and an unlimited number of Class A preferred shares (the “Fort Garry Preferred Shares™).
As of August 20, 2007, there were 700,000 Fort Garry Preferred Shares and 4,976,698 Fort Garry Shares of record;
all fully paid and non-assessable. The following is a general description of the material rights, privileges,
restrictions and conditions attaching to each class of shares.

Fort Garry Shares

The holders of Fort Garry Shares are entitled to receive notice of, to attend and vote at any meetings of
Fort Garry Shareholders (except meetings at which, pursuant to the MCA, only holders of a specified class of shares
other than the Fort Garry Shares are entitled to vote}, to receive such dividends declared by the Fort Garry Board
and to receive the remaining property of Fort Garry on dissolution, liquidation or winding down.

Fort Garry Preferred Shares

The holders of Fort Garry Preferred Shares are entitled to receive when, as and if declared by the Fort Garry
Board, cumulative dividends at the rate of 4% per annum. Each Fort Garry Preferred Share is redeemable at the
option of the holder at any time following the sixth anniversary of the date of issuance of such Fort Garry Preferred
Share for a redemption price equal to $1.25 together with all dividends declared and remaining unpaid on such
Fort Garry Preferred Share. In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Fort Garry or other distribution
of assets of Fort Garry among its sharcholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs, the holders of Fort Garry
Preferred Shares are not entitled to share in any distribution of the assets or property of Fort Garry.

Consolidated Capitalization of Fort Garry
The following table sets forth the consolidated capitalization of Fort Garry as at June 30, 2007:

Authorized Outstanding as at June 30, 2007
(unaudited}

Fort Garry Preferred Shares $907,991

(unlimited) 700,000

Fort Garry Shares $6,929,251%

(unlimited) 4,976,698

Notes:

M $700,000 plus accrued dividends and retraction premiums of $236,495. Al 700,000 Fort Gary Preferred Shares will be converted into that
number of Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, redeemable for cash at a price of $0.01 each, equal to 93,587,120 plus 15,662 for cach
day from and including July 1, 2007 to and including the Effective Date.

@ Upon the election of either the Cash Only Consideration, the Share and Cash Comsideration, or the Share Only Consideration, cach issued
and outstanding Fort Garry Share {other than those held by Dissenting Fort Garry Shareholders) will be canceiled without any repayment of
capital in respect thereof.

Prior Sales by Fort Garry

The following is a historical overview of shares issued by Fort Garry:

Date Shares'" Source
September 21, 1998 360,000 Common Shares of Minute Bocks
0Old Fort Garry
September 22, 1998 Total of 1,000,000 Common Shares of  Stock split
Old Fort Garry
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Date Shares'? Source
January 15, 1999 6,978,686 Common Shares of 4,750,000 shares issued in IPO;

Old Fort Garry $1.00/Common Share of Old Fort Garry and
shares / options / warranis issued
contemporaneously with the IPO

May 15, 2003 —May 9, 2007 700,000 Class A Preferred Shares, As part of amalgamation of Old Fort Garry

4,976,684 Common Shares and Two Rivers, debt owed to ENSIS by Old

Note:

@ Share numbers stated on a fully diluted basis.

Directors, Officers and Promoters of Fort Garry

Fort Garry was converted to 700,000 Class A
Preferred Shares and 1,375,000 Common
Shares of Fort Garry, each Two Rivers share
was exchanged for 1.81359 Fort Garry Shares,
and each Old Fort Garry Common Share was
converted to 0.23302 Font Garry Share

The following table sets forth the name of each of the directors, officers or promoters of Fort Garry, all
positions and offices in Fort Garry to be held by him, his municipality of residence, his principal occupation at the
present and during the preceding five years, and the number and percentage of Fort Garry Shares that the party has
advised are beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which control or direction is exercised, as of the

Effective Date.

Directors, Officers and Management of Fort Garry

Shares of the Brewery
Beneficially Owned,
Directly or Indirectly;
: Served asa Percentage of

Name and Residence Position Principal Occupation Director Since Shares Owned
Gary N. Coopland Director Principal of May 15, 2003 9,386; 0.19%
Winnipeg, Manitoba Ascent Consultants
Jean Paunl Gobeil Director Business Consultant May 15,2003 9,068; 0.18%
Winnipeg, Manitoba
Harold Heide" Director Vice-President, May 15,2003 0
Winnipeg, Manitoba ENSIS Management Inc.
Robert Sparrow Director Owner, May 15,2003 0
Winnipeg, Manitoba Norwood Hotel Co. Lid.
Peter Walker Director Business Consultant May 15,2003 148,520; 2.98%
Winnipeg, Manitoba
Douglas Saville Chief Executive Officer, May 15, 2003 153,589; 3.09%
Winnipeg, Manitoba Officer and Fort Garry

President

Denis Chabbert Chief Financial Officer, June 22, 2006 0
Winnipeg, Manitoba Officer Fort Garry
Richard Hoeschen Secretary Lawyer May 15, 2003 0

Winnipeg, Manitoba

Note:

% Officer of ENSIS Growth Fund Inc, and EM Capital Inc., the general partner of ENSIS Investment Limited Partnership.
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Executive Compensation of Fort Garry

The following table sets forth information conceming compensation paid and accrued for services in all
capacities to Fort Garry for the last three completed financial years to the individuals who were {or who acted in a
similar capacity as), as at December 31, 2006 or at any time during the financial year, the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer and the other three most highly compensated executive officers of Fort Garry whose
individual total salary and bonus during such period exceeded $150,000 (collectively, the “Named Executive
Officers™).

Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
; Awards Payouts
Shares or
Securities Units

Under Subject to
Name and-~ Other Annual  Options/SARs Resale LTIP All Other
Principal Position Xear Salsan Bn;ma !.:nmsfaunn ﬁm;md Rm:i:ﬂmn Bu.sqm Qm@ﬂm
Douglas Saville 2006 85,000 Nil Nit Nil Nil Nil Nil
Chief Executive - 2005 70,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Officer and President 2004 70,000 10,000 Nit Nil Nil Nil Nil
Denis Chabbert 2006 30,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
(2006 — present)
Chief Financial Officer
Bob Mondor 2005 32,100 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
(2004-2005) 2004 36,769 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Chief Financial Officer

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plan

-Fort Garry has no equity compensation plan.

Indebtedness of Directors and Senior Officers

None of the directors, executive officers and employees and former directors, executive officers and employees
of Fort Garry is, as of the date of the Management Proxy Circular, indebted to Fort Garry nor are any of these
individuals indebted to another entity which indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of
credit or similar arrangement or enderstanding provided by Fort Garry.

Options and Other Rights to Purchase Shares

None of the senior officers and directors hold options to purchase shares of Fort Garry.

Interest of Certain Persons and Companies in Matters to be Acted Upon

Management of Fort Garry is not aware of any material interest of any director or nominee for director, or
senior officer or any one who has held office as such since the beginning of Fort Garry’s last financial year or of any
associate or affiliate of any of the foregoing in any matter to be acted on at the Meeting.

Interest of Informed Persons in Material Transactions

There are no material interests, direct or indirect, of directors, senior officers, or any shareholder who
beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the outstanding Fort Garry Shares, or any known
associates or affiliates of such persons, in any transaction within the last three years or in any proposed transaction
which has materially affected or would materially affect Fort Garry.
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Price Range and Trading Volume of Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd.

Prior 12 Months

September 1 - 4, 2007
August 2007
July 2007

June 2007

May 2007

April 2007
March 2007
February 2007
January 2007
December 2006
November 2006
October 2006
September 2006

Quarters 2006

Third Quarter (July 1 to Sept 30)
Second Quarter (April 1 to June 30}
First Quarter (Jan 1 March 31)

Quarters 2005

Fourth Quarter (Oct t to Dec 31)
Third Quarter (July ! to Sept 30)
Second Quarter (April 1 o June 30)
First Quarter (Jan 1 March 31)

Quarters 2004

Fourth Quarter (Oct 1 to Dec 31)
Third Quarter (July 1 to Sept 30)
Second Quarter (Aprit 1 to June 30)
First Quarter (Jan 1 March 31)

Financial Statements of Fort Garry

High Low Trading

$ $ Volume
0.55 0.55 Nil
0.55 0.48 49,680
0.57 0.51 92,100
0.56 0.50 147,800
0.57 0.29 160,900
0.30 0.23 12,000
0.25 0.22 58,300
0.26 0.21 44,100
0.25 0.21 17,900
0.25 0.19 35,700
0.25 0.19 46,800
0.27 0.22 30,600
0.25 0.23 19,300
0.31 0.23 81,200
0.34 0.23 55,100
0.59 0.28 112,100
0.45 0.21 288,000
0.50 0.27 83,300
0.37 0.27 57,500
0.35 0.24 100,100
0.37 0.23 156,000
0.45 0.28 35,600
0.50 0.28 91,400
0.55 0.26 126,500

Attached as Schedule “A” to this Management Proxy Circular are the audited financial statements of
Fort Garry for the years ended December 31, 2006, December 31, 2005, and December 31, 2004 as well as the

unaudited interim report for the six-month period ending June 30, 2007,

Material Contracts of Fort Garry

Except for contracts entered into by Fort Garry in the ordinary course of business, Fort Garry has not entered
into any material contracts or been issued any material permits during the two years preceding the date of this

Management Proxy Circular, which can reasonably be regarded as being material.
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Legal Proceedings of Fort Garry

Management of Fort Garry is not aware of any legal proceedings, contemplated or actual, involving Fort Garry
that could materially affect Fort Garry.

Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies

Except as disclosed in the next sentence, no director, officer or shareholder holding a sufficient number of
securities of Fort Garry to affect materially the control of Fort Garry is, or has been within the past 10 years, a
director or officer of any other issuer that, while that person was acting in that capacity, was the subject of a cease
trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other issuer access to any exemptions under Canadian securities
legistation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, or became a bankrupt, made a proposal under any
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. Harold Heide,
a director of Fort Garry, was and continues to be a director of 2980304 Canada Inc. (formerly Jazz Golf Equipment
Ltd) at the time that such company made a proposal under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) in
October 2006. The proposal was approved by the creditors and the court and resulted in the sale of all the
company's assets to a third party.

Penalties and Sanctions

Neo director, officer or shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of Fort Garry to affect materially
the control of Fort Garry has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian
securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with
a Canadian Securities regulatory authority, or been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or
regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment
decision.

Conlflicts of Interest

Certain directors and officers of Fort Garry are associated with other reporting issuers or other corporations
which may give rise to conflicts of interest. In accordance with the MCA directors who have a material interest or
any person who is a party to a material contract or a proposed material contract with Fort Garry are required, subject
to certain exceptions, to disclose that interest and generally abstain from voting on any resolution to approve the
contract. In addition, the directors are required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of
Fort Garry. Some of the directors of Fort Garry have either other employment or other business or time restrictions
placed on them and accordingly, these directors of Fort Garry are only able to devote part of their time to the
affairs of Fort Garry.

Corporate Governance

Effective June 20, 2005, the Canadian Securities Administrators adopted National Instrument 58-101
Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices (*NI58-101") and National Instrument 58-201 Corporate
Governance Guidelines (“NI 58-201"). NI 58-101 requires issuers to disclose the corporate governance practices
that they have adopted. NI 58-201 provides guidance on corporate governance practices. In addition, the Company
is subject to Multilateral Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees (“M1 52-110"), which has been adopted in various
Canadian provinces and territories and which prescribes certain requirements in relation to audit committees.

Audit Committee and relationship with Auditors

As required by M1 51-110, information concerning the constitution of Fort Garry's audit committee and its
relationship with its independent auditors is set forth below. '

The Audit Committee’s Charter

Fort Garry’s audit committee is governed by an audit committee charter.
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Composition of the Audit Committee

Fort Garry's audit committee is comprised of three directors, Jean Paul Gobeil, Gary N. Coopland, and Harold
Heide. Jean Paul Gobeil is considered to be an independent member of the Audit Commitiee pursuant to the
meaning of “independent” provided in MI 52-110, All three members are considered financially literate as provided
for in MI 52-110.

Relevant Education and Experience

This section describes the education and experience of Fort Garry’s Audit Committee members that is relevant
to the performance of their responsibilities in that role.

(a) an understanding of the accounting principles used by Fort Garry to prepare its financial statements;

{b) the ability to assess the genmeral application of such accounting principles in connection with the
accounting for estimates, accruals and reserves;

(c) experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statements that present a breadth and
level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of
issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by Fort Garry’s financial statements, or experience
actively supervising one or more individuals engaged in such activities; and

(d) an understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial reporting.

Jean Paul Gobeil

Mr. Gobeil is a Winnipeg-based Chartered Accountant and Certified Management Consultant. In 1997, he
retired from the firm of Deloitte & Touche after 34 years in public practice as an auditor and management
consultant. He continues to be active in governance consulting as well as serving on the boards and committees of a
number of organizations.

Gary N. Coopland

Mr. Coopland is a Chartered Financial Analyst and holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University
of British Columbia. He established Ascent Consultants in 1992, specializing in pension investment management
and corporate capital issues. In 1994, Mr. Coopland was appointed Chairperson of the Manitoba Superannuation
Board and Chairman of its Investment Committee. In January 1998, he accepted a position on the Board of Ensis
Growth Fund and chairs its Investment Committee. Gary is one of the original shareholders of Fort Garry.

Harold Heide

Mr. Heide is currently the Vice-President of ENSIS Management Inc., which manages the business and affairs
of ENSIS Growth Fund Inc., a Manitoba labour sponsored venture capital corporation, and ENSIS Investment
Limited Partnership, a private venture capital fund. Previously, he was the director of Risk Management for the
Manitoba Capital Fund, and prior to that was Manager (Finance) for Monsanto Canada. Mr. Heide received his
Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) Degree from the University of Manitoba in 1975, He is currently a director of
private entities such as Bothwell Cheese Inc., KFF Royalty Corp., and Jazz Sports Limited, as well as another public
company, 2980304 Canada Inc.

Audit Committee Oversight

Since the commencement of Fort Garry’s most recently completed financial year ended December 31, 2006,
Fort Garry’s board of directors has not failed to adopt a recommendation of the audit committee to nominate or
compensate an external auditor.
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Reliance on Certain Exemptions

Since the commencement of Fort Garry's most recently completed financial year ended December 31, 2006,
Fort Garry has not relied on the exemptions contained in Section 2.4 “De Minimis Non-Audit Services™ or Section 8
“Exemptions” of MI 52-110. Section 2.4 provides an exemption from the requirement that the audit committee must
pre-approve all non-audit services to be provided by the auditor, where the total amount of fees related to the
non-audit services are not expected to exceed 5% of the total fees payable to the auditor in the fiscal year in which
the non-audit services were provided, Section 8 permits a company to apply to a securities regulator authority for an
exemption from the requirements of MI 52-110, in whole or in part.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The audit committee has not adopted specific policies and procedures for the engagement of mon-audit
services. Subject to the requirements of Ml 52-110, the engagement of non-audit services is considered by
Fort Garry’s board of directors, and where applicable the audit committee, on a case-by-case basis.

External Auditor Service Fees

The fees paid by Fort Garry, to its auditor, Meyers Norris Penny LLP of 500 — 1661 Portage Avenue,
Winnipeg, Manitoba R3T 3T7, in each of the last two fiscal years, by category, are as follows:

Audit Fees

In 2006, Fort Garry paid the external auditor (the “External Auditor™) $16,275 for audit services. In 2005,
Fort Garry paid the External Auditor $13,775 for audit services.

Audit Related Fees

In 2006, Fort Garry did not retain or pay the External Auditor for assurance and related services in connection

- with the performance of the audit or the review of Fort Garry’s financial statements (“Audit Related Services”). In

2005, Fort Garry did not retain or pay the External Auditor for Audit Related Services.

Tax Fees

In 2006, Fort Garry did not retain or pay the External Auditor for advice related to tax compliance, tax advise
and tax planning (“Tax Services™). In 2005, Fort Garry did not retain or pay the External Auditor for Tax Services.

All Other Fees

In 2006, Fort Garry did not retain or pay the External Auditor for any other fees. In 2005, Fort Garry did not
retain or pay the External Auditor for any other fees.

Exemptions

Fort Garry is relying on the exemption provided by Section 6.1 of MI 52-110 which provides that Fort Garry,
as a venture issuer, is not required o comply with Part3 (Composition of the Audit Committee) and Part 5
(Reporting Obligations) of MI 52-110.

Registrar and Transfer Agent

The registrar and transfer agent appointed by Fort Garry to maintain the register and the register of transfers for
Fort Garry Shares is CIBC Mellon Trust Company.

Board Approval

The contents and the sending of this Management Proxy Circular has been approved by the Board of Directors
of Fort Garry.
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.

The following information, provided by Russell, is presented on a pre-Amalgamation basis and is reflective
of the current business, financial and share capital position of Russell. Unless otherwise indicated, all currency
amounts are stated in Canadian dollars.

Information Concerning Russell

We have obtained the information about Russell contained in this Management Proxy Circular from Russell
and publicly available sources. Russell files audited annual financial statements, unaudited interim financial
statements, management’s discussion and analysis, proxy statements or information circulars and other information
with the Canadian Securities Administrators on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval, or
SEDAR. The information contained in this Management Proxy Circular about Russell and all reconciliations of
Russell’s financial information, which Russell prepares in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles, or Canadian GAAP, included in the historical and pro forma financial information contained in this
Management Proxy Circular are based exclusively on information taken directly from Russell’s public reports and
securities filings or on information provided to us by Russell, unless expressly noted otherwise. Although we have
no reason to doubt the accuracy or completeness of the information relating to Russell, we are not in a position to
independently assess or verify this information, including Russell’s financial statements.

Russell’s Business

Through its wholly owned subsidiary, Russell Brewing Company Ltd. (“Russell Opco”), Russell Breweries
Inc. (“Russell”) operates a micro brewery based in Surrey, British Columbia. Russell produces premium draft beer
for pubs and restaurants in British Columbia. Russell’s operations include production facilities, corporate offices,
storage facilities, brewing equipment and delivery and sales vehicles. Russell's main product lines are Russell
Cream Ale, Russell Pale Ale, Russell Honey Blonde Ale, Russell Extra Special Lager, as well as two seasonal
products, Russell Lemon Ale and Russell Porter.

Selected Financial Information of Russell

The following tables set out certain selected consolidated financial information of Russell as at and for the
years ended June 30, 2006, 2005, and 2004 and as at the eight most recently completed quarters ending at March 31,
2007. The selected consolidated financial information has been derived from Russell’s annual consolidated
financial statements, which are audited and from Russell’s interim consolidated financial statements for the periods
indicated, which are unaudited. The following information should be read in conjunction with Russell’s financial
statements attached hereto as Schedule “B”. The financial results are not necessarily indicative of the results that
may be expected for any other interim period or a full year.

Russell’s annual . consolidated financial statements and the interim consolidated financial statements are
presented in Canadian dollars and are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.
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Selected Annual Consolidated Financial Information

Years Ended June 30
2006 2005 20047
(audited) (audited) (audited)
(restated)
$ $ $
Net revenue 902,988 517,835 113,970
Net Loss (382,508) (624,820) (132,871)
Net Loss per share" (0.04) (0.10) (0.02)
Basic and diluted

Total assets 1,018,436 044,822 334,064
Total liabilitics 654,172 593,604 329,069
Shareholders’ equity 364,264 351,218 4,995
Shares outstanding at period ended 10,022,135 8,658,469 6,153,336
Notes:

@ Net Loss per Russell Share is the same for Basic and Diluted as the loss on a dituted basis would not be dilutive.

@ Audited Financial Statements for New Market Ventures Inc.
@ After 4:1 forward split effective April 7, 2005.

Selected Quarterly Consolidated Financial Information: Russell Breweries Inc.

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2
March June September December
(unandited) (unandited) (unaundited) (unaudited)
$ $ 5 $

2007
Net Revenue 338,969
Gross Margin 240,115
Expenses 362,104
Other Items (net) 48,079
Net Loss (170,068)
Total Assets 2,570,003
Net Shareholders’ Equity 1,555,451
2006 (restated)
Net Revenue 182,487 277,255 265,363 259,753
Gross margin 132,748 225,808 204,312 185,300
Expenses 235,712 302,220 318,399 516,240
Other items (net) 39,906 49,566 44,771 36,158
Net Loss (142,870} (125,978) (158,858) (366,898)
Total Assets 1,158,171 1,018,436 862,048 2,040,147
Net Shareholders’ Equity 507,667 364,264 205,406 1,283,084
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Q3 . Q4 Q1 Q2

March June September December
{(unaudited) (amaundited) (unaudited) (unandited)
$ $ $

2005 (restated as to September and December only)

Net Revenue 209,277 209,640 233,606
Gross Margin 161,820 173,249 182,164
Expenses 558,826 181,1944 208,900
Other Iterns (net) 34,798 38560 40,419
Net Loss (431,804) (46,505) (67.155)
Total Assets 944,822 994,917 1,277,784
Net Sharcholders’ Equity 351,218 415,963 648,808

Name and Incorporation

Russell, formerly New Market Ventures Inc (“NM V™), was incorporated under the British Columbia Company
Act on March 23, 2000 with the intent that it would be a capital pool company pursuant to the policies of the
CDNX Exchange (now the TSX-V).

In September 2001, NMV filed a capital pool company prospectus with the British Columbia Securities
Commission (the “Commission™). The Commission receipted NMV’s final prospectus on June 7, 2002. However,
NMV was unable to complete the intended offering under the prospectus and failed to obtain a listing on the TSX-V.
From June 2002 to July 2003, NMV was essentially dormant and did not conduct any significant business
operations.

On September 5, 2003, NMV entered into an agreement with Russell Brewing Company Ltd. (“Russell
Opco™), a Vancouver-based microbrewery incorporated in British Columbia on August 29, 1994, to acquire the
outstanding share capital of Russell Opco for $100,000 and 820,000 post-split common shares in NMV's capital.
On January 4, 2004, the transaction was completed. On May 18, 2005, the cease trade order that was imposed on
NMV in 2003 was lifted and NMV was reactivated as a fully reporting public company in compliance and
commenced trading on the CNQ Stock Exchange. In conjunction with this, NMV changed its name from New
Market Ventures Inc. to Russell Breweries Inc. and completed a share split such that every one issued common
share prior to the split was exchanged into four post-split comrmon shares.

Background of the Business

Since 1995, Russell Opco has been operating as a micro brewery within the greater Vancouver area in British
Columbia, Canada, brewing and marketing premium craft beer to pubs, clubs, hotels and restaurants in kegs only.

Craft Beers are generally “ail-malt”, domestic beers produced using 100% malted barley. Craft beers that are
not all-malt sometimes substitute a percentage of malted wheat (for wheat beers) or malted rye (for rye beers). Their
inspiration can be traced to British, German or Belgian traditions or is often uniquely American. Compared with
other mainstream beers, Russell’s emphasis is more on flavor.

Currently Russell offers four main product lines, namely Russell Cream Ale, Russell Pale Ale, Russell Honey
Blonde Ale and Russell Extra Special Lager. All four preduct lines have unique and distinguished taste profiles. In
addition, Russell markets two seasonal products, Russeil Lemon Ale in the summer months and Russell Porter.
Both seasonal products sell out in advance each year.

Russell’s facilities, which include corporate offices, a plant, machinery, office equipment and storage, are

located at 202, 13018 — 80™ Avenue in Surrey, British Columbia. Russell's registered and records office is located
at Suite 1500, 1040 West Georgia Street, Yancouver, British Columbia VEE 4H8.
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Three-Year History

When acquired in January 2004, the brewery was operating at about 40% capacity selling about $200,000
annually to about 40 licensee accounts. By the end of that year, the brewery’s sales had doubled and Russell served
over 100 accounts. During 2004, a new Lager brand was also introduced and the brewery was expanded from
2,000 hectolitre capacity to an 8,000 hectolitre capacity facility.

In 2005, Russell penetrated two new key markets in British Columbia - Whistler and Vancouver Island. In
May 2005, Russell commenced trading on the CNQ Stock Exchange.

In a 2006 “Summary of Payment to Suppliers” report by the BCLDB, Russell was ranked as the fastest
growing brewery in British Columbia — with a 138% increase over a 12- month period ending March 31, 2006. This
growth was significant considering that Russell only produced its products in kegs for the draught market and all
others supplied their beers in both the draught and package good markets.

In October 2006, Russell completed a $1.5 million financing through Bolder Investment Partners Ltd. and
commenced trading on the TSX-V under the symbol “RB”.

In January 2007, Russell commenced expansion of its brewery capacity to 16,000 hectolitres and placed orders
for both a bottling and a canning line for a planned fall 2007 retail season launch of its products in British Columbia.

In April 2007, Russell announced an agreement with Sammy J. Peppers, a popular restaurant chain with seven

. locations in the Lower Mainland, British Columbia, to supply their house lager and pale ale lines and Russell Cream

Ale in all their locations.

In May 2007, Russell was awarded a three-year contract to be the primary beer supplier for BC Place, a
60,000 seat domed event stadium and became the official beer sponsor for the BC Lions football team that plays out
of that venue.

In July 2007, Russell entered into a definitive agreement to purchase Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd.,
Manitoba's largest brewery, via an amalgamation.

Significant Acquisitions and Dispositions

To date, Russell has had only one acquisition. As outlined above, on September 5, 2003, Russell entered into
an agreement to acquire Russell Opco and subsequently completed the acquisition in Janvary 2004.

Market Overview

The Canadian beer industry is basically a mature market worth approximately $14 billion per year with only a
few niche segments enjoying growth. It is dominated by large intemational companies, namely the Molson Coors
Brewing Company and Labatt Breweries of Canada (part of the InBev 5.A.) who account for over 80% of sales.

The overall market is characterized in three major groupings. The premium brands (domestic premium,
imports and craft brands), mainstream brands (domestic and imponts) and the value (buck a beer) brands (domestic
and imports).

For some time sales of the mainstream beer brands like Molson Canadian, Budweiser and Labatt’s Blue have
been flat or losing market share while the Premium/ Craft domestic brands like Alexander Keith, Richards,
Creemore Springs and premium imports like Stella Artois, Heincken, Corona have been growing at about 7%
annually. .

The popularity of premium beers is being driven by changing consumer tastes. Increasingly people are
purchasing better tasting, higher-image, higher-priced products. Because of this, the craft or domestic premium beer
segment has become increasingly competitive. The number of micro-breweries within Canada has doubled in the
fast 10 years. The competition for a share of this growing segment from imported premium brands is also very
competitive.
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Multi-national beer companies who dominate the overall market are investing in or purchasing the regional
breweries as they achieve a size of interest. Examples include the purchase of Unibroue by Sleeman Breweries Ltd.
(“Sleeman”) before Sleeman itself was purchased by Sapporo, and the purchase of Creemore Springs in Ontario by
Molson. At the other end of the market (the value scgment), Labatt recently purchased Lakeport, an Ontario
brewery, which was able to achieve approximately a 30% share of the Ontario market.

Russell has concentrated its activities in the Province of British Columbia, in the premium segment of the
draught business. Competition in this market includes:

Molson Labatt Sleeman Other
Import/Super Premium Heineken Stella Artois Guinness Corona
- Beck's Samuel Adams
Sol Grolsch
Pilsner Urqueil
Sapporo
Scottish & Newcastle
Domestic Preminm Rickard’s Keith's Sleeman Russell Brewing
Creemore Okanagan Springs Granville Island
Shaftebury Vancouver Island
Unibrone Light House
Phillips
Mainstream Canadian Blue
Export Bluc Light
Coors Light Budweiser
Bud Light
Value Carling Wildcat Old Milwaukee Pacific Western
Black Label Lucky Pabst

Pricing

Pricing its products at a small premium to the prices charged by the large domestic brewers is an important
component of Russell’s marketing strategy. It has allowed Russell to be competitive in the market and at the same
time to a recapture the higher costs of ingredients and processing that are involved in producing its various premivm
brands. At this time, Russell’s various premium brands are generally sold at prices which are equal to or
approximately 10% higher than the large domestic brewers’ mainstream brands.

Distribution

In British Columbia, the government’s Liquor Distribution Branch (“LDB") cwrently controls the distribution
of all alcohol products in the Province. At this time, Russell only produces and sells its products in kegs for draught
consumption by licensed premises. Later this year, Russell will introduce its brands in package goeds (bottles and
cans) and consumers will be able to purchase Russell beer at any LDB retail outlet, at any independently owned and
licensed wine or beer retail store or at any licensed establishment for on premise consumption. All of Russell’s sales
in British Columbia are generated through the LDB which acts as the mandated intermediary on sales of all alcohol
products, whether through LDB retail outlets or through direct delivery.

Sales and Marketing

All of Russell’s brand marketing is based on research. Russell has confirmed that the target market for its
premium brands is primarily males between the ages of 25 and 40 years, with a skew towards the high achiever /
more affluent beer drinker.

Russell’s strategy is to first introduce its brands in kegs, targeting the prime clubs, pubs, hotels and restaurants

in an urban market in order to achieve high levels of customer awareness and trial, followed by the introduction of
the brands in cans and bottles for consumers to take the brands home.
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Sources of Supplies

Russell obtains the ingredients used in its products and the packaging for its products from a variety of
different sources. Russell has several annual renewing agreements for labels, packaging, malt and comn. Russell has
not historically had any difficulty in securing an adequate supply of ingredients or packaging for its products and
does not anticipate any such difficulties in the future.

Seasonality

Russell’s revenues are seasonal and the first quarter, which covers the summer months, has historically been
the strongest quarter for Russell representing approximately 40% of total revenues, followed by the second quarter
which includes the Christmas holidays. The third and fourth quarters usually see a reduction in revenues as beer
consumption typically wanes during the winter and spring periods. ’

Environmental Matters

Russell’s brewery operations are subject to applicable provincial environmental laws and regulations, and local
bylaws and permit requirements regarding, among other things, air emissions, water discharges and waste handling
and disposal. Management of Russell believes that it is currently in compliance with all applicable environmental
laws and regulations.

Competition

Russell currently competes only in British Columbia and only in the draught market. This market is mature
and highly competitive with numerous different brands of beer available to consumers. As in the rest of Canada,
Molson Coors and Labatt are also dominant in the British Columbia market. Competition within the premium
category is based on product quality and taste, packaging, advertising and promotional support, brand recognition
and price. Russell believes that its primary competitors operate in this category and include other premium brewers
such as Granville Island Brewing Co., Okanogan Springs (owned by Sleeman) as well as premium imported brands,
including Stella Artois, Heineken and Corona. Premium imports have become increasingly compeltitive since the
resolution by the general agreement on tariffs and trade (GATT) of a trade dispute between Canada and the United
States. As a result, importers, previously limited to selling their products only in government-controlled retail
outlets, were generally awarded equal access to mainstream distribution networks.

In response to the rapid growth of the premium beer category, the large domestic brewers in Canada have
introduced fuller flavored beer brands and may be expected to focus more attentiont on the import and premivm beer
categories in the future. Russell expects the large domestic brewers, with their superior financial resources and
established distribution networks, will seek further participation in the continuing growth of the premium beer
category. Although an increase in the participation of the large domestic brewers in this category of the market will
likely increase competition for market share and heighten price sensitivity, Russell believes that the large domestic
brewers" participation will also tend to increase advertising, distribution and consumer awareness of premium beer .
and thus contribute to further growth of the category.

Regulation
General

In Canada, the provincial governments regulate the production, marketing, distribution and pricing of beer and
impose commodity taxes and licence fees in relation to the production and sale of beer. In addition, the federal
government regulates the production, advertising, labelling, quality control, and international trade of beer, and also
imposes commodity taxes, consumgption taxes, excise laxes and, in certain instances, custom duties. As well, certain
bilateral and multilateral treaties that have been entered into by the federal government, provincial governments and
certain foreign governments, especially the government of the United States, affect the Canadian beer industry.
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Government Regulation

The social policy objectives of several provincial governments have impacted the policies adopted by
provincial beer regulators. The provincial governments have historically had a high degree of involvement in the
regulation of the beer industry, particularly the regulation of the pricing, sale and distribution of beer and, in some
provinces, its advertising.

In each of the provinces of Canada, other than the Provinces of Newfoundland, Quebec and Alberta, beer
manufacturers primarily distribute their products through government operated outlets or independent licensed retail
outlets. In Newfoundland, Quebec and Alberta, each brewer must create its own distribution network.

The pricing of beer in Canada is affected by the imposition of provincial and federal taxes, fees and levies.
The impact of these items varies from province to province, but, on average, commodity and sales taxes, fees and
levies make up approximately 50% of the retail price of beer in Canada. Legislation in all provinces provides that
provincial authorities may control the pricing of beer, but the method of determining prices differs among provinces.

Since August 1996, when the Canadian Radio, Television and Telecommunications Commission announced
that it would no longer pre-clear advertisements, Advertising Standards Canada (“*ASC”) has handled pre-clearance
approvals for broadeast advertising of alcoholic beverages. It is a requirement that all broadcast advertising of
alcohol beverages complies with the ASC's Code of Broadcast Advertising and, without the necessary approval,
broadcasters will not air an advertisement.

In British Columbia, beer manufacturers are regulated by the Liguor Control and Licensing Act, which requires
brewers to be licensed to sell liquor and imposes licensing fees based upon the amount of beer shipped by a brewer
for sale or distribution in the Province. This legislation also regulates the promotion and advertising of beer. The
LDB has been established under the Liquor Distribution Act to regulate the sale of liquor in British Columbia.

In Alberia, the manufacture, sale, promotion and advertising of beer is governed by the Gaming and Liquor Act
and the Regulations thereto and by the AGLC's policies. The AGLC purchases all beer to be sold in the Province of
Alberta from brewers and sells it to licensed retail outlets and bars, hotels and restaurants. The AGLC charges
licence fees based on total purchases of a brewer’s product by the AGLC.

Trade Issues

Trade issues at the inter-provincial and international levels have a significant impact on the Canadian beer
industry. Historically, provincial regulations generally required Canadian brewers to operatc a brewery in a
particular province in order to obtain favourable pricing and distribution access in such province and this
requirement severely limited the ability of brewers to distribute their products inter-provincially. The Ontario
Liguor Control Act was amended in 1992 to authorize Canadian brewers outside Ontario to sell beer in Ontario
through the TBS if the jurisdiction in which the beer is brewed contains a similar provision in favour of Ontario. As
well, in July 1994, the federal and provincial governments signed a comprehensive agreement to reduce barriers to
the inter-provincial trade of goods and services. This agreement became effective on July 1, 1995 in most provinces
with the exception of certain eastern provinces. This agreement effectively removes the requirement for a brewer to
brew its beer in a province in order to obtain access to local distribution networks.

International trade affects Canadian brewers in relation to the expont of their products into foreign jurisdictions
as well as in relation to competition from foreign brewers, especially U.S. brewers, selling their beer in Canada. A
memorandum of understanding between the Canadian and U.S. federal governments dated August5, 1993 (the
“MOU™) provides that beer imported into the Province of Ontario will have access to the TBS distribution system
on the same basis as Canadian brewers. In addition, the MOU provides for a minimum retail price for beer in
Ontario based on alcohol levels, exclusive of an environmental levy and the applicable container bottle deposit. The
minimum price may be adjusted on an annual basis consistent with changes in the Ontario Consumer Price Index,
Amendments to the MOU made in April 1994 defined the terms for access by U.S. brewers to the Quebec markel.

Employees

As at its recent financial year ended June 30, 2006, Russell had 15 employees.
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Available Funds
Russell had $869,713 in working capital as at March 31, 2007.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the Three and Nine Months Ended March 31, 2007 Compared to
Three and Nine Months Ended March 31, 2006

The following discussion and analysis prepared as of May 28, 2007 should be read in conjunction with the
unaudited consolidated interim financial statements for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006
and the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and Management Discussion and Analysis and
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006.

Forward 1.ooking Statements

This report contains forward-looking information that is based on Russell’s plans, intentions and expectations.
By definition, forward-looking information involves risks, uncertaintics and assumptions and is not a guaranice of
future performance. Actual results could differ significantly from those anticipated, and hence investors should use
caution when considering this information.

Overview

"Through its wholly owned subsidiary, Russell Opco, Russell operates a microbrewery based in Surrey, British
Columbia. Russell produces premium draught beer for pubs and restaurants in British Columbia. Russell's
operations include production facilities, corporate offices, storage facilities, brewing equipment, and delivery and
sales vehicles. The brewery’s main product lines are Russell Cream Ale, Russell Pale Ale, Russell Honey Blonde
Ale, Russell Extra Special Lager, as well as two seasonal products, Russell Lemon Ale and Russell Porter.

Business Developments and Significant Events

On October 23, 2006 Russell commenced trzding on the TSX-V having previously traded on the
CNQ Exchange.

In October 2006, Russell completed a $1,500,000 brokered private placement for net proceeds of $1,385,000.

In February 2007, Russell began ordering new equipment to effectively double the size of its brewing capacity.
This expansion order includes a bottling line and a canning line to be instatled later in the year. To accommodate
this expansion Russell doubled the size of its premises in Apri! 2007. .

In April 2007, Russell entered into an agreement to supply restaurant chain, Sammy J. Peppers with their
signature draught beers and Russell Cream Ale. Sammy J. Peppers is a successful, growing restaurant chain with
seven Greater Vancouver locations. ‘

In May 2007, Russell announced a three-year partnership agreement making Russell Brewing Company the
Official Beer of the BC Lions and BC Place. Beginning with the club’s pre-season home game on Friday, June 15

versus the Saskatchewan Roughriders, BC Place began carrying a variety of Russell products including the Russell
Extra Special Lager and Russel]l Pale Ale.

On July 25, 2007, Russell entered into a Definitive Agreement with Fort Garry providing for the acquisition of
Fort Garry by Russell through a Plan of Amalgamation. Holders of Fort Garry Shares will have the option to
receive, in exchange for each Fort Garry Share, either:

(a) one Russell Share; or

(b) one-half of one Russell Share plus $0.20 cash; or

(¢) $0.40 cash.
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Fort Garry has 4,976,698 common shares outstanding. In addition, Russell will purchase the Fort Garry Preferred
Shares for their par value plus any accrued redemption premium and accrued dividends estimated at a cost of
$935,871 plus $156.62 for each day from and including July I, 2007 to the Effective Date.

Management believes the merger will provide synergistic cost savings for the two companies and that it can
grow the business of Fort Garry to utilize excess production capacity at Fort Garry. The combined companies will
be able to serve all four western Canadian Provinces, namely British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan and
Manitoba.

Cn July 27, 2007, Russell completed the Russell Private Placement generating subscription proceeds of
$3,176,500.

Selected Annual Information

The following table presents selected financial information for the nine months ended March 31, 2007 and
2006, and the last three fiscal years ended June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Nine Months  Nine Months

Ended Ended Year Ended  YearEnded  Year Ended
31-Mar-07 31-Mar-06 30-Jun-06 30-Jun-05 30-Jun-04
Unandited Unandited Andited Audited Andited
ond restated  andrestated  and restated
$ $ $ $ )
Net Revenue 864,085 625,733 902,988 517,835 113,970
Total Loss from continuing operations (695,824) (256,529) (382,508) (624,820) (132,871)
Operating Loss per share 0.05) (0.03) 0.04) (0.10) 0.02)"
Net Loss (695,824) (256,529) (382,508) (624,820) (132,871)
Basic and diluted Loss per share 0.05) 0.03) ©0.04) (0.10) (0.02)
Total assets 2,570,003 1,158,171 1,018,436 944,822 334,064
Total liabilities 1,014,552 650,504 654,172 593,604 329,069
Cash dividends declared per share Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Note:
M After 4:1 forward split effective April 7, 2005.

Performance and Results of Operations

At March 31, 2007, Russell Breweries Inc., had consolidated total assets of $2,570,003 (2006 restated

~ $1,158,171) including cash and equivalents of $976,366, restricted cash of $200,000 and property, plant and

equipment of $865,427. Russell had total liabilities of $1,014,552 (2006 restated $650,504) including bank

indebtedness of $202,902, demand bank loan of $33,642, other bank loan debt of $134,366 and debt under capital
leases of $437,195. Sharcholders equity is $1,555,451 (2006 restated $507,667).

Prior Period Adjustment

The prior period adjustment of $63,237 is to correct errors of recording sales and accounts receivable for the
year ended June 30, 2006, $18,443 of which is related to the six months ended December 31, 2005. The errors
caused overstatements of sales resulting in understatements of net loss and deficit for the year ended June 30, 2006,
and the three and nine months ended March 31, 2006, as well as overstatements of accounts receivable as of
June 30, 2006, and March 31, 2006. The deficit and accounts receivable as of June 30, 2006 and March 31, 2006 as
well as sales for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2006 have been restated in accordance with the
recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants with respect to Section 1506 “Accounting
Changes”.
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Changes in Accounting Policies

Effective January t, 2007, Russell made a change in accounting policies, on a retroactive basis, to reclass
portions of gross sales, net sales, cost of sales, selling costs and administration expense, cash and cash equivalents
and restricted cash to make the financial statement items more consistent and comparable to the industry standard.
Under this policy, gross sales are shown net of licensee discount, net sales are shown net of excise taxes and
provincial mark-up and excludes licensee discount, cost of sales include production labour and exclude provincial
mark-up, selling general and administration expense excludes production labour and term deposits pledged against
lines of credit are shown as restricted cash. Gross sales, net sales, cost of sales and selling and general and
administration costs for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and the nine months ended March 31, 2006 and the
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash balances as at June 30, 2006 have been restated in accordance with the
recommendattons of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants with respect to Section 1506 “Accounting
Changes”. These changes do not change reported net loss or deficit of any prior period.

The restatement reduces gross sales $29,399 for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and by $93,777 for
the nine months ended March 31, 2006; reduces net sales by $69,512 for the three months ended March 31, 2006
and by $271,296 for the nine months ended March 31, 2006; reduces cost of goods sold by $45,751 for the
three months ended March 31, 2006 and by $206,131 for the nine months ended March 31, 2006; and reduces
selling general and administration expenses by $23,761 for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and by $65,165
for the nine months ended March 31, 2006. Cash and cash equivalents as at June 30, 2006 were reduced by
$100,000 and restricted cash increased by $100,000.

Current Quarter

See “Prior Period Adjustment” and changes in accounting policy.

Net sales for the three months ended March 31, 2007 were $338,969 up $156,482 or 85.7% compared to
$182,487 (restated) for the three months ended March 31, 2006. The gross margin was $240,114 up $107,366 or
80.9% compared to $132,748 (restated) for the three nine months ended March 31, 2006 principally as a result of the
increase in net sales.

Selling, general and administration expense for the three months ended March 31, 2007 increased $128,839 or
55.2% to $362,104 compared to $233,265 (restated) for the three months ended March 31, 2006. The increase was
in all expense categories reflecting the increase in sales and corporate activities and a one time additional expense in
management fees and consulting expense of $64,250.

In other items for the three months ended March 31, 2007 interest on long-term debt increases 11,709 or 315%
due to new capital purchases financed by long-term debt, offset in part by a $7,984 or a 100% increase in interest
income compared to the three months ended March 31, 2006.

For the three months ended March 31, 2007, the net loss was $170,069 or $0.01 per share compared to the net
loss of $142,870 (restated) or $0.01 (restated) per share for the three months ended March 31, 2006.

Year-to-Date

See “Prior Period Adjustment” and changes in accounting policy.

Net Sales for the nine months ended March 31, 2007 were $864,085 up $238.352 or 38.1% compared to
$625,733 (restated) for the nine onths ended March 31, 2006. The gross margin was $629,928 up $141,767 or
29% compared to $488,161 (restated) for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 as a result of the increase in net
sales.

Selling, general and adminisiration expense increased $574,096 or 92.2% to $1,196,743 compared to $622,647
(restated} for the nine months ended March 31, 2006. The increase in expenses is primarily a result of an expansion
currently underway at the brewery including a2 doubling of premise size and increasing brewing capacity, a ramp-up
in sales activities in anticipation of increased capacity and new sales contracts, and an increase in corporate activity
including completion of a major equity financing and expenses associated with the migration of Russell from the
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CNQ Exchange to the TSX-V. In addition selling, general and administration expenses in the nine months ended
March 31, 2007 included a one quarter increased charge of management and consulting expense of $64,250 and
$86,976 of non-cash stock compensation expense.

In other items interest on long-term debt increased 20,986 or 164.3% for the nine months ended March 31,
2007 due to new capital purchases financed by long-term debt offset in part by a $17,018 or a 100% increase in
interest income compared to the nine months ended March 31, 2006.

For the nine months ended March 31, 2007, the net loss was $695,824 or $0.05 per share compared to the net
loss of $256,529 (restated) or $0.03 per share for the comparable period in 2006.

Summary of Quarterly Results

The following is selected financial information from Russeil’s eight most recently completed fiscal quarters:

Fiscal Year 2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006 2006 2005

Quarter Q Q2 Q1 o4 Q3 Q2 Q Qo
Unaundited Unaudited Unaodited Unsudited Unandited Unandited Unaudited Unaodited

and and and and and and
Restated  Restated  Restated  Restated  Restated  Restated

3 $ 3 $ ] $ $ $
Net revenues 338,969 259,753 265,363 277255 182,487 233,606 209,640 209,277
Total net loss (170,068)  (366898)  (158,858)  (125978)  (142.870) (67,155) 46,505) (431,809
Total net loss per share . (00D 0.03) 0.02) 0.01) (0.01) 0.01) 0.01) 0.10)

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flow

Net cash used by operating activities in the three months ended March 31, 2007 was $165,433 compared to
$72,407 in the three months ended March 31, 2006, an increase in net cash use of $93,026, primarily as a result of a
$122,588 increase in accounts receivable.

Net cash used by operating activities in the nine months ended March 31, 2007 was $596,929 compared to
$225,651 in the nine months ended March 31, 2006, an increase in net cash use of $371,278, principally as a result
of a $439,294 increase in loss.

During the three months ended March 31, 2007 Russell purchased $246,161 of property, plant and equipment
compared to $94,697 in the three months ended March 31, 2006, an increase of $151,464.

During the nine months ended March 31, 2007 Russell purchased $414,752 of property, plant and equipment
compared to $126,974 in the 2006 period, an increase of $287,778.

During the three months ended March 31, 2007 Russell received $615,302 from financing activitics compared
to $44 used in the March 2006 quarter, an increase in financing activities of $615,346. The principle financing
activities during the March 31, 2007 quarter were share capital issued for cash of $441,535 and capital leases net of
repayments of $191,476.

During the nine months ended March 31, 2007 Russell received $2,019,266 from financing activities compared
to $357,725 in the nine months to March 2006, an increase in financing activities of $1,661,541. The principle
financing activities during the nine months ended March 31, 2007 were shares issued for net cash of $1,800,035 and
capital leases net of repayments of $286,673. The principle financing activities during the nine months ended
March 31, 2006 were shares issved for cash net of share subscriptions used of $411,250.
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Financial Condition

As at March 31, 2007, Russell had net working capital of $869,713 including cash and equivalents of
$976,366. Russell also has $200,000 of restricted cash, $100,000 of which is securing bank indebtedness and
$100,000 a capital lease. Long-term debt and capital leases total $382,181.

On July 27, 2007 Russell completed a brokered private placement with net proceeds of approximately
$2,850,000 (see “Subsequent Event”™).

Russell has entered into a Definilive Agreement to acquire Fort Gary (sce “Business Developments and
Significant Events”). If all Fort Garry Sharcholders elect Cash Only Consideration for their Fort Gary Shares,
Russell will make cash payments excluding transaction costs of $1,990,679 to the Fort Garry Shareholders and cash
payments to the holders of the Fort Garry Preferred Shares of $935,871 plus $156.62 for each day from and
including July 1, 2007 to the Effective Date of the acquisition.

Funds on hand after completion of the Fort Gary acquisition may be insufficient to fund expected operating
losses and planned capital expenditures for the next 12 months. Russell intends to raise additional cash in the equity
and/or debt markets and through normal bank and lease financing to fund expected operating losses, working capital
needs and capital asset purchases.

Subseguent Events

Russell received $109,758 in respect of the exercise of 233,015 warrants to purchase common stock at $0.30
and $0.50.

220,000 common shares were released from escrow on May 2, 2007.

Russell entered into a Merger Agreement dated July 25, 2007 to acquire Fort Garry (see ‘“Business
Developments and Significant Events™).

On July 27, 2007, Russcll completed a brokered private placement for gross proceeds of $3,176,500. Russell
issued 5,294,166 Units at a price of $0.60 per Unit, with each Unit consisting of one common share and one
non-transferable common share purchase Warrant. Each whole Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one
additional share of Russell at a price of $0.75 for a period of one year from the completion of the financing subject
to an early expiry provision that once resale restrictions on the Shares having expired and upon the Russell’s shares
trading at or above a weighted average trading price of $1.00 for 15 consecutive days Russell may give notice that
the Warrants will expire 30 days from the date of providing such notice.

The Agents received a cash commission of $245,782 and 13,896 units comprising one common share and
one share purchase warrant, cach share purchase warrant entitling the holder to purchase one additional share of
Russell at $0.75 (for a total of 8% of the gross proceeds of the Offering). In addition, the Agents were granted
529,417 agent’s warrants (the “Agent’s Warrants”) exercisable for a period of one year from the date of closing of
the Offering. Each Agent’s Warrant is exercisable into one common share of Russell at $0.60 and will also be
subject to early expiry conditions. In addition, the Agents were paid an administrative fee of $5,000, a Corporate
Finance Fee of 50,000 units, each unit comprising of one common share and one share purchase warrant (each share
purchase warrant entitling the holder to purchase an additional share of Russell at a price of ${.75), and were
reimbursed for all reasonable expenses related to the Offering. Other transaction costs are estimated at $75,000. Al
shares issued in connection with the offering are subject to a four-month hold period.

Management Discussion and Analysis — Years Ended June 30, 2006, June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004

The following Management Discussion and Analysis of Russell’s financial condition and results of operations
of Russell for the 2004 through 2006 fiscal years should be read in conjunction with the consolidated audited
financial statements for the years ended June 30, 2006 (restated), June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004. These
statements, together with the (ollowing discussion and analysis dated October 24, 2006, are intended to provide
shareholders with a reasonable basis for assessing the operational and financial performance of Russell as well as
certain forward-looking statements relating to Russell’s potential future performance.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking information that is based on Russell’s plans, intentions and expectations.
By definition forward-looking information involves risks, uncertainties and assumptions and is not a guarantee of
- future performance. Actual results could differ significantly from those anticipated and hence investors should use
caution when considering this information.

Overall Performance and Results of Operations

As at June 30, 2006 (restated), Russell had consolidated total assets of $1,018,436 including cash and
equivalents of $1,318, restricted cash of $100,000 and capital assets of $547,130. At the same date, Russell had
total liabilities totaling $654,172, and shareholders equity of $364,264.

Russell incurred a net loss of $382,508 or ($0.04) per share for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006 (restated) as
compared to a net loss of $624,820 or ($0.10) in fiscal 2005 and as compared to a net loss in fiscal 2004 of $132,871
or ($0.02) per share after adjusting for the 4:1 share split effective April 7, 2005. The decrease in net loss in 2006
(restated) compared to 2005 is primarily a result a 74% sales increase to $902,988 ($517,835 in 2005). The increase
in net loss in 2005 compared to 2004 is primarily a result of a 460% increase in selling, general and administrative
expenses to $935,476 offset by a 354% increase in sales and a 15% increase in gross margin.

Prior Year Adjustment

The prior period adjustment of $63,237 is to correct errors of recording sales and accounts receivable for the
year ended June 30, 2006. The errors caused overstatements of sales resulting in understatements of net loss and
deficit for the year ended June 30, 2006, and overstatements of accounts receivable as of June 30, 2006. The deficit
and accounts receivable as of June 30, 2006 and sales for the year ended June 30, 2006 have been restated in
accordance with the recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants with respect to
Section 1506 “Accounting Changes”.

Change in Accounting Policies

Effective January 1, 2007, Russell made a change in accounting policies, on a retroactive basis, to reclass
portions of gross sales, net sales, cost of sales, selling costs and administration expense, interest income, cash and
cash equivalents and restricted cash to make the financial staterent items more consistent and comparable to the
industry standard. Under this policy, gross sales are shown net of licensee discount, net sales are shown net of
excise taxes and provincial mark-up and excludes licensee discount, cost of sales include production labour and
exclude provincial mark-up, selling general and administration expense excludes production labour and term
deposits pledged against lines of credit are shown as restricted cash. Gross sales, net sales, cost of sales and selling
and general and administration costs for the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and the cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash balances as at June 30, 2006 have been reclassified in accordance with the
recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants with respect to Section 1506 “Accounting
Changes”. These changes do not change reported net loss or deficit of any prior period.

The reclassification reduces gross sales $189,730 for the year ended June 30, 2006 (2005 - $74,519; 2004 —
$15,596); reduces net sales by $433,633 (2005 ~ $259,219; 2004 — $47,038); reduces cost of goods sold by
$279,976 for the year ended June 30, 2006 (2005 — $209,552; 2004 — $29,288) and reduces selling, general and
administration expenses by $90,420 for the year ended June 30, 2006 (2005 - $49,667; 2004 — $17,750). Selling,
general and administration expenses were also increased by $4,761 and interest income increased by $4,761. Cash
and cash equivalents as at June 30, 2006 were reduced by $100,000 and restricted cash increased by $100,000.
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Selected Annual Information

The following table sets forth selected financial information of Russeil for the last three fiscal years. This
financial information is derived from the andited financial statements of Russell:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
June 30, 2006 June 36, 2005 June 30, 2004
Andited and Audited Audited
. Restated
Item ' $ $ $
Net Revenue . 902,988 517,835 113,970
‘Total Loss from Continuing Operations (382,508) (624,820} {132,871)
Operating Loss per Share (0.04) (0.10) ©.02)"
Net Loss (382,508) (624,820) (132,871)
Basic and Diluted Loss per Share 0.04) (0.10) (0.02)
Total Assets 1,018,436 944,822 334,064
Total Liabilities . : 654,172 593,604 329,069
Cash Dividends Declared per Share ' Nil < Nil Nil

Note:
@ After 4:1 forward split effective April 7, 2005.

Results of Operations

Net sales increased 74.4% or $385,153 to $902,988 in fiscal 2006 as compared to $517,835 in fiscal 2005
which was 354.4% higher or $403,865 higher as compared to $113,970 in fiscal 2004. The substantial increase in
net revenues in 2006 and 2005 reflects increased brewing capacity and sales activity.

Gross margins were 79.19 in 2006 compared to 76.4% in fiscal 2005 and compared to 64.9% in fiscal 2004,

Selling, general and administration decreased 0.8% or $7,450 to $928,026 in fiscal 2006 as compared to
$935,476 in fiscal 2005 which was 460.5% or $768,568 higher as compared to $166,908 in fiscal 2004. Labour,
management fees, automotive, and adventising and promotion increased substantially in fiscal 2006 but these were
offset by a decrease in stock compensation expense and professional fees compared to fiscal 2005. The increase
selling, general and administration expenses in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004 reflects the expansion of
Russell’s business operations and management fees, listing on the CNQ Exchange and $264,978 of stock
compensation expense ($ nil in 2004).

Amortization increased 107.8% or $80,639 to $155,443 in fiscal 2006 as compared to $74,804 in fiscal 2005
which was 108.7% higher or $38,953 higher than $35,851 in fiscal 2004. The increases in amortization reflect the
increases in brewing capacity and sales and distribution vehicles in 2006 and 2005. '

As a result of the above, net loss for fiscal 2006 (restated) was $382,508, fiscal 2005 $624,820 and fiscal 2004
$132,871.
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Summary of Quarterly Results

The following is selected financial information from Russell’s eight most recently completed fiscal quarters:

Fiscal Year 2006 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005 2005
Quarter o Q3 Q2 Q o Q3 Q2 Qi

Unaudited Unandited Unauodited Unandited Unaudited Unandited Unaondited Unaudited

and and and and
Restated Restated Restated Restated
$ $ $ $ 3 $ $ $

Total Revenues 277,255 182,487 233,606 209,640 209,277 126,363 99,732 82,462
Total Net Loss (125978)  (142,870) (67,155 46,505)  (431.804)  (106,794) (67765  (19.069)
Total Net Loss Per Share (0.01) ©.01) ©.01) (0.01) 0.10) 0N 0.04) (0.01)
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flow

. Net cash used by operating activities was $298,609 in fiscal 2006, $454,744 in fiscal 2005 and $70,634 in
fiscal 2004 primarily as a result of net losses of $382,508, $624,820 and $132,871, respectively, and increases in
non-cash working capital items to fund the growth in business offset by adjustments for non-cash items comprising
amortization, stock compensation expense ($264,978 in fiscal 2005) and share capital issued for debt ($101,362 in
fiscal 2005).

Russell invested $267,957, $375,916 and 68,248, respectively, in fiscat 2006, 2005 and 2004, principally in
capital assets to grow the brewing capacity of Russell and for sales and distribution vehicles.

Russell received $348,400, $905,650 and $147,874, respectively, in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 from share
subscriptions, capital leases and bank loans.

Financial Condition

As at June 30, 2006, Russell had a negative working capital of $44,336.

Russell's consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis under which an entity is
considered to be able to realize its assets and liabilities in the ordinary course of business. To date Russell has not
generated sufficient revenues and has incurred operating losses and negative cash flow from its operating zclivities.
To fund ongoing operations and future capital expenditures, Russell must continue to raise funds through issuing
new equity and through bank and lease financing.

On October 17, 2006, Russell completed 2 brokered private placement raising gross proceeds of $1,500,000
and net proceeds of $1,353,500 after issue costs.

As at June 30, 2006, Russell has a $100,000 line of credit secured by a $100,000 term deposit (restricted cash),
which term deposit has an interest rate of 3.25% per annum, maturing February 5, 2007.

As at June 30, 2006, Russell has a $63,546 demand bank loan with an original term of four years, repayable in
monthly installments of $3,123 plus interest at bank prime rate plus 3% per annum. The loan is secured by a
Demand Promissory Note, a general security agreement against all property of Russell, and a guarantee and
postponement of claim of $37,500 by a director of Russell.

As at June 30, 2006, Russell has a $171,904 Canadian government guaranteed bank loan from The Bank of
Nova Scotia with $7,257 of one time additional available draw down. Repayment is $4,167 per month plus interest
at the bank prime rate plus 2.5%, maturing in December 2010. The loan is secured by a general security agreement
over present property and property acquired in the future including all equipment, goods and inventory, property
insurance showing loss payee as The Bank of Nova Scotia, as well as a personal guarantee of a director in the
amount of $62,500.
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. The following is a schedule of the future minimum lease payments of the capital leases expiring on various
dates, together with the balance of the obligations. '

Fiscal Year Ended $
2007 48,294
2008 85,928
2009 25,178
2010 24,396
Capital Resources

Russell has the following outstanding commitments with respect to its assets:

(a) Russell acquired a vehicle under a capital lease from Suzuki Canada Credit with a term of two years.
This lease bears interest at a rate of 0.90% per annum, and is repayable in monthly installments of $313,
plus interest. The lease is secured against the vehicle subject to the lease. The lease was paid in full
February 28, 2006. Russell exercised the buyout and purchased the vehicle in April 2006.

(b) Russell acquired three additional vehicles under a capital lease from Totem Leasing with a term of
three years. This lease bears interest at a rate of 12.5% per annum, and is repayable in monthly
installments of $862, plus interest. The lease is secured against the vehicles subject to the lease.

(c) In July 2004, Russell obtazined a Canadian government guaranteed bank loan from The Bank of
Nova Scotia in the amount of $250,000. Russell has drawn down against the bank the amount of
$242,743. The principal is being repaid on a straight-line basis over 54 months from January 2005,

(d) Russell entered into a lease dated February 1, 2004 with West-Bend Construction Ltd. for its premises at
13018 — 80™ Avenue, Surrey, British Columbia with an initial term expiring January 31, 2007 which lease
was renewed for a further term of three years expiring January 31, 2010. The monthly rent, including
taxes, is $6,299.77 plus monthly payments of $356.04 for insurance.

(¢) During the year ended June 30, 2004, Russell received a loan of $150,000 from Vancouver City Savings
& Credit Union with a term of four years. The loan bears interest at prime plus 3% per annum, repayable
in monthly installments of $3,125, plus interest. The loan is secured by a demand promissory note, a
general security agreement against all of Russell’s property and a guarantee of postponement of claim of
$37,500 by a director of Russell.

(f) In January 2006, Russell acquired a vehicle under a capital lease from Jim Pattison Lease with a term of
24 months. This lease bears interest at 7.95% per annurm, and is repayable in monthly installments $219,
plus interest. The lease is secured against the vehicles subject to the lease,

(g) In February 2006, Russell acquired a vehicle under a capital lease from Jim Pattison Lease with a term of
36 months. This lease bears interest at 8.10% per annum, and is repayable in monthly installments $264,
plus interest. The lease is secured against the vehicles subject to the lease.

(h) In June 2006, Russell acquired a forklift under a capital lease from Jim Pattison Lease with a term of
48 months. This lease is repayable in monthly installments $400, plus interest. The lease is secured
against the vehicles subject to the lease.

Management

Russell’'s Management consists of Brian Harris (CEQ), Andrew Harris (President and CFQO} and John Morgan
(Chairman). During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006, Russell paid or accrued management fees of $48,000 to
each of Brian Harris and Andrew Harris, a salary of $48,000 to John Morgan, a salary of $15,000 to Mark Russell (a

. H
i
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former director of Russell} and total compensation for services to various relatives of Brian Harris and Andrew
Harris of $104,120. Brian Harris and Andrew Harris are father and son.

Share Data

On January 5, 2006, Russell issued 1,363,666 common shares for a private placement at $0.375 for gross
proceeds of $511,375. As at March 31, 2006, Russell had 10,022,135 common shares without par value issued and
outstanding.

During the 2005 fiscal year, Russell granted incentive stock options on 885,000 common shares in its capital,
exercisable for up to four years at a price of $0.58 per share. These shares were cancelled in April 2006 and
1,000,000 incentive stock options were issued to directors, officers, employees, and consultants at a price of $0.33
per share, expiring April 13, 2011. In June 2006, 250,000 of these stock options were cancelled, as Russell
cancelled its consulting agreement with RSR Holdings which was entered into in April 2006.

Russell completed a brokered private placement on October 17, 2006, of 5,000,000 units at a price of $0.30 per
unit, with each unit consisting of one common share and one non-transferable common share purchase warrant.
Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional share of Russell at a price of $0.50 for a period of
two years from the completion of the financing subject to an early expiry provision that once resale restrictions on
the shares expire and upon Russell’s shares trading at or above a weighted average trading price of $0.75 for
20 consecutive days Russell may give notice that the Warrants will expire 30 days from the date of providing such
notice.

On October 20, 2006, Russell issued 760,000 stock options for a period of five years exercisable at a price of
$0.48 per share.

On October 20, 2006, Russell cancelled 10,000 stock options exercisable at $0.33 per share with an expiry date
of April 13, 2011.

On October 23, 2006, Russell commenced trading on the TSX Venture Exchange.

On July 27, 2007, Russell completed a brokered private placement for gross proceeds of $3,176,500. Russell
issued 5,294,166 Units at a price of $0.60 per Unit, with each Unit consisting of one common share and one
non-transferable common share purchase Warrant. Each whole Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one
additional share of the company at a price of $0.75 for a period of one year from the completion of the financing
subject to an early expiry provision that once resale restrictions on the Shares having expired and upon the Russell’s
shares trading at or above a weighted average trading price of $1.00 for 15 consecutive days Russell may give notice
that the Warrants will expire 30 days from the date of providing such notice.

The Agents received a cash commission of $245,782 and 13,896 units comprising one common share and
one share purchase warrant, each share purchase warrant entitling the holder to purchase one additiona! share of
Russell at $0.75 (for a total of 8% of the gross proceeds of the Offering). In addition, the Agents were granted
529,417 agent’s warrants (the “Agent’s Warrants™) exercisable for a period of one year from the date of closing of
the Offering. Each Agent’s Warrant is exercisable into one common share of Russelt at $0.60 and will also be
subject to early expiry conditions. In addition, the Agents were paid an administrative fee of $5,000, a Corporate
Finance Fee of 50,000 units, each unit comprising of one common share and one share purchase warrant (each share
purchase warrant entitling the holder 1o purchase an additional share of Russell at a price of $0.75), and were
reimbursed for all reasonable expenses related to the Offering. Other transaction costs are estimated at $75,000. All
shares issued in connection with the offering are subject to a four-menth hold peried.

On August 29, 2007, Russell issued 690,000 stock options for a period of five years exercisable at a price of
$0.55 per share.

Investor Relations

No investor relations activities were undertaken by or on behalf of Russell during the period.
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Additignal Information

Additional information relating 1o Russell Breweries Inc. is located at www.sedarcom and
www. russellbeer.com,

Dividend Policy

Russell does not currently pay a dividend. The decision to continue this policy will be determined by the
Russell Board from time to time based upon, among other things, cash flow, the results of operations and the
financial condition of Russell, Russell Opco and any other subsidiaries, the need for funds to finance ongoing
operations, compliance with credit agreements and other instruments, and such other considerations as the Russell
Board considers relevant.

Authorized and Issued Share Capital

The authorized share capital of Russell is 400,000,000 Russell Shares, with 16,328,220 Russell Shares issued
and outstanding as of June 22, 2007. The Russell Shares do not have any special rights or restrictions attached to
them. ' '

Consolidated Capitalization

There has not been any change in the share and capital structure of Russell on a consolidated basis since the
date of the financial statements for the financial year ended June 30, 2006 save as described under *“Prior Sales”
below. The issuances described under the said heading have nol had any material effect on the share and capital
structure of Russell except to increase the number of shares outstanding.

Options and Other Rights to Purchase Shares

The following table sets forth details of all equity compensation plans of Russell as of June 30, 2006.

Tahle of Equity Compensation Plan Information as of June 30, 2006

Number of Securitles to Welghted-Average Number of Securities
be Issued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of Remaining Available for
of Outstanding Options,  Outstanding Options, Future Issuance Under the
Plan Category ‘Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Equity Compensation Plans
Equity Compensation Plans - N/A N/A N/A
Approved by Securityholders
Equity Compensation Plans Not 750,000 $0.33 252,213
Approved by Securityholders
Total 750,000" $0.33 252,213 Russell Shares
Note:

@ Sybsequent to June 30, 2006, a new rolling 10% stock option plan was adopted by the directors of Russell.
Prior Sales
The following is a historical overview of shares issued by Russell:

Date Shares Source

June 30, 2001 1,333,334 | Management 1/C
April 8 2005 4:1 Stock Split News Release

Total of 5,333,336 Russell Shares
April or May 2005 1,508,299 Russelt Shares issued in a Private Placement  News Release
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Date Shares Source
January 5, 2006 1,363,666 Russell Shares issued in a Private Placement News Release
June 30, 2006 Total Russell Shares issued to date: 10,022,135 Management 1/C

-Qctober 17, 2006

January 1, 2007 to

- July 16, 2007

July 17, 2007

July 27, 2007

August 20, 2007

Market for Securities

5,000,000 Russell Shares issued in a Private Placement

1,216,085 Russeil Shares issued in warrant exercises

Total Russell Shares issued to date: 16,338,220
Common Shares

5,294,166 Russell Shares issued in a Private Placement
plus 13,896 Units issued to Agents as a commission
fee, and 50,000 Units issued to Agents as a corporate
finance fee

Total Russell Shares issued to date: 21,696,282

Common Shares )

News Release; 5,000,000 Units
were sold at a price of
$0.30/Unit, with each Unit
consisting of one Russell Share
and one share-purchase warrant.

News Release

News Release; 5,294,166 Units
were sold at a price of
$0.60/Unit, with each Unit
consisting of one Russell Share
and one share-purchase warrant,

Management 1/C

The Russell Shares are listed for trading on the TSX-V under the symbol “RB”. A summary of the trading
volume and price range for the Russell Shares on the TSX-V is presented in the table below.

Price Range and Trading Volume of Russell Breweries Inc.

High Low Trading Volume

Prior 12 Months

September 1 — 4, 2007 0.60 0.55 44,500
August 2007 0.62 0.49 1,136,900
July 2007 0.67 . 058 636,200
June 2007 0.67 0.60 309,200
May 2007 0.67 0.52 1,307,100
April 2007 0.60 - 0.50 362,800
March 2007 0.65 0.51 305,000
February 2007 0.65 0.50 2,138,500
January 2007 0.73 0.55 659,100
December 2006 0.75 0.57 659,900
November 2006 0.65 0.50 642,500
October 23 - 31, 2006 0.55 0.45 219,900
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Escrowed Securities

There are currently 441,000 Russell Shares being held in escrow, half of which will be released on
November 18, 2007 and half on May 18, 2008; 220,000 escrowed Russell Shares were released on May 2, 2007.
The escrowed Russell Shares will be released to Andrew Harris, Brian Harris and Mark Russell as follows:

Release Dates
November 18, 2007 May 18, 2008
Escrow Holder 15% 15%
Andrew Harris 82,500 82,500
Brian Harris 82,500 82,500
Mark Russell 55,500 55,500
TOTAL - 220,500 220,500

Principal Holders of Voting Securities

To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of Russell, no person, beneficially owns, directly or
indirectly, or exercises control or discretion over, shares carrying more than 10% of voting rights attached to each
class of the outstanding voting securities of Russell.

Directors and Officers

The following table sets forth the name, municipality of residence, office held, date on which each first became
a director (if applicable), principal occupation during the last five years of each of the officers and directors of
Russell and number of Russell Shares owned or over which control and direction may be exercised by each of the
directors and the executive officers of Russell, as at August 20, 2007. The shareholdings of the Russell directors
and officers will not change as a result of the Amalgamation but their percentage holdings of Russell will change.

Name, Municipality of Year of Number of Principal Occupation
Residence and Office Held Appointment as Director _ Common Shares'”’ or Employment
Andrew Barris 2003 ‘ 550,000 President and
Vancouver, BC, Canada (2.53% of issued Chief Financial Officer, Russell
President and a Director Russell Shares) '
Brian Harris® 2003 550,000 Chief Executive Officer, Russell;
VYancouver, BC; Canada (2.53% of issued Managing Partner, Marketing
Chief Executive Officer, Russell Shares) Services International
Chairman of the Board
and a Director
Tom Maroon™ 2006 10,000 President,
Vancouver, BC; Canada (0.04% of issued Sinergy Restaurant Group Inc.
Director Russell Shares)
Jobn Morgan 2005 775,000 Chairman, Russell
Sumrey, BC; Canada (3.57% of issued Partner, Springboard Group of
Director Russell Shares) Companies ‘
Richard Shier” 2006 Nil President, Fold-A-Tools Inc.
Vancouver, BC; Canada
Director

Notes:

M Does not include options to purchase common shares held by directors and officers.
@ Denotes 2 member of the Audit Committee of Russell.
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All of the directors’ terms of office will expire at the earliest of their resignation, the close of the next annual
general meeting called for the election of directors, or such other date as they may be removed according to the
British Columbia Business Corporations Act (the “BCBCA™).

Share Ownership by Directors and Qfficers

As at the date of this Management Proxy Circular, Russell’s officers and directors beneficially own, as a group,
or exercise control or direction over, directly or indirectly, 1,885,000 Russell Shares, representing approximately
8.69% of the issued and outstanding Russell Shares.

Biographies
Andrew Harris - President, CFO, Director

Andrew Harris, 37, is a founder of Russell and is employed full time by Russell as President and Chief
Operating Officer, Mi. Harris has over 15 years experience in all facets of the food and beverage industry.
Mr. Harris was owner / operator of two successful, high profile, casual restaurants in Vancouver. He was the
Director, Food & Beverage of The Arts Club Theatre Company, a non-profit organization with a number of theatres
and restaurant operations in Vancouver. As the Director of Operations for Rainforest Café (NASDAQ:RAIN),
Mr. Harris headed up the selection and training of operations teams for the launch of the London, England and
Hong Kong markets. Mr. Harris has a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Witwatersrand, Republic of
South Africa.

Brian Harris — CEO, Director

Brian Harris, 64, is a founder and Chief Executive Officer of Russell. Mr. Harris has over 25 years experience
leading junior companies to raise capital, develop successful go-to-market strategies, launch new products and
services and compete successfully in today’s competitive marketplace.

Mr. Harris has considerable experience in the management of public companies on the Canadian, United States
and Australian Stock Exchanges. Founder of EFTech Lid. a leading supplier of Electronic Funds Transfer services
at the Point of Sale in Australia. Founder of Best Available Seating Service Inc., a leading developer of
computerized entertainment ticketing systems and the predecessor to what is now kmown as Ticketmaster.
Mr. Harris was the founder and President of Target Group Marketing Services Ltd. and Shoppers Voice Publications
Ltd., at that time, the largest selective sampling and controlled publications group in South Africa and Australia. He
was an Executive with General Foods and Film Corporation of America, Mr. Harris has a Bachelor of Commerce
degree from the University of Alberta.

John Morgan — Chairman, Director

John Morgan, 64, is Chairman and an Executive Director of Russell. Mr. Morgan enjoyed a highly successful
carcer as a semior executive with Labatt Breweries for 20 years. As Vice-President and General Manager,
Mr. Morgan managed each of the individual Labatt companies in Canada from Ontario west. During that time, he
was responsible for the introduction of Budweiser into the Alberta marketplace. As President and Managing
Director of Labatt’s Breweries of Europe, Mr. Morgan established a significant beer business in Europe through
strategic partnerships and acquisitions. As President of Labatt’s Breweries of Canada from 1990 to 1993,
Mr. Morgan led a company turnaround in Canada that saw both market share and profit increase significantly.

A proven leader with both “start-up” and large company experience, Mr. Morgan has been CEQ of Versacold,
Canada’s largest cold storage service provider and Cryopak Industries Inc., a start-up temperature-controlling
packaging business. Mr. Morgan is currently a partner in the Springboard Group of Companies. Mr. Morgan
spends approximately 50% of his time on Russell activities.
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David J. Clark, CA - Financial Consultant

David Clark, 50, is a chartered accountant with 30 years experience in banking and private and publicly listed
companies operating in a variety of industries, including beverage, oil and gas, junior mining exploration, real estate,
software, transaction automation and electronic payments, pharmaceutical, and environmental technologies. He has
acted in the roles of senior financial consultant, CFO, President and/or director capacities. Mr. Clark has managed
the process of taking a number of private companies public, mergers, acquisitions, and the raising of public and
private funds. Mr. Clark’s banking experience comprises over cight years at Security Pacific Bank Canada
(formerly Morguard Bank of Canada, now Bank of America Canada), most latterty in the position of Senior
Vice-President and CFO,

Tom Marpon - Director

Tom Marocon, 34, is President and Director of the Sinergy Restaurant Group Inc., which owns and operates a
number of high profile restaurant properties in BC including “Crime Lab”, “Lucy Mae Brown”, “Century Restaurant
and Bar” and “Fiction”. Previously, Mr. Maroon was 2 management consultant in the food and beverage industry
for eight years.

Richard J. Shier - Director

Richard Shier, 50, has been involved in manufacturing companies since 1985 and has extensive experience in
building successful organizations. Most recently, Mr. Shier was CEO/Director of Digital Payment Technologies
Corp., a manufacturer of automated parking payment stations and back office software. Prior to this, Mr. Shier
contracted his services to many technology firms requiring senior operational management. Currently Mr. Shier is a
partner in The Springboard Group which provides management services and funding to growth companies.
Mr. Shier is an excellent representative for Russell to the outside world having served as Chairman of the
Technology Committee for BC’s Children’s Hospital. Mr. Shier has extensive public speaking and investor
presentation experience associated with debt and equity fundraising in both Europe and Canada. Mr. Shier holds a
Diploma in Business Management and Marketing from Capilano College in North Vancouver, British Columbia.

Executive Compensation

The following table sets forth information concerning compensation paid and accrued for services in all
capacities to Russell for the last three completed financial years to the individuals who were (or who acted in a
similar capacity as), as at June 30, 2006 or at any time during the financial year, the Chief Executive Officer and the

*Chief Financial Officer and the other three most highly compensated executive officers of Russell whose individual
total salary and bonus during such period exceeded $150,000 (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers”).

Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Awards Payouts
Shares or
Securities Units
Under Subject to
Name and Other Annual ~ Optieny/SARy Resale LTIP Al Other
Principal Position Xear Salary Bonus Compepsation Granted Restrictions  Payouts  Compensation
3 s $ # # $ s
Andrew Harris 2006 48,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
President and Director 2005 48,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
2004 28,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
. Brian Harris 2006 48,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
| Chief Executive 2005 48,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
! Officer and Director 2004 28,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
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Note:

@ This amount represents the annual salary paid to Andrew Harris in his capacity as President of Russell and Director, management fees paid
to Brian Harris in his capacity as Chief Executive Officer of Russell.

Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards

A long-term incentive plan (“LTIP”) is “a plan providing compensation intended to motivate performance

over a period greater than one financial year” and does not include option or stock appreciation rights plans or plans
for compensation through shares or units that are subject to restrictions on resale. Russell does not have an LTIP for
its directors and officers.

Stock Appreciation Rights

A stock appreciation right (“SAR”) is a right to receive a payment of cash or an issue or transfer of shares
based wholly or in part on changes in the trading price of Russell Shares. No SARs were granted to, or exercised
by, any Named Executive Officer or any directors during the most recently completed financial year June 30, 2006.

Options

Russell did not grant stock options to the Named Executive Officers during the most recently completed
financial year ended June 30, 2006 and no options were exercised by the Named Executive Officers during the
financial year ended June 30, 2006.

Termination of Employment, Changes in Responsibility and Employment Contracts

Russell and its subsidiaries are not parties to any contracts, and have not entered into any plans or
arrangements which require compensation to be paid to any of their directors, officers or employees in the event of:

(a) resignation, retirement or any other termination of employment with Russell or one of its subsidiaries;
(b) a change of control of Russell or one of its subsidiaries; or
(c) achange in the director, officer or employee’s responsibilities following a change of control.

Upon completion of the acquisition of Fort Garry, the following directors, officers and employees of Russell
have agreed to enter into Employment and/cr consulting contracts: Brian Harris, CEOQ; Andrew Harris, President;
David Clark, Financial Consultant; Douglas Saville, VP Operations and Head Brewmaster; Stuart Lilley, Sales
Manager; Angela Harris, Marketing Manager; Peter Harris, Operations Manager; and John Motgan, Chairman.

Compensation of Directors

During the most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2006, the directors of Russell did not receive
fees for attendance of board meetings or other cash compensation for acting in their capacity as directors. The
directors may be reimbursed for actual expenses reasonably incurred in connection with the performance of their
duties as directors. Directors are also eligible to receive incentive stock options to purchase common shares of
Russell.

The following directors received options under the Stock Option Plan in their capécity as a director during the
most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2006:
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Option Grants During the Most Recently Completed Financial Year

Market Value of
Securities
Underlying
Securities Under Options on the

Name of Director Options Granted _ Exercise or Base Date of Grant Expiration Date

# $/Security $/Security
John Morgan 90,000 $0.33 $0.39 April 13, 2011
Richard Shier 40,000 $0.33 $0.39 April 13, 2011

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

Russell Subco has a directors and officers liability and corporate reimbursement insurance policy, with a policy
period from January 16, 2007 to January 16, 2008. This policy is with the following insurers; in the following
proportions:

Subscribing Companies Percent
Continental Casually Company (CNA) 40.0%
XL Reinsurance America Inc. 27.5%
Temple Insurance Company 25.0%
Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's Under Agreement No. ENC106-08 1.5%

ENCON Group Inc. has executed and signed this policy on behalf of the above-mentioned insurers. ‘The limit
of liability under this policy amounts to $2,000,000 per claim.

Indebtedness of Directors, Executive Officers and Senior Officers

None of the directors, executive officers and employees and former directors, executive officers, and
employees is, as of June 22, 2007, indebted to either Russell or its subsidiary nor are any of these individuals
indebted to another entity which indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or
similar arrangement or understanding provided by Russell or its subsidiary.

None of the directors or executive officers of Russell, nor proposed nominee for election as a director of
Russell nor any associate or affiliate of any of the foregoing, has at any time since the beginning of Russell’s last
completed financial year been indebted to Russell or its subsidiary nor have any of these individuals been indebted
to another entity which indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar
arrangement or understanding provided by the Company or any of its subsidiaries except for John Morgan who was
indebted to Russell for $30,000 as at March 31, 2007, which debt has been repaid.

Corporate Governance

Effective June 20, 2005, the Canadian Securities Administrators adopted National Instrument 58-101
Disclosure of Corporaie Governance Practices (“NI58-1017) and National Instrumemt 58-201 Corporate
Governance Guidelines (“NI 58-201"). NI 58-101 requires issuers to disclose the corporate governance practices
that they have adopted. NI 58-201 provides guidance on corporate governance practices. In addition, the Company
is subject to Multilateral Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees (“M1I52-110"), which has been adopted in various
Canadian provinces and territories and which prescribes certain requirements in relation to audit committees. A full
description of each of the corporate governance practices of the Company with respect to NI 58-101 is set out in
Schedule “G™ to this Management Proxy Circular.

Audit Committee and relationship with Auditors

As required by MI151-110, information concerning the constitution of Russell’s audit commitice and its
relationship with its independent auditors is set forth below.
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The Audit Committee’s Charter

Russell’s audit committee is governed by an audit committee charter, the text of which is set out in
Schedule “H” of this Management Proxy Circular.

Composition of the Audit Committee

Russell’s andit committee is comprised of three directors, Brian Harris, Richard Shier, and Tom Maroon. Two
members, Richard Shier and Tom Maroon, are considered to be independent members of the Audit Committee
pursuant to the meaning of “independent” provided in MI 52-110. All three members are considered financially
literate as provided for in MI 52-110. '

Relevant Education and Experience

This section describes the education and experience of Russell’s Audit Committee members that is relevant to
the performance of their responsibilities in that role.

(a) an understanding of the accounting principles used by Russell to prepare its financial statements;

(b) the ability to assess the general application of such accounting principles in connection with the
accounting for estimates, accrvals and reserves;

{(c)- experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statements that present a breadth and
level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of
issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by Russell’s financial statements, or experience
actively supervising one or more individuals engaged in such activities; and

(d) an understanding of internal contrels and procedures for financial reporting,

Brian Harris

Brian Harris has over 25 years experience leading junior companies in raising capital, developing successful
go-to-market strategies, launching new products and services and acting in various director and senior officer roles,
including those of Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Harris also has considerable experience
in the management of public companies on the Canadian, United States and Australian Stock Exchanges and is a
founder of a number of technology-based companies. Mr. Harris was an executive with General Foods and Film
Corporation of America. Mr, Harris has a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Alberta.

Richard Shier

Richard Shier has been involved in manufacturing companies since 1985. Most recently, Mr. Shier was Chief
Executive Officer/Director of Digital Payment Technologies Corp., a manufacturer of automated parking payment
stations and back office software. Mr. Shier provides management services and funding services to growth
companies. Mr. Shier has served as Chairman of the Technology Committee for B.C.’s Children’s Hospital.
Mr. Shier holds a Diploma in Business Management and Marketing from Capilano Cellege in North Vancouver,
British Columbia,

Tom Maroon

Tom Maroon is President and Director of the Sinergy Restaurant Group Inc. which owns and operates a
number of high profile restaurant properties in British Columbia. Previously, Mr. Maroon was a management
consultant in the food and beverage industry for eight years,
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Audit Committee Oversight

Since the commencement of Russell’s most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2006, Russcll’s
board of directors has not failed to adopt a recommendation of the audit committee to nominate or compensate an
external auditor,

Reliance on Certain Exemptions

Since the commencement of Russell’s most recently completed financial year ended June 30, 2006, Russell has
not relied on the exemptions contained in Section 2.4 “De Minimis Non-Audit Services” or Section 8 “Exemptions”
of M152-110. Section 2.4 provides an exemption from the requirement that the audit committee must pre-approve
all non-audit services to be provided by the auditor, where the total amount of fees related to the non-audit services
are not expected to exceed 5% of the total fees payable to the auditor in the fiscal year in which the non-audit
services were provided. Section 8 permits 2 company to apply to a securities regulator authority for an exemption
from the requirements of MI 52-110, in whole or in part.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The audit committee has not adopted specific policies and procedures for the eﬁgagement of non-audit
services. Subject to the requirements of Ml 52-110, the engagement of non-audit services is considered by Russell’s
board of directors, and where applicable the audit committee, on a case-by-case basis.

External Auditor Service Fees

The fees paid by Russell to its auditor in each of the last two fiscal years, by category, are as follows:

Audit Fees

In 2006, Russell paid the external auditor (the “External Auditor™) $22,000 for audit services. In 2005,
Russell paid the External Auditor $25,000 for audit services.

Audit Related Fees

In 2006, Russel paid the External Auditor $6,500 for assurance and related services in connection with the
performance of the audit or the review of Russell’s financial statements (“Audit Related Services”). In 2005,
Russell paid the External Auditor $1,474 for Audit Related Services.

Tax Fees

In 2006, Russell did not pay the External Auditor for advice related to tax compliance, tax advise and tax
planning (“Tax Services”). In 2005, Russell did not pay the External Auditor for Tax Services.

All Other Fees

In 2006, Russell paid the External Auditor $160 for any other fees. In 2005, Russell did not pay the External
Auditor for any other fees.

Exemptions

Russell is relying on the exemption provided by Section 6.1 of MI 52-110 which provides that Russell, as a
venture issuer, is not required to comply with Part 3 (Composition of the Audit Committee) and Part 5 (Reporting
Obligations) of MI 52-110.
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Risk Factors
Net Losses

Russell has neither a history of earnings nor has it paid any dividends. It is unlikely to pay dividends or realize
a profit in the foreseeable future. Russell has historically had significant working capital deficiency and has
significant accumulated losses since inception. As at March 31, 2007, Russell had positive working capital of
approximately $869,000 and restricted cash of approximately $200,000. The continuation of Russell as a going
' concern is dependent upon the continued financial support of its sharcholders, the ability of Russell to obtain
necessary equity financing and to generate sustainable significant revenue.

Need for Additional Financing

Russell’s business plan calls for ongoing expenses in connection with proposed business expansion. Russell
will require additional funding in order to finance this development of its business plan. If it is unable to raise the
‘funds necessary, Russell may have to delay the implementation of its business plan. Russell does not have any
arrangements for financing and can provide no assurance that it will be able to obtain the required financing when
needed. i

Competition

Russell will compete with other breweries and brewpubs. Competition in these sectors is intense, with the
majority of new market participants failing. While Russell Brewing has survived through the development stage of
its business, Russell’s ability to expand operations will require it to compete with established, larger breweries and
brew pub restaurant chains. Many of these competitors have been in business for much longer than Russel! and
have established markets.

Russell considers its main competitors to be other participants in the Canadian brewing industry, which
includes imported beer and specialty and value priced brands brewed by both small regional brewers and the
national brewers. The markets for beer in all Canadian provinces are becoming increasingly competitive. Existing
regional breweries are increasing their production capacities and marketing programs. National brewers are
aggressively promoting their own specialty and value brands as well as premium brands. Regional and National
brewers are competing aggressively with pricing, specifically in the value category, in major markets across the
country. Russell also anticipates increasing competition as new brewers enter markets in which Russell currently
operates and as Russell expands beyond its core markets.

With respect to the Canadian premium beer category, the principal competitive factors affecting the market for
Russell’s products include quality and taste, packaging, advertising and promotional support, brand recognition and
price. There can be no assurance that Russell will be able to compete successfully in this category against current
and future competitors based on these and other factors. Russell competes with a variety of domestic and
international brewers, many of whom have substantially greater financial, production, distribution and marketing
resources. Russell anticipates increased competition in the premium beer category from the major domestic
brewers, each of whom has introduced and is marketing premium-priced products. The large domestic brewers
dominate the overall domestic beer market and Russell expects that certain of these companies, with their superior
financial resources and established distribution networks, may seek further participation in this beer category
through the acquisition of equity positions in, or the formation of, distribution alliances with other brewers.

Russell’s principal competition in the Canadian domestic premium beer category are Sleeman, Brick Brewing
Co. Limited, Big Rock Brewery Ltd., Creemore Springs Brewery Ltd., acquired by Molson Coors in 2005, and
Granville Island Brewing Co. Russell also faces and anticipates increased competition from imported brands such
as Heineken and Corona. Recent growth in the sales of premium beer is expected to result in increased competition
in the category. Increased competition could result in price reductions, reduced profit margins and loss of market
share, all of which could have a material adverse effect on Russell's financial condition and results of operations.
Russell’s products also compete generally with other alcohol beverages, including products offered in other.
categories of the beer industry and low alcohol products. Russell competes with other beer and beverage companies
not only for consumer acceptance and loyalty but also for shelf and tap space and for marketing focus by Russell’s
distributors and their customers.
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Government Regulation

Russell’s business is regulated by federal, provincial and local laws and regulations regarding such matters as
licensing requirements, trade and pricing practices, permitted and required labelling, advertising, promotion and
marketing practices, relationships with distributors and related matters. Failure on the part of Russell to comply
with federal, provincial or local laws and regulations could result in the loss, revocation or suspension of Russell’'s
licences, permits or approvals and accordingly could have a material adverse effect on Russell's business. Russell
believes that it has obtained all regulatory permits and licences necessary to operate its business where Russell’s
products are currently being produced and distributed. In addition, changes to taxes, environmental regulations or
any other laws or regulations which affect Russell’s products or their production, handling or distribution could have
a material adverse effect on Russell’s operating results.

Trends in Consumer Preferences and Attitudes -

The premium beer category of the domestic beer market has grown dramatically over the past decade. Russell
believes that one factor in such growth has been consumer demand for more flavourful beer offered in a wider
variety of styles. No assurance can be given however that consumer demand for these products will continue in the
future. Russell’s success also depends upon a number of factors related to the level of discretionary consumer
spending, such as the general state of the economy, tax laws and consumer confidence in future £COnOmic
conditions.

The value beer category continues to compete on the basis of price. During 2005, the Canadian beer market
continued to have deep price discounting on several brands that compete within the value category. There has been
a rise in the number of competitors and brands in this category of the market. Russell’s success in this category
depends on a number of factors including its ability to compete on price.

In recent years, there has been an increase in the level of health-consciousness and considerable debate has
occurred concerning alcohol-related social problems, such as alcoholism, drunk driving and fetal alcohol syndrome.
In addition, a number of anti-alcohol groups are advocating increased governmental action on a variety of fronts
which may be unfavourable to the beer industry.

Leased Facilit

Russell Opco is located at a leased facility in Surrey, British Columbia. As such, Russell is subject to the risks
of the owner of this facility encountering financial or operational difficulties.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights: Risk of Third Party Claims of Infringemen

Russell considers its trademarks, particularly certain brand names and product packaging, advertising and
promotion design and artwork, to be of considerable value and critical to its business. Russell relies on trademark
laws and other arrangements to protect its proprietary rights. There can be no assurance that the steps taken by
Russell to protect its intellectual property rights will preclude competitors from developing confusingly similar
brand names or promotional materials. While Russell believes that its proprietary rights do not infringe upon the
proprietary rights of third parties, there can be no assurance in this regard.

Dependence on Key Personnel

Russell’s success depends to a significant degree upon the continving contributions of key personnel, and on its
ability to attract and retain qualified management, sales, production and marketing personnel. The loss of any of
such persons or the failure to recruit additional key personnel in a timely manner, could adversely affect Russell.
Russell does not maintain any key man life insurance on the life of any of its key personnel.

Operating Hazards

Russell’s operations are subject to certain hazards and liability risks faced by all brewers, such as potential
contamination of ingredients or products and equipment defects. While Russell has not experienced a contamination
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problem in its products, the occurrence of such a problem could result in a costly product recall and serious damage
to Russell’s reputation for product quality. Although Russell maintains insurance against certain risks under various
general liability and product liability insurance policies, there can be no assurance that Russell’s insurance will be
adequate or that claims resulting from such incidents will be accepted as filed.

Volatile Share Price

There can be no assurance that the price of Russell’s common shares will not decline below the current market
price. Stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume volatility in recent years. This volatility has had a
substantial effect on the market prices of securities of many small public companies for reasons frequently unrelated
to the specific companies. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of Russell’s
common shares. While Russell’s common shares trade through the facilities of the TSX-V, there is no guarantee
that a more liquid market for Russell’s shares will develop, and if developed, will continve. To date, Russell’s
shares have traded lightly on the TSX-V.

No Duplication of Dividends

Russell has never declared or paid cash dividends on its common shares and does not anticipate doing so in the
foreseeable future. There can be no assurance that Russell’s board of directors will ever declare cash dividends,
which action is exclusively within their discretion.

Credit Risk

Russell grants credit to its customers in the normal course of business. However, as the major portion of the
accounts receivable is the British Columbia Liquor Distribution Branch, management believes exposure to credit
rigk is limited.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management has designed internal disclosure controls and procedures over disclosure controls and procedures
and financial reporting appropriate for the nature and size of its operations to provide reasonable assurance
regarding reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with GAAP. Russell did not make any change in its internal control over financing reporting during the
quarter and nine months ended March 31, 2007,

Management has identified certain weaknesses in internal controls over financial reporting as follows:

(a) Due to a limited number of accounting and administrative staff, it is not feasible to achieve complete
segregation of duties.

(b) Due to a limited number of staff Russell does not have sufficient finance personnel with appropriate
technical accounting knowledge to address all complex and non-routine transactions that may arise.

Dependence on Market Growth

There can be no assurance that the market for Russell wilt continue to grow, that customers will continue to
buy Russell's products or that Russell will be successful in establishing markets for any new products. If the various
markets in which Russell’s products compete fail to grow, or grow more slowly than currently anticipated, or if
Russell is unable to establish markets for any new products, Russell’s business, operating results and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected.

Failure to Integrate and/or Manage Growth Successfully

Russell’s future growth will depend upon a number of factors, including the ability to acquire and train sales
and marketing staff, expand internal management and enhance financial controls significantly to maintain conirol
over operations and provide support to other functional areas. Russell’s inability to achieve any of these objectives
could harm Russeil’s business, financial condition and operating results.
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Leverage

The degree to which Russell is leveraged could have important consequences, including, but not limited to, the
ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general
corporate purposes or other purposes, a portion of cash flow from operations must be dedicated to the payment of
principal and interest on its indebtedness, thereby reducing the funds available for operations, and such indebtedness
contains financial and restrictive covenants, the failure to comply with which may result in an event of default
which, if not cured or waived, could have material adverse effect.

Risks of Acquisitions Negatively Impacting Russell

In the future, Russell may engage in selective acquisitions of products or businesses that Russell believes
would be complementary. There is a risk that Russell will not be able to identify suitable acquisition candidates
available for sale at reasonable prices, complete any acquisition, or successfully integrate any acquired product or
business into operations. Acquisitions may involve a number of other risks, including: diversion of Management's
attention; disruption to the ongoing business; failure to retain key acquired personnel; difficulties in integrating
acquired operations, products or personnel; unanticipated expenses, events or circumstances; and assumption of
disclosed and undisclosed liabilities.

If Russell does not successfully address these risks or any other problems encountered in connection with an
acquisition, the acquisition.could have a material adverse effect on the business, results «of operations and financial
condition. In addition, if Russell proceeds with an acquisition paid by cash, it may diminish the liquidity and capital
resources, or shares may be issued which could cause significant dilution to existing shareholders.

Legal Proceedings

Russell is not party to any legal proceedings and is not aware of any such proceedings known to be
contemplated.

Interest of Informed Persons in Material Transactions

To the knowledge of management of Russell, no director or executive officer of Russell, no person who
beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, shares carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to all
outstanding shares of Russell (each of the foregoing being an “Informed Person™), no director or executive officer
of an entity that is itself an Informed Person or a subsidiary of Russell, and no associate or affiliate of the foregoing
has any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction since the beginning of Russell’s last completed
financial year or in any proposed transaction which, in either case, has materially affected or would materially affect
Russell or any of its subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors of Russell consists of Brian Harris, CEQ, Andrew Harris, President and Chief Financial
Officer, John Morgan, Rick Shier and Tom Maroon. During the nine months ended March 31, 2007, Russell paid or
accrued management fees of $181,750 to directors and total compensation for services to various relatives of Brian
Harris and Andrew Harris of $86,540. Brian Harris and Andrew Harris are father and son.

Auditors

Russeil's auditors are Lancaster & David, Chartered Accountants, Suite 510, 701 West Georgia Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia V7Y 1C6.

Registrar and Transfer Agent

The registrar and transfer agent appointed by Russell to maintain the register and the register of transfers for
Russell Shares is Pacific Corporate Trust Company, 2™ Floor, 510 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia
V6C 3B9.
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Material Contracts

Russell has entered into the following material agreements within the last two years:

(a) April 20, 2007: Russell partners with Sammy J. Peppers — This agreement provides that Russell will
supply the Sammy J. Peppers restaurant chain with their signature draught beers and Russell Cream Ale.

|

‘ (b) May7, 2007 Russell, BC Lions football team and BC Place entered into a three-year partnership
I agreement beginning June 15, 2007, which makes Russell the Official Beer of the BC Lions and
i BC Place.

(©) May 27, 2007: Russell entered into a Letter of Intent to acquire Fort Garry.
(d) July 25, 2007: Merger Agreement. See “The Amalgamation - Merger Agreements”.

Experts

Certain legal matters in connection with the Management Proxy Circular and Amalgamation are being
reviewed, on Russell’s behalf, by Fraser Milner Casgrain LLP, and on Fort Garry’s behalf by Moak Goodwin LLP.
As at the date hereof, none of the partners and associates of Fraser Milner Casgrain LLP and Monk Goodwin LLP
beneficially own, directly or indirectly, any outstanding Russell Shares.

RUSSELL — POST-AMALGAMATION
|

The following information is presented on a posi-Amalgamation basis and is reflective of the business,
[financial and share capital positions of Russell post-Amalgamation. Unless otherwise indicated, all currency
. amounts are stated in Canadian dollars.

Corporate Structure of Russell Post-Amalgamation

Upon completion of the Amalgamation, Amalco will be formed by the amalgamation of Fort Garry and Russell
Subco pursuant to a certificate of amalgamation issued under the provisions of the MCA. Amalco will be a
wholly owned subsidiary of Russell.

The head office and registered office of both Russell Subco and Amalco will be the same as Russell

Intercorporate Relationships

Upon completion of the Amalgamation it is expected that Amalco will be wholly owned by Russell and that
Russell will also continue to wholly own Russell Opco.

Business and Operations

Russell, Russell Opco, and Amalco will continue the combined business of Russell and Fort Garry and all of
the property, liabilities and obligations of Russell Subco and Fort Garry will be the property, liabilities and
obligations of Amalco upon completion of the Amalgamation,

Narrative Description of the Business

Upon completion of the Amalgamation, Amalco’s business will be a continuation of the combined business of
Russell and Fort Garry. See “Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. — General Development of the Business” and
“Russell Breweries Inc. — Russell’s Business”. By combining the operations of Russell and Fort Garry, Amalca will
be operating a larger company with greater efficiencies and potential, as indicated under "Recommendations of the
Directors”.
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Description of Securities of Russell Post-Amalgamation

Upon completion of the Amalgamation, the share structure of Russell Post Amalgamation will be 400,000,000
Russell Shares. See “Authorized and Issued Share Capital”.

Pro Forma Consolidated Capitalization of Russell Post-Amalgamation

The following table sets forth the consolidated capitalization of Russell after giving effect to the
Amalgamation.

Outstanding after giving effect to the

Authorized . Amalgamation as at August 20, 2007
(unaudited)

Russell Shares 39,416,495

(400,000,000) 26,672,980 Russell Shares'”’

Note:

@ This figure is based on the assumption: (i) all Fort Garry Sharehalders elect the Share Only Consideration with each Fort Garry Share being
exchanged for one Russell Share; (i) there are 4,976,698 Fort Garry Shares issued and outstanding at the time of the Amalgamation; and
(iiii) no further shates are issued by Fort Garry, Russell will issue approximately 4,976,698 Russell Shares to acquire the Fort Garry Shares.

Diluted Share Capital of Russell Post-Amalgamation

The following table states the diluted share capital of Russell Post-Amalgamation after giving effect to the
Amalgamation and taking into account the Russell Private Placement.

Number and Percentage of Russell Shares

Outstanding (Diluted) After
Giving Effect to the Amalgamation
Russell Shares currently outstanding 21,696,282 63.25%
Russell Shares to be issued for Fort Garry Shares™ 4,976,698 14.51%
Number of Russell Shares to be issued upon exercise of outstanding 7,622,228 22.22%
options, warrants, rights™
Number of Russell Shares remaining available for future issvance under 4,628 0.02%
Russell’s equity compensation plans®
TOTAL 34,299,836 100.00%
Notes: .
®  Assuming all Fort Garry Shareholders elect the Share Only Consideration.
@ Current.

Principal Secuﬁtyholders of Russell Post-Amzlgamation

No persons are anticipated to own of record beneficially, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction
over, more than 10% of the issued and outstanding Russell Shares of Russell Post-Amalgamation after giving effect
to the Amalgamation.

Directors, Officers and Promoters of Russell Post-Amalgamation

The directors, officers and promoters of Russell Post-Amalgamation will be the same as for Russell.

After completion of the Amalgamation, it is estimated that an aggregate of 1,885,000 Russell Shares will be
beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by all of the former directors, officers, insiders and promoters of Russell
Post-Amalgamation as a group representing 7.07% of the then issued and outstanding Russeli Shares.
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After giving effect to the Amalgamation, the aggregate number of issued and outstanding Russell Shares held
by the public will be 24,787,980 representing 92.93% of the issued and outstanding Russel! Shares assuming that all
Fort Garry Sharcholders elect the Share Only Consideration.

Management of the Reporting Issuer Upon Completion of the Amalgamation

The management of Russell Post-Amalgamation will remain the same as the current management for Russell.

Other Reporting Issuers

The following proposed directors, officers or promoters of Russell Post-Amalgamation are, or within the past
five years have been, directors, officers or promoters of the following reporting issuers (other than Russell):

Name . Reporting Issuers Positions Dates”
Brian Harris Auterra Ventures Inc. President, Director 06, 2003 to 04, 2004
Ballad Gold and Silver Inc. Director 06, 2002 to 01, 2004

John Morgan Cryopak Industries Inc. CEQ, Director 09, 1998 to 12, 2005
Note: ’ :
@ Dates are approximate.

Penalties and Sanctions

No proposed director, officer, promoter of Russell Post-Amalgamation, or a securityholder anticipated to hold
sufficient securities of Amalco to affect materially the control of Russell Post-Amalgamation, has been subject to
any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority
or has entered into a setflement agreement with a securities regulatory authority, or been subject to any other
penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body including a self-regulatory body that would be likely to
be considered important to a reasonable securityholder making a decision about the Amalgamation.

Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies

No proposed director, officer, promoter of Russell Post-Amalgamation, or a securityholder anticipated to hold
sufficient securities of Russell Post-Amalgamation to affect materially the control of Russell Post-Amalgamation,
within 10 years before the date of this Management Proxy Circular, has been, a director, officer or promoter of any
person or company that, while that person was acting in that capacity, was the subject of a cease trade or similar
order, or an order that denied the other issuer access to any exemptions under applicable securities law, for a period
of more than 30 consecutive days, or became bankrupt, made a proposal uader any legislation relating to bankrupicy
or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets.

No proposed director, officer, promoter of Russell Post-Amalgamation, or a securityholder anticipated to hold
sufficient securities of Russell Post- Amalgamation to affect materially the control of Russell Post-Amalgamation, or
a personal holding company of any such person has, within the 10 years before the date of this Management Proxy
Circular, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver
manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director, officer or promoter.

Proposed Executive Compensation of Russell Post-Amalgamation

. Compensation of Directors

Upon completion of the Amalgamation, it is anticipated that Russell Post-Amalgamation will pay no cash
compensation to directors for services rendered in only that capacity.
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Compensation of Executive Officers and Summary Compensation Table

It is anticipated that the compensation of the executive officers of Russell Post-Amalgamation will be
maintained on the same basis as the compensation paid in previous years to the executive officers of Russell. See
“Executive Compensation”.

Other Compensation

Other than benefits and perquisites which will not amount to $10,000 or greater per individual, Russeil
Post-Amalgamation does not anticipate paying any additional compensation to Executive Officers or directors
(including personal benefits and securities or properties paid or distributed which compensation was not offered on
the same terms to all full time employees).

Stock Options of Russell Post-Amalgamation

The stock opn'on. plan of Russell Post-Amalgamation will be the stock option plan of Russell. The fo]]owing
table shows the particulars of Russell Posi-Amalgamation Options anticipated to be outstanding upon completion of
the Amalgamation. Russell Post-Amalgamation Options will continue to be governed by the stock option plan of
Russell. . :

The following table shows the particulars of the anticipated options to acquire Russell Shares upon completion
of the Amalgamation. '

Number of Russell Shares Exercise Price
Name Under Option $ Expiry Date
Marc Weininger 130,000 0.33 April 13, 2011
Al Charleson 130,000
John Morgan 90,000
Jim Emmerton 60,000
"Angela Harris 80,000
Paul Harris 70,000
Peter Harris 70,000
Jason Klotz 16,000
Laura Findlay 5,000
Stuart Lilley 15,000
Joseph Lewis 5,000
Tom Maroon 50,000 0.48 October 20, 2011
Stuart Lilley 35,000
Brian Harris 240,000
Andrew Harris 240,000
Melissa Janke 10,000
Gillian Nixon 10,000
David Clark 400,000 0.55 Auvgust 29, 2012
Brian Buckley 150,000
Brian Harris 70,000
Andrew Harris 70,000

Escrowed Shares of Russell Post-Amalgamation

See “Russell — Escrowed Securities”.
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Relationship Between Fort Garry and Russell and Professional Persons

No person or company named in this Management Proxy Circular as having prepared or certified a part of the
Management Proxy Circular or a report described in this Management Proxy Circular and no responsible solicitor or
any partner of a responsible solicitor's firm, holds any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any securities or
property of Russell or Fort Garry or of an associate or affiliate of Russell or Fort Garry.

Auditor, Transfer Agent and Registrar

Upon completion of the Amalgamation, it is anticipated that the transfer agent and registrar for the Russell
Shares will continue to be Pacific Corporate Trust Company, Vancouver, British Columbia.

It is also anticipated that, upon completion of the Amalgamation and subject to shareholder approval herein,
that the auditor of Russell Post-Amalgamation will be Lancaster & David, Chartered Accountants.

Material Contracts

All material contracts of Russell and Fort Garry will continue as material contracts of Russell
Post-Amalgamation.

Risk Factors of Russell Post-Amalgamation

The Amalgamation will result in the Fort Garry Sharcholders becoming securityholders of Russell. An
investment in the securities of Russell Post-Amalgamation should be considered speculative due to the nature
of Russell Post-Amalgamation’s business. A prospective securityholder should consider carefully the risk
factors set out under the heading “Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. - Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Fort Garry for the year ended December 31, 2006 - Risks and Uncertainties” and “Russell

Breweries Inc. — Risk Factors” above.

INFORMATION AND APPROVALS

The information contained or referred to in this Management Proxy Circular with respect to Fort Garry has
been furnished by Fort Garry. The information contained or referred to in this Management Proxy Circular with
respect to Russell has been furnished by Russell. Fort Garry and its respective directors and officers have relied on
the information relating to Russell provided by Russell and take no responsibility for any errors in such information
or omissions therefrom.
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CERTIFICATE OF FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
The foregoing as it relates to Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. contains full, true and plain disclosure of all
material facts relating to the particular matters to be acted upon by securityholders of Fort Garry Brewing Company

Ltd.

DATED: September 10, 2007

(Signed) Douglas Saville (Signed) Denis Chabbert
President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

(Signed) Jean Paul Gobeil (Signed) Peter Walker
Director Director
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AUDITORS’ CONSENTS

i

We have read the Notice of Meeting and Management Proxy Circular (the “Circular”) of Fort Garry Brewing
Company Ltd. (“Fort Garry”) relating to the proposed amalgamation between Fort Garry and a wholly owned
subsidiary of Russell Breweries Inc., 5506752 Manitoba Ltd. We have complied with Canadian generally accepted
standards for an auditors’ involvement with offering documents.

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned Circular of our reports to the shareholders of Fort Garry on the
balance sheets of Fort Garry as at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the statements of loss, deficit and cash flows
for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2006. Our reports are dated February 16, 2007 on
the financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, and February 8, 2006 on the financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2005.

The financial statements as at December 31, 2004 and for the year then ended were audited by another firm of
Chartered Accountants, who expressed an opinion without reservation on those statements in their report dated
February 11, 2005.

(signed)

Meyers Norris Penny LLP
Chartered Accountants

Winnipeg, Manitoba
September 10, 2007
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AUDITORS’ CONSENTS

We have read the Notice of Meeting and Management Proxy Circular (the “Cireular”) of Fort Garry Brewing
Company Ltd. (“Fort Garry”) relating to the proposed amalgamation between Fort Garry and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Russell Breweries Inc., 5506752 Manitoba Ltd. We have complied with Canadian generally accepted
standards for an auditors’ involvement with offering documents.

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned Circular of our report to the shareholders of Fort Garry on the
balance sheets of Fort Garry as at December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the statements of operations and deficit and cash
flows for the years then ended. Our report is dated February 11, 2005. :

(signed)

KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants

Winnipeg, Canada
September 10, 2007
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AUDITORS’ CONSENT

We have read the Notice of Meeting and Management Proxy Circular (the “Circular”) of Fort Garry Brewing
Company Ltd. relating to the proposed transaction between Russell Breweries Inc. and Fort Garry Brewing
Company Ltd. We have complied with Canadian generally accepted standards for an auditors’ involvement with

offering documents.

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned Circular of our report to the sharcholders of Russell Breweries
Inc. on the consolidated balance sheets of Russell Breweries Inc. as at June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2006 and the
consolidated statements of operations, retained earnings (deficit) and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended June 30, 2006. Our report is dated October 24, 2006, except as to Note 13, which is dated
as of August 23, 2007. '

(signed)

Lancaster & David
Chartered Accountants

Vancouver, British Columbia
September 10, 2007

96

0102




EVANS & EVANS, INC.’S CONSENT

We are the authors of a report entitled “Valuation Report and Related Fairness Opinion — Fort Garry Brewing
Company Ltd. & Russell Breweries Inc.” (the “Report”) dated July 23, 2007 which was prepared for the
independent committee of the directors of Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. (the “Company”) in connection with
the amalgamation of the Company and Russell Breweries Inc. (“Russell”). We consent to the filing of the Report
with the British Columbia Securities Commission, the Alberta Securitics Commission, the Manitoba Securities
Commission, the Ontario Securities Commission and the TSX Venture Exchange and the inclusion of a summary of
the Report to the management proxy circular of the Company dated September 10, 2007 (the “Circular”). We
further consent to the attachment of the body of the Report to the Circular.

We confirm that we have read the Circular and have no reason to belicve that there are any misrepresentations

in the information contained in the Circular that are derived from the Report or that is within our knowledge as a
result of the services we performed in connection with the Report. '

(signed)
Evans & Evans, Inc.

Vancouver, British Columbia
September 10, 2007
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SCHEDULE “A”

FORT GARRY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See attached.
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AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Shareholders of Fort Gany Brewing Company Ltd.

We have audited the balance sheat of Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. as at December 31, 2008
and 2005.and the statements of loss and deficit and cash flows for the years then ended. These
financial stataments are the responsibility of the Company's management. ‘Our responsibifity is to
express an opinion on these financiat statements based on our audits. _

We-conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted audiling stendards. Thosa

standards require that we plan and perform an ‘audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the

financial stataments are free of material misstatement. An audit Inchxdes examining, on a tast basis,

evidenca supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also Includes

) assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
~ evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. . .

In cur opinion, thesa financlal statements bresent faily, in all material respects, the financial postuon-

.of the company as at December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years then endad In accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting

principles.

Chartered Amomlants

Winnipeg, Manitoba
February 16, 2007 =

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd, - December 31, 2006
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
Balance Sheels’ :

December 31, 2006 and 2005

Deferred loase payable

Shareholders’ equity

2006 - 2005 .
Assels
Current assets_ :
Cash - $ 115180. . $ 43478
Accounts recsivable 358,024 295,178
Inventory (Nota 3) 212,058 - 253,455
Prepald expanses 13,6580 - 22453
. 698952 618,564
Property and equipment (Note 4) 3.021.799 3,358,251
§ 3.720,751 $ 3,078,015
Liabilities '
Current . i _ . -
Accounts payable and accrued Habilities $ 353,895 $ 335281
Current portion of long-term debt 225,000 - 225,000
Current portion of deferred leass payable 14414 : 14,414
593,309 574,675
Long-erm debt {Note 5) 881,250 - 1,406,250
Preferred shares (Note 7) 007,991 850,668

- $2,408,974 $2,57243

Common Shares {Note 8) 6,929,251 8,929,251

Deficit ‘ (5,639,918) (5.547.311)

Contributed Surplus 22 444 22 444
131,777 1,404,384

'$ 3,720,751 $ 3,978,815

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Diractor

Director

Fort Gamy Brewing Company Lid. — December 31, 2006
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Loss per share - Basic and dilutsd {Nota 10)

Statements of Loss and Deficlt
Years ended Dacember 31, 2006 and 2005 :
- . 2008 2005
Revéﬂue
Salps $ 3,169,285 $ 2793677
Exclse duty {308,041) {418,143)
- 2861244 2,375,534
Cost of sales 1,492,353 1,258,740
" Gross profit 1,368,691 1,116,794
Selling, general and administration 975,008 1,002,743
Other income . {21,773} {8.299) -
Income before the undermoted _ 415858 . 123,350
Interest on long-tarm debt 110,208 113,782
Amortization - - 340,736 374,003
Dividends and retraction premium accrued on '
preferrad shares : _57.323 - 57323
Loss for the year ' 192,607) (421,758)
Deficit, beginning of year (5547,311) __ (5125,553)
 Deficit, end of year $ (5,639.918)  $ (5.547,311)
$  (0.014) $  (0.080)

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. — December 31, 2008

The accompanying notes are an intsgral part of these financial statements
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD. |

Statements of Cash Flows
Years snded December 31, 2006 and 2005 .
' 2006 2005 .
Cash provided by {used In):' .
Operating activities: - : o
. Loss for the year ‘ o % (92.607) $ (421,758)
Amortization ‘ ' 340,736 . | . 774
Accrued dividends and retraction premium on preferred shares 52323 57,323
ha a ) {14.414) {14,415}
_ 291,038 4,924
Change in non-cash operatlng working capltal .
Accounts recelvable . : {58,849) {157 434}
Inventory : . ] . 41,397 {38,810}
Prepald expenses 8,763 . 18,446
Accounts payable and actrued liahlmios 18,637 (38,158)
‘ ' 300.986 . (211.032)
Financing activities: _ - a S
Increase In long-term debt . S - - 1,350,000
Paymant of long term debt - . {225,000) (1,218,481}
' . (225.000) 131.519
Investing activities: A
Purchases of property and equipment - (4,284) ~_(108,611)
' Increasa (Decrease) In cash resources ~ - : 71,702 (188,124)
Cash resources, beginning of year 43,478 231,602
Cash rgsourcas, end of year 3 115,180' $ 43;4?8
Supp!ememary cash flow lnformation . :
Interest paid $ 110,206 $ 113782

"The accompanying notes are an Integral part of these financial statements

Fort Garry Brewing Company Lid. — December 31, 2008
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
Notes to Financial Statements .

Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

1, COmpahy operations and basis of presentation

AFort Gasry Brewing Company Lid. is a Manitoba regional brewer and distributor of premium beeors
and guality Manitoba lagers. The Company cutrently distributes beer primarfly In Manitoba, The
Company's common shares are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange under the trading ‘symbol

FGA.

© \While these firiancial statements have been prepared on a going concem basis in accordance with

Canadian generally accepted accounted principles, which assumes the Company will be able to
mest its commitments, realize Hts assets and discharge its ablities In the normal course of

‘business for the foreseeabls future, there are conditions that cast doubt on the validity of this

assumption. The Company has an accumulated deficit of $5,639,918 as at Detember 31, 2006
{2005 - $5,547,311) and a net loss for the ysar ended December 31, 2005 of $92,607 {2005 -
$421,758). The Company’s abifity to continue as a going concem Is dependant on its ablity to
generate positive cash flow, o maintain positive relationships with its debt helders and fo
ultimately attain profitable operaions. Although there Is no assurance the Company will be
successiul In these efforts, the Company has continusd to Improve fis operating cash flow to

enable the continuation as a going concem. It is managements view that the Company's
cash flow will continue to be positive and profitable cperations will be attained as a.

operating _
result of operational plans that have been implemented including Introduction of a canning line In

June 2005, comprehensive product line analysis and entrance into the value priced beer market.

* Accordingly, these financial statements do not reflect adjustments to the carrying value of assets

and liabilities that would be necessary if the Company were unable to continue es a going
concem. : :

2. Significant accounting policles

The financial statements have baen prapared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles and include the following significant accounting policles: _

Revenua recognition

Revenue s recognized upon shipment of produict at the gross sales price charged to the
purchaser. Excise taxss, which are assessed on packaged goods, are recorded as reductions to

gross salgs prices. - -
Inventory

inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costis determined cn a firstin,
first-out basis. : ’ - _

Returnable glass

Retumable glass bottles are recorded ai cost. The costs of botlles are amoriized and charged to
operatlons over their estimated useful life of five years. ’

Fort Garry Brewing Company Lid. ~ December 31, 2006
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
Notes to Financial Statements

" Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 .

" measured and amorlized as described in the applicable accounting policies.

\

Long-lived assets

Longived assels consist of property and equipment. ' Longdived assets held for use

The Company performs impairment tasting on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset, or group of assets, may not
be recoverable. Impaimment is measured as the amount by which the assets’ camrying valus
exceods its falrvalue. Any impairment Is included In loss for the year. )

Properly and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basls
over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Amortization rates are as follows: :

- Method - Rats

Production equipment . straight-line o T 1025 years
Fumiture and fixtures . straight-line . 405 years

The leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Deferrod lease payablo

The Company recsived a period of rent deferral as part of the building lease arangement. The -
Company has accrued the value of this deferral and Is amortizing it over the lease term. T

Income taxes

Income taxes are accountad. for under the asset and -iabllity method of accounting for Income
taxes. Under the asset and fiabillty method, future tax assets and liabllities are recognized for the
future tax consequences atiributable to differences between financlal statement carrying amounts
of existing assets and liabliides and their respective tax bases. Future tax assets and liabilities are
measured using substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply when the assat Is realized or

the liabliity settled. The effect on future tax assets and llabilities of a change in tax rates Is

recognized in income in the period thal substantive enactment or enactment occurs, |

Per share amounts

Per share amounts are computed i.lsing the weightad average number of shares ouistanding

during the pericd.

Fort Garry Brewing Company Lid. — December 31, 2005
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
MNotes to Financlal Statements '

Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2005

Diluted per share amounts are computad using the treasury stock method, as if all the common
share equivalents such as options and warranis had been exercised at the beginning of the
repotting period, or the period of issue, and that the funds obtained thereby were used to
purchase common shares of the Company at the average trading price of the commen shares

during the period.
Use of estimates

The preparation of financlal statements requires managament {o make estimates and assumplions
that affoct the reported amounts of assats and llabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and
Rabililes at the date of the financial statemants, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual rosults could differ from those eslimates.

Accounts rocelvables are stated after evaluation as to thelr collectibiiity and ‘an appropriate
allowance for doubtful accounts is provided where considered necessary. Provisions are made for
slow moving and obsolete inventory, and amortization is based on the eslimated useful I}ve_s of

property and equipment.

. These estmates and assumptions are reviewed perlodically and, as edjustments become
necessary they are reported in eamings In the periods In which they becomsa Known. .

Racent accounting pronouncements

In January 2005, the Canadian Institute of Charlerad Accountants issued new recommendations
for the recognition and measuremant of financial Instruments, and amendments to the existing
presentation and disclosure standards, effective for interim ‘and annual financial statements for
fiscal years beginning on or afer October 1, 2008. Section 3855 Financial Instruments —
Recognition and Measurement establishes standards for recognizing and measuring financial
. assets, financial iabilitles and non-financial derivatives. Section 3861 Financial instruments -
Disclosure and Presentation discusses the presentation and disclosure of these items. The
appiication of hedge accounting Is covered in Section 3865 Hedges. Section 1530 Comprehensive
Incorme establishes standards for reporting certain gains and losses, such as unrealized gains and
losses related to hedges or other derivative instruments, outside of net Income, in & staterment of
comprehensive Income. Section 3251 Equity establishes standards for the presentation of equity
and changes In equity, including changes arising from those items recorded in comprehensive
income. ‘There have also been numerous consequential amendments made to other Sections.
The Company is in the process of determining the effect of these new standards on its financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2007. ‘ :

Forl Garry Brewing Company Ltd, — December 31, 2006
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FORT GARY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements

Years ended Decamber 31, 2066 and 2065

3. Inventory
2006 2005
Raw materials '§ 137624 § 170150
Work in process 35,507 43,406
Finished goods . 38.'927 39,8009
$ 212,058 $ 253455
4. Property and aquipment
- Accumulated . 2008 Net
Cost amortization book value
Furniture and fixtures 409841 $ 45056 § 4,925 -
Leasehold Improvements 1,035,234 - 757454 277,780
Production eguipment 4,263,232 14,524,138 2,739,004
75,348,447  § 2326648  § 3,021,799
’ Accumulated 2005 Net
Cost amor!ization book value
Fumiture and fixtures 45607 § 43771 $ 1,926
Leasehold improvements 1,035,234 663,931 381,303
Production equipment 4,263,232 1,288,210 2,975,022
5,344,163 $ 1985912 - $ 3,358,251

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. — December 31, 2006
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
Notes to Financial Statements

Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

5 Long-term debt:
2006 2005

Business Development Bank of Canada loan. Bearing

* interest at 8.8%, payable in monthly mstallments of

$18,750 plus Interest, due November 2009, The loan Is
secured by Security interests in all of the company's .
present and future acquired personal property subject to
nement and subordination to the security held by
the Bank of Nova Scotia with respect to the line of credit
{Note 6). : . $ 1,106,250 $ 1,331,250

$ 1,108,250 $ 1,331,250

Less: cumrent portion 225,000 225,000

" Principal repayments on long-term debt In sach of the next three years are estimated as follows:

2007 T 225,000
2008 225,000
2009 656,250

6. Bank indoebtedness .

At December 31, 2006, the company had avaltable lines of credit with the Bank of Nova Scotia
toteling $75,000. This fine of credit Is secured by a general security agreement over all property and

undertaking.

Forl Gany Brawing Company Lid. — Decamber 31, 2006
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'FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) -

Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2005

7; Prsferred shares

The company has issued 700,000 class A non-voting, non-convertible preferred ‘shares paying a
cumulative annual dividend of 4%. The preferred shares are retractable at tha option of the holder on
or zfter May 15, 2009 upon payment of $1.25 per share and any accrued. dividends. in accordance
with Canadian Institute of Chantered Accountants standards regarding full disclosure of financial
instruments, all Class A preferred shares, dua {o the retraction feature, have been classified as a -

ﬂa.bility on the balance sheet.
2006 © 2005

Avthorized
Unfimited number of class A preferrad shares
{par.velue $1)
Issued
Class A preferred shares 700,000 (2005 - 700,000) "$ 700000 ' $ 700,000
Accrued dividends and retraction premiums 207,991 © 150,668

007991 S 850,868

As of December 31, 2008, there are $101,873 (2005 - $73,797) of accrued dividends and $106,118
{2005 - $76,871) of accrued retraction premium, resulting in tha preferred shares having a carrying
value of $907,991 (2005 - $850,668).

8. Common shares

2008 : 2005
Authortzed:
Common shares
An unfimited number of commeon shares for unlimited
consideration
Issued .
4,976,898 {2005 — 4,976,698) $ 68920251 - 6,929,251
$ 6920251 6.929,251

Fort Gatry Brewing Company Ltd. — December 31, 2008
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
Notes to Financlal Statements (continued) .

Years ended De_cember 31, 2006 and 2005

8. Incometaxes

. The income tax recovery differs from the amount that would be comptited by applying the applicable
federal and provinclal statutory retes to income before the tax recovery. The reasons for the .
diffarences are as foliows: ’ ) ’

. : - 2006 - 2005
“Expecied tax expense computad at statutory fates at 36.62% $(34,000) $(157,000).

(2005-37.12%)
Change In Incoms tax provision resulting from permanent differences 21,000 2000
Adjustment to future tax assets and flabilities due to reduction of combined :

faderal and provinciat tax rate : 89,000

Reduction‘of loss carry-forwards from prior year adjustments 51,000
Income tax expense {recovery) 127,000 - (455,000)
Valuation allowance ' (127.000) 155,000
Netincoms fax expense I T 3 =
Fuu;lre_iax assels:
Net operating loss carry-forwards $810,000 © $1,014,000 -
Amounts deducted_ for accoqnling purposes in excess ’
of amounts clalmed for tax _ . 458000 381,000

| o 1,268,000 1,395,000

Total gross future tax assets
(4,268.000) (1,385,000

S
| ) - 5 -

At December 31, 2008, the company has the following amounts available to reduce future years'
income for tax purposes: )

Non-capital loss camies forward for tax purpose expiring:

2007 $ 337,000
2008 ' 1,413,000
2009 805,000
2010 163,000
2015 69,000

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. — December 31, 2006

Coi15




FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
Notes to Financial Statements {continued) -

Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

In addition, the company has an investmant tax credit of $21,000, the benefit of which has not béen
reflected in these financial statements. The Investment tax credits will expire between 2007 and 2012.
investment tax credits totafing $362,861 expired during the year.

40. 'Per share amounts

2008 2005
Netloss applicable to common shares . $  (92607). § (421.758)
Welghted average number of shares cutstanding - : T 4976698 4976698
Basic and diluted loss per share for the year $ {0.014)  $ - {0.080)

‘41. Commitments

" The company has leased office and warehouse space and equipment for varying periods expiring on

or before 2009. The minimum futura lease payments for the next three years are as follows:

2007 . 182,578
2008 182,578
48,945

2009

12.- Contingent liabliity

A General Excise Bond In the amount of $55,000 has been Issued in favour of the Minister of National
Revenuse of Canada.

13. Financial Instruments

The Company, as part of its operations, caries a number of financial instruments. It is manageménf’s
opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency of credit risks arising from
these financial instruments except as otherwise disclosed. ’

Fort Gormry Brewing Company Lid, ~ December 31, 2006
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
Notes to Fi_nanciar Statements (continued)

Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Falr valuo of financial Instruments

. The carryfng amount of cash, accounts recelvabla, and accounis payable and aocmed flabilities

approximates thelr falr value dus to the short-term matunties of these ltems.

The carrying of long-tarm debt approximates Its falr value as the terms and conditions of the
borrowing arrangement are comparable to current market terms and conditions for similar tems.

It is not practicable to determine the falr value of the preferred shares due o uncertainty surrounding

the probabllity and timing of -redemplions and bocause these Instruments are not traded in-an

organized financial market.
Credlt concentraﬁon

Finandal instruments that potentially subject the Company o concentrations of credit risk consist

' primarily of trade accounts receivable. Sales are primarfly to Manitoba Uquor Control Commission; -

however, credit exposure is limlted due to the nature of thts customer.

14. Segmoents

Management has detsrmined that the company operates in a single industry segment, which involves.

the production and sale of beer. All of the operations, assets, sales revenues and employees are in

" Canada. For the period ended Decsmber 31, 2006, approximataly 99% of sales were made to the

Manitoba Liquor Control Commls;bn.

.18 'Comparaﬂve figures

Certaln comparative figures have been reclassifiad to conform with the financial statemant
presentatlon adoptled in the current year.

Fort Garry Brewing Company Lid, - December 31, 2006
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AUDITORS' REPORT
To t_he'Shareholders of Foit Garry Brewing Company Ltid.

We have audited the balance sheet of Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. as at December 31, 2005
and the statements of operations and deficit and cash fiows for the year then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the company's management. Our responsibility is to express-an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

‘We conducted our audit in accordance wnth Canadlan generaIIy accepted audmng standards Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes exammmg, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. ‘An audit also includes
assessing the’ accounhng principles used and s#gmﬁcant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overa[l financial statement presentahon

In our oplnlon these financial statements present. fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
' of the company as at December 31, 2005 and the resuits of its operations and its cash flows for the
. " years then ended in accordance wnh Canadian generally accepted accountmg prlncrples

The financial statements as at December 31, 2004 and for the years then ended were -audited by
another firm of Chartered Accountants, who expressed an oplmon without reservatlon on those
statements in their report dated February 11, 2005. '

Chartered Acgountants

Winnipeg, Manitoba
February 08,2006

Fort Gamy Brewing Company Lid. ~ December 31, 2005
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Balance Sheets

December 31, 2005 and 2004

2005 2004
Assets
Curront assets:
Cash $ 43478 $ 231602
Accounts receivable 299,178 144,743
Invantory (Nota 4) 253,455 214,645
Retumable glass (Note 5) - 45,897
Propald expenses 22,453 40,899
. 618,564 674,788
Property and equipment {Note 8) 3,358,251 3,587,516
$ 3,976,815 $ 4262302
Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued Eabiliies $ 335262 $ 373418
Current portion of deferred lease payable 14,414 14,414
Current portion of long-term debt 225,000 1,199,731
_ 574,676 1,587,563
Deferred laase payable 40,837 55,252
Long term debt (Note 7) 1,106,250 -
Preferred shares (Note ) 850,668 793,345
Shareholders’ equity
Capital stock (Nete 10) 6,929,251 6,929,251
Contributed surplus 22,444 22,444
Deficit {5,547,311) (5,125,553}
1,404,384 1,826,142
$ 3,976,815 $ 4,262,302

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial stalements

Forl Gamry Brewing Company Ltd. ~ December 31, 2005
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Statements of Loss and Deficit

Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

2005 2004
‘Revenue : .
Sales . $ 2,793,677 $ 3,035817
Excise duty T (418,143) - (460,326)
: 2,375,534 2,575,491
Cost of sales 1,265,740 1,314,924
Gross profit 1,109,794 1,260,567
Selling, general and administration 1,002,743 887,656 |
Other income {16,299) _ {26,039)
Income before the undemoted 123,350 398,950
 Interest on long-term debt 113,782 103,213
Amortization ’ 374,003 391,869
Dividends and retraction premium accrued on. ’ : o
preferred shares 57,323 57,232
Loss before the undernoted (421,758) (153,455)
Write-down of goodwill — 531,656
Loss for the year (421,758)  (685,111)
Deficit, beginning of year (5,125,553) (4,440,442)
Deficit, end of year $ (5,547,311) .. $ (5,125,553)
Loss per share - Basic and diluted (Note 12) $  (0.08) $ {0.14) -

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. - December 31, 2005
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

2005 2004
‘Cash provided by (uséd in):
Operating activities: o
Loss for the year $ (421,758} $ (685111)
Amortization 383,387 409,394
Write-down of goodwill - 531,656
Change in deferred lease payable (14.415) {14.415)
(52,786) 241,524
Change in non-cash operating working capital: :
Accounts receivable ' (157.434) {15,262)
"~ Inventory (38,810) 16,702
Prepaid expenses - 18,446 - 5,369
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities {38,158) ~ {61,137)
{268,742) 188,196
Financing activities:
Increase in long-term debt 1,350,000 -
Payment of long term debt {1,218,481) {214,452)
Acerued dividends and retraction premium on '
preferred shares 57,323 57,323
188,842 (157.129)
investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (108,224) (3,529)
(Decrease) increase in cash resources (188,124) {3,529)
Cash resources, beginning of year 231,602 204,064
Cash resources, end of year $ 43,478 $ 231602
-Supplementary cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 113,782 $ 103,213 -

Fort Gamy Brewing Company Ltd. — December 31, 2005
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements

Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

1. General:

Fort Garry Brewing Company Lid. (the "company” or "FGB") is.a Manitoba regional brewer and

_ distributor of premium beers and quality Manitoba-lagers. The company currently distributes
beer primarily in Manitoba. The company’s common shares are listed on the TSX Venture
Exchange under the trading symbol FGA.

2.  Basls of presentation:

‘These financial statements have been prepared on a going concemn basis in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. The gbing concern basis of presentation -
assumes that the company will continue in.operation for the foreseeable future and be able to
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of
business. : - :

There is doubt about the appropriateness of the use of the going concern ass_Ufnp_tion as the

company has incurred significant operating losses for the past five years, has experienced
negative cash flow from operations in 2005, and has a significant deﬁcit. . '

During fiscal 2005, the Company successfully restructured its ten'n toans and negctlated new

long-term debt.

The company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependant on its ability to generate
positive cash flow, rely on the continued financial assistance of certain debtholders, and
ultimately attain profitable operations. It cannot be determined at this time whether these
objectives will be realized. These financial statements do not reflect the adjustments or
reclassification, of assets and I|abmt1es which would be necessary if the Company wera unable
to continue as a going concern. -

3.  Significant accounting policies:

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Ca‘nadia_ﬁ generally accepted '

accounting principles and include the following significant accounting policies:.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized upon shipment of product at the gAross sales price charged to the
purchaser. Excise taxes, which are assessed on packaged goods, are recorded as reductions
to gross sales prices.

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. — December 31, 2005
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. FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements

Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

Inventory

1n\;rentory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is generally determined
on a first-in, first-out basis. . o :

Returnable glass

Retumable glass bottles are recorded at cost. The costs of bottles are amortized and charged
‘to operations over their estimated useful life of five years.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful fives of the assets. Amortization rates are as follows:

Asset Rate

l ' Production equipment 7 to 25 years
Furniture and fixtures 4to S years
Goodwill

Goodwill is the residual amount that resﬁlts when the purchase price of an acquired business
exceeds the sum of the amounts allocated to the assets acquired, less fiabilities assumed,
based on their fair values. :

Goodwill is not amortized and is tested for impairment annually using discounted cash flows.
Any impairment is charged to earnings. In 2004, there was an impairment of goodwill, which
resulted in the write-down of goodwill to nil.

Deferred lease payable

The Company received a period of rent deferral as'part of the building lease arrangement. The
company has accrued the value of this deferral and is amortizing it over the lease term.

Fort Gamy Brewing Company Lid. — December 31, 2005
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements

Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

3. Significant accounting pollcies‘(con;inued)

" Income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method of accounting for income -
“taxes. Under the asset and liability method, future tax assets and liabiiities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts: of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Future tax.
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantlvely enacted tax rates expected
to apply when the asset is realized or the liability setfied. The effect on future tax assets and
liabilites of a change in tax rates is recogmzed in nncome in the penod that subslantive

enactment or enactment occurs.

Per share amounts

Per share amounts are computed using the weighted average number of shares outstandmg
during the period.

Diluted per share amounts are computed using the treasury stock method; as if all the
common share equivalents such as options and warrants had been exercised at the
beginning of the reporting period, or the period of issue, and that the funds obtained thereby
were used to purchase common shares of the company-at the average trading price of the

coimmon shares during the penod.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date ,of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.. Actual results could differ.

from those estimates.

. Accounts rece:vable are stated after evaluation as to their collectlbmty and an appropriate
- allowance for doubtful accounts is provided where considered necessary. Provisions are
made for slow moving and obsolete inventory, and amortization is based on the useful lives

of property and equipment.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become
necessary they are reported in earnings in the periods in which they become known.

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. — December 31, 2005 .
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements

Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

4. Inventory

2005 2004
Raw materials $ 170,150 $ 122,189
Work in process 43,406 39,945
Finished goods 39,899 . 52,511
$ 253,455 $ 214645
5. Retumable glass:
2005 2004
New glass $ - 382438 $ 382438
Accumulated amortization ) (382,438) (336,541)
$ — $- 45897
6. Property and equipment
’ Accumulated 2005 Net . 2004 Net
2005 Cost amortization ‘book value book value
Furniture and fixtures 3 45,697 $ 43,771 $ 1,928 $ -
Production equipment 4,263,232 1,288,210 2,975,022 " 3,102,690
Leasehold improvements 1,035,234 653,931 381,303 484,826
$ 5,344,163 $ 3,587,516

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. - December 31, 2005
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD

Notes to Financial Statements

Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

7. Long-term debt:

2005 ‘ 2004

Business Development Bank of Canada loan.
Bearing interest at B8.8%, payable in monthly
instaliments of $18,750 plus interest, due
November 2009, The loan is secured by ‘security
interests in all of the company's present and future
acquired  personal - property subject (o
postponement and subordination to the security
held by the Bank of Nova Scotia with respect to
the line of credit (Note 8).

. $ 1331250 0§ - -

. Term loan, repaid in current year - 610,000
Term loan, repaid in current year - : - 589,731
1,331,250 1,199,731

225,000 ©1,199,731

Less: current portion

51106250 5§ =

Principal repayments on long-term debt in each of the next four years are estimated as foliows:

2006
2007
2008
2009

8. Bank Indebtedness

225,000
225,000
225,000
431,250

At December 31, 2005 the company had available lines of credit with the Bank of Nova Scotla
totaling $150,000, none of which were drawn. This line of credit is secured by a general

security agreement over all property and undertaking.

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. — December 31, 2005




FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

9. Preferred shares

The company has issued 700,000 class A non-voting, non-convertible preferred shares paying a
cumulative annual dividend of 4%. The preferred shares are retractable at the option of the holder
on or after May 15, 2009 upon payment of $1.25 per share and any accrued dividends. In
accordance with Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants standards regarding full disclosure ‘
of financial instruments, all Class A preferred shares, due to the refraction feature, have been
classified as a llabllrty on the balance sheet.

2005 : 2004 -
Authorized
Unlimited number of class A preferred shares
{par vaiue $1)
Issued
Class A preferred shares 700,000 (2004 — 700,000) 3 700,000 $ 700,000
Accrued dividends and refraction premiums 150,668 . 83,345

$ 850,668 $ 793,345

As of December 31, 2005, there are $73,797 (2004 - $45,721) of accrued dividends and $76,871
{2004 - $47,624) of accrued retraction premium, resulting in the preferred shares having a
carrying value of $850,668 (2004 - $793,345).

10. Capital stock

2005 : ._2004

Authorized:
.Common shares
An unlimited number of common shares for unfimited
consideration
Issued
Common shares 4,976,698
(2004 — 4,976,698) $ 6,929,251. 6,929,251
$ 6929251 6,929,251

Fort Gamry Brewing Company Ltd. - December 31, 2005
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

Years ended December 31, 27005 and 2004 -

11.

Income taxes

The income tax recovery differs from the - amotint that would be computed by applying the’

applicable federal and provincial statutory rates to income before the tax recovery. The reasons -

for the differences are as follows:

2005 2004

Income tax provision computed at statutory rates at 37.12% $(157,000) © $(258,000)
(2004-37.62%) ' | ' '
Change in income tax provision resulhng from permanent - '
differences - 2,000 247,000 .
[Income tax recovery. P S (155,000). {41,000)
Valuation allowance S 185000 41,000
Net income tax expense ' : 5 - 3 -

The tax effects of the loss carry-forwards and other than permanent differences that gwe rise to

_future assets and future tax liabilities at December 31, 2005 and December 31 _2004 are

presented below:

2005 . 2004

Future tax-assets:

Net operating loss carry-forwards $1,021,000 $1,009,000
Amounts deducted for accounting purposes in excess ' ‘ -

of amounts claimed fortax 381,000 . 255000
Total gross future tax assets _ 7 _ 1,402,000 1',264,0110

Net future tax assets i- - $ = .

Fort-Garry Brewing Company Ltd. — December 31, 2005
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.' FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

11. Income taxes (continued)

At December 31, 2(505, the company has the following amounts available to reduce future years
income for tax purposes: : "

Non-capital loss carried forward for tax purposes expiring:

2007 $ 337,000
2008 _ o _ 1,413,000
-2009 ' _ 805,000
2010 163,000
2015 _ . 71,000

$ 2,789,000

. In addition, the company has an investment tax credit of $384,000, the benefit of which has not

been reflected in these financial statements. The investment tax credits will expire between 2006
and 2015. ’

42. Per share amounts

2005 2004
Net loss applicable to common shares $ (421,758) $ (685,113)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 4,976,698 4,976,698

Basic and diluted loss per share for the year , $ (0.08) 3 {0.14)

13. Commitments

The company has leased office and warehouse space and equipment for varying perio&s _
expiring on or before 2009. The minimum future lease payments for the next four years are as

follows:

2008 - $ 182 578
2007 182578
2008 ) 182,578
2009 48,945

. 3 596,679

Fon Garnry Brewing Company Ltd. — December 31, 2005
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' FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

14,

15.

16.

17.

Contingent llability

A letter of credit in the amount of $55.000 has been issued in favour of the Mihistér of National -

Revenue of Canada.

Financlal Instruments

Falr value of financial Instruments

The carrying amount of'cas'h, accounts receivable, and accounts payable gnd accrued liabilities

" approximates their fair value due to the short-term maturities of these items.

The carrying of long-term debt approximates its fair value as the terms and c‘ondi_tibns' of the
borrowing arrangement are comparable to current market terms and conditions for similar
items.

It is not practicablé to determine the fair value of the preferred shares due to the uﬁderlying
terms and conditions. ‘

Credit concentration

Financial instruments that potentially subject the company to concentrations of credit risk

consist primarily of trade accounts receivable. Sales are primarily to Manitoba Liquor Control -

Commission; however, credit exposure is limited due to the nature of this customer.

Segment information

Management has determined lh-at the company operates in a single industry segment, which

involves the production and sale of beer. All of the operations, assets, sales‘ revenues and
employees are in Canada. For the period ended December 31, 2005, approximately 87% of
sales were made to the Manitoba Liquor Control Commission.

Comparative flgures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the financial statement
presentation adopted in the current year. '

Fort Gamy Brewing Company Ltd. — December 31, 2005
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KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants

Suite 2000 - One Lombard Place Telephone (204) 957-1770

Winnipeg MB R3B 0X3 Telefax (204) 957-0808

Canada www.kping.ca
AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholders of Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd.

Woe have audited the balance sheets of Fort Gamy Brewing Company Ltd. as at December 31, 2004
and December 31, 2003 and the statements of operations and deficit and cash flows for the years
then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statemerits based on our audits.

Woe conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures In the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the company as at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the years then ended In accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.

_ /‘///? PP
Chartered Accountants
Winnipeg, Canada

February 11, 2005

KPMG e, o Canadisn cancd himised Kabiliny parocrstic catablished wnder the bt of Ontacio,
i e Canacliun awenber Firm of PG 1 wonal, u Swizs ; "

00131




FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Balance Shests

December 31, 2004 and 2003

2004 2003
Assels

Curmrent assets: ]
Cash ' $ 231,602 $ 204,064
Accounts receivable 141,743 126,481
Inventory {nota 5) 214,645 231,347
Retumable glass (note 6) 45,897 116,964
Prepaid expenses 40,899 __ 47,268
i 674,786 726,124
Capital assets (note 7) : : 3,587,516 3,022,314
Goodwill (note 3) ' - 531,656

$ 4,262,302 $ 5,180,094

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 373418 $ 434,585
Current portion of deferred leasa payable 14,414 14,414
Current portion of long-term debt (note 8) 1,199,731 1,414,183
1,687,563 1,863,152
Deferred lease payable 55,252 69,667
Preferred shares {note 9) - 793,345 736,022
Sharehclders’ equity:
Capital stock (note 10) 6,929,251 6,929,251
Contributed surpius {note 10} 22,444 22,444
Deficit (5,125,553) (4,440,442)
1,826,142 2,511,253

Basis of prasentation (note 2)
Commitments (note 13)
Contingent liability (rote 14)

$ 4,262 302 $ 5,180,094

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Statements of Operations and Deficit

Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

2004 2003
Sales $ 3035817 $ 2,626,455
Excise duty (460,326) (394,253)
2,575,449 2,232,202
Cost of sales 1,314 924 1,206,538
Gross profit 1,260,567 1,025,664
Selling, general and administration 887,656 820,867
Other income {28,039} (18,210)
Incomne before the undemoted 398,950 223,007
Interest on long-term debt 103,213 279,204
Amortization 391,869 374,235
Loss on sale of equipment , - 31,708
Dividends and retraction premium accrued on
preferred shares 57,323 36,022
552,405 721,169
Loss before the undemoted (153,455) (498,162)
Write-down of goodwill 531,656 -—
Loss for the year (685,111) {498,162)
Deficit, beginning of year (4,440,442) (3,942,280)
Deficit, end of year $ (5,125,553) $ (4,440,442)
LLoss per share - basic and diluted (note 12) $ (0.14) $ (0.14}
See accompanying notes to financia) statements.
2
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

2004 2003

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities: : : T :
Loss for the year ‘$ (685111)  $ (498,162)
itemns not involving cash: - o ‘

Amortization . 409,394 393,308

Loss on'sale of equipment T 31,708
Write-down of goodwill 531,656 -

Accrued interest included in Jong-term debt - 165,674

Change in deferred lease payable - (14,415} 25,860

Change in non-cash operating working cap:tal '

Accounts receivable _ (15,262) 7,977

. Inventory 16,702 (71,312)

Prepaid expenses 6,369 - (7,654)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities {61,137) {108,589)

' . . 188,196 (62,190)

Financing activities: .
Increase in long-term debt’ . - 1,100,000
Payment of long-term debt : (214,452). (811,081)
Accrued dividends and retraction prem:um on -

preferred shares - 57,323 36,022
{157,129) 324,941
Investing activities:
Cash on amalgamation (note 3} - . 267,100
Additions to capital assets. (3,529) . (33,507)
Proceeds on sale of equipment - - 149,798 -
- Redemption of shares, - (10,000)
Transaction costs — (293 932)
C {3,529) 79,4509
Increase in cash position 27,538 342,210
Cash (bank indebtedness), beginning of year 204,064 - (138,146)
Cash, end of year - $ 231,602 $ 204,084
Supplementary cash flow information: -
Interest paid 103,306

$

$ 113,530

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements

. Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

General:

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. {the “company” or "FGB”) is a Manitoba regional brewer and
distributor of premium beers and quality Manitoba lagers. The company currently distributes

beer primarily in Manitoba. The company’s COmmon shares are listed on the TSX Venture

Exchange under the trading symbol FGA.

Basis of presentation:

These financial statements have been prepared on é going concemn basis in accordance with .

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. . The going concern basis of presentation
assumes that the company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.

" There is doubt about the appropriateness of the use of the going concern assumptions because

the company experienced significant losses in 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, has experienced
negative cash flow from operations in years pnor to 2004, has a significant deficit and working

capital deﬁmency

During fiscal 2003, the company amalgamated with another brewery (note 3), converted certain

- debt into capital stock and restructured other debt.

The ability of the company to continue as a going concern and to realize the carrying value of its
- assets and discharge its liabilities when due is dependent on the company renegotiating debt
which is due in 2005, maintaining positive cash flow from operations and the continuing support

of certain shareholders. There is no certainty that these and other strategies will be sufficient to

permit the company to continue beyond December 31, 2005.

The financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going
‘concem assumption were not appropriate.. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for
these financial statements, then adjustments would be necessary in the carrying value of assets
and liabilities, the reported revenues and expenses, and the balance sheet classifications used.

Fort Garry Brewing Company Lid. - December 31, 2004

€0135




FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

I3

3. Statutory amalgamation:

On May 15, 2003, - FGB and Two Rivers Brewery ("TRB'-) consummated a statutory
amalgamation. The statutory amalgamation of FGB and TRB was accounted for by the
purchase method of accounting with FGB being considered the aoquirer.. _

The purchase price for TRB was allocated to the fair value of assets acqunred and liabilities
assumed at the time of the amafgamatlon as follows:

Currentassets S $ .490,329
Capital assets : C 425774
Other assets 3,430
919,533
Current liabiltes .~~~ L . . 304560
Long-term debt : ‘ ) © 448,629
. ' ' - 751,189
168,344
Excess of consideration given over éssigned values of
net assets acquired, being goodwill . - 531,656
Consideration given ~§ 700,000

The consideration given was 45 percent of the common shares of the amalgamated entity.

4, Significant accounting policies:
{a) Revenue recogniﬁon:

Revenue is recognized upon shipment of product at the gross sales price charged to the
purchaser. Excise taxes, which are assessed on packaged goods,. are recorded as
reductions to gross sales prices. :

(b) Inventory:

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net real:zable value. Cost is generally
determined on a first-in, first-out basis.

GO136




'

FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

4.  Significant accounting policies {continued):

{c)

Returnable glass:

Retumable glass bottles are recorded at cost. The costs of bottles are amortlzed and_

charged to operations over their esbmated useful life of five years.

(d) Capital assets:

(e)

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis.over
the estimated useful lives of the assets. Amortization rates are as follows:

Asset — : , - Rate
Production equipment 7 years to 25 years
Furniture and fixtures ‘ : ) 4 years to 5years -

.Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Goodwill:

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired '

business exceeds the sum of the amounts allocated to the assets acquired, less liabilities
assumed, based on their fair values.

Goodwill is not.amortized and is tested for impairment annually in the third quarter, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.
Goodwill is tested for impairment using discounted cash flows. Any impairment is charged

1o earnings. In 2004, there was an lmpamnent of goodwill, which resulted in the write-down

of goodwill to nil.
Deférred lease payable: .

The company received a period of rent deferral as part of the building lease arrangement.
The company has accrued the value of this deferral and is amortizing it over the lease term.

Fort Garry Brewing Company Litd. - December 31, 2004




FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

Years.ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

- 4,

Significant accounting policies (continued):

(g) l'ncom_e taxes:

(hy

0]

Inoome taxes are accounted for -under the asset and- liability method of accounting for

income taxes. Under the asset and liability method, future tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
staternent carrying amounts of existing-assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using.enacted or substantively enacted tax
rates expected to apply-when the asset is reafized or the liability settied. The effect on
future tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income-in the period
that substantive enactment or enactment occurs. ' :

Per share amounts:

Per share amounts are computéd using the weighted average number of shares'

outstanding during the period. Diluted per share amounts are computed using the treasury
stock method, as if all the common share equivalents such as options and warmrants had
been exercised at the beginni'ng of the repoiting period or the period .of issue, and that the
funds obtained thereby were used to purchase common shares of the' company at the
average trading pnce of the common shares during the period.

Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make -estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported

‘amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from those

estimates.
Inventory:
2004 2003
Raw materials $ 122,189 $ 140,397
Work in process - 39,045 ' 48,042
Finished goods 52,511, 42,908

$ 214645 $ 231,347
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- FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

6. Returnable glass:

2004 2003
Newglass ) $ 382438 . 382,438
© Accumulated amortization - 336,541 265,474
‘ $ 45807 116,564
7. - Capital assets:

' — A , Accumulated "Net book
2004 : Cost amortization value

Fumniture and fixtures 3 43,289 3 43,289 =
Production equipment . : 4,157,028 -1,054,338 3,102,690
Leasehold improvements ’ 1,035,233 550,407 484,826
A $ 5,235,550 $ 1,648,034 3,587,516
: ' Accumulated Net book
2003 ) Cost amortization value
" Furniture and fixtures $ 43200 $ 38,440 : 4,850
Production equipment ’ 4,153,497 824,382 3,329,115
Leasehold improvements S : 1,035,234 446,885 588,349
$ 5232021 $ 1,309,707 . 3,922,314

Fort Garry Brewing Company Lid. — December 31, 2004




FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

8. Long-temi debt:

| _ 2004 2003
Term loan® - o . ©$ 589731, . $ 804,183
Term loan ® . 610,000 610,000
1,198,731 1,414,183
Current portion 1,199,731 1,414,183
$ . - 5 . -
Term loans:

(aj The interest rate is a floating rate of bank prime plus 3.0% and is payable monthly. Monthly

principal payments are $17,871 until May 2005 at which time all outstanding interest and
principal are due. The loan is secured by a general security agreement with a security
interest over all brewing and bottling equipment with appropriate insurance coverage loss
payable to the lender.

(b) Interest is a floating rate of bank prime plus 2.5% and is payable mon'thly.. The loan is
repayable in full on or before. May 31, 2005. The loan is secured by a guarantee of a
shareholder, for which the company paid a fee of $14,031 (2003 - $7,153).

In 2004 and 2003, the term loans are classified as current liabilities as they are repayable in full '

- within the following year.
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

9. Preferred shares:

Number $

Authorized:
An unlimited number of class A non-convertible,
non-voting preferred shares issuable at $1 -
per share and paying a cumulative annual
dividend of 4%
Issued: - ' _ .
Balance December 31, 2004 ' , 700,000 $ 700,000

Outstanding at May 15, 2003 were $2.626.464 of subordinated debentures and capitalized

interest. On May 15, 2003, all subordinated debentures and capitalized interest was converted -

into 700,000 cumulative 4 percent preferred shares and the balance to common shares (note
10). ' '

The preferred shares will be retractable at the option of the.holder on the sixth anniversary of
the issuance of the share, being May 15, 2009, upon payment of $1.25 per share and upon

_pay_rnent of any accrued dividends. As required by generally accepted accounting principles,
due to the retraction feature, these preferred shares are accounted for as a liabllity on the

balance sheet

As of December 31, 2004, there are $45,721 (2003 - $17, 845) of accrued dividends and
$47,624 (2003 - 518 377) of accrued retraction premium, resulting in the preferred shares
having a carrying value of $793,345 (2003 - _$736.022).

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. — December 31, 2004
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

10.  Capital stock:

2004

. ) 2003
Number . - $ Number 3
Authorized:
An unlimited number of
common shares for unlimited
consideration
Issued: .
Opemng balanoe December 31_4 976,608 - $6,929,251 5,900,686 34,629,163
Conversion of shares upon . _
_ amalgamation - - 1,375,000 4,629,163
Shares issued to lender upon - : : .
" conversion of loans {note 9) - - 1,375,000 1,926,464
Shares issued as consideration ’ ’ -
to Two Rivers Brewery shareholders : .
upon amalgamation (note 3) - - 2,250,000 700,000
Costs associated with amalgamation— _ - - (293,932}
Redemption of common shares  — T e (23,302) {32,444)
Ending balance December 31 4,976,698 $6,929,2561 4,976,698 $6,929,251

During 2003, 23,302 common shares were 'redeeméd for cash consideration of $1b 000. The
difference between the average cost of such shares bemg $32 444, and the cash paid has

been credited to contributed surplus.

In connection with the company's Initial Public Offering, options were granted to directors and a

' company advisor.

2004 . 2003
Weighted : Welghted
_ ‘average average
. Shares exercise price Shares exercise price
Outstanding, beginning of .

year _ = 3 - 315,500 ] 1.15
Forfeited : - - {237,500} 1.20
Cancelled on amalgamation - - {78,000y 99

Outstanding, end of year - 3 - — 3 -

€C0142




. FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statemgnts {continued)

Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

0. Capital stock (continued):

Warrants:
2004 2003
Weighted - Weighted
i average ' average
Shares __exercise price Shares exercise price
Outstanding, beginning of : ' ' -
year - % = 1,000,000 $ 020
Cancelled on amalgamation - - ' {1,000,000) _ -
Outstanding. end of year - $ - —~ 3 -

. As a resuit of the amalgamation (note 3}, all stock optlons and warrants were cancelled No
~ further stock ophons or warrants have been awarded. ’

. 11. Income taxes:

The income tax recovery differs 'from the amount that would be computed by applying the
applicable federal and provincial statutory rates to income before the tax recovery. The reasons
- for the differences are as follows:

2004 2003

Incorne tax provision computed at statutory rates

at 37.62% (2003 - 38. 1%) ' $ (258,000) $ (190,000)
Change in income tax provision resuiting from

permanent differences 217,000 31,000
Income tax recovery o _ (41,000) (159,000}
Valuation allowance : o 41,000 159,000
Net income tax expense . $ - $ —

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. - December 31, 2004

o143




FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

" 11. Income taxes (continued):

The tax effects of the loss carry-forwards and other than permanent differences that give nse to
future tax assets and future tax liabilities at Deoember 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 are

presented below:
2004 . - 2003
Fulure tax assets: S
Net operating loss wrry-forwards $ 1,009,000 $ 497,000
Amounts deducted for accounting purposes in ‘ '
excess of amounts claimed for tax 256,000 . 752,000
Total gross future tax assets . - . 1,264,000 1,249,000
Valuation allowance ' : | _ (1,264,000) (1,249,000)
Net future tax assets ] ‘ i : $ _ - - 8 _

At December 31, 2004, the company has the followmg amounts available to reduoe future
years' income for tax purposes -

Non-capital losses carnied forward for tax purposes expiring: )
' $ . 337,000

2007

2008 . 1,413,000

2009 805,000
- 2010 163,000
' $ 2,718,000

In addition, the company has an investment tax credit of $404,000, the benefit of which has not
been reflected in these financial statements. .The investment tax credits will expire between

2005 and 2007.
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

" 42. Per share amounts:

2004 2003
Net loss applicable to common shares’ ' $ 685111. $ 498,162 ,
Weighted average shares for the year ) 4,976,698 3,654,431
Basic and diluted loss per share for the year - (0.14) - $ (0.14)

The Weighted -average shares for 2093 reflect the amalgamated shares is;suéd to thé former
shareholders of TRB and the FGB lender for debt conversion only since the date of
amalgamation on May 15, 2003 and the amalgamated shares of FGB shareholders for the full

year.
13. Lease commitments:
The company has leased office and warehouse space and equipment for varying periods

expiring on or before 2009, The minimum future lease payments for the next five years and
thereatter are as follows: ) o : ‘

2005 ' - ' - 179,346

2006 ' _ , 178,178
2007 178,178
2008 178,178
2009 44 545
§ 758,425

14. Contingent liability:

A letter of credit in the amount of $55,000 has been issued in favour of the Minister of National
Revenue of Canada. oL

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. - December 31, 2004
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

15. Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities:

The fair value of the company’s cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued
liabilities approximates their carrying values.

The fair value of long-term debt approximates its carrying value as the terms and conditions of
the borrowing amangements are comparable to current market terms and conditions for similar

itemns.

it is not practicable to determine the fair value of the preferred shares due to the'undeﬂyin_g
terms and conditions.

16. Comparative figures:

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the ﬁnandal statement
presentation adopted in the current year.
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Balance Sheet

(Unaudited)
March 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006
2007 2006
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 142,886 $ 115,180
Accounts receivable 344,417 358,024
Inventory 248,837 212,058
Prepaid expenses 26,129 13,690
762,268 698,952
Capital Assets: 2,936,547 3,021,799
$ 3,698,815 $ 3,720,751
Liabilities and Shareholders Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 406,119 $ 353,895
Current portion of deferred lease payable 14,414 14,414
Current portion of long-term debt 225,000 225,000
645,533 593,309
Deferred lease payable 22,820 26,424
Long term loan §25,000 881,250
Preferred shares 922,243 907,991
Shareholders’ equity
Capital stock 6,929,251 6,929,251
Contributed surplus 22,444 22,444
Deficit {5,668,476) (5,639,918)
1,283,219 1,311,777
$ 3,698,815 $ 3,720,751

On behalf of thp Board:

Director

Director
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Staternents of Operations and Deficit

{unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31
2007 2006
REVENUE
Sales $ 701,580 $ 638,917
Excise duty (20,218) {104,022)
681,362 534,895
Cost of sales 362,353 322 898
Gross profit 319,009 211,997
Selling, general and administration 228,639 247,010
Other income (4,191}
228,639 242,819

Profit {L oss) before unﬂgmglﬁﬂ————-__———_.—-——s-ﬂu-&ﬂ

interest on long-term debt 19,422 28,903

Amortization 85,251 84,983
Dividends and retraction premium accrued on

preferred shares 14,252 14,252

118.925 128,138

Loss for the period (28,555) {158,960)

Deficit, beginning of period

(5,639,918) (5,547,311)

Deficit, end of period

{5,668,473) $ (5,706,272)

Loss per share — basic and diluted

(0.01) {0.03)
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Statements of Cash Flows

{unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31
2007 2006
Cash provided by (used In):
Operating activities:
Income (loss) for the period $ (28,555) §$ (158,960)
ltem not involving cash:
Amortization-Capital Assets 85,251 84,984
Change in deferred lease payment {3.604) (3,603)
' 53,091 (77,579)
Change in non-cash operating working capital
Accounts receivable 13,607 (27,359)
lnventory {36,779) (13,421}
Prepaid Expenses {12,439} (8,977)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 52224 104,333
69,704 {23,003)
Financing activities:
Payment of long-term debt (56,250) (56,250)
Accrued dividends & retraction premium
Preferred shares 14,252 14,252
{41,998) {41,998)
Investing Activities:
—_Additions to capital assots — —
Increase (decrease) in cash 27,706 (65,001)
Cash resources, Beginning of period 115,180 43,478
Cash resources, end of period 142,886 (21,524)

Note to the Interim Unaudited Financial Statements

These interim unaudited financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies and
methods of application consistent with those of prior periods. These interim unaudited financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements for the year ended

December 31, 2006 and the accompanying notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE “B”

RUSSELL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See attached.
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS GF LOSS AND DEFICIT
CONSOLIDATEb STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



LANCASTER & DAVID - DaviaE Lancarter CA

. Michael ). David, CA
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Rﬁssel] Breweries Inc.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Russell Breweries Inc. as at June 30, 2006 and 2005 and the consolidated
statements of loss and deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended June 30, 2006. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. . ’

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan
and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financiat statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the company
as at June 30, 2006 and 2005, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three year period
ended June 30, 2006, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

fs/ Lancaster & David
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
Vancouver, BC
October 24, 2006, except as to Note 13, which
is as of August 23, 2007
|
I
Svite 510, 701 west Georgia Streef, PO Box 10133, Vancouver, BC, Canada, V7Y 1Cé
Telephone: 604.717.5526 Facsimile: 604.717.5560 Email: admin@lancasteranddavid.ca
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30, June 30,
2006 2005
{Restated —
Note 13)
ASSETS

CURRENT
Cash $ - $ 84,045
Tem deposits 1,318 -
Accounts receivable 140,166 118,751
Due from related parties (Note 5) 17,437 51,560
Inventory {Note 6) 188,110 148,548
Prepaid expenses and deposits 20,243 19,206
367,274 422110
RESTRICTED CASH (Note 2 and 7) . 100,000 -
CAPITAL ASSETS (Note 8) 547,130 512,699
TRADEMARKS 1,800 . 1,800
DEFERRED COSTS 2,232 8,213
$ 1,018,436 $ 944822

LIABILITIES

CURRENT
Bank indebtedness (Note 7) $ 135439 §$ -
Demand bank loan { Note 9) 63,546 97,476
Accounts payable and accrued Kabilities 132,761 144,783
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) 50,004 50,004
Current portion of obligations under capital leases (Note 11) 29,860 27478
411,610 319,741
LONG TERM DEBT (Note 10) 121,900 167,737
OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES (Note 11) 120,662 106,126
654,172 593,604

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

SHARE CAPITAL (Note 3) 1,371,365 859,990
SHARE SUBSCRIPTIONS - 100,125
CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS 249,282 264,978
DERACIT {1,256,383) (873,875)
364,264 351,218

$ 1018436 § 944822

Approved on behalf of the Board:

/s/ Andrew Harris /s/ Brian Harris
Andrew Harris - Director Brian Harris ~ Director

The accompanying notes are an integral pan of these consolidated financial statements
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND DERCIT

Year
ended Year Year
June 30, ended ended
2006 June 30, June 30,
{Restated — 2005 2004
Note 13)
REVENUES

Gross Sales {Note 2) $ 139552 $ 853,648 $ 180,514

Less excise taxes and provincial mark-up (Note 2) 493,564 335,813 66,544
NET REVENUES 902,988 517,835 113,970
COST OF SALES (Note 2) 189,019 122,_325 39,961
GROSS MARGIN 713,969 395,510 74,009
EXPENSES :

Selling, general and administrative (Note 2) ) 928,026 935,476 166,908
LOSS BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED 214,057 539,566 92,899
OTHER [TEMS

Amortization 155,443 74,804 35,851

Interest income {4,761) - -

Interest on long term debt 17,769 10,050 4,121

‘ 168,451 84,854 39,972
NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR 382,508 624,820 132,871
DEFICIT, BEGINNING OF YEAR 873,875 249,055 116,184
DEFICIT, END OF YEAR $ 1,256,383 $§ 873875 $ 249,055
LOSS PER SHARE — Basic and diluled $ 0o4) % {0.10} $ (0.08)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 9,278,657 6,531,000 1,743,334

The accompanying noles are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year
ended Year Year
June 30, ended ended
2006 June 30, June 30,
(Restated - 2005 2004
Note 13)
CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED FOR):
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss for the year $ (382508) $ (624,820) $ (132,871)
Adjusted for non-cash items: .
Amontization 155,443 74,804 35,851
Stock compensation expenses {15,696) 264,978 -
Share capital issued for debt - 101,362 -
{242,761) 1(183,676) (97,020)
Net changes in non-cash working capital items:
Accounts receivable ) (21,415) (61,428) {43,555)
Prepaid expenses and deposits {1,038) (15,261) (2,348)
Inventory (55,497) {123,009) (13,039)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (12,022) 64,937 42,529
Advances payable - {73,501) 80,435
Due to and from related parties 34,124 {62,806) (37,636)
{298,609) (454,744) {70,634)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Deferred costs - {10,266} -
Purchase of capital assets (167,957) (363,850} {32,253}
Restricted cash {100,000} - -
Trademarks . - (1,800) -
Acquisition of subsidiary - - {35,995)
(267,957) {375,916) (68,248)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Share subscriptions (100,125) 100,125 -
Capital lease, net of repayments 16,917 120,105 13,499
Bank loan, net of repayments ) (79,767) 180,842 134,375
Share capital issued for cash 511,375 504,578 -
343,400 905,650 147,874
(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH {(218,166) 74,990 8,992
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 84,045 9,055 63
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ (134,121) 84,045 9,055
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CONSIST OF:
Cash (Bank Indebtedness) $ (135,439) 84,045 9,055
Term Deposits 1,318 - -
’ $  (134121) 84,045 9,055
Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Interest paid $ 17,769 10,050 4121

Income taxes paid $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The Company was incorporated under the British Columbia Company Act on March 23, 2000, and was originally formed with the
intent that i would be a capital poot company pursuant to the policies of the TSX Venture Exchange. The Company filed a prospectus
with the British Columbia Securities Commission however falled to complete the offering there under and tfailed to complete its
application 1o have its securities listed on the TSX Venture Exchange as a capital pool company. On January 4, 2004, the Company
entered the microbrewery industry with the acquisition of 100% of the issued and outstanding share capital of Russell Brewing
Company Ltd., a Vancouver-based microbrewery and for consolidation purposes, changed the date of the Company’s year-end to
Jung 30. During fiscal 2005, the cease trade order that was imposed on the Company in 2003 was lifted and the Company was
reactivated as a fully reporting public company in compliance and shortly thereafter commenced trading on the CNQ Stock
Exchange. In conjunction with this, the Company changed its name from New Market Ventures Inc. to Russell Breweries Inc and
completed a share split such that every one issued common share prior to split was exchanged into four post-split common
shares. On October 13, 2006, the Company commenced trading on the TSX Venture Exchange. Refer to note 3.

The Company has neither a history of eamings nor has it paid any dividends and it is unlikely to pay dividends or enjoy eamings in the
immediate or foreseeable future. Al June 30, 2006, the Company has working capital (deficit) of ($44,336) and has accumulated
losses from inception of $1,256,383. The continuation of the Company as a going concem is dependent upon the continued
financial support from its shareholders, the ability of the Company to obtain necessary equity financing to continue operations and
to generate sustainable significant revenue. There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to raise any equity financing or
generate profitable operations. These financial statements do not include any adjustments to the recoverability and classification
of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a
going concem. These factors raise substantial doubt regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concem.

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principals of Consolidation
Thesa financial statements have been prepared on a consolidated basis and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly
owned subsidiary, Russell Brewing Company Ltd. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of highly Hquid investments, which are readily convertible into cash with maturities of three months or less
when acquired. As at June 30, 2006, cash equivalents consisted of term deposits of $1,318.

Estimates, Assumptions and Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financlal statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual results
could differ materially from those estimates and assumptions. By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement
uncertainty and the effect on the financial statements of changes in such estimates in future periods could be significant.

Financlal Instruments

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts recetvable, inventory, prepaid expenses, demand bank loan, due to / trom
refated parlies, accounts payable and accrued liabilittes were estimated to approximate their camying values due to the immediate or
short term maturity of these financial instruments. 1t was not practicable to determine the fair value of the amounts due to / from the
related parties. The amounts due to / from the related parties are non-interest bearing and have no specific terms of repayment.
Management does not believe the Company is exposed to significant credit, foreign cumency or interest rate risks.

Loss per Share

Basic and diluted loss per share figures is calculated using the weighted monthly average number of shares outstanding during the
respective fiscal periods. Diluted loss per common share amounts refiects the effects of potentiafly dilutive securities, including stock
options, when dilutive, under the treasury stock method.
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2006, 2005, 2004

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED}

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized upon delivery of product to the customer, and when collection is reasonably assured. Net revenue represents
the gross revenues less applicable excise taxes and provincial mark-up.

Inventory
Raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods are valued at the lower of cast and net realizable value. Returnable containers are
recorded at cost and are amortized over their useful lives.

Deferred Financing Costs
Deferred financing costs represent the cost of issuance of long-term debt. Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over the
term of the debt,

Capital Assets

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and amortized on the declining balance basis at the following annual rates:
computers — 30%; equipment — 30%; office furniture and fixtures — 20%; vehicles — 30%; website ~ 30%. Leasehold improvements
are amortized on a straight line basis over 5 years.

Stock-based Compensation Plans

The Company grants stock options under a fixed stock option plan in accordance with the CNQ Stock Exchange policies (Note 4).
Any consideration paid by directors and employees on excise of stock options is credited to share capital. The Company follows the
recommendalions exercise of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants with respect to Section 3870 *Stock-Based
Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments”. The recommendations require the expensing of all stock-based compensation
awards using a fair value based method of accounting.

Income Taxes

The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Future income tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on temporary diiferences between the accounting and tax bases of existing assets and liabilities, and are
measured using the tax rates expected to apply when these differences reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded against any luture
tax asset if it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realized. The Company has non-capital losses for Canadian income tax
purposes of approximately $957,000 to be used to reduce future taxable income in Canada, which expires commencing in fiscal 2007.
In assessing the realizability of future tax assels, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
the future tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of future tax assets is dependent upon the generaticn of future
taxable income during the periods in which those temporary ditierences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled
reversal of future tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. The amount
of the future 1ax asset considered realizable could change materially in the near term based on future taxable income during the carry
forward period. A valuation allowance has been provided against all net future tax assets, as realization of such net assets is
uncerain.

Change in Significant Accounting Policies

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company made a change in accounting policies, on a retroactive basis, to reclass portions of gross
sales, net sales, cost of sales, selling costs and administration expense, interesl income, cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash to make the financial statement items more consistent and comparable to the industry standard. Under this policy, gross sales
are shown net of licensee discount, net sales are shown net of excise taxes and provincial mark-up and excludes licensee discount,
cost of sales include production labour and exclude provincial mark-up, selling general and administration expense excludes
production tabour and term deposits pledged against lines of credit are shown as restricted cash. Gross sales, net sales, cost of sales
and selling and general and administration costs for the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and the cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash balances as at June 30, 2006 have been reclassified in accordance with the recommendations of the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants with respect to Section 1506 "Accounting Changes™ and "Prior Period Adjustments”.
These changes do not change reported net loss or deficit of any prior period. ’

The reclassification reduces gross sales $189,730 for the year ended June 30, 2006 {2005 - §74,519; 2004 - $15,596); reduces net
sales by $433,633 (2005 - $259,219; 2004 - $47,038); reduces cost of goods sold by $279,976 for the year ended June 30, 2006
{2005 - $209,552; 2004 - $29,288) and reduces selling, general and administration expenses by $90,420 for the year ended June
30,2006 {2005 - $49,667; 2004 - $17,750). Selling, general and administration expenses were alsc increased by $4,761 and interest
income increased by $4,761. Cash and cash equivalents as at June 30, 2006 were reduced by $100,000 and restricted cash
increased by $100,000,
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
. JUNE 30, 2006, 2005, 2004

NOTE 3 - SHARE CAPITAL
The Company's authorized share capita! consists of 400,000,000 commen shares without par value.

Changes in the share capital of the Company during the year are shown below.

Common Shares Value
Issued at June 30, 2003 1,333,334 $ 100,000
Allotted for purchase of Russell Brewing Company Ltd. (Note 6) ' 205,000 154,050
Issued and allotted at June 30, 2004 (pre 4:1 forward split) 1 538334 % 254,050
After 4:1 forward split {(April 7, 2005) 6,153,336 254,050
Private Placements . ) 2,109,466 504,578
Shares issued in settlement of debt . 393,667 101,362
Issued at June 30, 2005 8,658,469 §$ 859,990
Private Placements 1,363,666 511,375
tssued at June 30, 2006 10,022,135 § 1,371,365

During the year ended June 30, 2005 the Company issued 2,109,466 common shares pursuant to a series of private placements for
net proceeds of $504,578 and 395,667 common shares pursuant o the settlement of debt of $101,362.

During the year ended June 30, 2006, the Company issued 1,363,666 common shares pursuant to a series of private placements for
net proceeds of $511,375.

As at June 30, 2006, the Company does not have any share purchase wasrants or any other contingent obligations to issue shares.

Under the requirements of the CNG stock exchange, 882,000 common shares of the Company outstanding capita! are held in escrow
for some directors of the Company and will be released as follows:

Number

of Shares

Date of Release - Released
November 2, 2006 220,500
May 2, 2007 220,500
November 2, 2007 220,500
May 2, 2008 220,500
882,000

In October 2006, the Company closed a brokered private placement of 5,000,000 units at a price of $0.30 per unit for total
proceeds of $1,500,000, net proceeds of $1,353,500. Each unit consists of one common share and one non-transferable common
share purchase wamrant. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase cne additional common share at $0.50 for a period of
two years from completion of the financing subject to an early expiry provision. Upon closing, the brokered agent received a cash
commission equal to 7.5% of the gross proceeds. The agent also received 1,000,000 common share purchase warrants
exercisable for a period of two years at a price of $0.30 per warrant, an administrative fee of $5,000, a corporate finance fee of
100,000 units, and was reimbursed of all reasonable expenses related to the private placement. All shares issued pursuant to this
financing, and shares issued pursuant to the exercise of the agent’'s warrants, are subject to a four month hold period.
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.

JUNE 30, 2006, 2005, 2004

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 4 - STOCK OPTION PLAN

The Board of Directors is authorized, pursuant to the Company’s Stock Option Plan to grant options to directors, officers,
consultants or employees acguiring up to 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares from time to time. The exercise
price will not be less than the market price of the common shares less applicable discounts permitted by the CNQ Stock
Exchange. The options may be granted under this plan exercisable over a period not exceeding five years.

In May 2005 the Company granted stock options to purchase up to 885,000 common shares exercisable at a price of $ 0.58 per
share en or before May 18, 2009. In April 2008, these stock options were cancelled and the Company granted 1,000,000 incentive
stock options exercisable at a price of $0.33 per share and an expiry date of April 13, 2011. On June 15, 2006, 250,000 of these

stock options were cancelled.

A summary of the changes in the Company’s common share purchase options is presented below:

Balance, beginning of year

Forfeited/Cancelled

Balance, end of year

At June 30, 20086, the following stock options are outstanding:

Stock Based Compensation

Exercise Price

June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005 June 30, 2004
Welghted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exerclse Exercise
Number Price Number Price  Number Price
885000 §$ 058 - § - - 8 -
1,000,000 0.33 885,000 0.58 - -
{1,135,000) 0.52 - - - -
750,000 $ 033 885000 § 058 - $ -

—Outstanding —Exercisable

Welghled Welghted

Average Average

Remalining Remalning

Life Life

Number (in years)

Number {in years)

750,000 4.79

750,000 4.79

The fair value of the options granted during the year was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following weighted average assumptions:

For the year ended June 30, 2006, the Company recognized stock based compensation (recovery) in the amount of $15,696
representing the issuance of 1,000,000 stock options at $332,376, less the cancellation of 1,135,000 stock options at $348,072
{2005-$264,978; 2004-Nil), which ts incleded with selling, general and administration expenses.

Dividend Yield

Weighted average fair value $0.33 $0.30

2006 2005 2004

il Nil Nil

Expected volatility 120% 95% N/A
Rick free rate of return 4.31% 3.6% N/A
Expected life of options Syears 2years N/A
N/A
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
. JUNE 30, 2006, 2005, 2004

NOTE 5 - DUE FROM/TO RELATED PARTIES

a) At June 30, 2006 directors or former directors of the Company were indebted to the Company for $17,437 (2005 - $51,560;
2004 - $16,602) from cash advances. These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no specific terms of
repayment. .

b) During the year ended June 30, 2006, former and cument directors provided cash advances of $nil (2005 - $nil; 2004 -
$27,848) for working capital purposes. These advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no specific terms of
repayment.

¢) During the year ended June 30, 20086, directors of the Company received management fees of $96,000 {2005 - $22,500; 2004
- $17,000), consulting fees and salaries of $48,000 (2005 - $64,500; 2004 - $nil).

d) During the year ended June 30, 2006, relatives of directors received compensation from the Company in the amount of
$104,120 (2005 - $60,295; 2004 - $nil). These transactions were recorded at exchange value, which was the amount ot
consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. '

@) During the year ended June 30, 2005, a director purchased 685,000 common shares in the Company through private
placements for $85,500 with the share prices ranging from $0.10 to $0.30 per share.

NOTE 6 — INVENTORY

June 30, June 30,
2006 2005
Finished goods and work-in-progress $ 25092 $ 17641
Raw materials 4,744 11,740
Returnable containers and small ware, net of amortization 158,274 119,167

$ 188,110 $ 148548

. NOTE 7 — RESTRICTED CASH

June 30, June 30,
2006 2005
Term deposits $ 100,000 $ -

$ 100,000 $ -

$100,000 term deposlt is security for a $100,000 business line of credit on the chequing account with TD Canada Trust with an
interest rate of 3.25% per annum maturing February 5, 2007.

NOTE 8 — CAPITAL ASSETS

June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005
Accumulated Net Book Accumulated Net Book
Cost Depreciation Value Cost Depreciation Value
Computers $ 15678 $ 8699 $ 6979 $ 13,146 § €493 $ 6653
Equipment 455,742 134,154 321,588 368,526 67,157 301,369
Leasehold improvements 24,737 2,544 22,193 3,718 960 2,758
Office turniture and fixtures 9,827 2,298 7,529 9,109 691 8418
Vehicles 288,250 102,885 185,365 234,151 42,733 191,418
Website 4,825 1,349 3,476 2,450 367 2,083

$ 799,059 $ 251929 § 547130 $ 631100 § 118401 $ 512,699

During the year ended June 30, 2006, the Company acquired vehicles under capital leases with costs of $47,065 (2005 -
. $165,921; 2004-$15,509), and recorded amortization of $60,152 (2005 - $14,124; 2004 - $1,505) on these vehicles.
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2006, 2005, 2004

NOTE 9 — DEMAND BANK LOAN

Consists of a Vancouver City Savings Credit Union loan with an original term of four years, repayable in monthly installments of
$3,125 plus interest at bank prime rate plus 3% per annum. The loan is secured by a Demand Promissory Note, a general
security agreement against all property of the Company, and a guarantee and postponement of claim of $37,500 by a director of
the Company. In accordance with the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Emerging Issues Committee EIC 122
“Balance Sheet Classification of Callable Debt Obligations Expected to Be Refinanced’, this obligation has been classified as a
current liability.

NOTE 10 - LONG TERM DEBT

Bank of Nova Scotia {*Scotia Bank’

In July 2004, the Company obtained a Canadian govermment guaranteed bank loan from Scotia Bank in the amount of $250,000.
To June 30, 2006 the Company has drawn down $242,743 against this amount. Repayment was interest only at bank prime rate
plus 2.5% per annum until December 31, 2004. Commencing January 2005, repayment was $4,167 per month plus interest at
the bank prime rate plus 2.5%, maturing in December, 2010. The loan is secured by a general securily agreement over present
property and property acquired in the future including all equipment, goods and inventory, property insurance showing loss payee
as the Scotia Bank, as well as a personal guarantes of a director in the amount of $62,500.

Loan amount as at June 30, 2006 $ 171,904
Current portion of fong term debt (50,004)
$ 121,900

Future principal repayments are as follows: fiscal year ending 2007 $ 50,004
fiscal year ending 2008 50,004

fiscal year ending 2009 50,004

fiscal year ending 2010 21,892

$ 171,904

NOTE 11 - OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES

The following is a schedule of the future minimum lease payments of the capital leases expiring on various dates, together with
the balance of the obligations.

Fiscal years ended:

2007 $ 48294
2008 89,928
2009 25,178
2010 24 396

187,796
Less amount representing interest ranging from 1% to 13% (37,274)
Present value of net minimum lease payments 150,522
Less current portion of capital lease payments (29,860)

$ 120,662
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
. JUNE 30, 2006, 2005, 2004

NOTE 12 - OTHER COMMITMENTS

The Company entered into an operating lease for its premises which expires January 2007, with an option to renew for a further
three years. In September 2004 the Company leased additional space under the same terms and conditions as the existing
space.

Operating
Leases

Fiscal year ended:

2007 o $ 19,321
$ 19,321

NOTE 13 - PRIOR YEAR AD.IUSTMENT

‘The prior period adjustment of $63,237 s to correct errors of recording sales and accounts receivable for the year ended June 30,
2006. The emrors caused overstatements of sales resulting in understatements of net loss and deficit for the year ended June 30,
2006, and overstatements of accounts receivable as of June 30, 2006. The deficit and accounts receivable as of June 30, 2006
and sales for the year ended June 30, 2006 have been restated in accordance with the recommendations of the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants with respect to Section 1508 "Accounting Changes" and "Prior Period Adjustments™,

NOTE 14 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

a}  On October 13, 2006, the Company closed a brokered private placement of 5,100,000 units at a price of $0.30 per unit for
net proceeds of $1,353,500, after issue costs. (Note 3).

. b)  On October 20, 2006, the Company issued 760,000 stock options exercisable for a period of 5 years at a price of $0.48 per
share.

¢} On October 20, 2006, the Company cancelled 10,000 stock options exercisable at $0.33 per share with an expiry date of
Apri! 13, 2011.

d)  On October 13, 2006, the Company commenced trading on the TSX Venture Exchange.
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 31,2007 and 2006
naudited - ared by Management

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND DEFICIT
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

NOTES TC CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

{Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivables (Note 13)
Due from related parties (Note 5)
Inventory (Note 6)
Prepaid expenses and deposits

RESTRICTED CASH (Note 2 and 7)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Note 8)
TRADEMARKS

DEFERRED COSTS

LIABILIMIES
CURRENT
Bank indebtedness
Demand bank loan (Note 9)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Due to related parties (Note 5)
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10)
Current portion of obligations under capital leases (Note 11)

LONG TERM DEBT (Note 10)

OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES (Note 11)
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

SHARE CAPITAL (Note 3)

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS
DEFICIT (Note 13)

APPROVED BY THE DIRECTORS:
/s/ Andrew Harris , Director
/s/ Brian Harris , Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

(Unaudited) (Audited and
Restated)
‘W-Mar-07 30-Jun-06

$ 976,366 $ 1,318
247,525 140,166
30,000 17.437
222,967 188,110
25,226 20,243
1,502,084 367,274
200,000 100,000
865,427 547,130
1,860 1,800
692 2,232
$ 2,570,003 $ 1,018,436
$ 202,902 $ 135,439
33,642 63,546
185,041 132,761
21,406 -
50,004 50,004
139,376 29 860
632,371 411,610
84,362 121,900
297,819 120,662
1,014,552 654,172
3,171,400 1,371,385
336,258 249,282
{1,952,207) (1,256,383)
1,555,451 364,264
$ 2,570,003 $ 1018436




RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND DEFICIT
For the three and nine months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006

REVENUE
Gross Sales (Note 2 and 13)
Less excise taxes and provincial mark-up (Note 2)

NET REVENUES
COST OF GOODS SOLD (Note 2)
GROSS MARGIN

EXPENSES
Selling, general and administrative (Note 2)

LOSS BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED
OTHER [TEMS

Amortization

Interest income

Interest on long term debt

NET LOSS FOR THE PERIOD
Deficit, beginning of the period
As previously reported

Prior period adjustment {(Note 13)
Adjusted balance of deficit, beginning of the period

Deficit, end of the period

Basic and diluted loss per share

{Unaudited - Prepared by Management)
Three months ended Nine months ended

31-Mar-07 31-Mar-06 31-Mar-07 31-Mar-06

{Restated) (Restated)
$ 441512 $ 294193 $ 1,177,425 $ 1005477
102,543 111,706 313,340 379,744
338,969 182,487 864,085 625,733
98,854 49,739 234,157 137,572
240115 132,748 629,928 488,161
362,104 233,265 1,196,743 622,647
121,989 100,517 566,815 134,486
40,643 38,642 112,268 109,270
{7,984) - (17,018) -
15,420 3,711 33,759 12,773
48,079 42,353 129,009 122,043
170,068 142,870 695,824 256,529
1,782,139 969,092 1,193,146 873,875
- 18,443 63,237 -
1,782,139 987,535 1,256,383 873,875
$ 1,852,207 $ 1,130,405 $ 1,952,207 $ 1,130,404
$ 0.01 $ 0.01 $ 0.05 3 0.03
15,122,135 9,946,376 13,186,369 8,976,035

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED FOR):

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss for the pericd
Adjusted for non-cash items:
Amortization
Stock-based compensation expenses

Changes in non-cash working capital items:

Accounts receivable

Prepald expenses and deposits
Inventory

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to and from related parties {net)

INVESTING ACTIVITES
Purchase of property and equipment

Restricted cash

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Bank loan, net of repayments
Capital lease, net of repayments
Demand loan repayments
Share capital issued for cash
Share subscriptions

Increase (decrease} in cash during the period
Cash, beginning of period
Cash and term deposits, end of period

Cash and cash equiavelents consist of
Cash (bank indebtedness)
Term deposits

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash pald for:
Interest

income Taxes

RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the three and nine months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006

{Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

Three months ended

Nine months ended

{Restated) {Restated)
$ (170,088) $ (142,870) $ (695,824) $ (256,530)
40,643 38,642 112,268 109,270
- - 86,976 -
(129,425) (104,228) (496,580) (147,260)
{92,509) 30,079 {107,359) (18,716)
{10,645) ({5.355) (4,983) (15,588)
{30,830) (31,327) (49,130) (39,649)
27,432 34,424 52,280 (430)
70,544 4,000 8,843 (4.008)
(165,433) (72,407) (596,929} (225,651)
(246,161) (94,697) (414,752) (126,974)
(100,000) (100,000) (100,000} (100,000)
{346,161) {194,697) (514,752) (226,974)
(8,334) (8,334) (37,538) (33,336)
191,476 17,105 286,673 6,802
(9,375) (8,815) (29,904) (26,991)
441,535 511,375 1,800,035 511,375
- (511,375) - (100,125)
615,302 (44) 2,019,266 357,725
103,708 (267,148) - 907,585 (94,900)
669,756 256,293 (134,121) 84,045
$ 773,464 $ (10,855) $ 773464 & {10,855)
(202,902) {110,855) (202,902} (110,855)
976,366 100,000 976,366 100,000
$ 773,464 $ (10,855) $ 773464 % {10,855)
$ 15420 3 3,711 $ 33,759 $ 12,773
$ - $ - $ - $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
. NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2007

{Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

Note 1 Interim Financial Statements
While the information presented in these interim consolidated financial statements is unaudited, it

includes all adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary to present fairfly the
financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim period presented. These interim
financial statements follow the same accounting policies and methods of their application as the
Company's June 30, 2008 financial statements. These interim financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the Company’s annual June 30, 2006 audited financial statements.

Note 2  Change in Significant Accounting Policies
Effective January 1, 2007, the Company made a change in accounting policies, on a retroactive basis,
to reclass portions of gross sales, net sales, cost of sales, selling costs and administration expense,
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash to make the financlal statement items more consistent
and comparable to the industry standard. Under this policy, gross sales are shown net of licensee
discount, net sales are shown net of excise taxes and provincial mark-up and excludes licensee
discount, cost of sales include production labour and exclude provincial mark-up, selling general and
administration expense excludes production labour and term deposits pledged against lines of credit
are shown as restricted cash. Gross sales, net sales, cost of sales and selling and general and
administration costs for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and the nine months ended March 31,
2006 and the cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash balances as at June 30, 2006 have been
restated in accordance with the recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
with respect to Section 1506 "Accounting Changes” and "Prior Period Adjustments™. These changes do
. not change reported net loss or deficit of any prior period.

The restatement reduces gross sales $29,399 for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and by
$93,777 for the nine months ended March 31, 2006; reduces net sales by $69,512 for the three months
ended March 31, 2006 and by $271,296 for the nine months ended March 31, 2006; reduces cost of
goods sold by $45,751 for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and by $206,131 for the nine
months ended March 31, 2006; and reduces selling general and administration expenses by $23,761 for
the three months ended March 31, 2006 and by $65,165 for the nine months ended March 31, 2006.
Cash and cash equivalents as at June 30, 2006 were reduced by $100,000 and restricted cash
increased by $100,000.
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Note 3

RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.

NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 31, 2007

{Unaudited - Prepared by Manaaement)
Share Capital
a) Authorized
400,000,000 common shares, without par value
b) lssued 31-Mar-07 31-Mar-06
Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balance, beginning 10,022,135 $ 1,371,365 1,538,334 $ 254,050
Forward split (4:1) - - 4,615,002 -
For debt - - 395,667 101,362
For cash:
Private placement 5,000,000 1,500,000 2,109,466 504,578
Private placement - - 1,363,666 511,375
Finder's fee - {(112,500) - -
Share issue costs 100,000 (26,000) - -
Exercise of warrants 983,070 441,535 - -
Balance, ending 16,105,205 $ 3,171,400 10,022,135 $ 1,371,365

On October 23, 2008, the Company commenced trading on the TSX Venture Exchange.

c) Escrow Shares

At March 31, 2007, 661,500 (2006: 1,102,500) common shares of the Company’s outstanding
capital are held in escrow for some directors of the Company and will be released as follows:

Date of Release Shares

May 2, 2007 220,500
November 2, 2007 220,500
May 2, 2008 220,500

661,500

On November 18, 2006, 220,500 escrow shares were released.

d) Private Placement

In October 2006, the Company closed a brokered private placement of 5,000,000 units at a price of
$0.30 per unit for total proceeds of $1,500,000, net proceeds of $1,358,500. Each unil consists of
one common share and one non-transferable common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant
entitles the holder to purchase one additional common share at $0.50 for a period of two years from
completion of the financing subject to an eary expiry provision. Upon closing, the brokered agent
received a cash commission equal to 7.5% of the gross proceeds. The agent also received
1,000,000 common share purchase warrants exercisable for a period of two years at a price of
$0.30 per unit, an administrative fee of $5,000, a corporate finance fee of 100,000 units, and was
reimbursed of all reasonable expenses related to the private placement. All shares issued pursuant
to this financing, and shares issued pursuant to the exercise of the agent's warrants, are subject to

a four month hold period.
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2007

{Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

. RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.

Note 3  Share Capital - (contd)

e) Share Purchase Warrants
At March 31, 2007, the following share purchase warrants were outstanding entitling the holders
the right to purchase one common share for each warrant held:

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Warrants Price Expiry Date
4,366,930 $ 0.500 17-Cct-08
750,000 $ 0.300 17-Oct-08
5,116,930 $ 0.471

Note 4  Stock Option Plan ,
The Board of Directors is authorized, pursuant to the Company’s Stock Option Plan to grant options to
directors, officers, consultants or employees acquiring up to 10% of the issued and outstanding
common shares from time to time. The exercise price will not be less than the market price of the
common shares less applicable discounts permitted by the TSX Venture Exchange. The options may
be granted under this plan exercisable over a period not exceeding five years.

In May 2005 the Company granted stock options to purchase up to 885,000 common shares
exercisable at a price of $ 0.58 per share on or before May 18, 2009. In April 20086, these stock options
were cancelled and the Company granted 1,000,000 incentive stock options exercisable at a price of

. $0.33 per share and an expiry date of April 13, 2011. On June 15, 2006, 250,000 of these stock options
were cancelled.

On October 20, 2008, the Company issued 760,000 stock options exercisable for a period of 5 years at
a price of $0.48 per share. Meanwhile, the Company cancelled 10,000 stock options exercisable at
$0.33 per share with an expiry date of Aprit 13, 2011.

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plan as of March 31, 2007 and March 31, 2006
and changes during the periods then ended is presented below:

31-Mar-07 31-Mar-06

Woeighted Weighted

Average Average

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding, beginning balance 750,000 $ 0.33 885,000 3 0.58

Granted 760,000 0.48 - -

| Exercised - - - -

. Forfeited/Cancelled (10,000) 0.33 - -

' Outstanding, ending balance 1,500,000 % 0.41 885,000 % 0.58

| At March 31, 2007, 1,500,000 share purchase options were outstanding enlitling the holders thereof the
right to purchase one commaon share for each option held as follows:

Exercise
Options Price Expiry Date
. 740,000 $ 0.33 13-Apr-11

760,000 8 0.48 20-Oct-11
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2007
Note 4  Stock Option Plan - (cont'd)

The fair values of the opflions granted during the nine months ended March 31, 2007 and the nine
months ended March 31, 2006 were estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing mode! with the following weighted average assumptions:

Nine Months Nine Months

Ended Ended
31-Mar-07 31-Mar-06
Risk-free interest rate 4.50% 4.31%
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Expected stock price volatility 15% 120%
Expected life of options 5 years 5 years
Weighted average fair value per share $0.12 $0.33

For the nine months ended March 31, 2007, the Company recognized stock based compensation in the
amount of $86,975 representing the issuance of 760,000 stock options at $90,300, less the cancellation
of 10,000 stock options at $3,324.

Note 5 Due fromfto Related Parties

a) As at March 31, 2007 a director of the Company was indebted to the Company for $30,000 (June
30, 2006: nil) from cash advances bearing interest at 8% per annum, unsecured, without specific
terms of repayment. Subsequent to March 31, 2007, this advance was repaid

b) During the nine months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company incurred the following
charges with directors of the Company and relatives of directors:

31-Mar-07 31-Mar-06
Compensation paid to refatives of directors $ 86,540 $ 72,093
Consulting fees and salfaries paid to directors 40,000 -
Management fees paid to directors 141,750 55,500

$ 268,290 $ 127593

The above transactions were recorded at exchange value, which was the amount of consideration
established and agreed to by the related parties.

¢) In October 20086, a director purchased 250,000 common shares in the Company through a private

placement for $75,000.
Note 6  |nventory
31-Mar-07 30-Jun-06
Finished goods and work-in-progress $ 19224 $ 25092
Raw matenials 5,527 4,744
Promotional materials 35,771 -
Returnable containers and small ware, net of amortization 162,445 158,274

$ 222967 $ 188,110

Note 7  Restricted Cash
31-Mar-07 30-Jun-06

Term deposits $ 200,000 $ 100,000

$100,000 of the term deposils is security for a $100,000 bank line of credit and $100,000 is
security for a capital lease.
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Note 8

Note 9

Note 10

RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2007

{Unaudited - Prepared by Management)
Property. Plant and Equipment ‘
31-Mar-07 30-Jun-06
Cost Acc. Depr. Net Net
Computers : $ 16,117 $ 10,150 $ 5,967 $ 6,979
Equipment 733,689 178,718 554 971 321,588
Leasehold improvements 30,029 6,321 23,708 22,193
Office fumniture and fixtures 9,827 3,316 6,511 7,529
Vehicles 419,322 147,746 271,576 185,365
Website 4,825 2,131 2,694 3,476
$1,213,809 $ 348,382 $ 865,427 $ 547,130
Demand Bank Loan

Consists of a Vancouver City Savings Credit Union loan with an original term of four years, repayable in
monthly installments of $3,125 plus interest at bank prime rate plus 3% per annum. The loan is secured
by a Demand Promissory Note, a general security agreement against all property of the Company, and
a guarantee and postponement of claim of $37,500 by a director of the Company. In accordance with
the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Emerging Issues Committee EIC 122 “Balance Sheet
Classification of Callable Debt Obligations Expected to Be Refinanced®, this obligation has been
classified as a current liability.

Long Term Debt
In July 2004, the Company obtained a Canadian govemment guaranteed bank loan from Scotia Bank in

the amount of $250,000. To March 31, 2007 the Company has drawn down $242743 against this
amount. Repayment was interest only at bank prime rate plus 2.5% per annum until December 31,
2004. Commencing January 2005, repayment was $4,167 per month plus interest at the bank prime
rate plus 2.5%, maturing in December,-2010. The loan is secured by a general security agreement over
present property and property acquired in the future including all equipment, goods and inventory,
property insurance showing loss payee as the Scotia Bank, as well as a personal guarantee of a
director in the amount of $62,500,

Principal Amount

Loan amount as at March 31, 2007 $ 134,366
Current portion of long term debt {50,004)
$ 84,362
Future principal repayments are as follows:
fiscal year ending 2007 $ 16,668
fiscal year ending 2008 50,004
fiscal year ending 2009 50,004
fiscal year ending 2010 17,680
$ 134,366
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
. NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2007
{Unaudited - Prepared by Management)
Note 11  Obligations under Capital Leases
The following is a schedule of the future minimum lease payments of the capital leases expiring on
various dates, together with the balance of the obligations.

Capital Leases
Fiscal years ending 2007 $ 35779
Fiscal years ending 2008 ' 179,612
Fiscal years ending 2009 116,711 !
Fiscal years ending 2010 125,076 !
Fiscal years ending 2011 52,298 !
Fiscal years ending 2012 11,635
521,111
Less amount representing interest ranging from 1% to 19% (83,916)
Present value of net minimum lease payments 437,195
Less current portion of capital lease payments - (139,376) . :
$ 297,819 i

Note 12 Qther Commitments
The Company’s premises lease expires January 2010.

Premises Lease

Fiscal year ending 2007 $ 17,830

Fiscal year ending 2008 71,318

Fiscal year ending 2009 71,318

. Fiscal year ending 2010 41,602
$ 202,068

Note 13  Prior Period Adjustment
The prior period adjusiment of $63,237 is to correct errors of recording sales and accounts receivable for

the year ended June 30, 2006, $18,443 of which is related to the six months ended December 31, 2005.
The errors caused overstatements of sales resulting in understatements of net loss and deficit for the
year ended June 30, 2006, and the three and nine months ended March 31, 2006, as well as
overstatements of accounts recsivable as of June 30, 2006, and March 31, 2006. The deficit and
accounts receivable as of June 30, 2006 and March 31, 2006 as well as sales for the three and nine
months ended March 31, 2006 have been restated in accordance with the recommendations of the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants with respect to Section 1506 "Accounting Changes” and
*Prior Period Adjustments”.
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONSOCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2007

{Unaudited - Prepared by Management)

. RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.

Note 14  Subsequent Events
a) Subsequent to March 31, 2007, 205,000 warrants were exercised at $0.50 (Note 3).

b} Subsequent 1o March 31, 2007, 220,500 escrow shares were released (Note 3).

) Subsequent to March 31, 2007, a $30,000 advance to a director bearing interest at 8% per annum,
unsecured, without specific terms of repayment was repaid (Note 5).

d) The Company entered into a letier of intent with Fort Garry Brewing Company dated May 25, 2007
te purchase all of the common shares of Fort Garry through a Plan of Amalgamation. Holders of
common shares in Fort Gamy will have the option to receive either (a) one common share of
Russell or (b) one ~ half of one common share of Russell plus $0.20 cash; or (c) $0.40 cash. Fort
Garry has 4,976,698 common shares outstanding. In addition the Company will purchase the 4%
cumulative Preferred shares of Fort Gamry for their par value plus any accrued redemption premium
and accrued dividends estimated at a cost of $940,804.

The Company has advanced Fort Gamy a $75,000 deposit, of which up to $50,000 is potentially
non-refundable if the Company determines not to proceed with the transaction. If the Fort Garry
board approve a "superior proposal” prior to the signing of a definitive agreement a termination fee
of $125,000 is payable to the Company. The Company and Fort Garry have 30 days to complete
due diligence and negotiate the signing of a definitive agreement. Subject to the signing of the
Definiive Agreement, the transaction is subject to Fort Garry shareholder approval. On June 25,

. 2007 the Company agreed to an extension of the Letter of Intent with Fort Gammy Brewing Company
Ltd. ("Fort Gamy") to complete the Definitive Agreement to purchase the shares of Fort Garry
through an Amalgamation.

On July 27, 2007, the Company completed the Definiive Agreement with Fort Garry Brewing
Company Ltd. ("Fort Garry"), to purchase the shares of Fort Garry through a Plan of
Amalgamation.

As part of the Definitive Agreement the Company has a lock-up agreement with ENSIS Growth
Fund Inc. (“ENSIS™). Under the lock-up agreement, ENSIS has agreed to vote all of its common
shares of Fort Garry in favor of the transaction. ENSIS currently owns 1,071,675 common shares of
Fort Garry, representing approximately 21.5% of the outstanding common shares and 628,305
preferred shares. The transaction has received conditional approval of the TSX Venture Exchange
and will be subject to Fort Garry shareholder approval.

Company issued 5,294,166 Units at a price of $0.60 per Unit, with each Unit consisting of one
common share and one non-ransferable common share purchase Warrant. Each whole Warrant
entitles the holder to purchase one additional share of the company at a price of $0.75 for a period
of one year from the completion of the financing subject to an early expiry provision that once
resale restrictions on the Shares having expired and upon the Issuer's shares trading at or above a
weighted average trading price of $1.00 for 15 consecutive days the Issuer may give notice that the
Warrants will expire 30 days from the date of providing such notice.

|
| e} On July 30, 2007, the Company completed a $3,176,500 brokered private placement. The
|
|

The proceeds will be used for the acquisition of Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd., assuming that
the shareholders approve the transaction and the balance of funds will be used for the purchase of

. capital equipment and for general working capital.
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2007
{Unaudited - Prepared by Management)
Note 14  Subsequent Events - (cont'd)

The Units were sold by a syndicate consisting of Bolder Investment Pariners, Lid., Canaccord
Capital Corporation and MGl Securities Inc., and other selling group members to eligible
purchasers in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario and other jurisdictions
mutually agreed upon. The Agents received a cash commission of $245,782 and 13,896 units (for a
total of 8% of the gross proceeds of the Offering). In addition, the Agents were granted 529,417
agent's warrants (the "Agent's Warrants”) exercisable for a period of one year from the date of
closing of the Offering. Each Agent's Warmrant is exercisable into one (1) common share of the
Issuer at $0.60 and will also be subject to early expiry conditions. In addition, the Agents were pald
an administrative fee of $5000, a Corporate Finance Fee of 50,000 units, and were reimbursed for
all reasonable expenses related te the Offering. All shares issued in connection with the offering
are subject to a four month hold period.

. RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.
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SCHEDULE “C”

PRO FORMA RUSSELL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See attached.
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Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.

As at and for the nine months ended March 31, 2007 and
For the twelve months ended June 30, 2006

(Unaudited)
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LANCASTER & DAVID DAt Loncaster CA

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS Michael J. David, CA

COMPILATION REPORT ON PRO FORMA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board of Directors
Russell Breweries Inc.

We have read the accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet of Russell Breweries Inc. (*Russell” or the
“Company”) as at March 31, 2007 and the unaudited pro forma consolidated statements of operations for the nine months then
ended and for the twelve months then ended June 30, 2006, and have performed the following procedures:

1. Compared the figures in the columns captioned "Russell” to the unaudited financial statements of the Company as at and
for the nine-month period ended March 31, 2007, or the audited restated financial statements of the Company as at and for the
twelve months ended June 30, 2006, and found them to be in agreement,

2. Compared the figures in the columns captioned “(a)", “(b)" and (c) in Schedule 1 to the amounts in the unaudited financial
statements of Fort Garry Brewing Inc. (*Fort Garry”) for the six months ended June 30, 2006 or the three months ended March
31, 2007 or the audited financial statements of Fort Garry as at and for the year ended December 31, 2008, and found them to
be in agreement.

3. Compared the figures in the columns captioned *(a)", “(b)” and (c) in Schedule 2 to the amounts in the unaudited financial
staternents of Fort Garry for the six months ended June 30, 2005 or the six months ended June 30, 2006 or the audited
financial statements of Fort Garry for the year ended December 31, 2005 and found them to be in agresment.

4. Recalculated the calculation of unaudited nine months ended March 31, 2007 and the twelve months ended June 30, 2006
tor Fort Garry in column “{d)" of Schedula 1 and Schedule 2 and found them to be arithmetically correct. :

5. Made enquiries of certain officials of the Company who have responsibility for financial and accounting matters about:
(a) The basis for determination of the pro forma adjustments; and

{b) Whether the pro forma financial statements comply as to form in all material respects with the published
requirements of Canadian securities legislation.

The officials:
{a) described to us the basis for determination of the pro forma adjustments; and

(b) stated that the pro forma financial statements comply as to form in all material respects with the published.
requirements of Canadian securitios legislation.

6. Read the Notes to the pro forma financial statements, and found them to be consistent with the basis described to us for
determination of the pro forma adjustments.

7. Recalculated the application of the pro forma adjustments to the aggregate of the amounts in the columns captioned
*Russell” and “Fort Garry™ as at March 31, 2007 and for the nine-month period then ended, and for the twelve months ended
June 30, 20086, and found the amounts in the column captioned "Pro forma consolidated™ to be arithmetically correct.

A pro forma financial statement is based on management assumptions and adjustments which are inherently subjective. The
foregoing procedures are substantially less than either an audit or a review, the objective of which is the expression of
assurance with respect to management's assumptions, the pro forma adjustments, and the application of the adjustments to
the historical financial information. Accordingly, we express no such assurance. The foregoing procedures would not
necessarily reveal matters of significance to the pro forma financial statements, and we therefore make no representation
about the sufficiency of the procedures for the purposes of a reader of such statements.

/s/ Lancaster & David

Lancaster & David,
Chartered Accountants

Vancouver, Canada
September 10, 2007

Suite 510, 701 West Georgia Straet, PO Box 10133, Vanceouver, BC, Canada, V7Y 1C6
Telephone: 604.717.5524 Focsimile: 604.717.5560 Email: admin@ancasteranddavid.co
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.

PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

{(Unaudited)
{Expressed in Canadian dotflars}
Pro Forma
Pro Forma Consolidated
Russell  Fort Garry Adjustments Russell
31-Mar-07  31-Mar-07 {Note 3} 31-Mar-07
ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash and cash equivalents $ 976,366 $ 142,886 $ 2,850,718(a) $ 2,797,727
(922,243} (c)
(250,000} (d)
Accounts receivable 247,525 344,416 - 591,941
Due from related parties 30,000 - - 30,000
Inventory 222,967 = 248,837 - 471,804
Prepaid expenses and deposits 25,226 26,129 - 51,355
1,502,084 762,268 1,678,475 3,942,827
RESTRICTED CASH 200,000 - - 200,000
CAPITAL ASSETS 865,427 2,936,547 (302,159) (o) 3,499,815
TRADEMARKS 1,800 - - 1,800
UNALLOCATED PURCHASE PRICE - - 2,553,561 (8) 2,553,561
DEFERRED COSTS 692 - 692
$ 2,570,003 $ 3,698,815 $ 3,968,215 $10,198,695
LIABILITIES
CURRENT
Bank indebtedness $ 202,902 $ - % - $ 202,902
Demand bank loan 33,642 - - 33,642
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 185,041 406,119 - 591,160
Due to related parties 21,406 - - 21,406
Current portion of long-term debt 50,004 225,000 - 275,004
Current portion of deferred lease payable 139,376 14,414 - 153,790
632,371 645,533 - 1,277,904
LONG TERM DEBT 84,362 825,000 - 909,362
OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES 297,819 22,820 - 320,639
PREFERRED SHARES - 922,243 (922,243) (c) -
1,014,552 2,415,596 (922,243) 2,507,905
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
SHARE CAPITAL (Note 5 (a)) 3,171,400 6,929,251 2,850,718 (a) 9,268,402
{(38,337) (a)
3,284,821 (b)
{6,929,251) (e)
CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS 336,258 22,444 38,337 (a) 374,595
(22,444) (e}
DEFICIT (1,952,207) (5,668,476) 5,668,476 (e} (1,952,207)
1,555,451 1,283,219 4,890,458 7,690,790
$ 2,570,003 $ 3,698,815 § 3,968,215 $10,198,695
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC,

PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)
{Expressed in Canadian dollars)
Pro Forma
Consolidated
Russell  Fort Garry Russell
Nine Nine Nine
Months Months  Pro Forma Months
Ended Ended Adjustments Ended
31-Mar-07  31-Mar-07 {Note 4) 31-Mar-07
REVENUE
Gross Sales $ 1,177,425 $2,389,125 - $ 3,566,550
Less excise taxes and provincial mark-up 313,340 91,463 - 404,803
NET REVENUES 864,085 2,297,662 - 3,161,747
COST OF SALES 234,157 1,114,874 - 1,349,031
GROSS MARGIN 629,928 1,182,788 - 1,812,716
EXPENSES
Selling, general and administrative 1,196,743 725,257 - 1,922,000
LOSS (INCOME) BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED 566,815  (457,531) - 109,284
OTHER ITEMS
Amartization 112,268 256,021 357,682 (a) 725,971
Dividends and retraction premium accrued on
preferred shares - 43,070 (43,070) (b) -
Interest income (17.018) - (52,4186) {c) (69,434)
Interest on long term debt 33,759 77,378 - 111,137
Other income - (10,160) - {10,160)
129,009 366,309 262,196 757,514
NET LOSS FOR THE PERIOD $ 695824 § (91,222) $ 262,196 $ 866,798
LOSS (EARNINGS) PER SHARE — Basic and $ 005 % {0.02) $ 0.04
diluted
Woeighted average number of shares outstanding 13,186,369 4,976,698 23,521,129

(Note 6}
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RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.

PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

{Unaudited)
{Expressed in Canadian dollars)
Pro Forma
Russell Consolidated
Twelve  Fort Garry Russell
Months Twelve Twelve
_Ended Months Pro Forma Months
30-~Jun-06 Ended Adjustments Ended
(restated)  30-Jun-06 {Note 4) 30-Jun-06
REVENUE
Gross Sales $ 1,396,552 $ 2,840,840 - $ 4,237,392
Less excise taxes and provincial mark-up 493,564 441,936 - 935,500
NET REVENUES 902,988 2,398,904 - - 3,301,892
COST OF SALES 189,018 1,366,929 - 1,555,948
GROSS MARGIN 713,969 1,031,975 - 1,745,944
EXPENSES
Selling, general and administrative ) 928,026 985,135 - 1,913,161
LOSS (INCOME) BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED 214,057 (46,840) - 167,217
OTHER ITEMS
Amortization 155,443 346,019 472,251 (a) 973,713
Dividends and retraction premium accrued on
preferred shares - 57,323 (57,323) (b} -
Interest income (4,761) - (58,075} (c) {62,836)
Interest on long term debt 17,769 112,418 - 130,187
Other income - (13,881) - (13,881)
168,451 501,879 356,853 1,027,183
NET LOSS FOR THE PERIOD $ 382508 $ 455,039 § 356,853 $ 1,194,400
LOSS PER SHARE - Basic and diluted $ 0.04 § 0.09 $ 0.06
Waeighted average number of shares outstanding 9,278,657 4,976,698 19,613,417

{Note 6)
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Notes to Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements
{Unaudited)
{Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Nine months ended March 31, 2007 and twelve months ended June 30, 2006

1. The Company

Russell Breweries Inc. (“Russell” or the “Company”) owns and operates a craft brewery based in Surrey, British
Columbia through its wholly owned subsidiary Russell Brewing Gompany.

Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. {(*Fort Garry™} owns and operates a craft brewery based in Winnipeg, Manitoba.
2. Proposed Transaction and Basis of Presentation

On May 28, 2007, Russell announced that it entered into a Letter of Intent with Fort Garry to acquire all of the
preferred and common shares of Fort Garry through a Plan of Amalgamation. On July 27, 2007, the Company
completed a Definitive Agreement with Fort Garry in connection with the proposed transaction.

Terms of the Definitive Agreement include the purchase of all ouistanding comimon shares and preferred shares
of Fort Garry. Common shareholders of Fort Garry will have the option to receive for each Fort Garry common
share, either; (a) one common share of Russell; or (b} one half of one common share of Russell plus $0.20 cash;
or {c) $0.40 cash. The preferred shareholders will receive cash for the par value of their shares plus any accrued
redemption premium and dividends calculated to the date of closing of the transaction.

Completion of the proposed transaction is subject to the approval by shareholders of Fort Garry and certain
regulatory authorities. The transaction has received conditional approval of the TSX Venture Exchange.

The accompanying pro forma consolidated financial statements have been compiled for purposes of inclusion in a
circular dated September 10, 2007, issued by the Board of Directors of Fort Garry in connection with this
proposed transaction, inchuding the proposed offering of Russell common shares thersunder.

These pro forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management of Russell, in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP") to give effect to the proposed
transaction between Russell and Fort Garry.

These pro forma consolidated financial statements include:

(a) a pro forma consolidated balance sheet prepared from the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of sach of
Russell and Fort Garry as at March 31, 2007, which gives pro forma effect to the acquisition of Fort Garry and the
assumptions described in Note 3, as if these transactions occurred on March 31, 2007;

(b} a pro forma consolidated statement of operations for the nine-month period ended March 31, 2007, have been
prepared or derived from the unaudited interim consolidated statement of operations of Russell for the nine-month
period ended March 31, 2007 and for Fort Garry from the unaudited interim consolidated statement of operations
for the three month period ended March 31, 2007 and six months ended June 30, 2006 and the audited
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2006 as presented in Schedule 1, which
gives pro forma effect to the acquisition of Fort Garry and the assumptions described in Note 3, as if these
transactions occurred on July 1, 2006; and

{c} a pro forma consolidated statement of operations for the twelve months ended June 30, 2006, have been
prepared or derived from the consolidated statement of operations of Russell for the year ended June 30, 2006
and for Fort Garry from the unaudited interim consolidated statement of operations for the six month periods
ended June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005 and the audited consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2005 as presented in Schedule 2, which gives pro forma effect to the acquisition of Fort Garry and
the assumptions described in Note 3, as it these transactions occurred on July 1, 2005.

The Russell and Fort Garry financial statements referred to above have been prepared in accordance with
Canadian GAAP.
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Notes to Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars})

Nine months ended March 31, 2007 and twelve months ended June 30, 2006

2. Proposed Transaction and Basis of Presentation — Cont'd

The construction of the statements of operations of Fort Ganry as outlined in Schedules 1 and 2 are for the
purposes of the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements and do not conform to the financial
statements of Fort Garry inciuded elsewhere in this Information Circular.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements may not be indicative of the financial position and
results of operations that would have occurred if the transactions had taken place on the dates indicated or of the
financial position or operating results which may be obtained in the future. The unaudited pro forma consolidated
financial statements are not a forecast or projection of future results. The actual financial positions and results of
the operations of the Company for any period following the closing of the transactions contemplated by the
document wili likely vary from the amounts set forth in the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements
and such variation may be material.

It is management's opinion that these pro forma financial statements include all adjustments necessary for the fair
presentation, in all material respects, of the proposed transaction described above in accordance with Canadian
GAAP applied on a basis consistent with Russell's accounting policies. No adjustments have been made to reflect
potential cost savings that may occur subsequent to completion of the transaction. The pro forma statements of
operations do not reflect non-recurring charges or credits directly attributable to the transaction, of which none are
currently anticipated.

These pro forma consolidated financial statements are not intended to reflect the results of operations or the
financial position of Russell which would have actually resulted had the proposed transaction been effected on the
dates indicated. Further, the pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the future operating
results of Russell as a result of the transaction.

The pro forma consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statemants of Russell for the nine months ended March 31, 2007 and the year ended June 30, 2006, and of Fort
Garry for the three-month period ended March 31, 2007 and six-month periods ended June 30, 2006 and 2005,
as well as the years ended December 31, 20086 and 2005.

3. Unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet

The following assumptions and adjustments have been made to reflect the proposed transaction referred to in
note 2 as if it had occurred on March 31, 2007:

(a) On July 27, 2007, Russell completed a brokered private ptacement for gross proceeds of $3,176,500. The
Company issued 5,294,166 Units at a price of $0.60 per Unit, with each Unit consisting of one common share and
one non-transferable common share purchase Warrant. Each whole Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one
additional share of the company at a price of $0.75 for a period of one year from the completion of the financing
subject to an early expiry provision that once resale restrictions on the Shares having expired and upon the
Issuer's shares trading at or above a weighted average trading price of $1.00 for 15 consecutive days the Issuer
may give notice that the Warrants will expire 30 days from the date of providing such notice.

The Agents received a cash commission of $245,782 and 13,896 units comprising one common share and one
share purchase warrant at $0.75 (for a total of 8% of the gross proceeds of the Offering). In addition, the Agents
were granted 529,417 agent's warrants (the "Agent's Warrants™} exercisable for a period of one year from the
date of closing of the Offering. Each Agent's Warrant is exercisable into one {1} common share of the Issuer at
$0.60 and will also be subject to early expiry conditions. In addition, the Agents were paid an administrative fee of
$5,000, a Corporate Finance Fee of 50,000 units comprising one commaon share and one share purchase warrant
at $0.60, and were reimbursed for all reasonable expenses related to the Offering. Other transaction costs are
estimated at $75,000. All shares issued in connection with the offering are subject to a four month hold period.

The fair value of the agent's warrants of $38,337 was charged to share issue costs with an offsetting amount to
contributed surplus, The fair value of the agent's warrants was determined using the Black Scholes model with
the following assumptions; dividend yield of nil, expected volatility of 24%, risk-free rate of 4.32% and expected
life of 1 year.
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Notes to Pro Forma Consolldated Financlal Statements
(Unaudited)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Nine months ended March 31, 2007 and twelve months ended June 30, 2006

3. Unaudited pro forma consolidated batance sheet — Cont'd

{b) For the purpose of these pro forma consolidated financial statements it is assumed that all common
shareholders of Fort Gamry elect to receive one common share of Russell for each common share of Fort Gary
that they own, namely Russell will issue 4,976,698 common shares of Russell in exchange for 4,976,698 common
shares of Fort Garry. The value assigned in these pro forma consolidated financial statements to the Russell
common shares that are to be issued is based upon the closing price of Russell common shares on the date of
the public announcement of the transaction of $0.66 per share.

(¢} The cash payment of $922,243 to the current preferred shareholders of Fort Garry is for redemption of their
700,000 preferred shares at par value of $1.00 per share and $222,243 of dividends and retraction premium
accrued as at March 31, 2007. The preferred shareholders will actually receive cash for the par value of their
shares plus any accrued redemption premium and dividends calculated to the date of closing of the transaction.
The additional dividend and retraction premium accrue at the per diem rate of $155.66 after March 31, 2007.

(d) The cash payment of $250,000 is estimated transaction costs:

{e) The acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method with the Company identified as the
acquirer and the business acquired to be recorded at estimated fair value. Managemenl has received an
independent valuator's preliminary report on the fair value of plant and equipment only (part of capital assets)
that has resulted in a $302,15% write down of plant and equipment to fair value. This would resuit in the
recognition of a future income tax asset, but as it is not more likely than not that the Company will realize this
asset, a valuation allowance has been recorded to fully offset the amount. The final allocation for the purchase
price will ba based upon an independent valuation of the fair value of all of the assets and liabilities of Fort Garry
assumed at the date of the acquisition, including the value of intangible assets, it any, associated with the Fort
Garry brands and customer relationships.

Because the Company has not received an independent valuation of the fair value of all of the assets and
liabilities of Fort Garry, management cannot assess the future income tax impact of the acquisition, and has
accordingly not recognized any future tax asssts or liabilities in the table below.

A summary of the preliminary proposed allocation of the consideration given to the net assets of Fort Garry is as
follows:

Cdn$

Net Book Value of net assets to be acquired (unless indicated):
Cash and cash equivalents $142,886
Receivables 344 416
Inventory 248,837
Prepaid expenses and deposits 26,129
762,268
Capital assets (plant and equipment at fair value:$2,379,105) 2,634,388
3,396,656
Unallocated Purchase Price 2,553,561
5,950,217
Accounts payable and accrued labilities (406,119)
Current portion of long-term debt (225,000)
Current portion of deferred lease payable {(14,414)
5,304,684
Long-term debt (825,000)
Deferred lease {22,820)
$4,456,864
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Notes to Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
{Expressed in Canadian dollars})

Nine months ended March 31, 2007 and twelve months ended June 30, 2006

3. Unaudited pro forma consclidated balance sheet — Cont'd

Consideration given:

{ssuance of 4,976,698 common shares of Russell at $0.66 to Fort $3,284,621

Garry's common shareholders

Cash payment for redemption of preferred shares of Fort Garry’s 922,243

preferred shareholders .

Estimated transaction costs 250,000
$4,456,864

The net asset of Fort Garmry consists of $6,929,251 share cépital, $22,444 contributed surplus and $5,668,476
deficit, which is eliminated dus to consolidation.

4. Unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations for the Company for the nine months ended
March 31, 2007 and for the twelve months ended June 30, 2006

The pro forma consolidated statement of operations for the nine-month period ended March 31, 2007 and for the
twelve months ended June 30, 2006, give pro forma effect to the assumptions as described in Note 3(a) through
Note 3(f) above as if they had occurred on July 1, 2006, for purposes of the pro forma statement of operations for
the nine-month period ended March 31, 2007, and July 1, 2005, for purposes of the pro forma statement of
operations for the twelve months ended June 30, 20086.

(a) Fort Garry's amortization of capital assets has been recalculated using the revalued fair valus of Fort Garry's
plant and equipment assets and Russell's amortization policy, resulting in additional depreciation adjustment of
$357,682 for the nine month period ended March 31, 2007 and $472,251 for the twelve month period ended June
30, 2006.

(b) Dividend and retraction premium of $43,070 for the nine months ended March 31, 2007 and $57,323 for the
twelve months ended June 30, 2006 is eliminated.

{c) Interest income of $52,416 for the nine months ended March 31, 2007 and $58,075 for the twelve months
ended June 30, 2006 is calculated assuming the funds from the private placement outlined in Note 3(a) are
invested in 90 day Canadian Treasury bills at an average rates of 4.16% and 3.46% respectively.

5. Share capital:
_ (a) Common shares:

After giving effect to the pro forma assumptions in Nate 3, the issued and fully paid share capital of Russell would
be as follows:

Number Cdn$
-of shares

Balance, March 31, 2007 16,105,205 $3,171,400
Private placement (Note 3(a)) 5,294,166 3,176,500
Agent fees paid in cash (Note 3(a)) - (245,782)
Agent fees paid in shares {(Note 3(a)) 13,896 8,338
Share issue costs paid in cash (Note 3{a)) - (80,000)
Corporate finance fee paid in shares {Note 3(a)) 50,000 30,000
Share issue costs paid in shares (Note 3 (a)) (38,338)
Fair value of agents warrants (38,337)
Acquisition of Fort Garry by way of the issuance of common shares (Note 3(b)) 4,976,698 3,284,621
Pro forma balance, March 31, 2007 26,439,965 $9,268,402
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Notes to Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements
{Unaudited)
{Expressed in Canadian dollars}

Nine months ended March 31, 2007 and twelve months ended June 30, 2006

6. Earmings per share:

The calculation of pro forma basic earnings per share in the pro forma consolidated statements of operations for
the nine-month period ended March 31, 2007 and for the twelve months ended June 30, 20086, is based on the
weighted average number of common shares of Russell actually outstanding for the nine months ended March 31,
2007 and for the vear ended June 30, 2006, plus the 5,358,062 shares of Russell issued in connection with the
private placement and 4,976,698 shares of Russell to be issued to acquire the outstanding shares of Fort Garry,
had the transactions described in Note 3 occurred on July 1, 2008, for purposes of the pro forma statement of
operations for the nine months ended March 31, 2007, and on July 1, 2005, for purposes of the pro forma
statement of operations for the twelve months ended June 30, 2006.
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

(Expressed in Canadian dollars}

Schedule 1

(d)
(a) (b} {c) ={bHa)+(c)
Six Three Nine
Months Year Months Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended
30-Jun-06 31-Dec-06 31-Mar-07 31-Mar-07
REVENUE
Gross Sales $1,481,740 $3,169,285 $701,580 $2,389,125
Less excise taxes and provincial mark-up 236,796 308,041 20,218 91,463
NET REVENUES 1,244,944 2,861,244 681,362 2,297,662
COST OF SALES 739,832 1,492,353 362,353 1,114,874
GROSS MARGIN 505,112 1,368,891 319,009 1,182,788
EXPENSES
Selling, general and administrative 478,388 975,006 228,639 725,257
INCOME BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED 26,724 393,885 90,370 457,531
OTHER ITEMS
Amortization 169,966 340,736 85,251 256,021
Dividends and retraction premium
accrued on preferred shares 28,505 57,323 14,252 43,070
Interest on long term debt 52,250 110,206 19,422 77,378
Cther income {11,613) (21,773) - {10,160)
239,108 486,492 118,925 366,309
NET (INCOME) LOSS FOR THE PERIOD 212,384 92,607 28,555 {91,222)
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FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Schedule 2

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
{Unaudited)
{Expressed in Canadian dollars)
(d)
(a) {b) {c) =(b{a}{c)
Six Six Twelve
Months Year Months Months
. Ended Ended Ended Ended
30-Jun05 31-Dec-05 30-Jun-06 30-Jun-06
REVENUE
Gross Sales $1,434577 $2,793,677 $1,481,740 $2,840,840
Less excise taxes and provincial mark-up 213,003 418,143 236,796 441,936
NET REVENUES 1,221,574 2,375,534 1,244944 2,398,904
COST OF SALES 631,643 1,258,740 739,832 1,366,929
GROSS MARGIN 589,931 1,116,794 505,112 1,031,975
EXPENSES
Selling, general and administrative 495,996 1,002,743 478,388 985,135
INCOME BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED 93,935 114,051 26,724 46,840
OTHER ITEMS
Amortization 197,950 374,003 169,966 346,019
Dividends and retraction premium
accrued on preferred shares 28,505 57,323 28,505 57,323
Interest on long term debt 53,614 113,782 52,250 112,418
Other income (7,031) (9,299} (11,613) {13,881)
273,038 535,809 239,108 501,879
NET LOSS FOR THE PERIOD 179,103 421,758 212,384 455,039

12

o187



SCHEDULE “D”

DISSENT PROVISIONS

SECTION 184 OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT (MANITOBA)

Right to dissent

184(1) Subject to sections 185 and 234, and any unanimous shareholder agreement, a holder of shares of any class
of a corporation may dissent if the corpomnon is subjecl to an order under clause 185(10)(d) that affects the holder
or if the corporation resolves

(a) to amend its articles under section 167 or 168 to add, change or remove any provisions restricting or
constraining the issue or transfer of shares of that class; or

{b) to amend its articles under section 167 to add, change or remove any restriction upon the business or
businesses that the corporation may carry on; or

(c) to amalgamate with another corporation, otherwise than under section 178; or
{d) to be continued under the laws of another jurisdiction under section 182; or
(e} to sell, lease or exchange all or substantially all its property under subsection 183(3); or

(f} to amend its articles under subsection 167(2) to convert the corporation from a corporation with share
capital into a corporation without share capital; or

(g) to amend its articles under subsection 167(2) to convert the corporation from a corporation without share
capital into a corporation with share capital, where the articles contain a provision that upon dissolution
the remaining property is to be distributed among the members as provided in section 277; or

(h) ifit is a corporation without share capital, to amend its anticles under section 167 to prevent a distribution
to the members on dissolution. .

Further right to dissent
184(2) A holder of shares of any class or series of shares entitled to vote under section 170 may dissent if the
corporation resolves to amend its articles in a manner described in that section.

Payment for shares
184(3) In addition to any other right he may have, but subject to subsection (26), a shareholder who complies with
this section is entitled, when the action approved by the resolution from which he dissents or an order made under
subsection 185(10) becomes effective, to be paid by the corporation the fair value of the shares held by him in
respect to which he dissents, determined as of the close of business on the day before the resolution was adopted or
the order was made.

No partial dissent
184(4) A dissenting shareholder may only claim under this section with respect to all the shares of a class held by
him on behalf of any one beneficial owner and registered in the name of the dissenting shareholder.

Objection

184(5) A dissenting shareholder shall send to the corporation, at or before any meeting of shareholders at which a
resolution referred to in subsection (1) or (2) is to be voted on, a written objection to the resolution, unless the
corporation did not give notice to the shareholder of the purpose of the meeting or of his right to dissent.
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Notice of resolution

184(6) The corporation shall, within 10 days after the shareholders adopt the resolution, send to each shareholder
who has filed the objection referred to in subsection (5) notice that the resolution has been adopted, but the notice is
not required to be sent to any shareholder who voted for the resolution or who has withdrawn his objection.

Demand for payment

184(7) A dissenting shareholder shall, within 20 days after he receives a notice under subsection (6) or, if he does
not receive the notice, within 20 days after he leams that the resolution has been adopted, send to the corporation a
written notice containing

(a) his name and address;
(b) the number and class of shares in respect of which he dissents; and
(c) ademand for payment of the fair value of his shares.

Share Certificate
184(8) A dissenting sharcholder shall, within 30 days after sending a notice under subsection (7), send the
certificates representing the shares in respect of which he dissents to the corporation or its transfer agent.

Forfeiture
184(9) A dissenting sharcholder who fails to comply with subsection (8) has no right to make a claim under this
section.

Endorsing certificate

184(10) A corporation or its transfer agent shall endorse on any share certificate received under subsection (8) a
notice that the holder is a dissenting shareholder under this section and shall forthwith return the share certificate to
the dissenting shareholder.

Suspension of rights
184(11) On sending a notice under subsection (7), a dissenting sharcholder ceases to have any rights as a
shareholder other than the right to be paid the fair value of his shares as determined under this section except where

(a) the dissenting shareholder withdraws his nofice before the corporation makes an offer under
subsection (12);

(b) the corporation fails to make an offer in accordance with subsection (12} and the dissenting shareholder
withdraws his notice; or

{c) the directors revoke a resolution to amend the articles under subsection 167(8) or 168(3), terminate an
amalgamation agreement under subsection 177(6) or an application for continuance under
subsection 182(6), or abandon a sale, lease or exchange under subsection 183(8);

and in the case his rights as a sharcholder are reinstated as of the date he sent the notice referred to in subsection (7).
Offer to pay l .

184(12) A corporation shall, not later than seven days after the later of the day on which the action approved by the
resolution is effective or the day the corporation received the notice referred to in subsection (7), send to each

dissenting shareholder who has sent the notice

(a) a written offer to pay for his shares in an amount considered by the directors of the corporation to be the
fair value thereof, accompanied by a statement showing how the fair value was determined; or

(b} if subsection (26} applies, a notification that it is unable lawfully to pay dissenting shareholders for their
shares.
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Same terms
184(13) Every offer made under subsection (12) for shares of the same class or series shall be on the same terms.

Payment

134(14) Subject to subsection (26), a corporation shall pay for the shares of a dissenting shareholder within 10 days
after an offer made under subsection (12) has been accepted, but that offer lapses if the corporation does not receive
an acceptance thereof within 30 days after the offer has been made.

Corporation application to court

184(15) Where a corporation fails to.make an offer under subsection (12), or if a dissenting shareholder fails to
accept an offer, the corporation may, within 50 days after the action approved by the resolution is effective or within
such further period as a court may allow, apply to a court to fix a fair value of the shares of any dissenting
shareholder.

Shareholder application to court
184¢16) If a corporation fails to apply to a court under subsection (15), a dissenting shareholder may apply to a

. court for the same purpose within a further period of 20 days or within such further period as a court may allow.

Venue

184(17) An application under subsection (15) or (16) shall be made to a court having jurisdiction in the place where
the corporation has its registered office or in the province where the dissenting shareholder resides if the corporation
carries on business in that province.

No security for costs
184(18) A dissenting shareholder is not required to give security for costs in an application made under
subsection (15) or (16).

Parties
184(19) Upon an application under subsection (15) or (16),

{2) all dissenting sharcholders whose shares have not been purchased by the corporation shall be joined as
parties and are bound by the decision of the court; and

(b) the corporation shall notify each affected dissenting sharcholder of the date, place and consequences of
the application and of his right to appear and be heard in person or by counsel.

Powers of court _

184(20) Upon an application to a court under subsection (15) or (16), the court may determine whether any other
person is a dissenting shareholder who should be joined as a party, and the court shall then fix a fair value for the
shares of all dissenting shareholders.

Appraisers
184(21) A court may in its discretion appoint one or more appraisers to assist the court to fix a fair value for the
shares of the dissenting shareholders.

Final order
184(22) The final order of a court shall be rendered against the corporation in favour of each dissenting shareholder
and for the amount of his shares as fixed by the court.

Interest

184(23) A court may in its discretion allow a reasonable rate of interest on the amount payable to each dissenting
shareholder from the date the action approved by the resolution is effective until the date of payment.
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Notice that subsection (26) applies

184(24) If subsection (26) applies, the corporation shall, within 10 days after the pronouncement of an order under
subsection (22), notify each dissenting sharcholder that it is unable lawfully to pay dissenting shareholders for their
shares.

Effect where subsection (26} applies
184(25) If subsection (26) applies, a dissenting shareholder, by written notice delivered to the corporation within
30 days after receiving a notice under subsection (24) may

(a) withdraw his notice of dissent, in which case the corporation is deemed to consent to the withdrawal and
the shareholder is reinstated to his full rights as a shareholder; or

{b) retain a status as a claimant against the corporation, to be paid as scon as the corporation is lawfully able
to do so or, in a liquidation, to be ranked subordinate to the rights of creditors of the corporation but in
priority to its shareholders.

Limitation
184(26) A corporation shall not make a payment to 2 dissenting shareholder under this section if there are
reasonable grounds for believing that

{a) the corporation is or would after the payment be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realizable value of the corporation’s assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities.
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SCHEDULE “E”
FORT GARRY

AMALGAMATION RESOLUTION

BE IT RESOLVED, as a special resolution, THAT:

The amalgamation of Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. (the “Corporation™) and a wholly owned subsidiary
(“Russell Subco”) of Russell Breweries Inc. (“Russell”) under Section 175 of The Corporations Act {(Manitoba)
pursuant to the merger agreement dated as of July 25, 2007 between Russell, the Corporation, and Russell Subco
attached to the management proxy circular of the Corporation dated September 10, 2007 (the *Circular”), be and is
hereby authorized and approved.

Notwithstanding the passing of this special resolution by the shareholders of the Corporation, the board of directors
of the Corporation, without further approval of the shareholders of the Corporation, may revoke this special
resolution at any time prior to the completion of the Amalgamation (as defired in the Circular).

The Corporation take all necessary steps to delist the Corporation’s shares from the TSX Venture Exchange
effective upon completion of the Amalgamation.

Any officer or director of the Corporation is hereby authorized for and on behalf of the Corporation to do all such
acts and things and to execute (whether under the corporate seal of the Corporation or otherwise) and deliver all
such documents and instruments to take as such officer or director may determine to be necessary or advisable to
complete and to implement this special resolution and the matters authorized hereby, such determination to be
conclusively evidenced by the execution and delivery of such documents or instruments and the taking of any such
actions.
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. SCHEDULE “F”

AMALGAMATION AGREEMENT

pertaining to the share capital of
the corporation resulting from the amalgamation of
Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. and 5506752 Manitoba Ltd.
: (the “Corporation”)

THIS AMALGAMATION AGREEMENT made as of the ____ day of , 2007

BETWEEN:

RUSSELL BREWERIES INC., a corporation incorporated under
the laws of the Province of British Columbia

(“Russell”)

5506752 MANITOBA LTD., a corporation incorporated under
. the laws of the Province of Manitoba

(“Russell Subco™)

FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD., a corporation
incorporated under the laws of the Province of Manitoba

(“Fort Garry”)

WHEREAS:

A. The authorized share capital of Russell consists of 400,000,000 common shares without
par value of which 21,696,282 are issued and outstanding;

B. The authorized share capital of Russell Subco consists of an unlimited number of voting
common shares of which 100 shares are issued and outstanding, an unlimited number of
! non-voting common shares none of which are issued and outstanding, an unlimited number of
| Class A preferred shares none of which are issued and outstanding, an unlimited number of
| Class B preferred shares none of which are issued and outstanding, an unlimited number of
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Class C preferred shares none of which are issued and outstanding, and an unlimited number of
Class D preferred shares none of which are issued and outstanding;

C. The authorized share capital of Fort Garry consists of an unlimited number of common
shares without par value of which 4,976,698 shares are issued and outstanding, and an unlimited
number of Class A preferred shares of which 700,000 shares are issued and outstanding;

D.  Russell, Russell Subco and Fort Garry have entered into the Merger Agreement;

E. Russell Subco and Fort Garry, acting under the authority contained in the MCA, have
-agreed to amalgamate upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set out with effect from
12:05 A.M. (Winnipeg time) on the Effective Date;

F. The Amalgamation involves, inter alia, the issue of Russell Shares to Fort Garry
Shareholders; and

G. It is desirable that the Amalgamation should be effected.

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements
contained herein and other good and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which
are hereby acknowledged), the parties agree as follows:

1.0 INTERPRETATION
1.1  Inthis Agreement including the Recitals:

“Agreement” means this agreement, its recitals and schedules, and any
amendment made to this Agreement,

“Amalco Common Shares” means the common shares in the share capital of the
Amalgamated Corporation having the rights, privileges, restrictions and
conditions set forth in the Articles of Amalgamation;

“Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares” means the Class A redeemable
preferred shares in the share capital of the Amalgamated Corporation having the
rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions set forth in the Articles of
Amalgamation;

“Amalgamated Corporation” means the corporation resulting from the

Amalgamation and continuing the corporate existence of the Amalgamating
Corporations;
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“Amalgamating Corporation” means each of Russell Subco and Fort Garry and
“Amalgamating Corporations” means both of them;

“Amalgamation” means the amalgamation of the Amalgamating Corporations
pursuant to the provisions of the MCA in the manner contemplated in and
pursuant to this Agreement;

“Articles of Amalgamation” means the articles of amalgamation giving effect to
the Amalgamation to be filed with the Director appointed under the MCA
pursuant to this Agreement, in the form annexed hereto as Schedule “A”;

“Cash Only Consideration” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(b);

“Cash Only Consideration Election” has the meaning set forth in section 2.1.5
of the Merger Agreement;

“Certificate of Amalgamation” means the certificate of amalgamation to be
issued by the Director appointed under the MCA in respect of the Amalgamation;

“Consideration Election and Transmittal Form” means the Consideration
Election and Transmittal Form pursuant to which a Fort Garry Shareholder can
make the Cash Only Consideration Election, the Share and Cash Consideration
Election or the Share Only Consideration Election in accordance with the terms of
the Merger Agreement;

“Depository” means Computershare Trust Company of Canada, the registrar and
transfer agent for the Russell Shares;

“Dissenting Shareholder” means any Fort Garry Shareholder who, in connection
with the special resolution of Fort Garry Shareholders which approves and adopts
this Agreement, has exercised the right to dissent pursuant to section 184 of the
MCA in strict compliance with the provisions thereof and thereby becomes
entitled to receive, if the Amalgamation is completed, the fair value of his or her
Fort Garry Shares as determined by the Court;

“Effective Date” means the “Effective Date” as defined in the Merger
Agreement;
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“Fort Garry Preferred Shares” means the 700,000 issued and outstanding
Class A preferred shares in the capital of Fort Garry of which 628,305 are held by
ENSIS Growth Fund Inc. and 71,695 are held by ENSIS Investment Limited
Partnership;

“Fort Garry Shareholder” means a registered holder of Fort Garry Shares, from
time to time, and “Fort Garry Shareholders” means all of such holders;

“Fort Garry Shares” means the common shares in the share capital of Fort Garry
issued and outstanding on the Effective Date.

“Merger Agreement” means the merger agreement dated | ], 2007
among Russell, Russell Subco and Fort Garry;

“MCA” means the The Corporations Act (Manitoba), C.C.S.M. c. C225, as
amended;

“Russell Shares” means the common shares in the share capital of Russell;

“Russell Subco Common Shares” means the 100 issued voting common shares
in the share capital of Russell Subco held by Russell;

“Share and Cash Consideration” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(c);

“Share and Cash Consideration Election” has the meaning set forth in
section 2.1.5 of the Merger Agreement;

“Share Only Consideration” has the meaning set forth in section 3.1(d); and

“Share Only Consideration Election” has the meaning set forth in section 2.1.5
of the Merger Agreement.

20 AGREEMENT TO AMALGAMATE

Each of the parties hereto hereby agrees to the Amalgamation such that the
Amalgamating Corporations shall continue as one corporation under the MCA, on the terms and
conditions set out in this Agreement.
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3.0
3.1

AMALGAMATION EVENTS
Upon the Amalgamation on the Effective Date:

(a)

(b)

©

C))

(e)

®

(g

Fort Garry and Russell Subco will amalgamate and continue as Amalgamated
Corporation; ‘

each Fort Garry Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective
Date held by a Fort Garry Shareholder {other than ENSIS, Russell Subco and any

'Dissenting Shareholders) who validly makes the Cash Only Consideration

Election shall be converted into 40 Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, each of
which is redeemable for cash at a price of $0.01 (the “Cash Only
Consideration™); :

each Fort Garry Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective

- Date held by a Fort Garry Shareholder (other than Russell Subco and any

Dissenting Shareholders) who validly makes the Share and Cash Consideration
Election shall be converted into 0.50 of a Russell Share and 20 Amalco
Redeemable Preferred Shares, each of which is redeemable for a cash price of
$0.01 (the “Share and Cash Consideration™);

each Fort Garry Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective
Date held by a Fort Garry Shareholder (other than Russell Subco and any
Dissenting Shareholders) who validly makes the Share Only Consideration
Election, or who does not validly make the Cash Only Consideration Election or
the Share and Cash Consideration Election, shall be exchanged for one Russell
Share (the “Share Only Consideration”);

all 700,000 Fort Garry Preferred Share shall be converted into that number of
Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, redeemable for cash at a price of $0.01
each, equal to 93,587,120 plus 15,662 for each day from and including July 1,
2007 to and including the Effective Date;

each Fort Garry Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective
Date held by Russell Subco shall be cancelled without any repayment of capital in

respect thereof;

each Russell Subco Common Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to
the Effective Date shall be converted into one Amalco Common Share;
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{h) each Dissenting Shareholder shall cease to have any rights as a Fort Garry
Shareholder other than the right to be paid the fair value in respect of the Fort
Garry Shares held by such Dissenting Shareholder in accordance with the MCA;

@) as consideration for the issuvance of the Russell Shares to effect the
Amalgamation, Amalgamated Corporation will issue to Russell one Amalco
Common Share for each Russell Share so issued;

()] all of the property and assets of each of Russell Subco and Fort Garry will be the
property and assets of the Amalgamated Corporation and the Amalgamated
Corporation will be liable for all of the liabilities and obligations of each of
Russell Subco and Fort Garry; and

k) upon redemption of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares issued to Fort
' Garry Shareholders pursuant to Sections 3.1(b) and (c), the Amalgamated
Corporation will be a wholly owned subsidiary of Russell.

40 FORT GARRY SECURITIES REGISTER

On the Effective Date, the name of each Fort Garry Shareholder shall be removed from
the securities register of Fort Garry, and until validly surrendered, the share certificates that,
before the Effective Date, represented, issued and outstanding Fort Garry Shares and Fort Garry
Preferred Shares held by such Fort Garry Shareholder will represent only the right to receive
upon the surrender thereof, without interest, the applicable consideration (without interest)
provided for in Sections 3.1(b), (c), {(d) and (e) hereof or, in the case of a Dissenting Shareholder
the right to receive fair value for the Fort Garry Shares held in accordance with the MCA.

5.0 DELIVERY OF SECURITIES FOLLOWING AMALGAMATION

As soon as practicable following the Effective Date, Russell shall cause the Depository to
send to each Fort Garry Shareholder (other than Russell Subco and any Dissenting Sharcholder)
entitled to receive Russell Shares pursuant to Section 3.1(c) or 3(d) hereof, by ordinary first class
mail, and provided that the Depository has received the certificates evidencing all Fort Garry
Shares held by such Fort Garry Shareholder, certificates evidencing the Russell Shares to which
such Fort Garry Shareholder shali have become entitled in accordance with Sections 3.1(c)
and (d) hereof. On or before the Effective Date, Russell shall cause the Amalgamated
Corporation to deliver to the Depository $0.01 cash in respect of each Amalco Redeemable
Preferred Share to be issued to the Fort Garry Shareholders (other than Russell Subco and any
Dissenting Shareholder) pursuant to Sections 3.1(b) and (c) hereof. No share certificates shall be
- issued in respect of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares issued pursuant to the
Amalgamation. From and after the Effective Date, the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares
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shall be evidenced by the share certificates representing the Fort Garry Shares and the Fort Garry
Preferred Shares for which the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares have been issued.

6.0 FRACTIONAL SHARES

No fractional Russell Shares or Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares will be issued or
delivered in connection with the Amalgamation. If at the completion of the Amalgamation, the
aggregate number of Russell Shares or Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares to be issued or
delivered to a Fort Garry Shareholder would result in a fraction of a share issuable or deliverable,
the number of Russell Shares or Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares, as the case may be, to be
issued or delivered will be rounded up to the nearest whole number.

7.0 ARTICLES OF AMALGAMATION :
The Articles of Amalgamation of the Amalgamated Corporation shall be in the form
annexed hereto as Schedule “A”.

80 NAME
The name of the Amalgamated Corporation shall be “Fort Garry Brewing
Company Ltd.”.

9.0 REGISTERED OFFICE
Until changed in accordance with the MCA, the registered office of the Amalgamated
Corporation shall be situated in the Province of Manitoba.

10.0 STATED CAPITAL

The aggregate stated capital in respect of all Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares issued
on the Amalgamation shall be $0.01 multiplied by the number of Amalco Redeemable Preferred
Shares so issued, and the aggregate stated capital of all Amalco Common Shares shall be the
amount by which (i) the paid up capital (as defined in the Income Tax Act (Canada)) of the Fort
Garry Shares (other than those held by Russell Subco that are cancelled pursuant to the
Amalgamation and those held by Dissenting Shareholders) exceeds (ii) the aggregate stated
capital of the Amalco Redeemable Preferred Shares.

11.0 NUMBER OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors of the Amalgamated Corporation shall consist of not less than one
and not more than five directors, the exact nuraber of which shall be determined by the directors
from time to time.
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12,0 INITIAL DIRECTORS
The first and sole director of the Amalgamated Corporation shall be the person whose
name and residential address appears below:

Name Address Resident Canadian

Brian Harris 4691 West 8% Avenue Yes
Vancouver, BC, V6R 2A6

13.0 BY-LAWS , _
The by-laws of the Amalgamated Corporation shall be, to the extent not inconsistent with
this Agreement, the by-laws of Russell Subco, unless and untii repealed or amended.

14.0 FILING OF ARTICLES

Following the approval of this Agreement by the shareholders of the Amalgamating
Corporations in accordance with the MCA and with the terms of the Merger Agreement, and
subject to the satisfaction or waiver of all conditions precedent set forth in the Merger
Agreement, Russell shall file the Articles of Amalgamation with the Director appointed under
the MCA, as provided under the MCA.

15.0 TERMINATION

This Agreement may be terminated by the board of directors of each of the
Amalgamating Corporations, notwithstanding the approval of this Agreement by the
shareholders of the Amalgamating Corporations, at any time prior to the issuance of the
Certificate of Amalgamation and following the termination of the Merger Agreement, without,
except as provided in the Merger Agreement, any recourse by any party hereto or any of their
shareholders (including but without limitation any Dissenting Shareholders) or other persons.

16,0 GOVERNING LAW
This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the
Province of Manitoba and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein.
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17.0 COUNTERPARTS
This Agreement may be signed in counterparts and each such counterpart shali constitute
an original document and such counterparts, taken together, shall constitute one and the same

instrument.
IN WITNESS WHEREQF this Agreement has been duly executed by the parties hereto.

RUSSELL BREWERIES INC. 5506752 MANITOBA LTD.

Per: Per:
Brian Harris, CEO Brian Harris, President

FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Per:

Gary N. Coopland,
Chairman of the Board
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The Corporations Act
%’ Loi sur les corporations
- ARTICLES OF AMALGAMATION (share capital)
STATUTS DE FUSION (avec capital-actions)

1. Name of Amalgamated Corporation / Dénomination ds la corporation de la fusion

FORT GARY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

2. The address in full of the registered office (include postal code)
Adresse compléte du bureau enregistré (inclure le code postal)

800 ~ 444 St. Mary Avenue
Winnipeg, MB R3C 3T1

3. Number (or minimum and maximum number) of directors
Nombre (ou nombre minimal et maximal) d'administrateurs

Minimum - 1; Maximum - 5

4. Directors / Administrateurs
Name In full / Noem complet Address in full / Adresse compléte

BRIAN HARRIS 4691 West 8™ Avenue, Vancouver, BC V6R 2A6

5. The classes and any maximum number of shares that the corporation is authorized lo issus
Catégories et tout nombre maximal d'actions que la corperation est autorisde & émettre

The Corporation Is authorized to issue two classes of shares: Common Shares and Class A Redeemable
Preferred Shares. The shares of each class may be Issued in unlimited numbers for unlimited consideration.
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6. The rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions altaching o the shares, it any
. Droits, priviléges, restriclions et conditions dont les actions sont assorties, s'il y a lieu

As set forth In Schedule “A” annexed hereto.

7. Restrictions, if any, on share translers / Restrictions au translert des aclions, s'it y a lieu

No share of the amalgamated Corporation shall be transferred without the consent of a majority of the
Directors of the Corporation expressed by written Instrument.
restrictlon shall not apply to any redemption by the Corporation of its Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares.

For purposes of greater certainty, such

8. Restrictions, if any, on business the corporation may carry on
Limites imposée quant A Yentreprise que la corporation peut exercer, s'il y a lieu

As set forth In Schedule “B” annexed hereto.

9. Other provisions, il any /Autre dispositions, 8'il y a lieu

10. The amalgamation agreement has boen duly approved in
accordance with section 177 of The Corporations Act.

La convention do fusion & &4 diment approuvée en
conlormité avec l'articla 177 de a Loi sur les corporations.

ou

La fusion a été diment approuvée en conformité avec farticle
178 de la Loi sur les corporations. Les présents statuts de
fusion sont les mémes que les statuts constitutifs de (nommer

la corporation fusionnante désignée).

11. Name of the amalgamating corporation the by-laws of which are to be the by-laws of the amalgamated corporation
Dénomination de |a corperation fuslonnanta dont les réglements doivent étre les réglements de 1a corporation issue de la fusion.

5506752 MANITOBA LTD.
12. Names of Amalgamaling Corporations Signature Office Held Date Business Number
Dénomination des corporations fusionnantes Signature Poste Date Numéro dentreprise
5506752 MANITOBA LTD. President 858094455MC0001
FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD. 137334686MC0001

Instructions: The statutory daclarations raquired by subsection 179(2) shall accompany these articles of amalgamation. K is not
necessary to file the amalgamation agreement.
Directives: Les déclarations solennslles prévues au paragraphe 179{2) deivert accompagner les statuts de fusion. H n'est pas
nécessaire de déposer la convention de tusion.

| OFFICE USE ONLY / RESERVE A L'ADMINISTRATION,

Corpotatbnﬂwﬂbérl N“ qe'!'a'cﬁlpocgtbn- L

St

EERI -t

Business Number / Numéro d'entreprise: _
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SCHEDULE A
TO ARTICLE 6 OF THE ARTICLES OF AMALGAMATION OF
FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
{the “Corporation”)

The authorized share capital of the Corporation shall consist of an unlimited number of
Common Shares and an unlimited number of Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares.
The rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to each class of shares of the
Corporation shail be as follows:

Ciass A Redeemable Preferred Shares

1. Redemption

Subject to the requirements of The Comporations Act (Manitoba) (the “MCA"), the
Corporation shall, as of [ihflélék:&ayl on the day of the amalgamation forming the
Corporation and at the instance and in the discretion of the Corporation from time to time
thereafter (the “Time of Redemption®), redeem all of the Class A Redeemabie
Preferred Shares in accordance with the following provisions of this section 1. Except as
hereinafter provided or as otherwise determined by the Corporation, no notice of
redemption or other act or formality on the part of the Corporation shall be required to

call the Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares for redemption.

Class A Redeemnable Preferred Shares, other than those redeemed as of [time.of ‘day]
on the day of the amalgamation forming the Corporation, may be redeemed at any time
and from time to time by one or more resolutions (a “Redemption Resolution”) of the
board of directors of the Corporation, whether made before or after the issuance. or
creation of the Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares to be redeemed, stating that the
Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares set out in the Redemption Resolution shall be
redeemed, and shall be deemed to have been redeemed for the Redemption Amount
(as defined below) in the manner and at the time specified herein and in the Redemption
Resoclution.

At or before each Time of Redemption, the Corporation shall deliver or cause to be
delivered to Computershare Trust Company of Canada (the “Depositary”), at its
principal office in the City of Vancouver, Province of British Columbia, $0.01 cash (the
“Redemption Amount”) in respect of each Class A Redeemable Preferred Share to be
redeemed. Delivery of the aggregate Redemption Amount in such a manner, shall be a
full and complete discharge of the Corporation’s obligation to deliver the aggregate
Redemption Amount to the holders of Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares.

From and after the Time of Redemption, (i) the Depositary shall pay and deliver or cause
to be paid and delivered to the order of the respective holders of the Class A
Redesmable Preferred Shares, by way of cheque, on presentation and surrender at the
principal office of the Depositary in the City of Vancouver, Province of British Columbia,
of the certificate representing the common shares and preferred shares in the share
capital of the Corporation’s predecessor, Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd., which were
converted into Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares upon the amalgamation or such
other documents as the Depositary may, in its discretion, consider acceptable, the total
Redemption Amount payable and deliverable to such holders, respectively, and (ii) the

€¢0204



2

former holders of Class A Redesmable Preferred Shares shall not be entitled to exercise
any of the rights of shareholders in respect thereof except to receive the Redemption
Amount therefor, provided that if satisfaction of the Redemption Amount for any Class A
Redeemable Preferred Share is not duly made by or on behalf of the Corporation in
accordance with the provisions hereof, then the rights of such holders shall remain
unaffected. Under no circumstances will interest on the Redemption Amount be paid by
the Corporation whether as a result of any delay in paying the Redemption Amount or
otherwise.

From the Time of Redemption, each Class A Redeemable Preferred Share in respect of
which deposit of the Redemption Amount is made shall be deemed to be redeemed and
cancelled, the Corporation shall be fully and completely discharged from its obligations
with respect to the payment of the Redemption Amount to such holders of Class A
Redeemable Preferred Shares, and the rights of such holders shall be limited to
receiving the Redemption Amount payable to them on presentation and surrender of the
said cerificates held by them or other documents respectively as specified above.
Subject to the requirements of applicable law with respect to unclaimed property, it the
Redemption Amount has not been claimed in accordance with the provisions hereof
within six years of the Time of Redemption, the Redemption Amount shall be forfeited to
the Corporation.

2. Priority

The Common Shares shall rank junior to the Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares and
shall be subject in all respects to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions
attaching to the Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares.

3. Dividends

The holders of the Class A Redeernable Preferred Shares shall not be entitled to receive
any dividends.

4. Voting Rights

Except as otherwise provided in the MCA, the holders of the Class A Redeemable
Preferred Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of, to attend or to vote at any
meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation.

5. Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up

in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or any other
distribution of the property or assets of the Corporation among its shareholders for the
purpose of winding-up its affairs, and subject to the extinguishment of the rights of
holders of Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares upon satisfaction of the Redemption
Amount in respect of each Class A Redeemable Preferred Share, the holders of Class A
Redeemable Preferred Shares shali be entitled to receive and the Corporation shall pay
to such holders, before any amount shall be paid or any property or assets of the
Corporation shall be distributed to the holders of Common Shares or any other class of
shares ranking junior to the Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares as to such
entitiement, an amount equal to the Redemption Amount for each Class A Redeemable
Preferred Share held by them respectively and no more. After payment to the holders of
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the Class A Redeemable Preferred Shares of the amounts so payable to them as
hereinbefore provided, they shall not be entitled to share in any further distribution of the
property or assets of the Corporation.

Common Shares

6. Dividends

The holders of the Common Shares shall be entitled to receive dividends if, as and when
declared by the board of directors of the Corporation out of the assets of the Corporation
properly available for the payment of dividends of such amounts and payable in such
manner as the board of directors may from time to time determine.

7. Voting Rights

The holders of the Common Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of and to attend

any meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation and shall be entitled to one vote in -

respect of each Common Share held at such meetings, except a meeting of holders of a
particular class or series of shares other than the Common Shares who are entitled to
vote separately as a class or series at such meeting.

8. Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up

in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or any other
distribution of the property or assets of the Corporation among its shareholders for the
purpose of winding-up its affairs, the holders of the Common Shares shall, subject to the
rights of the holders of any other cltass of shares of the Corporation entitied to receive
the property or assets of the Corporation upon such distribution in priority to or ratably
with the holders of the Common Shares, be entitied to receive the remaining property
and assets of the Corporation.
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SCHEDULE "B"
to Article 9 of the Articles of Amalgamation of
FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

Other Provisions:

1. The number of Shareholders of the Corporation, exclusive of persons who are
employed by the Corporation and exclusive of persons who, having been
formerly employed by the Corporation, were, while so employed and have
continued after the termination of that employment to be, Shareholders of the
'Corpora!ion. is limited to not more than fifty (50), two (2) or more persons who
are joint registered owners of one (1) or more shares being counted as one (1)
Sharehoider.

2. Any invitation to the public to subscribe for secwities of the Corporation is
prohibited.
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SCHEDULE “G”

RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE TABLE

The following table sets out the corporate governance practices of the Company with respect to NI 58-101.
The Company constantly monitors evolving best practices for corporate governance.

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURE COMMENTS
GUIDELINE UNDER NI 58-101
1. | Beard of Directors

{a) Disclose the identity of the | The Board is comprised of five directors, two of the directors are

directors who are independent. independent and three are not independent. The Board considers that
Tom Maroen and Richard Shier are independent directors.

{(b) Disclose the identity of the | The Board considers that Andrew Harris, Brian Harris and John
directors who are  not [ Morgan are not independent directors. Andrew Harris is not an
independent, and describe the | independent director because of his position as President of the
basis for that determination. Company. Brian Harris is not an independent director because of his

position as Chief Executive Officer of the Company. John Morgan is
not an independent director because of his position as Executive
Director and Chairman of the Board.

The Board is responsible for determining whether or not each director
is an independent director. To do this, the Board analyzes all the
relationships of the directors with the Company and its subsidiaries.
Those directors who do not meet the meaning of independence as
provided in NI 58-101 were deemed to not be independent directors.

2. | Directorship

If a director is presently a director of | The following directors currently do not serve on the Board of any

any other issuer that is a reporting | other reporting issuer(s} (or equivalent):

issuer (or the equivalent} in a .

Co Lo Andrew Harris

jurisdiction or a foreign jurisdiction, Brian Harri

identity both the director and the | o TAMS

other issuer. Tom Marcon

John Morgan
Richard Shier
3. | Orientation and Continuing

Education

Describe what steps, if any, the Board | Currently, the Board is responsible for providing an orientation and

takes to orient new board members | education program for new members of the Board.

and describe what measures, if any,

the Board takes to provide continuing

education for directors.

4. | Ethical Business Conduct

Describe what steps, if any, the Board
takes to encourage and promote a
culture of ethical business conduct,

The Board has not yet adopted guidelines or attempted to quantify or
stipulate steps to encourage and promote a culture of ethical business
conduct; but does promote ethical business conduct through the
nomination of Board members it considers ethical and through
avoiding and minimizing conflicts of interest.

G-1
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GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURE
GUIDELINE UNDER NI 58-101

COMMENTS

Nomination of Directors

Describe what steps, if any, are taken
to identify new candidates for Board
nomination, including:

(a)

who identifies new candidates,
and

(®)

the process of identifying new
candidates.

The Board considers its size when it considers the number of directors
to recommend to the shareholders for election at the annual meeting of
shareholders, taking into account the number required to carry out the
Board’s duties effectively and to maintain a diversity of views and
experience.

The Board does not have a nominating committee, and these functions
are currently performed by the Board as a whole. However, if there is a
change in the number of directors required by the Company, this policy
will be reviewed.

Compensation

Describe what steps, if any are taken
to determine compensation for the
directors and CEQ, including:

(a)

who determines compensation;
and

(b}

the process
compensation.

of determining

The Board has determined that the directors and officers should be
compensated in a form and amount which is appropriate for
comparative organizations, having regard for such matters as time
commitment, responsibility and trends in director and executive
compensation.

For more information regarding compensation paid to directors and
executives, see pages 10 and 11 of this Management Proxy Circular.

Other Board Committees

If the Board has standing committees
other than the audit, compensation
and nominating committees, identify
the committees and describe their
function.

The Board does not have any other standing committees.

Assessments

Disclose what steps, if any, that the
Board takes to satisfy itself that the
Board, its committees, and its
individual directors are performing
effectively.

Currently, the Board takes responsibility for monitoring and assessing
the effectiveness of the Board and the performance of individual
directors, its committees, including reviewing the Board’s
decision-making processes and quality and adequacy of information
provided by management.
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SCHEDULE “H”
RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

A. OVERVIEW AND PURPOSE

The Audit Cbmmiuee of Russell Breweries Inc, (the “Company”) has been formed to enable the Board of
Directors of the Company to perform its obligations with respect to compliance with applicable securities laws and
the rules of the TSX Venture Exchange.

The Audit Commiltee is responsible to the Board of Directors of the Company. The primary objective of
the Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities with respect to:

(a) disclosure of financial and related information;

(b) the relationship with and expectations of the external auditors of the Company, including the
establishment of the independence of the external auditors; '

(c) the oversight of the Company’s internal controls; and

(d) any other matters that the Audit Committee feels are important to its mandate or that the Board of
Directors of the Company chooses to delegate to it.

The Audit Committee will approve, monitor, evaluate, advise or make recommendations in accordance
with this Charter, with respect to the matters set out above.

B. ORGANIZATION
1. Size and Membership Criteria

The Audit Committee will consist of three or more Directors of the Company.

A majority of the members of the Audit Committee must be independent of management and free from any
interest, business or other relationship, other than interests and relationships arising from holding common shares of
the Company or other securities which are exchangeable into common shares of the Company, which could, or
could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the
Company. '

All members of the Audit Committee should be financially literate and be able to read and understand basic
financial statements. At least one member of the Audit Committee must have accounting or related financial
expertise and should be able to analyze and interpret a full set of financial statements, including notes, in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.

2, Appointment and Vacancies

The members of the Audit Committee are appointed or reappointed by the Board of Directors following
cach annual meeting of the shareholders of the Company. Each member of the Audit Committee will continue to be
a member of the Audit Committee until his or her successor is appointed unless he or she resigns or is removed by
the Board of Directors of the Company or ceases (o be a Director of the Company. Where a vacancy occurs at any
time in the membership of the Audit Committee the Board of Directors of the Company may appoint a qualified
individual to fill such vacancy and must appoint a qualified individual if the membership of the Audit Committee is
less than three Directors as a result of any such vacancy.
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. C. MEETINGS

I. Frequency

The Audit Committee will meet at least four times per year on a quarterly basis, or more frequently as
circumstances require. In addition, the Audit Committee may also meet at least once per year with management and
the external auditors of the Company in separate executive sessions to discuss any matters that the Audit Committee
or ezch of these groups believes should be discussed privately.

2. Chair

The Board of Directors of the Company or, in the event of its failure to do so, the members of the Audit
Committee, will appoint a Chair from amongst their number. If the Chair of the Audit Committee is not present at
any meeting of the Audit Committee, the Chair of the meeting will be chosen by the Audit Committee from among
the members present.

The Audit Committee will also appoint a secretary who need not be a Director of the Company.

3, " Time and Place of Meetings

The time and place of meetings of the Audit Committee and the procedure at such meetings will be
determined from time to time by the members of the Audit Committee, provided that:

(a) aquorum for meetings of the Audit Committee will be two members present in person or by telephone or
other telecommunication device that permits all persons participating in the meeting to speak and hear
each other, and

. {(b) notice of the time and place of every meeting will be given in writing or facsimile to each member of the
Audit Committee, the internal auditors, the external auditors and the corporate secretary of the Company
at least 24 hours prior to the time fixed for such meeting.

Any person entitled to notice of a meeting of the Audit Committee may waive such notice (and attendance
at a meeting is a waiver of notice of the meeting, except where a member attends a meeting for the express purpose
of objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting is not lawfully called).

A meeting of the Audit Committee may be called by the corporate secretary of the Company on the
direction of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, by any member of the Audit Committee or the external
auditors. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Audit Committee will at all times have the right to determine who will
and will not be present at any part of the meeting of the Audit Committee.

4. Agenda

The Chairman will ensure that the agenda for each upcoming meeting of the Audit Committee is circulated
to each member of the Audit Committee as well as each of the external auditors and corporate secretary of the
Company in advance of the meeting of the Audit Committee not later than three Business Days prior to each
meeting.

5. Resources

The Audit Committee will have the authority to retain independent legal, accounting and other consultants
to advise the Audit Committee, and to set the pay and compensation for such consultants, The Audit Committee
may request any officer or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries or the legal counsel to the Company or the
external auditors of the Company to attend any meeting of the Audit Committee or to meet with any members of, or
consuttants to, the Audit Commitiee.
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. D. DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board of Directors of the Company has delegated the following duties and responsibilities to the Audit
Committee, and the Audit Committee shall have the sole authority and responsibility to carry out these duties and

responsibilities.
1. Review and Reporting Procedures

The Audit Committee will make regular reports to the Board of Directors of the Company. The Audit
Committee will review and re-assess the Audit Committee Charter on an annual basis and make recommendations
for changes to this Charter. The Audit Comunittee will also periodically perform a self-assessment of ils
performance against its mandate.

2. Financial Reporting

The Audit Committee will review and discuss with management, the internal auditors (as applicable) and
the external auditors of the Company the following financial statements and related information prior to filing or
public dissemination: )

(a) annual audited financial statements of the Company, including notes;

(b) interim financial statements of the Company;

(c) management discussion and analysis (“MD&A") relating to each of the annval! audited financial
statements and the interim financial statements of the Company;

(d} news releases and material change reports announcing annual or interim financial results or otherwise
. disclosing the financial performance of the Company, including the use of non-GAAP earnings measures;

(e) the annual report of the Company;

() all financial-related disclosure to be included in management proxy circulars of the Company in
connection with meetings of shareholders; and

(g} all financial-related disclosure to be included in or incorporated by reference into any prospectus or other
offering documents that may be prepared by the Company.

As part of this review process, the Audit Committee will meet with the external auditors without
management present to receive input from the external auditors with respect to the acceptability and quality of the
relevant financial information.

The Audit Committee will also review the following items in relation to the above listed documents:;

(a) significant accounting and reporting issues or plans to change accounting practices or policies and the
financial impact thereof;

(b) any significant or unusual iransactions;
(c) significant management estimates and judgments; and
{d) monthly financial statements.
Following the review by the Audit Commitiee of the documents set out above, the Auﬁil Committee will

recommend to the Board of Directors that such documents be approved by the Board of Directors and filed with all
applicable securities regulatory bodies and/or be sent to shareholders.
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3. External Auditors

The Audit Comnmittee is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of the work
of the external auditors of the Company (including resolution of disagreements between management and the
external auditors regarding financial reporting) for the purpose of preparing or issuing its audit report or performing
other audit review or attest services. As a result, the Audit Committee will review and recommend the appointment
of the external auditors and the remuneration of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee will review on an annual basis the performance of the external auditors of the
Company. The Audit Committee will discuss with the external auditors any disclosed relationships or non-audit
services that the external auditors propose te provide to the Company or any of its subsidiaries that may impact the
objectivity and independence of the external auditors in order to satisfy itself of the independence of the external
auditors.

In addition, the Avdit Committee will review on an annual basis the scope and plan of the work to be done
by the external auditors of the Company for the coming financial year.

Prior to the release of the annual financial statements of the Company, the Audit Committee will discuss
certain matters required to be communicated to the Audit Committee by the external auditors in accordance with the
standards established by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. The Committee will also consider the
external auditors’ judgment about the quality and appropriatencss of the Company’s accounting principles as applied
in the Company’s financial reporting.

4, Legal and Compliance
The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing with management of the Company the following:

(a) any off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent obligations) and other
relationships of the Company and its subsidiaries which would have a material current or future effect on
the financial condition of the Company;

{b) major risk exposures facing the Company and the steps that management has taken to monitor, control
and manage such exposures, including the Company’s risk assessment and risk management guidelines
and policies;

{c) any litigation, claim or other contingency, including tax assessments that could have a material effect
upon the financial position or operating results of the Company and its subsidiaries and the manner in
which these matters have been disclosed in the financial statements; and

{d) the quarterly and annual certificates of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company certifying the Company’s quarterly and annual financial filings in compliance with Multilateral
Instrument 52-109 of the Canadian Securities Administrators.

5. Internal Controls

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the adequacy of the Company’s internal control
structures and procedures designed to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Audit Committee is responsible for establishing procedures for the following:

(a) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company regardmg accounting, internal
accounting controls, or auditing matters; and

{b) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees or consultants of the Company of concerns
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.
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. The Audit Committee will review and approve the Company’s hiring policies regarding partners,
employees and former partners and employees of the present and former external auditors. The Audit Commitiee
will also review the letters from the external auditors of the Company outlining the material weaknesses in internal
controls noted from their audit, including relevant drafts of such letters.
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SCHEDULE “1”

FAIRNESS OPINION

See attached.

H 00215




VALUATION REPORT
AND
RELATED FAIRNESS OPINION

FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY
Winnipeg, Manitoba

& -

RUSSELL BREWERIES INC.

Surrey, British Columbia

July 23, 2007

- 00216




Fort Garry Brewing Company and Russell Breweries Inc.
Valuation Report and Related Fairness Opinion

July 23, 2007
TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
1.0 ASSIGNMENT & PROPOSED TRANSACTION 1
2.0 BACKGROUND OF THE COMPANIES .3
3.0 SCOPE OF THE REPORT 4
40 CONDITIONS OF THE REPORT 5
50 ASSUMPTIONS OF THE REPORT 7
6.0 DEFINITION OF FAIR MARKET VALUE 8
7.0 REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS - FORT GARRY 9
8.0 REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS - RUSSELL ' 10
9.0 VALUATION METHODOLOGIES 11
10.0 VALUATION OF FORT GARRY 14
11.0 VALUATION OF RUSSELL 16
12.0 FAIRNESS CONSIDERATIONS 18
13.0 CONCLUSION AS TO FAIRNESS 21
140 CERTIFICATION AND QUALIFICATIONS 22

EVANS & EVANS, INC. '

co

<

17




Fort Garry Brewing Company and Russell Breweries Inc.
Valuation Report and Related Fairness Opinion '
July 23, 2007 Page 1

1.0 ASSIGNMENT & PROPOSED TRANSACTION

1.1 Assignment

Evans & Evans, Inc. (“Evans & Evans” or the “authors of the Report™) was engaged by
the Independent Committee of the Board of Directors (“the Independent Committee™) of
Fort Garry Brewing Company (hereinafter referred to as “FGB” or “Fort Garry”) of
Winnipeg, Manitoba to prepare an independent Valuation Report and Related Fairness
Opinion (the “Report™) with respect to providing an independent opinion and assessments
as to the fairness of the intended acquisition (refer to section 1.2) of 100% of the issued
and outstanding common and preferred shares of Fort Garry by Russell Breweries Inc.
(“RBI” or “Russell”) of Surrey, British Columbia from a financial point of view, to the
shareholders of Fort Garry as at June 30, 2007 (“Valuation Date).

Throughout the Report, Russell and Fort Garry are collectively referred to as “the
Companies”.

Fort Garry is a Manitoba brewer and distributor of beer and lager, primarily in Manitoba,
whose shares are listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (the “Exchange”) under
the symbol “FGA”. .

Russell’s shares were listed for trading on the Exchange under the symbol “RB” on
October 23, 2006. Russell has one wholly-owned subsidiary, Russell Brewing Company,
which produces premium draught beer for pubs and eateries throughout British
Columbia.

Given the above, Evans & Evans was requested to prepare a formal valuation of all of the
issued and outstanding shares of Fort Garry and all of the issued and outstanding shares
of Russell as at the Valuation Date, three months from the date for which the most recent
financial information was available on the Companies and the date closest to the date of
the agreement between Fort Garry and Russell for which financial information was
available.

Evans & Evans’ Report is to provide the Independent Committee of Fort Garry
independent information, analysis and an opinion that provides specific evidence as to the
fairness of the Proposed Transaction at the Valuation Date to the shareholders of Fort
Garry. The Report is prepared for the directors and shareholders of Fort Garry and may
also be submitted to the Exchange and appropriate court bodies.

In connection with the Proposed Transaction cited above, the Independent Comunittee of
Fort Garry conducted their own review of the Proposed Transaction. The Independent
Committee has requested Evans & Evans’ opinion to provide an independent verification
of the fairness of the Proposed Transaction.

EVANS & EVANS, INC. I
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. 1.2

As Evans & Evans will be relying extensively on information, materials and
representations provided to us by the Companies'’ management and associated
representatives, the authors of the Report will require that management of Fort Garry
confirm to Evans & Evans in writing that it has reviewed the Report in detail and that the
information and management's representations contained in the Report are accurate,
correct and complete, and that there are no material omissions of information that would
affect the conclusions contained in the Report.

Evans & Evans, its staff and associates, do not assume any responsibility or liability for
losses incurred by Fort Garry, Russell and their management and shareholders or any
other parties as a result of the circulation, publication, reproduction, or use of the Report,
or any excerpts thereto contrary to the provisions of this section of the Report.

‘Evans & Evans also reserves the right to review all calculations included or referred to in

the Report and, if Evans & Evans considers it necessary, to revise the Report in light of
any information existing at the Valuation Date which becomes known to Evans & Evans
after the date of the Report.

For the purpose of this Report, the Valuation Date is June 30, 2007. Unless otherwise
indicated, all monetary amounts are stated in Canadian dollars (C$).

Proposed Transaction

On May 28, 2007 the Companies entered into a letter of intent (the “L.OT") which
outlined the key terms of the proposed acquisition of Fort Garry by Russell (the
“Proposed Transaction™). The key terms of the Proposed Transaction are outlined below:

® Russell will purchase of all outstanding common shares and preferred shares of Fort
Garry.

¢ Common shareholders of Fort Garry will have the option to receive for each Fort
Garry common share, either;

o (a)one comﬁon share of Russell; or
o -(b) one half of one common share of Russell plus $0.20 cash; or
o (c)$0.40 cash.

¢ The preferred shareholders of Fort Garry will be offered cash for the par value of
their shares plus any accrued redemption premium and dividends.

. l EVANS & EVANS, INC. '
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20 BACKGROUND OF THE COMPANIES

2.1 Fort Garry Brewing Company

Fort Garry is a Manitoba-based brewer and distributor of premium quality beers
including Fort Garry Dark Ale, Fort Garry Pale Ale, Fort Garry Premium Light, Two
Rivers Red and Stone Cold. Albino Rhino is produced for Earl’s Restaurant chain and
River Dog for the Branigan’s Restaurant chain in Manitoba. Fort Garry’s beers are sold
in bottles, cans, plastic and kegs.

FGB, which was founded by the late Richard Hoeschen in 1992 and commenced
operations in 1994, was the first of a small number of micro-breweries to be established
‘in Manitoba in the mid to late 1990s following the departure of the national brewers from
the Province of Manitoba. In May of 2003, Fort Garry amalgamated with Two Rivers
Brewing Co. Ltd., another Manitoba-based microbrewery.

After a decline in revenues in 2005, Fort Garry entered the value priced beer market in
2006. Also in 2006, the provincial and federal government reduced taxes on small
brewers. The two events combined for improved results in 2006 and the first three
months of 2007.

i . 2.2 Russell Breweries Inc.

Russell, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Russell Brewing Company, produces
premium beer in British Columbia. Russell’s products include: Russell Cream Ale,
Russell Pale Ale, Russell Honey Blonde Ale, Russell Extra Special Lager plus two
seasonal brews, Russell Lemon Ale and Russell Porter.

Russell was incorporated under the British Columbia Company Act on March 23, 2000,
as new Market Ventures Inc. and was originally formed with the intent that it would be a
capital pool company pursuant to the policies of the Exchange. Russell filed a prospectus
with the British Columbia Securities Commission however failed to complete the
offering there under and failed to complete its application to have its securities listed on
the Exchange as a capital pool company. On January 4, 2004, Russell entered the
microbrewery industry with the acquisition of 100% of the issued and outstanding share
capital of Russell Brewing Company Ltd., a Vancouver-based microbrewery. During
fiscal 2005, the cease trade order that was imposed on the company in 2003 was lifted
and Russell was reactivated as a fully reporting public company in compliance and
shortly thereafter commenced trading on the CNQ Stock Exchange. In conjunction with
this, the Company changed its name from New Market Ventures Inc. to Russell
Breweries Inc and completed a share split such that every one issued common share prior
to split was exchanged into four post-split common shares.

. | EVANS & EVANS, INC. |
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3.0 SCOPE OF THE REPORT

In arriving at the assessment and conclusion as to the fair market value of the Companies
as at the Valuation Date and the conclusions as to faimegs, Evans & Evans have relied on
the following documents and information: -

Foﬂ G_a_l_'l_'g Documents

* Conducted a site visit to the FGB facilities in Winnipeg, Manitoba in July of 2007.
Also conducted interviews with the CEO of the Company, Doug Saville.

* Reviewed the Management Discussion and Analysis disclosures of FGB for the 12
" months preceding the Valuation Date.

¢ Reviewed FGB’s financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2003 — 2004
as audited by KPMG, LLC Chartered Accountants of Winnipeg, Manitoba.

¢ Reviewed FGB’s financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005 — 2006
as andited by Meyers, Nomris Penny, LLP Chartered Accountants of Winnipeg,
Manitoba.

. » Reviewed FGB’s financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2007 as
prepared by management. ‘

* Reviewed Fort Garry’s press releases for the 12 months preceding the Valuation
Date.

* Reviewed the trading price and volume of Fort Garry’s shares on the Exchange for
the period March 7, 2006 to the Valuation Date.

* Reviewed Fort Garry’s monthly budget for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Russell Documents

¢ Interviewed Mr. John Morgan, Chairman of Russell and Mr. Hugh Notman, Advisor
to Russell. Evans & Evans did not conduct a site visit to the offices of Russell and
have instead relied upon representations of management of Fort Garry as to the status
of the operations.

* Reviewed a corporate PowerPoint presentation on Russell.

. I EVANS & EVANS, INC. |
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Reviewed the financial statements for Russell for the years ended June 30, 2003 -
2006 as audited by Lancaster & David, Chartered Accountants of Vancouver, British
Columbia.

Reviewed the financial statements for Russell for the nine months ended March 31,
2007 as prepared by management. -

Reviewed Russell’s press releases for the 12 months preceding the Valuation Date.

Reviewed the trading price and volume of Russell’s shares on the Exchange for the
period October 23, 2006 to the Valuation Date.

Reviewed the Infonﬁation Circular for the Extraordinary General Meeting Of
Shareholders for Russell as set for August 10, 2007 and dated July 13, 2007.

General Information

Reviewed information on the Companies’ markets from sources including the
Brewers Association of Canada, Euromonitor, Datamonitor, and Statistics Canada.

Reviewed the projections for Russell post-Proposed Transaction.

Reviewed Equity Research Reports on Brick Brewing Co. Limited as prepared by
Raymond James and dated March 14, 2005 and September 8, 2006.

Reviewed the Datamonitor “Beer in Canada™ Industry Profile dated October 2005.

Reviewed financial data and stock market trading data on the following companies
whose shares are listed for trading on North American stock exchanges: The Boston
Beer Company, Inc., Anheuser-Busch, Inc.,, Molson Coors Brewing Company,
Constellation Brands, Inc., Big Rock Brewery Income Trust, Brick Brewing Co.
Limited, Redhook Ale Brewery, Inc. and Pyramid Breweries Inc.

4.0 CONDITIONS OF THE REPORT

The Report may not be issued to anyone, nor relied upon by any party beyond the
Exchange and/or Fort Garry, nor can it be issued to any U.S. stock exchange and/or
regulatory authority beyond the Exchange. The Report may be referenced and/or
including in Fort Garry’s information circular and may be submitted to the Fort Garry
shareholders.

The Report may not be issued and/or used to support and type of value with any other
third parties, legal authorities, nor other foreign stock exchanges, or other regulatory
authorities, nor the Canada Revenue Agency nor the Internal Revenue Service. Such use
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is done so without the consent of Evans & Evans and readers are advised of such
restricted use as set out above. Nor can it be used or relied upon by any of these parties
or relied upon in any legal proceeding and/or court matter (other than relating to the
approval of the Proposed Transaction).

* Any use beyond that defined above is done so without the consent of Evans & Evans and
readers are advised of such restricted use as set out above.

* Evans & Evans did rely only on the information, materials and representations provided
to it by the Companies. Evans & Evans did apply generally accepted valuation principles
to the financial information it did receive from the Companies.

® We have assumed that the information which is contained in the Report, is 100%
accurate, correct and complete, and that there are no material omissions of information
that would affect the conclusions contained in the Report that the Companies are aware
of. Evans & Evans did not attempt to verify the accuracy or completeness of the data and
information available. The conclusion hence does not represent our ungualified
assessment. In order to provide an unqualified assessment and/or an opinion, Evans &
Evans would have undertaken considerable more research, analysis and independent due
diligence, which will be outlined in the Report.

® The Report, and more specifically the assessments and views contained therein, is meant
- . as independent review of the Companies as at June 30, 2007 respecting the scope
restrictions outlined above. The authors of the Report make no representations,
conclusions, or assessments, expressed or implied, regarding the Companies or events
after the date of the management-prepared financial statements. The
information/assessments contained in the Report pertain only to the conditions prevailing
at the time the Report was completed between July 5, 2007 and the date of the Report.

¢ Should the assumptions used in the Report be found to be incorrect, then the valuation
and fairness conclusion may be rendered invalid and would likely have to be reviewed in
light of correct and/or additional information.

* Evans & Evans denies any responsibility, financial or legal or other, for any use and/or
improper use of the Report however occasioned.

* Evans & Evans’s assessments and conclusion is based on the information that has been
made available to it. Evans & Evans reserves the right to review all information and
calculations included or referred to in the Report and, if it considers it necessary, to revise
part and/or its entire Report in light of any information which becomes known to Evans
& Evans during or after the date of this Report.

* This analysis and Report does not constitute in any manner a tax opinion and may not
now, or in the future, be used for that purpose.

. | EVANS & EVANS, INC. I
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5.0

e Evans & Evans as well as all of its principals, partner, staff or associates’ total liability
for any errors, omissions or negligent acts, whether they are in contract or in tort or in
beech of fiduciary duty or otherwise, arising from any professional services performed or
not performed by Evans & Evans, its principals, partner, any of its directors, officers,
shareholders or employees, shall be limited to the fees charged and paid for the Report.
No claim shall be brought against any of the above parties, in contract or in tort, more
than two years after the date of the Report.

ASSUMPTIONS OF THE REPORT

The authors of the Report have made the following assumptions in completing the -

Report:

(1) As at the Valuation Date all assets and liabilities of the Companies have been
recorded in its accounts and financial statements and follow Canadian GAAP.

(2) An audit of the Companies’ management-prepared financial statements for the
periods ended March 31, 2007 would not result in any material changes to the
financial statements provided to the authors of the Report.

(3) There were no material changes in the financial position of the Companies between
March 31, 2007 and June 30, 2007 unless noted in the Report.

(4) The book value of the Companies’ assets at the Valuation Date equaled their fair
market value unless otherwise noted.

(5) Key management of Russell and Fort Garry, namely Mr. Brian Harris, Mr. John
Morgan and Mr. Doug Saville, remain employed with Russell for a period of not less
than two years following the completion of the Proposed Transaction.

(6) All warrants and options “in-the-money” based on the trading price of the Companies
as at the Valvation Date are assumed to be exercised at the close of the Proposed
Transaction. Such an assumption was deemed appropriate by the authors of the
Report in order to provide Fort Garry shareholders with a clear understanding of their
potential shareholding in Russell post-Proposed Transaction on a fully-diluted basis.

(7) All conditions precedent to the closing of the Proposed Transaction will be satisfied
in due course.

(8) Representations made by FGB and RBI as to the number of shares outstanding pre-
Proposed Transaction and Post-Proposed Transaction are accurate.

(9) The Companies and all of their related parties and their principals had no contingent
liabilities, unusual contractual arrangements, or substantial commitments, other than
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6.0

in the ordinary course of business, nor litigation pending or threatened, nor judgments
rendered against, other than those disclosed by management and included in the
Report that would affect the evaluation or comment.

Evans & Evans reserves the right to review all information and calculations included or
referred to in this Report and, if it considers it necessary, to revise its views in the light of
any information which becomes known to it during or after the date of this Report.

DEFINITION OF FAIR MARKET VALUE

In this Report, fair market value is defined as the highest price available in an open and
unrestricted market between informed and prudent parties, acting at arms’ length and
under no compulsion to act, expressed in terms of cash.

With respect to the market for the shares of a company viewed “en bloc” there are, in
essence, as many “prices” for any business interest as there are purchasers and each
purchaser for a particular “pool of assets”, be it represented by overlying shares or the
assets themselves, can likely pay a price unique to it because of its ability to utilize the
assets in a manner peculiar to it. In any open market transaction, a purchaser will review
a potential acquisition in relation to what economies of scale (e.g., reduced or eliminated
competition, ensured source of material supply or sales, cost savings arising on business
combinations following acquisitions, and so on), or “synergies” that may result from such
an acquisition.

Theoretically, each corporate purchaser can be presumed to be able to enjoy such
economies of scale in differing degrees and therefore each purchaser could pay a
different price for a particular pool of assets than can each other purchaser. Based on the
authors of the Report’s experience, it is only in negotiations with such a special purchaser

- that potential synergies can be quantified and even then, the purchaser is generally in a

better position to quantify the value of any special benefits than is the vendor.

In this engagement Evans & Evans was not able to expose the Companies for sale in the
open market and were therefore unable to determine the existence of any special interest
purchasers who might be prepared to pay a price equal or greater than the fair market
value (assuming the existence of special interest purchasers) outlined in the Report. As
noted above, special interest purchasers might be prepared to pay a price higher than fair
market value for the synergies noted above.

The shares of the Companies have been valued en bloc,
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7.0 REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS — FORT GARRY

7.1  Historical Financial Results
The authors of the Report reviewed:

(1) Fort Garry’s management-prepared financial statements for the three months ended
March 31, 2007; and,

(2) Fort Garry’s audited financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2003 -
2006.

Evans & Evans has common-sized the results to indicate trends in Schedule 1.0 — Fort -

Garry Historical Financial Statements. -
7.2 Financial Plan

Evans & Evans did review Fort Garry’s budget for 2007 as outlined in Schedule 2.0 —
Fort Garry Budget. Management of FGB noted to the authors of the Report that longer-
term financial projections are not prepared given the nature of the business (subject to
cyclicality and fluctuation in demand/ prices).

. 7.3 Tangible Asset Backing

In determining the underlying book value of the common shares of Fort Garry (pre-
Proposed Transaction), it is useful to view the adjusted tangible asset backing (“TAB”) of
Fort Garry as at the Valuation Date.

The value of a firm’s tangible assets affects a purchaser’s analysis of the risk inherent in
investing in that firm. Tangible asset backing is defined as the aggregate fair market
value of all tangible and identifiable intangible assets of a business, where the latter have
values that can be separately determined under a going-concern assumption, minus all
liabilities. Valuvation theory holds that tangible asset backing is relevant, given the higher
TAB, generally the higher the value of a firm. This TAB calculation work is outlined in
Schedule 3.0 — Fort Garry Tangible Asset Backing.

The authors of the Report have reviewed the March 31, 2007 balance sheet of Fort Garry
and have made certain adjustments in order to determine the net adjusted tangible asset
backing as at the Valuation Date. In doing so, it was determined that the net adjusted
TAB of Fort Garry (after noted adjustments) is approximately $3,100,000.

The TAB calculation work is outlined in Schedule 3.0 — Fort Garry Tangible Asset
Backing. In calculating the TAB of Fort Garry, a significant leverage adjustment was
made, as outlined in the following section.

. | EVANS & EVANS, INC. I
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7.4 Redundant Assets

Redundancies, or Redundant Assets, are defined as those assets, which are not required in
the day-to-day operation of a business, and accordingly can be liquidated or put to some
alternative use without risk to the business. The fair market value of a corporation’s
redundant assets increases the fair market value of its shares otherwise determined under
an Income Approach. Alternatively, a company’s capital structure may be over-levered
when compared to industry norms. The degree of over-leverage is considered a negative
redundancy and must be adjusted for in determining the conpany’s fair market value.

Overall, in determining the fair market of a company Evans & Evans must first adjust the
balance sheet of a firm at the Valuation Date in order that the firm’s financial ratios are
in-line with industry norms. In reviewing Fort Garry’s financial position as at the
Valuation Date, Evans & Evans is of the view that Fort Garry was over-levered, i.e., had
too much debt. Accordingly, a leverage adjustment of $1.7 million would be required
when utilizing an Income Approach. Refer to Schedule 4.0 — Fort Garry Leverage
Analysis.

8.0 REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS - RUSSELL

. 8.1  Historical Financial Statements
The authors of the Report reviewed the:

(1) Management-prepared income statements for Russell for the nine months ended
March 31, 2007; and,

(2) Audited financial statements of Russell for the years ended June 30, 2003 - 2006.

The above-noted financial statements have been common-sized and summarized in
Schedule 5.0 — Russell Historical Financial Statements.

8.2 Financial Projections

Evans & Evans requested, but management of Russell was unable to provide Evans &
Evans financial projections for Russell on an independent basis. Russeli management
noted to Evans & Evans that RBI had prepared its forecasts based on acquisition
assumptions as such acquisitions are a critical part of Russell’s planned growth.

8.3 Tangible Asset Backing

In determining the underlying book value of the common shares of Russell (pre-Proposed
Transaction), it is useful to view the TAB of Russell as at the Valuation Date. This TAB
calculation work is outlined in Schedule 6.0 — Russell Tangible Asset Backing.
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The authors of the Report have reviewed the March 31, 2007 balance sheet of Russell and
have made certain adjustments to Russell’s balance sheet in order to determine the net
adjusted TAB as at the Valuation Date. In doing so, it was determined that the tangible
asset backing of Russell (after noted adjustments) is approximately $1,800,000. In
calculating the TAB of Russell, a leverage adjustment was made, as outlined in the
following section.

84 Redundant Assets

Schedule 7.0- Russell Leverage Analysis assesses whether there are any redundancies or

redundant assets in Russell. In reviewing Russell’s financial position as at the Valuation

Date, Evans & Evans is of the view that Russell was over-levered, i.e., had too much
debt. Accordingly, a leverage adjustment of $370,000 would be required when utilizing
an Income Approach.

9.0 VALUATION METHODOLOGIES

9.1 Going Concern versus Liquidation Value

The first stage in determining which approach to utilize in valuing a company is to
determine whether the company is a going concern or whether it should be valued based

~ on a liquidation assumption. A business is deemed to be a going concern if it is both
conducting operations at a given date and has every reasonable expectation of doing so
for the foreseeable future after that date. If a company is deemed to not be a going
concern, it is valued based on a liquidation assumption.

92 Overview

In valuing an asset and/or a business, there is no single or specific mathematical formula.
The particular approach and the factors to consider will vary in each case. Where there is
evidence of open market transactions having occurred involving the shares, or operating
assets, of a business interest, those transactions may often form the basis for establishing
the value of the company. In the absence of open market transactions, the three basic,
generally-accepted approaches for valuing a business interest are:

(a) The Income / Cash Flow Approach;
(b) The Market Approach; and
(c) The Cost or Asset-Based Approach.

A summary of these generally-accepted valuation approaches is provided below.
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The Income/Cash Flow Approach is a general way of determining a value indication of a
business (or its underlying assets), using one or more methods wherein a value is
determined by capitalizing or discounting anticipated future benefits. This approach
contemplates the continuation of the operations, as if the business is a “going concern”.

The Market Approach to valuation is a general way of determining a value indication of a
business or an equity interest therein using one or more methods that compare the subject
entity to similar businesses, business ownership interests and securities (investments) that
have been sold. Examples of methods applied under this approach include, as
appropriate: (a) the “Guideline Public Company Method”, (b) the “Merger and
Acquisition Method”; and (c) analyses of prior transactions of ownership interests in the
subject entity.

The Cost Approach is based upon the economic principle of substitution. This basic
economic principle asserts that an informed, prudent purchaser will pay no more for an
asset than the cost to obtain an opportunity of equal utility (that is, either purchase or
construct a similar asset). From an economic perspective, a purchaser will consider the
costs that they will avoid and use this as a basis for value. The Cost Approach typically
includes a comprehensive and all- inclusive definition of the cost to recreate an asset.
Typically the definition of cost includes the direct material, labor and overhead costs,
indirect administrative costs, and all forms of obsolescence applicable to the asset.

. - The Asset-Based Approach is adopted where either: (a) liquidation is contemplated
because the business is not viable as an ongoing operation; (b) the nature of the business
is such that asset values constitute the prime determinant of corporate worth (e.g., vacant
land, a portfolio of real estate, marketable securities, or investment holding company,
etc.); or (c) there are no indicated earnings/cash flows to be capitalized. If consideration
of all relevant facts establishes that the Asset-Based Approach is applicable, the method
to be employed will be either a going-concern scenario (“Adjusted Net Asset Method™)
or a liquidation scenario (on either a forced or an orderly basis), depending on the facts.

Lastly, a combination of the above approaches may be necessary to consider the various
elements that are often found within specialized companies and/or are associated with
various forms of intellectual property.

9.3 Fort Garry Valuation Approach

With respect to Fort Garry, Evans & Evans believed it was appropriate to value FGB on a -
going concern basis. The reason for this is: {1) Fort Garry has been in operation for a
number of years and has recently returned to profitability; (2) the extended history and
nature of the business indicates that commercial goodwill has developed within FGB that
extends beyond any personal goodwill; (3) the business is generating a reasonable return
on its assets; and, (4) the going concern approach yields a higher value than a liquidation
approach.
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94

Given the nature and status of Fort Garry at the Valuation Date as well as the approaches
of valuation outlined above, it is the view of the authors of the Report that that the most
appropriate method in determining the range of the fair market value of Fort Garry at the
Valuation Date was an Income Approach and a Market Approach based on a going
concern assumption for Fort Garry. Specifically, Evans & Evans used a Capitalization of
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”) Method
and a Trading Price Method.

The reader should note that Evans & Evans also attempted to use a variety of other
valuation approaches. In this regard, Evans & Evans considered the following
approaches, but were unable to use any of them:

(a) Cost Approach. The Cost Approach is generally appropriate under certain
circumstances where an asset is still under development, there is no history of
generating cash flows, and future cash flows are so uncertain as to be speculative. A
weakness of the Cost Approach is that the cost of the opportunity may bear little
relationship to the economic benefits that a purchaser might anticipate to derive from
such opportunity upon commercial exploitation of the asset. In the case of Fort Garry,
given FGB has revenues and earnings, the Cost Approach was deemed inappropriate.

(b) Asset-Based Approach. The Asset-Based Approach is generally utilized where either:
(i) the company is not deemed to be a going concern; (ii) the nature of the business is
such that asset values represent the largest portion of the company’s worth (e.g., real
estate holding companies); and, (iii) there are no earnings or cash flow to be
capitalized. In the case of Fort Garry and the existence of commercial goodwill, the
Asset-Based Approach was deemed inappropriate.

Russell Vatuation Approach

With respect to Russell, Evans & Evans believed it was appropriate to value RBI on a
going concern basis. The reason for this is: (1) Russell has been in operation for a number
of years and actions taken by management suggest that while profitability has not yet
been achieved Russell positive cash flows will be generated in the short-term; (2) the
history and nature of the business indicates that commercial goodwill has developed
within Russell that extends beyond any personal goodwill; (3) the business is generating
a reasonable return on its assets; and, (4) the going concern approach yields a higher
value than a liquidation approach.

Given the nature and status of Russell at the Valuation Date as well as the approaches of
valuation outlined above, it is the view of the authors of the Report that that the most
appropriate method in determining the range of the fair market value of Russell at the

Valuation Date was a weighted approach giving consideration to two separate Market

Approaches. Specifically, Evans & Evans weighted the Historical Transaction Method
and the Trading Price Method in arriving at the fair market value of Russell.
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10.0

10.1

The reader should note that Evans & Evans also attempted to use a variety of other
valuation approaches. In this regard, Evans & Evans considered the following
approaches, but were unable to use any of them:

(a) Income Approach. As Russell is not yet at the stage where it is generating positive
earnings or cash flow, an Income Approach based on historical results could not be
utilized. Further, as Russell’s go-forward projections are based fundamentally on
acquisitions and a stand-alone set of financial projections was not available, the
Income Approach was not able to be utilized.

l (b) Cost Approach. The Cost Approach is generally appropriate under certain

circumstances where an asset is still under development, there is no history of
generating cash flows, and future cash flows are so uncertain as to be speculative, A
weakness of the Cost Approach is that the cost of the opportunity may bear little
relationship to the economic benefits that a purchaser might anticipate to derive from
such opportunity upon commercial exploitation of the asset. In the case of Russell,
given the revenues generated and the recent investments in RBI, the Cost Approach
was deemed inappropriate.

(c) Asset-Based Approach. The Asset-Based Approach is generally utilized where either:
(i) the company is not deemed to be a going concern; (it) the nature of the business is
such that asset values represent the largest portion of the company’s worth (e.g., real
gstate holding companies); and, (iii) there are no earnings or cash flow to be
capitalized. In the case of Russell given the investments in the Company which
implied a value above its net assets, the Asset-Based Approach was deemed
inappropriate.

VALUATION OF FORT GARRY

Income Approach — Capitalized EBITDA Method

In undertaking Capitalized EBITDA Method, it is first necessary to determine the
EBITDA Fort Garry is capable of generating, i.e., the sustainable level of EBITDA which
a notional purchaser of Fort Garry would realize in the future. By weighting the actual
operating EBITDA for fiscal years 2005 and 2006 and budgeted 2007 by 2, 4 and 4
respectively for the low end and 0, 6 and 4 respectively for the high end. Evans & Evans
arrived at a maintainable EBITDA in the range of $380,000 to $450,000.

Once the level of maintainable EBITDA has been determined, the next step is to select an
appropriate capitalization rate that can be used to convert the range of EBITDA into
value. In selecting an appropriate capitalization rate to apply to Fort Garry’s indicated
future EBITDA Evans & Evans considered the influence of both internal and external
factors on business risk as will be outlined in the Report as well as discussions with
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industry participants with respect to “rules of thumb” in the industry. The authors of the
Report’s assessment of the risk associated with Fort Garry has resulted in the application
of a multiple of 8.0 times to 9.0 times (or capitalization rates of 11.11% to 12.5%) to the
range of indicated EBITDA. This resulted in an enterprise value in the range of
$3,400,000 to $3,600,000.

The last step is to deduct the fair market value of the interest bearing debt of $1,050,000
to arrive at the fair market value of the equity of $2.4 million to $2.6 million.

Upon armiving at the fair market value of 100% of the issued and outstanding shares (i.e.,
the equity) it was necessary to determine the fair market value of the common shares by
deducting the redemption value of the preferred shares plus the accrued dividends owing.
The fair market value of the common shares was determined to be $1,500,000 to
$1,700,000.

The above noted calculations are contained in Schedule 8.0 — Fort Garry Capitalized
EBITDA Method.

10.2 Market Approach — Trading Price Method

In arriving at the fair market value of the Fort Garry common shares under the Trading
Price Method, Evans & Evans considered a weighting of the implied value based on the

. average trading price of FGB over the 30 days preceding the Valuation Date and the 90
days preceding the Valnation Date. A weighted approach was considered appropriate as
both the trading volume and trading price substantially increased following the
announcement of the Proposed Transaction.

Given the Fort Garry shares have not historically traded in significant volumes, the
authors of the Report deemed it necessary to examine the trading history of Fort Garry to
determine the actual ability of shareholders to realize the implied value of their shares
(i.e., sell). In examining the trading volumes of Fort Garry over the last six months it is
apparent that daily trading volumes are relatively low (on average less than 10,000 shares
per day). This indicates that large numbers of shareholders actual ability to realize their
shares current trading price is highly unlikely. This provides supporting evidence that
trading price is not indicative of fair market value of Fort Garry. The thinness of trading
over the previous 6 months of operations also suggests that any indication of fair market
value from a market capitalization perspective is unlikely. Further, large blocks of shares
are generally traded at a “blockage discount” to the market value. In the context of a
public market, blockage discount is defined as the decrease in stock market trading price
created by the forces of supply and demand when a block of shares larger than normal
trading lots is exposed for sale at one time. However, Evans & Evans did deem it
important to consider the trading price of Fort Garry given the increase in trading
volumes since the announcement of the Proposed Transaction.
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Under the Trading Price Method, Evans & Evans found that the value of the Fort Garry
common shares was in the range of $1.9 million.

The reader is advised to refer to Schedule 9.0 — Fort Garry Trading Price Method.

10.3 Valuation Conclusion

The fair market value of the common shares of Fort Garry was determined to be in the

range of $1.6 million to $1.9 million. The low end of the range was the mid-point of the
fair market value as determined using the Capitalized EBITDA Method. The high end of
the range was the Trading Price Method.

11.0. VALUATION OF RUSSELL

11.1 Market Approach — Trading Price Method

In arriving at the fair market value of Russell under the Trading Price Method, Evans &
. Evans considered the average trading price of Russell over the 10 days and 90 days
preceding the Valuation Date.

Evans & Evans used this method as one of its valuation methods for Russell as at the
. . Valuation Date RBI’s shares are listed for trading on the Exchange. In doing this, Evans
& Evans found that the value of Russell was in the range of $9.6 million to $9.9 million.

The reader is advised to refer to Schedule 10.0 — Russell Trading Price Method.

11.2 Market Approach — Historical Transaction Method

Evans & Evans also reviewed the implied value for the shares of Russell based upon
recent financings completed by Russell.

On October 17, 2006, Russell announced the completion of a brokered private placement
of 5,000,000 units at a purchase price of $0.30 per unit for gross proceeds to Russell of
$1,500,000. Each unit consisted of one common share of Russell and one common share
purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase an additional common
share of Russell at any time over a period of two years from the date of closing of the
private placement at an exercise price of $0.50. In total the shares issued in the financing
represented 31% of the issued and outstanding shares of Russell at that time and implied
a value for Russell of $4.8 million,

Units Issued 5,000,000
Price Per Unit $0.30
Gross Proceeds $1,500,000
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Common Shares Outstanding Post Financing 16,105,205
Percentage of Russell Issued in Financing 11.0%
Implied Value, say $4,800,000

11.3 Vaiuation Conclusions

Based on the above approaches (with care to the qualitative analysis conducted) used to
determine the fair market value of Russell, the authors of the Report deemed it
appropriate to apply a weighting to the two valuation approaches. This was done in order
to consider both the current trading price of Russell, which can reflect transient booms
and busts in the market, along with the value implied by a significant investment in RBL

The low end of the range of fair market value of Russell was determined to be $6.8
million. In arriving at the low end of the range, Evans & Evans deemed it appropriate to
rely more heavily on the Historical Transactions Method as this represents what a group
of investors were willing to pay for a substantial interest in Russell. The Trading Price
Method was given less weighting given Russell is not yet at a stage where significant
volumes of shares are trading.

. N Midpoint Weighting
' i i $9,800,000 40.0% $3,920,000

Historical Transactions $4,300,000 60.0% $2,880,000

$6,800,000

The high end of the range of fair market value of Russell was determined to be $7.3
million. In arriving at the high end of the range, Evans & Evans deemed it appropriate to
rely more heavily on the Trading Price Approach. More weighting was given the
Trading Price Method as it would appear investors (by virtue of the value implied by the
Trading Price Method) are valuing the potential of Russell and its roll-up plan more than
the short-term results. Further, less weighting was given to the Historical Transaction
Method to reflect the achievement of certain milestones between the date of the financing
and the Valuation Date.

Midpoint Weighting
$9,800,000 50.0% $4,900,000
Historical Transactions $4,800,000 50.0% $2,400,000

$7,300,000
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12.0 FAIRNESS CONSIDERATIONS

12.1

12.2

12.3

124

Introduction

The fairness of the Proposed Transaction is tested by: i) calculating, at the time of the
completion of the Proposed Transaction, the fair market value of each common share of
Fort Garry; ii) calculating whether the fair market value of each common share of Fort
Garry is in at least a comparable range upon completion of the Proposed Transaction as
prior to the Proposed Transaction; and iii) considering qualitative factors, such as
synergies, that may result from the Proposed Transaction.

There are many events that are assumed will occur between the Valuation Date and the

" closing of the Proposed Transaction. These events are either conditions of the Proposed

Transaction or are necessary (e.g. due diligence, lega! costs) aspects of the closing
process.

This section calculates the fair market value of the new Russell upon completion of the
Proposed Transaction (“Newco”), the number of shares of Newco issued and outstanding
upon the closing of the Proposed Transaction and the fair market value per each share of
Newco upon the closing of the Proposed Transaction.

Fort Garry Fair Market Value per Common Share

The fair market value of each common share of Fort Garry as at the Valuation Date was
calculated to be in the range of $0.32 to $0.38. The reader is advised to refer to Schedule
11.0 — Fairness Calculations.

Fairness of the Cash Consideration

Under the terms of the Proposed Transaction shareholders have the option of choosing
cash for their Fort Garry common share. In exchange for each common share of Fort
Garry, the FGB sharcholders are entitled to receive $0.40 in cash at closing. The cash
consideration exceeds the calculated fair market value of the Fort Garry common shares.

Fair Market Value of the Russell Share Consideration

Under the terms of the Proposed Transaction, the Fort Garry common shareholders have
the option to receive 1.0 Russell share in exchange for each 1.0 Fort Garry common share
they currently hold. Accordingly, in this section Evans & Evans have calculated the fair
market value of Russell post-Proposed Transaction (i.e., Newco) in order to compare the
fair market value per share in Newco with the fair market value per share of Fort Garry as
at the Valuation Date. The reader is advised to refer to Schedule 11.0 — Fairness
Calculations.
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12.5

First, the fair market value of Newco is calculated by:

1. Adding the fair market value of 100% of the issued and outstanding shares Fort Garry
as at the Valuation Date in the range of $2.4 million to $2.6 million.

2. Adding the fair market value of Russell as at the Valuvation Date in the range of $6.8
million to $7.3 million.

3. Deducting the amount that must be paid out to the holders of the Fort Garry preferred
shares of $922,243.

4, Adding the gross proceeds from the assumed conversion of options and warrants of
Russell totaling $2,903,415.

5. Adding the net proceeds from the financing in Russell that has been subscribed to and
will close upon the signing of a Definitive Agreement between Russell and Fort
Garry of $3,667,000.

6. Deducting the estimated costs of the Proposed Transaction of $200,000 to $250,000.

The number of shares that would be issued and outstanding in Newco then would be
calculated by adding:

1) 16,338,220 shares of Russell, as at the Valuation Date.

2) 4,976,698 shares of Russell issued to the Fort Garry shareholders as per the terms of
the Proposed Transaction.

3) 6,650,000 shares of Russell issued under the planned financing.

4) 6,376,930 shares of Russell issned under the assumption of the conversion of “in-the-
money” warrants and options.

As noted above, this is done in Schedule 11.0.

Overall, the fair market value of Newco upon closing of the Proposed Transaction is
estimated to be in the range of $16.5 million to $17.1 million or $0.48 to $0.50 per share.
The fair market value per share of Newco post-Proposed Transaction exceeds the fair
market value per common share of Fort Garry pre-Proposed Transaction.

Fair Market Value of the Half Cash / Half Russell Share Consideration

Under the terms of the Proposed Transaction, the Fort Garry common shareholders have
the option to receive 0.5 Russell shares and $0.20 in cash in exchange for each 1.0 Fort
Garry common share they currently hold. Accordingly, in this section Evans & Evans
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have calculated the fair market value of Russell post-Proposed Transaction (i.e., Newco)
in order to compare the cash and share consideration received with the fair market value
per share of Fort Garry as at the Valuation Date. The reader is advised to refer to
Schedule 11.0 — Fairness Calculations.

First, the fair market value of Newco is calculated by:

1. Adding the fair market value of 100% of the issued and outstanding shares Fort Garry
as at the Valuation Date in the range of $2.4 million to $2.6 million.

2. Adding the fair market value of Russell as at the Valuation Date in the range of $6.8
million to $7.3 million.

3. Deducting the amount that must be paid out to the holders of the Fort Garry preferred
shares of $922,243.

4. Adding the gross proceeds from the assumed conversion of options and warrants of
Russell totaling $2,903,415.

5. Adding the net proceeds from the financing in Russell that has been subscribed to and
will close upon the signing of a Definitive Agreement between Russell and Fort

. Garry of $3,667,000.

6. Deducting the cash paid to the Fort Garry shareholders {assuming 100% of Fort Garry
shareholders exchange their shares for cash and shares) of $995,340.

7. Deducting the estimated costs of the Proposed Transaction of $200,000 to $250,000.

The number of shares that would be issued and outstanding in Newco then would be
calculated by adding:

5) 16,338,220 shares of Russell, as at the Valuation Date.

6) 2,488,349 shares of Russell issued to the Fort Garry shareholders as per the terms of
the Proposed Transaction (receive one half share and $0.20 for each share).

7} 6,650,000 shares of Russell issued under the planned financing.

8) 6,376,930 shares of Russell issued under the assumption of the conversion of “in-the-
money” warrants and options.

As noted above, this is done in Schedule 13.0.

Overall, the fair market value of Newco upon closing of the Proposed Transaction is
estimated to be in the range of $15.5 million to $16.1 million or $0.49 to $0.51 per share.
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The cash and share consideration received by the Fort Garry shareholders exceeds the fair
market value per common share of Fort Garry pre-Proposed Transaction.

13.0 CONCLUSION AS TO FAIRNESS

Based upon Evans & Evans valuation work and subject to all of the foregoing, Evans &
Evans is of the opinion, as at the Valuation Date, that the terms of the Proposed
Transaction are fair, from a financial point of view, to the shareholders of Fort Garry. In
the opinion of Evans & Evans the Proposed Transaction is fair, from a financial
standpoint, if the Fort Garry shareholders choose either cash consideration, Russell shares
in exchange for their Fort Garry shares or cash and Russell Shares.

There are a number of qualitative factors associated with the completion of the Proposed
Transaction that the Fort Garry shareholders might consider in determining the overall
faimess of the Proposed Transaction. In assessing the fairness of the Proposed
Transaction to the common shareholders of Fort Garry, Evans & Evans has considered,
inter alia, the following:

1. Comparison of the fair market value, as at June 30, 2007, of the per common share

value of Fort Garry prior to completion of the Proposed Transaction, to the fair

. market value, on a pro forma basis, of the per share value of Newco (i.e., the new
Russell post-Proposed Transaction).

- 2. Review of Russell’s ability to meet the cash requirements related to the acquisition of
the Fort Garry common shares. As at the Valuation Date, Russell had options and
warrants “in-the-money” which would result in approximately $3.0 million in gross
proceeds to Russell. Further, the authors of the Report found that in the months
preceding the Proposed Transaction Russell did have a history of converting warrants
to shares. Lastly, Russell had arranged for a private placement for gross proceeds of
$3.6 million which was fully-subscribed as at the date of the Report.

3. As at the date of the Report, the private placement announced by Russell in
conjunction with the completion of the Proposed Transaction had been fully-
subscribed. The implied value of Newco based on the financing ranges from $17.3
million to $20.2 miltion or $0.76 to $0.83 per share as outlined in the following

tables.
Units Issued 6,000,000
Price Per Unit $0.60
Gross Proceeds $3,600,000
Units Issued as Fee 50,000
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All Cash All Share Half Cash Half Share

Consideration Consideration Consideration

|[Fully-Diluted Shares Outstanding in Russell 22,715,150 22,715,150 22,715,150

Shares Issued in Financing (Includes Fees) 6,050,000 6,050,000 6,050,000

Shares Issued to Fort Garry Common Shareholders 0 4,976,698 2,488,349

Total Shares Post-Transaction and Post-Financing 28,765,150 33,741,848 31,253,499

% of Newco Issued in Financing 20.9% 17.8% 19.2%
Implied Value of Newco 517,300,000 - 320,200,000 318,800,000
Umplied Value per Share of Newco $0.76 ~ $0.89 $0.83

4, Other potential benefits that may be realized subsequent to the completion of the
Proposed Transaction include possible synergies between Fort Garry and Russeil.
Evans & Evans have not attempted to quantify these additional qualitative potential

benefits. Certain additional potential benefits are as follows:

i.

Shared operations and administrative personnel thereby reducing certain
staff and systems costs.

ii. Fort Garry is current operating well below capacity. As Russell expands
operations, Fort Garry’s excess capacity can be utilized to brew Russell
products, thereby reducing the unit costs for both brands.

iii. Access to funding. Russell has been very successful over the past nine
months at raising funding for acquisitions. Conversely, Fort Garry has not
attempted to secure additional equity financing and has historically relied on
debt financing.

iv. Shared executive level management.

v.  Removal of duplication of public company costs.

14.0 CERTIFICATION AND QUALIFICATIONS

The Report preparation was carried out by Ms. Jennifer Lucas and was thereafter
reviewed by Michael A, Evans and Richard W. Evans.

Ms. Jennifer Lucas, MBA, CBYV joined Evans & Evans in 1997. Ms. Lucas possesses
several years of relevant experience as an analyst in the public and private sector in
British Columbia and Saskatchewan. Her background includes working for the Office of
the Superintendent of Financial Institutions of British Columbia as a Financial Analyst.
Ms. Lucas has also gained experience in the Personal Security and Telecommunications
industries. For the past nine years at Evans & Evans Ms. Lucas has been involved in
writing and reviewing over 300 valuation and due diligence reports for public and private

transactions.
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Ms. Lucas holds: a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Saskatchewan
(1993), a Masters in Business Administration degree from the University of British
Columbia (1995). Ms. Lucas holds the professional designation of Chartered Business
Valuator and is a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Business Valuators and
a Candidate Member of the American Society of Appraisers.

Mr. Michael A. Evans, Principal, founded Evans & Evans, Inc. in 1989. For the past
eighteen years, he has been extensively involved in the financial services and
management consulting fields in Vancouver, where he was a Vice-President of two firms,
The Genesis Group (1986-1989) and Western Venture Development Corporation (1989-
1990). Over this period he has been involved in the preparation of over 500 technical and
assessment reports, business plans, business valuations, and feasibility studies for
submission to various Canadian stock exchanges and securities commissions as well as
for private purposes. Formerly, he spent three years in the computer industry in Western
Canada with Wang Canada Limited (1983-1986) where he worked in the areas of
marketing and sales. '

Mr. Evans also possesses several years’ management experience in the food services
industry with McDonald's Restaurants of Canada Ltd. in Richmond, British Columbia
(1977-1980).

. Mr. Michael A. Evans holds: a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from Simon
Fraser University, British Columbia (1981); a Master's degree in Business Administration
from the University of Portland, Oregon (1983) where he graduated with honors; the
professional designation of Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA); and the professional
designation of Chartered Business Valuator (CBV). Mr. Evans is a member of the
Association for Investment Management and Research (AIMR), the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Business Valuators (“CICBV™) and is a Candidate Member of the American
Society of Appraisers (“ASA”™).

Richard W. Evans, Principal, began full-time work with Evans & Evans, Inc. in 1994,
Since then he has been involved in the financial services and management consulting
fields and has been involved in the preparation of over 300 technical and assessment
reports, business plans, business valuations, and feasibility studies for submission to the
Vancouver and Alberta Stock Exchanges and the British Columbia and Alberta Securities
| Commissions as well as for private purposes.

For ten years previous to this, he was extensively involved in the computer industry in
Vancouver where he served for two years as the General Manager of Sidus Systems Inc.
responsible for the company’s C$15 million business operation in Western Canada.
Previous to this, he spent eight years with Digital Equipment of Canada Limited where he
was laterally involved in a sales, marketing and management capacity in the company's
direct and channel organizations. In his capacity with Digital and Sidus he was involved
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in assessing and assisting various technology companies with their marketing and
financial operations.

During the past thirteen years he, through Evans & Evans, Inc., has actively been
involved in the process of evaluating and valuing various types of software applications
for Canadian regulatory bodies, private companies, Canadian financial institutions and
brokerage firms as well as government agencies.

Mr. Evans holds: a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from Simon Fraser
University, British Columbia (1981); a Master's degree in Business Administration from
the University of Portland, Oregon (1984) where he graduated with honors. Mr. Evans
holds the professional designation of Chartered Business Valuator and is a member of the
CICBYV and a Candidate Member of the ASA.

The analyses, opinions, calculations and conclusions were developed, and this Report has
been prepared in accordance with the standards set forth by the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Business Valuators.

The fee established for the Report has not been contingent upon the value or other
opinions presented.

. The authors of the Report have no present or prospective interest in the property that is
the subject of this Report, and we have no personal interest with respect to the parties
involved.

EVANS & EVANS, INC.




FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.
PROXY
SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON
OCTOBER 18, 2007

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED BY THE
MANAGEMENT OF FORT GARRY BREWING COMPANY LTD.

The undersigned shareholder of Fort Garry Brewing Company Ltd. (the “Brewery”) hereby
appoints Douglas Saville, the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Brewery, or failing him,
Richard N. Hoeschen, the Secretary of the Brewery, or instead of either of the foregoing,
, as proxy of the undersigned to attend, act and vote for and on behalf of the

undersigned in respect of all shares in the capital of the Brewery registered in his name at the special
meeting of the shareholders of the Brewery to be held on Thursday, October 18, 2007 at
7:00 o’clock in the evening (Winnipeg time) (the “Meeting™), and at any adjournment or adjournments
thereof, to the same extent and with the same power as if the undersigned were personally present at the
Meeting or such adjournment or adjournments thereof and, without limiting the generality of the power
hereby conferred, the proxyholder named above is specifically directed to vote as indicated below.

VOTE FOR [] OR AGAINST [] the special resolution approving the amalgamation
of the Brewery with 5506752 Manitoba Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Russell
Brewertes Inc., under Section 175 of The Corporations Act {(Manitoba) and the delisting
of the Brewery’s shares from the TSX Venture Exchange, the full text of which is set
forth in Schedule “E” to the accompanying Management Proxy Circular dated
September 10, 2007, all as more particularly described in such Management Proxy
Circular.

The undersigned shareholder hereby revokes any instrument of proxy previously given in respect
of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

The proxyholder named above may, in his or her discretion, vote with respect to amendments or
variations to matters identified in the notice of Meeting or with respect to any other matters which may
properly come before the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

NOTES

L If the instructions are certain, on any ballot or poll, the shares represented by this proxy will be
voted in accordance with the instructions given above and, if the shareholder specifies a choice with
respect to any matter to be acted upon, the shares will be voted on any ballot or poll in accordance with
the specifications so made. IF NO CHOICE IS SPECIFIED HEREIN OR IF ANY
INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN ARE NOT CLEAR, THE SHARES SHALL BE YOTED AS IF THE
SHAREHOLDER HAD SPECIFIED AN AFFIRMATIVE VOTE, ALL IN THE SAME MANNER
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AND TO THE SAME EXTENT AS THE UNDERSIGNED COULD DO IF THE UNDERSIGNED
WERE PERSONALLY PRESENT AT THE MEETING.

2, A SHAREHOLDER HAS THE RIGHT TO APPOINT A PERSON (WHO NEED NOT BE
- A SHAREHOLDER) OTHER THAN THE PERSONS DESIGNATED IN THIS PROXY TO
ATTEND AND ACT FOR THE SHAREHOLDER AND ON THE SHAREHOLDER’S BEHALF
AT THE MEETING. SUCH RIGHT MAY BE EXERCISED BY INSERTING IN THE SPACE
PROVIDED THE NAME OF THE PERSON TO BE APPOINTED, IN WHICH CASE ONLY
THE PERSON SO NAMED MAY VOTE THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY SUCH PROXY AT
THE MEETING.

3. This proxy must be signed by the shareholder or his attorney duly authorized in writing, or if the
shareholder is a corporation, by the proper officers or directors under its corporate seal, or by an officer or
attorney thereof duly authorized.

4, If not dated, this proxy is deemed to bear the date on which it was mailed on behalf of the
management of the Brewery.

5. To be valid, this proxy must be received by the Brewery’s registrar and transfer agent,
CIBC Mellon Trust Company, no later than 48 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) before
the time of the Meeting (namely, by 7:00 p.m., Winnipeg time, on October 16, 2007) or any adjournment
thereof at which the proxy is to be used, unless the Chairman of the meeting elects to exercise his
discretion Lo accept proxies received subsequently. Proxies delivered by regular mail should be addressed
to CIBC Mellon Trust Company, P.O. Box 721, Agincourt, Ontario, M1S 0A1. Proxies delivered by
facsimile should be sent to CIBC Mellon Trust Company at (416) 368-2502 (1-866-781-3111 North
America only).

DATED this day of , 2007.

PRINT NAME:

SIGNATURE:
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PART IT
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED TO BE SENT TO SECURITY HOLDERS

See the Exhibit Index to the Form CB.
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PART III

. CONSENT TO SERVICE OF PROCESS

A written irrevocable consent and power of attorney on Form F-X has been filed by
Russell Breweries Inc. concurrently with the filing of this Form CB.

Any change in the name or address of the agent for service of process of Russell
Breweries Inc. shall be promptly communicated to the Securities and Exchange Commission by
an amendment to the Form F-X.

00245



PART IV
After due inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the

information set forth in this statement is true, complete and correct as of September 24 2007.

RU L BREWERIES INC.
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